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ABSTRACT 

This thesis examines the impact of China’s 2007 reforms on the information environment 

in the Chinese A-share market. The 2007 reforms introduced profound changes in the 

information disclosure regulations and accounting standards in the Chinese stock market. The 

reforms were expected to improve the information environment in the Chinese stock market by 

requiring continuous disclosure, prohibiting “selective disclosure” of private information, and 

converging Chinese accounting standards with IFRS. 

The influence of the 2007 reforms is examined from four aspects over the pre- and post-

reform periods spanning the period 1 January 2005 to 31 December 2008: (i) the quantity of 

information disclosed by Chinese listed companies; (ii) the earnings forecast error and earnings 

forecast dispersion of financial analysts in the Chinese A-share market; (iii) the abnormal return 

around earnings announcements; and (iv) the transaction costs of stocks and the possibilities of 

informed trading in the Chinese stock market.  

The main findings of the research are as follows: 

1. The quantity of information disclosed by companies increased significantly after the 2007 

reforms, suggesting that the reforms enhanced the level of information disclosure by companies 

in the Chinese A-share market. 

2. The earnings forecast accuracy by local financial analysts decreased in the post-reform 

period, which is contrary to expectations and suggests that the information environment of local 

financial analysts worsened after the reforms. On the other hand, the earnings forecast accuracy 

of foreign financial analysts did not change significantly.  

3. The abnormal return or price reaction around the earnings announcement dates 

increased significantly after the 2007 reforms, suggesting a larger information gap between 

companies and investors in the Chinese A-share market. This result is also contrary to 
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expectations, and it indicates that the information environment of investors in the Chinese stock 

market has deteriorated in the post-reform period. 

4. The bid-ask spread increased in the post-reform period, which is also consistent with a 

poorer information environment for local financial analysts and investors in the Chinese A-share 

market. However, in the post-reform period, there was a significant decrease in the adverse 

selection component of bid-ask spread. These results suggest that informed trading decreased 

after the 2007 reforms, which indicates a reduced level of “selective disclosure” of private 

information to local analysts. 

Overall, I find that the impact of the 2007 reforms on the information environment in the 

Chinese stock market was two-fold. On the one hand, the reforms enhanced the level of 

information disclosure by Chinese listed companies and led to an increase in the level of public 

information given to the market; on the other hand, the reforms prohibited “selective disclosure” 

by companies and caused a decrease in the amount of private information given to the market. 

Consequently, an effect of the reforms is that they impaired the information environment of local 

financial analysts, caused deterioration in the information environment of investors, and 

increased the transaction costs in the Chinese A-share market. However, it also reduced the level 

of informed trading in the Chinese stock market.
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Chapter One: Introduction 

1.1 Aim of research 

This thesis examines the impact of China’s 2007 reforms on the information environment 

in the Chinese stock market. The reforms imposed more stringent disclosure requirements on 

Chinese listed companies and introduced a new set of accounting standards that has greater 

convergence with International Financial Reporting Standards (hereafter, IFRS). The aim of the 

reforms was to improve the information environment in the Chinese stock market by requiring a 

higher level of information disclosure, prohibiting selective disclosure of private information, and 

enforcing higher quality accounting standards. The two components of the reforms are the 

Administrative Measures on Information Disclosure by Listed Companies (hereafter, the AMID) 

and the new Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises (hereafter, the 2006 Accounting 

Standards). 

Historically, the Chinese stock market has been described as having a “low” information 

environment. The market was characterized by a high level of information asymmetry, low 

quantity and quality of information disclosed by listed companies, and low governance 

transparency (Ang & Ma, 1999; Ball, Kothari, & Robin, 2000; Lam & Du, 2004). In addition, market 

manipulation and insider trading were widespread, due to the lack of monitoring by credit rating 

agencies, large investors and lenders (Tan, 2007). These problems originated from the immature 

state of market regulation, primitive accounting standards and the unique ownership structure of 

listed companies (Aharony, Lee, & Wang, 2000; Du & Wei, 2004; Xiang, 1998). 

Prior to 2007, the Chinese government had taken legislative and regulatory actions to 

address the poor information environment, but the results were unsatisfactory. During the 1990s 

and 2000s, a series of laws, such as the Accounting law, Company Law, Auditing Law and 

Securities Law, were enacted; regulations on information disclosure were issued; and the Chinese 
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accounting system and accounting standards were revised several times so as to comply with 

international accounting standards and improve accounting quality. However, several high profile 

scandals in the late 1990s and early 2000s showed that the government’s law and regulatory 

changes had not been effective.1 

Following widespread criticisms of the quality of information disclosed by listed 

companies, the 2007 reforms were introduced with the intention of improving disclosure 

regulation and accounting standards. The AMID was implemented with the objective of 

improving the information disclosure practices of Chinese listed companies, promoting greater 

investor protection, and facilitating stock market development. Thus, this change in information 

disclosure regulation focused on the enhancement of continuous disclosure by listed companies 

and the prohibition of selective disclosure. 

The 2006 Accounting Standards were regarded as an important step towards bringing 

domestic accounting and auditing practices in line with international accounting standards. This 

change in accounting regime aimed at converging domestic accounting standards with IFRS and 

improving the quality of financial information. As noted by Finance Minister Jin Renqing in 2006, 

“This is a milestone for the accounting and auditing industry in China, which will move the 

country towards a more modern economic model and help investors make more sensible 

decisions” (Jin, 2006). 

The 2007 reforms have implications for the information environment of companies, 

financial intermediaries, and investors. These changes should be reflected in the information 

disclosure practices of Chinese listed companies, the forecast accuracy of earnings by financial 

                                                           
1
 From 1993 to 2003, 178 Chinese listed companies were subject to enforcement actions by the CSRC, the Shanghai 

Stock Exchange, or the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (Zhang, 2007). These scandals involved inflated profits, IPO/rights 
offerings, fraud, corruption, embezzlement and market manipulation. 
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analysts, the price reaction around earnings announcements, and the level of fairness in access to 

information. 

This thesis examines the impact of the 2007 reforms on the information environment in 

the Chinese stock market in terms of four different but related aspects, viz: the amount of 

information disclosed by listed companies, the accuracy of the earnings forecasts made by 

financial analysts, the cumulative abnormal returns around earnings announcements, and the 

bid-ask spread as well as its adverse-selection component. 

1.2 The information environment in the Stock Market 

1.2.1 The role of information in securities markets 

A securities market plays a crucial role in resource allocation in the economy. Figure 1.1, 

quoted from Healy & Palepu (2001),  illustrates the flow of information and capital in securities 

markets. Securities markets channel household savings to the business sector, enable companies 

and households to share risks, and allocate resources to generate their highest value (Allen, 

1993). The efficiency and fairness of these activities should be largely determined by the quality 

of the information in the securities market, as information reveals the performance of companies 

and helps securities to be accurately priced. In turn, stock price serves as a signal to investors of 

the company’s investment opportunities and consequently assists in channelling resources 

toward companies with superior prospects. 

1.2.2 The information environment of companies 

The information environment of companies is captured by the concept of “corporate 

transparency.” Bushman et al. (2004) define corporate transparency as the availability of 

company-specific information to outside investors. Lang et al. (2003) further suggest that 

corporate transparency and the information environment should be broadly constructed to 

include the effects of “corporate reporting, private information acquisition and information 

dissemination.”  
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Figure 1.1  
The Flow of Information in the Securities Market 

 

The information environment of companies is mainly concerned with their information 

disclosure practices and the quality of the information they provide. Financial reporting and 

continuous disclosure are complementary means of improving information asymmetry between 

managers and the parties contracting with their company, including shareholders, lenders, 

suppliers, customers, and employees. The efficiency of a company’s financial reporting and 

continuous disclosure system is, therefore, crucial to the development of public securities 

markets as well as to the development of the economy (Ball, 2001; Black, 2001; Fama, 1970). 

The quality of the information environment is determined by two distinct factors, 

financial transparency and governance transparency (Bushman et al., 2004). Financial 

transparency captures the intensity and timeliness of financial disclosures, and their 

interpretation and dissemination by analysts and the media. Governance transparency captures 

the intensity of the governance disclosures adopted by outside investors to hold officers and 

directors accountable. Thus, factors that affect the quality of the information environment 

include disclosure regulations, accounting standards and other factors, such as culture and 
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religion. Among these factors, disclosure regulation and accounting standards are both 

considered important factors (Leuz & Wysocki, 2008). 

1.2.2.1 The disclosure regulation and the information environment 

In terms of disclosure regulation, it is commonly believed that a stringent disclosure 

regulation will improve the information environment in stock markets and increase stock market 

liquidity.  This is because regulation should lead to the disclosure of more information by 

managers and increase investor confidence (Admati & Pfleiderer, 2000). Empirical studies on the 

introduction of enhanced disclosure regulations, such as the 1994 disclosure reform in Australia, 

the 2002 disclosure reform in New Zealand, and the introduction of Regulation Fair Disclosure 

(hereafter, Reg FD) in the United States in 2000, provide evidence for the relationship between 

the strictness of disclosure regulations and the quality of the information environment (Bailey, Li, 

Mao, & Zhong, 2003; Brown, Taylor, & Walter, 1999; Heflin, Subramanyam, & Zhang, 2003; 

Huang, Marsden, & Poskitt, 2009).2 These studies suggest that a change to a stricter disclosure 

regulation leads to an improvement in the information environment. 

1.2.2.2 Accounting standards and the information environment 

With regard to accounting standards, the theoretical literature suggests that the adoption 

of better accounting standards should improve the company’s information environment. Ewert 

and Wagenhofer (2005) develop a rational expectations model to show that under improved 

accounting standards, accounting earnings better reflect a company’s underlying economics. 

The impact of accounting standards on the information environment is documented in 

the empirical literature on the move from domestic Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 

                                                           
2
 The Australian Corporations Law Reform Act 1994 took effect from 5 September 1994. It formalized the ASX’s 

‘continuous disclosure’ requirements and introduced substantial civil and criminal penalties on ASX-listed companies 
for the breach of the continuous disclosure requirements (Brown et al., 1999). A similar reform was enacted in New 
Zealand in December 2003 (Huang et al., 2009). Reg FD was implemented in 2000 by the US Securities and Exchange 
Commission (hereafter, SEC) with the intention of prohibiting managers from only disclosing material non-public 
information to selected market professional or institutional shareholders (Heflin et al., 2003). 
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(hereafter, GAAP) to International Accounting Standards (hereafter, IAS). Several studies 

examining the effects of the adoption of IFRS/IAS in different countries suggest that accounting 

standards are positively associated with the quality of the information environment (Ashbaugh & 

Pincus, 2001; Bartov, Goldberg, & Kim, 2005; Leuz, 2003).  

However, several studies have documented that the switch from domestic accounting 

standards to IFRS/IAS does not necessarily have a significant positive impact on the information 

environment. For example, Barth et al. (1999) theoretically analyse the impact of international 

accounting harmonization on equity markets and find that accounting harmonization can have 

either beneficial or deleterious effects on securities markets. In examining German companies, 

Tendeloo and Vanstraelen (2005) find no difference in the level of earnings management 

between companies adopting IFRS and those following the German GAAP. Ball (2001) argues that 

changing accounting standards systems alone is not enough to improve actual financial reporting 

and disclosure. A wide range of other changes in the country's economic, legal, and political 

infrastructure is required to improve the actual quality of financial reporting. In this respect, Ball 

et al. (2003) argue that reporting quality is ultimately determined by the underlying economic 

and political factors which influence manager and auditor incentives. Their study of four East 

Asian countries supports this hypothesis.  

The literature on the Chinese accounting regime provides interesting findings. Several 

studies have examined the information content of accounting information for Chinese companies 

under different accounting standards. Sami & Zhou (2004) investigate the difference in the value-

relevance of accounting information for Chinese A-shares prepared under Chinese GAAP and for 

Chinese B-shares under the international accounting standards.3 Their results demonstrate that 

                                                           
3
 Chinese A-, B-, and H-shares are all issued by Chinese listed companies, but Chinese A-shares are listed on the 

Chinese A-share market and denominated in China Yuan; Chinese B-shares are listed on the Chinese B-share market, 
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B-shares’ accounting information is more value-relevant than that of A-shares. Liu & Liu (2007) 

focus on the value-relevance of accounting information for Chinese A-, B- and H-shares, using 

data from 1999 to 2003. They find that the accounting information of B- and H-shares is more 

valuable than that of A-shares. 

Other researchers have studied the impacts of a variety of Chinese accounting reforms on 

the information content of accounting numbers. For example, Chalmers et al. (2010) examine the 

influence of the Chinese accounting reform of 2001 and find that share returns can be better 

explained by more informative accounting information. Liu et al. (2011) examine the influence of 

the 2006 Accounting Standards. Their findings indicate that after adopting the new accounting 

standards in 2007, earnings management decreased and the value relevance of accounting 

numbers increased. They conclude that the accounting quality of financial reports prepared by 

Chinese listed companies generally increased. 

1.2.2.3 Examples of joint effects of disclosure regulation and accounting standards 

Empirical research on cross-listed companies, especially those companies that are listed 

on both the local market and the US market, provides good examples of the joint effects of more 

stringent information disclosure and better accounting standards on the quality of the 

information environment of companies. 

In general, these studies find evidence of an improvement in the information 

environment, vis-à-vis non-cross listed companies, which is represented by a lower cost of capital, 

higher Tobin's q ratios, and increased forecast accuracy on earnings (Doidge, Karolyi, & Stulz, 

2004; Errunza & Miller, 2000; Karolyi, 1998; Lang et al., 2003).4 These results support the bonding 

hypothesis, which suggests that cross-listed companies gain by moving from a poorer quality 

                                                                                                                                                                                              
and denominated in foreign currencies (HK dollar or US dollar); Chinese H-shares are listed on HKEx and 
denominated in HK dollar. 
4
 Firms that cross-list in the US must commit to an increased level of disclosure and scrutiny in order to comply with 

SEC regulations and US GAAP (Fernandes & Ferreira, 2008). 
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legal and accounting environment to an environment with increased enforcement and enhanced 

disclosure (Coffee, 2002). 

Overall, the empirical evidence suggests that stricter information disclosure requirements 

and better accounting standards should improve the information environment of listed 

companies. 

1.2.3 The information environment of intermediaries and investors 

Financial intermediaries collate information from public and private sources, evaluate the 

current performance of companies that they follow, make forecasts about the company’s 

prospects, and supply investment recommendations to investors. An improved information 

environment of intermediaries (i.e., financial analysts, industry experts, and the financial press) 

reduces the information asymmetry between financial intermediaries and companies, enables 

these parties to better convey information about the company to investors, and ensures that 

these parties more accurately predict the stock price of the company. 

A high quality of information environment of investors plays an important role in 

mitigating information asymmetry between informed and uninformed investors. Information 

asymmetry occurs when one or more investors possess private information about the value of a 

company. There are two theories to explain why information disclosure can affect the level of 

information asymmetry (Brown & Hillegeist, 2007). First, better information disclosure alters the 

trading behaviour of uninformed investors. Merton (1987)  and Fishman and Hagerty (1989) 

argue that investors are more likely to invest and trade in companies that are well-known and 

better researched. If greater information disclosure increases the “visibility” of the company 

and/or reduces the cost of processing company-specific public information, then this will induce 

more trading in the company’s stock by uninformed investors. The increased amount of 
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uninformed trading will also reduce the relative amount of informed trading, which in turn will 

reduce the level of information asymmetry (Brown & Hillegeist, 2007). 

Second, more information disclosure reduces information asymmetry by lessening the 

incentive to search for private information. Verrecchia (1982) suggests that public information is 

a perfect substitute for private information. He shows that the amount of costly private 

information that investors choose to acquire generally decreases with the increase in the amount 

of public information being disclosed. Diamond (1985) argues that incentives for investors to 

acquire private information are reduced when companies increase their public level of 

information disclosure. This reduces the relative amount of private information produced and 

mitigates the level of information asymmetry. 

Thus, improved disclosure of information to uninformed investors will reduce the level of 

information asymmetry in the securities market. As a result, investors can be more confident that 

any stock transactions will occur at a “fair price.” Thus, liquidity in the market will increase, and 

the speed with which information is impounded into prices will improve. 

1.3 Motivation 

1.3.1 Mixed results of research on the information environment in stock markets 

The empirical literature studying the impact of changes in the legal, accounting and 

regulatory framework on the information environment of stock markets has reported mixed 

results. For example, Auer (1996) has studied Swiss companies adopting IAS, Harris & Muller 

(1999) have studied companies cross-listed in the United States that adopt US-GAAP, and Ahmad 

& Schneible (2007) have studied Reg FD in the United States. They find that better accounting 

systems or stricter disclosure regulations lead to better information disclosure and lower levels of 

information asymmetry. In contrast, Bartov et al. (2005) find no significant evidence of an 

improvement in the information environment of German companies. Gomes et al. (2007) have 
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studied the Reg FD, and Ernstberger et al. (2008) have studied IFRS adoption of German 

companies. They also report inconclusive results when examining the influence of improved 

disclosure regulations or accounting standards on market intermediaries and the disclosure 

behaviour of companies. 

1.3.2 The poor information environment in the Chinese stock market 

Although the Chinese stock market was established in the early 1990s, growth in the 

market has been strong and it has become one of the largest markets in the world. By the end of 

2009, 1,718 companies were listed in this market and the total market capitalization amounted 

to RMB 24,394 billion (approximately USD 3,573 billion), equal to 44% of China’s gross domestic 

product in 2010. Thus, the Chinese stock market has had a major impact on the flow of capital in 

the financial markets and has the potential to affect both the direction and pace of China’s 

economic growth. 

An early study by Chakravarty et al. (1998) found evidence that information asymmetry in 

the Chinese stock market was severe, with share manipulation and insider trading widespread 

and investors’ rights having poor legal protection. A related study by Ang & Ma (1999) also found 

that analysts’ earnings forecast error of Chinese listed companies was around twice that of Hong 

Kong listed companies, which is consistent with a high level of information asymmetry on the 

Chinese stock market. 

The information advantage of domestic investors on the Chinese stock market has been 

examined by several authors. Chiang et al. (2008) examine the speed of price adjustment in the 

Chinese A- and B-share stock markets, and find that prior to February 2001, when domestic 

investors were allowed to purchase Chinese B-shares, Chinese A-shares adjusted to information 

much faster than B-shares. Their results suggest that domestic investors have a relative 

information advantage over foreign investors. However, after February 2001, the difference in 
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speed decreased significantly, indicating information spill-overs from the A-share market to the 

B-share market. Chan et al. (2008) study the price discount of B-shares, and find strong evidence 

that information asymmetry is a key factor in explaining this discount, which provides further 

evidence to support the existence of an information advantage for domestic Chinese investors. 

In summary, the prior literature suggests that the information environment of the Chinese 

stock market has historically been poor. It has been characterised by a high level of information 

asymmetry, an informational advantage for domestic investors over foreign investors, and low 

value-relevance of accounting information. The intent of the 2007 reforms was to significantly 

improve the information environment of the Chinese stock market. 

1.3.3 Motivation for this study 

This research is motivated by several factors. First, the Chinese stock market has 

experienced rapid expansion and by 2007 it was ranked the second largest in Asia behind Japan. 

Despite its size, however, little research has been conducted on the information environment of 

the Chinese stock market, and there has been no comprehensive study on the impact of the 2007 

reforms. 

Second, the results of this study of the impacts of the 2007 reforms on the information 

environment in the Chinese stock market should be of interest to academics, practitioners, and 

market regulators, particularly in China. China’s regulatory bodies, such as the Ministry of Finance 

of China and the China Securities Regulatory Commission (CSRC) all considered the 2007 reforms 

to be highly significant, regarding them as introducing profound changes in the Chinese 

accounting system and the information environment of the Chinese stock market. Thus, 

regulators of the Chinese stock market will be interested in the impact of these reforms since this 

information can assist in future policy decisions to further develop and grow the stock market. 
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Third, the Chinese institutional, political, and cultural environment is markedly different 

from that in the US. and other western countries. Thus, an important contribution of this study is 

to examine the impact of reforms on an information environment in a unique setting. 

1.4 The overview of topics studied in this research 

This section provides an overview of the four specific topics examined in this research 

that evaluate the impact of the 2007 reforms on the information environment of the Chinese 

stock market. 

1.4.1 The study of the quantity of information disclosure 

Under greater disclosure regulations, companies will tend to increase the level of 

information available to the market (Lang et al., 2003). In Chapter 4 of this thesis, I test the 

impact of the 2007 reforms on the quantity of information provided by listed companies on the 

Chinese stock market. As far as I am aware, there has been little or no prior research on the 

effects of the 2007 reforms on the disclosure practices of listed Chinese companies. Proponents 

of this regulation, such as the CSRC, expected the reform to improve the information 

environment of listed companies (CSRC, 2007; Zhou, 2007). Prior literature also finds that stricter 

disclosure regulation is positively associated with the level of information disclosure by 

companies (Brown et al., 1999; Heflin et al., 2003; Huang et al., 2009). However, compared to 

many western countries, the Chinese stock market is a developing and transitional market, which 

still lacks a strong legal infrastructure (Chen, 2003; Firth, Fung, & Rui, 2007). 

The information released by listed companies on the Chinese stock market comprises two 

main categories: periodic and non-periodic announcements. The periodic announcements 

comprise annual, semi-annual, and quarterly reports, as well as audit reports. The non-periodic 

announcements include all other announcements made by listed companies, such as results of 

meetings, transaction declarations, and forward-looking earnings-related announcements. The 
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non-periodic announcements can be further classified into two sub-categories: non-periodic 

price-sensitive announcements (hereafter, non-periodic PSA) and non-periodic non-price-

sensitive announcements (hereafter, non-periodic NPSA). 

In this study, I focus on the number of non-periodic PSA rather than the total number of 

announcements. I posit that the 2007 reforms will have increased the number of non-periodic 

PSA made by Chinese listed companies in the Chinese A-share market. I test the level of 

information disclosure by studying a sample of A-share companies over a four-year period, 2005-

2008, two years immediately preceding and two years immediately following the 2007 reforms.5 

I find that the number of non-periodic PSAs increased significantly in the post-reform 

period and this increase is significant after controlling for other factors that may potentially affect 

the volume of announcements. In robustness tests, I study the number of forward-looking 

earnings-related announcements, an essential component of non-periodic PSA, and also examine 

the number of non-periodic PSA, using quarterly data instead of annual data. The results of these 

tests are all consistent with the main finding, that the level of information disclosure increased 

significantly in the post-reform period. 

In addition, shares issued by Chinese listed companies listed on the Chinese B-share 

market or the Hong Kong Stock Exchange are employed as further control samples.6 These 

samples are expected to be either less affected or not affected by the 2007 reforms. The 

empirical results are consistent with the expectation that the number of non-periodic PSA made 

by these samples did change in the post-reform period. 

                                                           
5
 I classify Chinese listed companies into several categories according to the types of shares they issue. Companies 

issuing A-, B- and, H-shares are classified as A-, B-, and H-share companies respectively. Companies issuing both A- 
and B-shares are classified as AB-share companies, and companies issuing both A- and H-shares are classified as AH-
share companies. Please see Table 2.2 in Chapter 2 for details. 
6
 The Chinese B-share market was originally established for attracting foreign investment, and shares listed on it 

were only open to foreign investors until March 2001, when the B-share market was subsequently also open to 
domestic investors. 
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Overall the results suggest that the 2007 reforms increased the quantity of information 

disclosed by Chinese A-shares. 

1.4.2 The accuracy of analysts’ forecasts 

The objectives of the Chinese government in introducing the 2007 reforms were to 

strengthen listed companies’ information transparency, to improve the quality of financial 

information and to protect investors (CSRC, 2007; Dong et al., 2006; Jin, 2006). Thus, the reforms 

should have led to an increase in the accuracy and relevancy of accounting information. 

Prior research generally finds a positive relationship between the information 

environment and analysts’ earnings forecast accuracy. Lang and Lundholm (1996) report that 

companies with more informative disclosure exhibit lower analysts’ forecast error and lower 

dispersion of analysts’ forecasts. Trabelsi et al. (2008) study the relationship between corporate 

disclosure and forecast accuracy using the voluntary information disclosed on corporate websites, 

and their results indicate that the extent of voluntary disclosure is negatively related to forecast 

error and forecast dispersion. Previous literature has also examined the effects of accounting 

standards on forecast accuracy (Ashbaugh & Pincus, 2001; Cuijpers & Buijink, 2005; Ernstberger 

et al., 2008; Hope, 2003b). These studies find that companies adopting better accounting 

standards should disclose higher quality financial information, which contributes to greater 

accuracy of financial analysts’ forecasts. 

In general, these studies suggest that the quality of the information environment is 

positively related to the forecast accuracy of financial analysts, and negatively related to forecast 

dispersion. Thus, I hypothesize an improvement in financial analysts’ earnings forecasts in the 

post-reform period. 

Chapter 5 empirically examines local and foreign financial analysts’ earnings forecast 

accuracy and forecast dispersion in the pre-reform and post-reform periods.  These measures are 
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both widely used in the prior literature to proxy for the information environment (Barron & 

Stuerke, 1998; Gebhardt, Lee, & Swaminathan, 2001; Healy, Hutton, & Palepu, 1999; Irani & 

Karamanou, 2003; Lang et al., 2003). Contrary to my expectations, I find that the forecast error 

and forecast dispersion of local analysts increased significantly in the post-reform period, 

indicating that their forecasting accuracy was negatively affected by the reforms. This result 

suggests an increased level of information asymmetry between companies and local financial 

analysts. However, the forecast error and forecast dispersion of foreign analysts did not show any 

decrease in the post-reform period. 

Robustness tests are conducted by employing a different measure of the forecast error, 

and narrowing the sample period to one year immediately before and after the reforms. The 

results are still consistent with the main findings that local financial analysts were significantly 

affected by the 2007 reforms and their forecast error and forecast dispersion increased in the 

post-reform period. In contrast, the foreign financial analysts did not experience any material 

changes in earnings’ forecast error and forecast dispersion in the post-reform period. 

Overall, these results suggest that the 2007 reforms had a significant, negative impact on 

the information environment of local financial analysts, but had little impact on the information 

environment of foreign financial analysts. This difference may potentially imply that local and 

foreign analysts had differential access to private information from Chinese companies in the 

pre-reform period.  The 2007 reforms prohibited the disclosure of private information from listed 

companies to selected financial analysts and thus levelled the information environment of local 

and foreign analysts. 

1.4.3 Price reactions to earnings announcements 

The expected consequences of the 2007 reforms are a greater volume of value-relevant 

information being made available to the market and that this information will be available in a 
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much timelier manner. This should enable market participants to more accurately forecast 

earnings prior to their announcement (Ball & Brown, 1968; Tan, 2007). However, the 2007 

reforms also prohibited selective disclosure to certain analysts. Thus, it is possible that the 2007 

reforms might reduce the overall level of disclosure to investors and lead to a greater 

“information gap” in the market immediately prior to an earnings announcement. 

Chapter 6 examines the impact of the 2007 reforms on the information environment of 

investors by estimating the price volatility around the earnings announcements. Ball and Brown 

(1968) and Beaver et al. (1980) suggest that the stock market can anticipate some of the new 

information and that stock price movements are partially explained by the earnings news that 

precedes the earnings announcement. Thus, the ability of the market to anticipate earnings news 

and, accordingly, move the price to reflect the full value of this information is associated with the 

level of pre-earnings announcement information (Heflin et al., 2003). A superior pre-

announcement information disclosure environment implies lower information asymmetry 

between managers and investors and a stock price close to the full-information price. Hence, the 

absolute distance between the pre- and immediate post-earnings announcement prices can be 

employed as a measure of a company’s information gap. 

The absolute distance between the pre-announcement earnings price and the post-

earnings or full-information price is measured using the absolute cumulative abnormal return 

(ACAR) methodology (Heflin et al., 2003).7 A greater ACAR around the earnings announcement 

suggests a greater information gap in the immediate pre-announcement period. 

In this chapter, I find that the ACARs around the earnings announcement significantly 

increased in the post-reform period, indicating a wider gap between pre-announcement prices 

and full-information prices. This result still holds after controlling for other factors that may affect 

                                                           
7
 Beaver et al. (1979) show that unexpected earnings are positively associated with abnormal returns. 
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the ACARs. Three robustness tests are performed by including year dummies in the multivariate 

analysis, narrowing the sample period to one year immediately before and one year immediately 

after the reforms, and using a different measure of abnormal returns. The results are still 

qualitatively the same. 

Overall, I conclude that for Chinese A-shares, their ACARs increased significantly around 

the earnings announcements in the post-reform period, indicating that the level of information 

asymmetry between companies and the market increased after the 2007 reforms. 

1.4.4 The effects of the selective disclosure prohibition 

The findings presented in Chapter 5 show that local financial analysts’ forecast error and 

forecast dispersion increased after the reforms, whereas foreign financial analysts’ forecast error 

and forecast dispersion did not change significantly. Meanwhile, the empirical results reported in 

Chapter 6 show that the information gap between investors and management increased after the 

reforms. Thus, both local Chinese financial analysts and Chinese investors experienced a poorer 

information environment in the post-reform period. 

I interpret these results as follows. In the post-reform period, local financial analysts no 

longer had access to private information and this had a significant detrimental impact on their 

forecasting ability. The higher level of information asymmetry between managers and 

analysts/investors also led to an increase in the information gap and a greater difference 

between pre- and post-announcement stock prices, in spite of the results in Chapter 4 showing 

that the quantity of information disclosure increased significantly in the post-reform period. 

The increased information asymmetry, along with the increased quantity of information 

disclosure, suggests that the quality of information declined in the post-reform period due to the 

prohibition of selective disclosure. 
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I test this explanation in Chapter 7 by examining the impact of the 2007 reforms on the 

bid-ask spread and the adverse-selection component of the bid-ask spread. The results of my 

empirical analysis show evidence of an increase in the level of the bid-ask spread in the post-

reform period, suggesting an increase in information asymmetry. However, I also find evidence of 

a significant decrease in the adverse selection component of bid-ask spread in the post-reform 

period. Overall, the results suggest that there was less informed trading in the post-reform 

period, and the reforms reduced the selective disclosure of information. 

In conclusion, the results in this chapter are consistent with the findings in previous 

chapters. The increase in the bid-ask spread in the post-reform period is consistent with the 

findings in Chapters 5 and 6 that the quality of the information environment of the Chines A-

share market declined. However, the decrease in the adverse-selection component of the bid-ask 

spread in the post-reform period indicates less informed trading and less selective disclosure of 

private information in the post-reform period. Consequently, the total level of private and public 

information disclosed by Chinese listed companies decreased in the post-reform period and led 

to a higher information gap between market participants and listed companies. 

1.5 Structure of this thesis 

The remainder of this thesis is organized as follows: Chapter 2 describes the institutional 

background of the Chinese stock market and a brief description of the Hong Kong stock market. 

Chapter 3 outlines the data used in this research. The detailed results of the empirical research 

are reported in Chapters 4 to 7. Chapter 4 examines the quantity of information disclosed by 

Chinese listed companies in the pre- and post-reform periods. Chapter 5 reports the research on 

financial analysts’ earnings forecast accuracy. Chapter 6 reports the research on the information 

efficiency of stock prices around the earnings announcement dates. Chapter 7 examines the 

impact of the 2007 reforms on the bid-ask spread and the adverse selection component of the 

bid-ask spread of Chinese listed stocks. Chapter 8 summarizes the results of this study. 
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Chapter Two: Institutional background 

2.1 Introduction 

This chapter sets out the institutional background on: (1) the Chinese stock market; (2) 

the types of shares issued by Chinese companies; (3) the regulatory framework in the Chinese 

and Hong Kong stock markets; and (4) the 2007 reforms. 

The chapter is organized as follows. Section 2.2 gives a description of the Chinese stock 

market. Section 2.3 discusses the various types of shares issued by Chinese listed companies. 

Section 2.4 introduces the information disclosure regime faced by Chinese listed companies in 

the pre-reform period. Section 2.5 describes the new information disclosure regime and the new 

accounting standards that were introduced in the 2007 reforms. Section 2.6 discusses the Hong 

Kong stock market and Section 2.7 concludes the chapter. 

2.2 The Chinese stock market 

The Chinese stock market is one of the largest securities markets in the world. Its history 

dates back to the early 1980s when enterprises began to issue shares to their employees.  The 

official stock market was established in the early 1990s, when two nation-wide stock exchanges 

were set up almost simultaneously: the Shanghai Stock Exchange (SSE) opened in December 1990 

and the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (SZSE) opened in July 1991. They were both given “exclusive” 

rights to establish and operate markets for Chinese stocks. The two exchanges are almost 

identical except that the companies listed on the two exchanges have different characteristics. 

Most of the companies listed on SSE are large and state-owned, while those listed on SZSE are 

relatively small, joint-venture, and export-oriented (Xu, 2000). 

The participants in the Chinese stock market include listed companies, investors, and 

financial intermediaries. Investors comprise individual investors, institutional investment 
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companies, funds management institutions and securities firms. Financial intermediaries include 

securities firms, securities investment consultancy firms and rating agencies. 

Securities firms, investment consultancy firms and rating agencies have become very 

significant participants on the Chinese stock market. The first securities firm was set up in 1985 

and by March 2009, there were 107 securities firms, 61 funds management firms, 96 securities 

investment consultancy firms and 4 credit-rating institutions in the market. There are now almost 

90,000 practitioners in these firms, including over 6,000 qualified financial analysts.8 

Securities firms can be divided into comprehensive securities firms and brokerage 

securities firms. According to the Securities Law of the People’s Republic of China, the 

comprehensive securities firms may undertake brokerage business, invest in stocks, underwrite 

securities and undertake other business approved by the CSRC. Brokerage securities firms are 

only permitted to engage in securities brokerage business.  

Securities investment consultancy firms mainly engage in analysing stocks, identifying the 

fair values of stocks and making recommendations for investment. Credit-rating agencies assess 

listed companies’ credit quality and rate companies according to defined standards. 

As an integral part of the capital market, China’s financial analysts cover both Chinese A- 

and B-shares and provide earnings forecasts, investment recommendations, and other relevant 

information to various market participants. Some Hong Kong-based or affiliated analysts or 

brokerage firms also provide earnings forecasts for both Hong Kong and Chinese stocks (Ang & 

Ma, 1999). 

The Chinese stock market has rapidly expanded over the following twenty years. The 

number of listed companies increased from 14 in 1991 to 1,718 at the end of 2009, and over the 

                                                           
8
 This data is from the Securities Association of China, a semi-official organization that regulates companies involved 

in the securities market, namely securities firms, funds management firms, credit rating agencies, and so forth. 
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same period, the total market capitalization increased from RMB 105 billion to RMB 24 trillion. 

Table 2.1 presents selected statistics on the Chinese stock market. 

Table 2.1 
Selected Statistics on the Chinese Stock Market (for the Year 2009) 

Number of Companies Listed on the Chinese Stock Market 1,718 

Number of Companies Listed on the Chinese B-share Market 108 

Number of Chinese Companies Listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong 159 

Total Outstanding Shares (Billions of Shares)  2,616.29 

         Including: Tradable Shares (Billions of Shares) 1,975.95 

Total Outstanding Market Capitalization (Billions of RMB)  24,393.91 

         Including: Market Capitalization of Tradable Shares (Billions of RMB)  15,125.87 

Total Trading Volume (Billions of Shares) 5,110.70 

Total Trading Amount (Billions of RMB) 53,598.68 

Average Daily Trading Amount (Billions of RMB) 219.67 

Number of Securities Accounts (Millions) 120.38 

Number of Securities Companies 106 

Number of Securities Houses 3,956 

Number of Funds Companies 60 

Ratio of Market Capitalization to GDP 44.42% 

Source: China Securities and Futures Statistical Yearbook 2010 (CSRC, 2010) 
 

The exchanges are open from Monday to Friday except for public holidays and other days 

that are announced by the CSRC at the beginning of the year. On a trading day, from 9:15 am to 

9:25 am the opening call auction is held; from 9:25 am to 9:30 am the exchanges are opened to 

order routing from members, but do not process orders or process cancellations of orders; from 

9:30 am to 11:30 am and 13:00 pm to 15:00 pm, continuous trading takes place. 

Trading on the exchanges is paperless and orders are matched automatically according to 

the principle of “price and time priority” by computer. There are no market makers in this market. 

For stock trading, T+1 settlement is implemented, i.e., the stocks bought today can only be sold 

on the next trading day. The exchanges accept limit orders and market orders but orders are valid 

only on the day of placement. Orders must be less than 1 million shares. The tick size of the 

quotation price of an order for A-shares is RMB 0.01 and for B-shares USD 0.001(in the SSE) or 
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HKD 0.01(in the SZSE). A trading order should be in a round lot of 100 shares or the multiple 

thereof. There is a daily up/down limit of 10% for stock prices, but daily up/down limit of 5% for 

prices of stocks in special treatment (ST) status.9 

2.3 The various types of shares 

Chinese companies can issue several types of shares to investors. According to the listing 

market, Chinese shares can be classified into three main categories, namely A-shares, B-shares, 

and H-shares. A- and B-shares are only traded on the Chinese stock market, i.e., the SSE or SZSE. 

The difference between A- and B-shares is that A-shares are listed in the Chinese A-share market 

and are denominated in RMB and offered to domestic investors and Qualified Foreign 

Institutional Investors (QFII) only,  while B-shares are listed in the Chinese B-share market and are 

denominated either in US dollars (on the SSE) or HK dollars (on the SZSE) and offered to both 

domestic and foreign investors.10 H-shares are listed and traded on the Hong Kong Exchanges and 

Clearing Limited (HKEx) and are denominated in HK dollars.11 

The type of listed company is determined by the types of shares it has issued. All listed 

companies can be categorized into three main categories, i.e., Chinese A-share companies, 

Chinese B-share companies, and Chinese H-share companies. Table 2.2 summaries the definitions 

of types of shares and their corresponding listed companies.

                                                           
9
 A Chinese listed company receives special treatment status if it meets one of the follows: (i) the company reported 

losses for two consecutive fiscal years; (ii) the shareholders’ equity is lower than the registered capital (the par value 
of the share); (iii) the company’s operations have been stopped and there is no prospect of operations been restored 
within three months; or (iv) the company is involved in a damaging lawsuit or arbitration. If a company is unable to 
be turned around within two to three years, it will be further downgraded and may face delisting. See Bai et al. (2002) 
for details. 
10

 Before 2003, only domestic investors could invest in A-shares. The QFII system was adopted to promote the 
development of China’s stock market. Foreign investors qualified as QFII could make investments in A-shares in 
China. The Chinese B-share market was open to domestic investors in March 2001. 
11

 Chinese domestic investors have been allowed to invest in H-shares through the Qualified Domestic Institutional 
Investors (QDII) since May 2006. 
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Table 2.2 
The Classification of Shares Examined in this Thesis and their Corresponding Listed Companies 

Panel A: Classification of shares 

Type of Shares
a
 

Listing 
Market 

Accounting Regime
b
 Information Disclosure Regulation 

Main 
Category 

Sub-category 

A-share 

AO-share Chinese A-
share 

market 

Before: 1993 Standards and 2001 
Regulation  
After: 2006 Accounting Standards 

Before: Detailed Rules on 
Information Disclosure by Public 
Offering Companies 
After: Administrative Measures on 
Information Disclosure by Listed 
Companies 

ABA-share 

AHA-share 

B-share 
  

BO-share Chinese B-
share 

market 

Before: IAS/IFRS  
After: 2006 Accounting Standards ABB-share 

H-share 
  

HO-share 

HKEx 
Hong Kong Financial Reporting 
Standards 

The Securities and Futures 
Ordinance and Listing Rules 

AHH-share 

H-match 
  

HM-share 

AHM-share 

Panel B: Definition 

Main Category Sub-category 

Share Definition Share Definition (Shares meet following criteria) 

A-share 

Chinese shares  
listed in the 
Chinese A-
share market 

AO-share 
(i) listed in the Chinese A-share market; 
(ii) companies issuing this type of share do not issue other types of shares 

ABA-share 
(i) listed in the Chinese A-share market;  
(ii) companies issuing this type of share also issue ABB-shares, which are 
listed in the Chinese B-share market 

AHA-share 
(i) listed in the Chinese A-share market;  
(ii) companies issuing this type of share also issue AHH-shares, which are 
listed in HKEx 

B-share 

Chinese shares 
listed in the 
Chinese B-
share market 

BO-share 
(i) listed in the Chinese B-share market;  
(ii) companies issuing this type of share do not issue other types of shares 

ABB-share 
(i) listed in the Chinese B-share market;  
(ii) companies issuing this type of share also issue ABA-shares, which are 
listed in the Chinese A-share market 

H-share 
Chinese shares 
listed on HKEx 

HO-share 
(i) listed on HKEx;  
(ii) companies issuing this type of share do not issue other types of shares 

AHH-share 
(i) listed on HKEx;  
(ii) companies issuing this type of share also issue AHA-shares, which are 
listed on the Chinese A-share market 

H-match 
share 

Hong Kong 
based Shares 
listed on HKEx 

HM-share A matched sample of the HO-share sample 

AHM-share A matched sample of the AHH-share sample 
a
 There are 9 types of shares examined in this thesis, seven of them are Chinese shares and two of them are Hong Kong 

shares. Officially, there are only three categories of Chinese shares: A-shares, B-shares, and H-shares. In this research, 
these shares are classified into seven categories based on the listing market and type of shares issued by each company. 
The other two categories, HM-shares and AHM-shares, are shares issued by Hong Kong companies. 
b
 “Before” means before the implementation of the 2007 reforms, and “After” means after the implementation of the 

2007 reforms. 
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Table 2.2 shows that Chinese shares are classified into three main categories (H-match 

shares are Hong Kong shares), and then classified into seven sub-categories. The three main 

categories are A-shares, B-shares, and H-shares. A-shares comprise three sub-categories: AO-

shares, ABA-shares, and AHA-shares; B-shares comprise two sub-categories: BO-shares and ABB-

shares; and H-shares comprise two sub-categories: HO-shares and AHH-shares. 

In addition, Table 2.2 summaries the accounting regime and information disclosure 

regulations for each of the nine types of shares. A-shares underwent changes in accounting 

standards and information disclosure regulations; B-shares only experienced a change in 

information disclosure regulation (the 2006 Accounting Standards are substantially in line with 

IFRS); the accounting regimes and information disclosure regulation of H-shares did not change. 

Figure 2.1 demonstrates the relationships among different types of listed companies. 

Figure 2.1 Types of Chinese Listed Companies 

 

Chinese A-share 
companies                 

 

 

 

 

Chinese H-
share 
companies Chinese B-

share 
companies 

Chinese listed companies 

with A- and H-shares 

Chinese listed 

companies with A- 

and B-shares 

Chinese listed 

companies with A, B-, 

H-shares 
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2.4 Information disclosure of Chinese listed companies 

2.4.1 Information disclosure practice 

Chinese listed companies are required to disclose information through periodic and non-

periodic disclosures. Periodic disclosures include annual, semi-annual, and quarterly reports. 

These reports contain key accounting data and information on companies and corporate 

governance. Non-periodic disclosures are announcements made to stock exchanges that may 

disclose important events as they occur. 

In respect of periodic reports, Chinese A- and B-shares were required to comply with 

differing accounting standards prior to the 2007 reforms. Periodic reports of A-shares are 

prepared according to China’s Accounting Standards for Business Enterprise (ASBE, China’s GAAP) 

and are audited by either local or foreign accounting firms. Periodic reports of B-shares are 

prepared according to IAS/IFRS and are audited by international accounting firms only.12,13 Since 

the 2007 reforms, all financial statements prepared by Chinese A-shares and B-shares have been 

under the 2006 accounting standards. 

Chinese H-shares must disclose information according to the regulations of HKEx, and 

prepare semi-annual and annual reports under Hong Kong GAAP/IFRS.14 The auditors of H-shares 

must be either a “Big four” firm (i.e., Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, Ernst & Young, 

PricewaterhouseCoopers and KPMG) or another highly-rated international auditing firm.15 

2.4.2 The disclosure of material events 

Chinese listed companies are required to disclose material events to investors in a timely 

manner. The definition of a material event has been progressively modified. The Detailed Rules 

                                                           
12

 In this paper, as a matter of convenience, IFRS and IAS are inter-changeable. 
13

 Companies issued both ABB- and ABA-shares are required to prepare two sets of reports based on ASBE and IFRS 
and simultaneously release them to the public. Any difference in net incomes based on ASBE and IFRS had to be 
reconciled and presented in the financial statement footnotes (Abdel-khalik, Wong, & Wu, 1999; Liu & Liu, 2007). 
14

 According to Smith (2008), the Hong Kong GAAP is almost identical to IFRS. 
15

 Companies issuing both AHH- and AHA-shares are required to prepare two sets of reports based on Chinese ASBE 
and Hong Kong GAAP/IFRS. 
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on Information Disclosure by Public Offering Companies (DRID), issued in 1993, was the first 

regulation on information disclosure. This document defines a material event as an event that 

has a significant impact on the stock prices of a company. The document also specifies 23 types 

of events that should be disclosed. However, frequent problems occurred with respect to 

disclosure requirements, most notably fraudulent disclosures, insufficient disclosures, and lack of 

timeliness. In 1996, the CSRC issued the Circular on Enhancing the Examination of Ongoing 

Reports by Listed Companies in response to these problems. Moreover, the AMID gave more 

detailed definitions of material events, and further strengthened the non-periodic disclosure 

requirements for Chinese companies. 

2.4.3 The regulatory framework in the Chinese stock market 

The CSRC is the regulatory body on the Chinese stock market (Chen, Firth, Gao, & Rui, 

2005).16 The CSRC was established in 1992 and has wide-ranging powers covering authorization, 

rule-making, investigation, and enforcement of all aspects of securities markets (Berkman, Cole, 

& Fu, 2005; Chen et al., 2005). 

One of the important functions of the CSRC is to protect investor rights. The CSRC can 

enforce administrative sanctions on listed companies or financial intermediaries. The 

administrative sanctions range from informal rebukes to formal rulings. Common violations 

include market manipulation, dissemination of false information, insider trading, and breach of 

disclosure rules (Pistor & Xu, 2005a). Generally, the CSRC will punish managers or related 

financial intermediaries by way of official warnings, fines, or in more serious cases, revocation of 

professional licences and banning from securities markets. The CSRC has emphasised the 

enforcement of laws and regulations in recent years after a series of scandals were uncovered. In 

                                                           
16

 Initially the People’s Bank of China (PBOC) regulated the capital markets in China. In 1992 and 1993, the State 
Council Securities Commission (SCSC) and the CSRC were established by the State Council respectively. The two 
agencies replaced PBOC and acted as regulators for the securities market concurrently. In 1998, the two agencies 
merged into one agency: the CSRC. See Tarbutton (1994) and Pistor and Xu (2005a). 
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1999 and 2000, the number of Sanction and Enforcement Information (SEI) released was less 

than 20 each year, but it increased from 2001 and reached 58 in 2005 (Firth, Rui, & Wu, 2009). 

Chinese listed companies breaching laws or regulations have been punished, ranging from 

receiving administrative sanctions, being fined by the courts, or the directors or managers of 

companies being sentenced to jail. In addition, investors who have suffered losses because of the 

illegal actions of listed companies have begun to file civil suits against the companies.17 

The SSE and SZSE are also important regulatory bodies in the Chinese stock market. 

Compared to CSRC, the two exchanges are front-line regulators. In respect of information 

disclosure supervision, the stock exchanges oversee the preparation and release of 

announcements and other necessary documents prior to any public offering. The exchanges also 

encourage listed companies to compile and release periodic reports, and examine and verify 

companies’ non-periodic announcements. 

The legal framework for information disclosure comprises three layers: laws, 

administrative regulations and self-discipline rules. The laws regulating disclosure are Securities 

Law and the Company Law. The administrative regulations are a series of measures issued by 

CSRC, such as the AMID, the Measures for the Administration of the Takeover of Listed 

Companies, and the Interim Measures for the Stock Issuance and Listing Recommendation 

System. The self-discipline rules are the Listing Rules issued by the SSE and SZSE. While the 

Securities Law is intended to provide unified rules for securities regulation, it should not be 

                                                           
17

 Refer to Li (2004) for a detailed discussion on civil litigation. An example is the Yin Guangxia case (Pistor & Xu, 
2005b). Between 1998 and 2001, the company fabricated sales receipts and lied to the market about various 
production facilities that never existed. The total amount of faked sales was over RMB 1 billion (about US$120 
million). This scandal is known as the “Enron of China” (Chen, 2006). In 2003, the managers of the company and its 
auditors were fined and sentenced to jail by the court. Over 1000 civil suits were filed against the company, totalling 
over RMB 200 million. One part of the claim, which is over RMB 100 million, was settled out of court. Another part of 
the claim, around RMB 71 million, was settled by the court in 2006, and shareholders were compensated with shares 
of Yin Guangxia. 
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considered as a complete statement of the current law regarding information disclosure on the 

Chinese stock market (Tobin, 1987). 

2.5 The 2007 reforms 

2.5.1 Introduction 

The reforms implemented in January 2007 introduced two main reforms to the Chinese 

stock market: an improved information disclosure regime and a set of new accounting standards. 

On 30 January 2007, the AMID was released by the CSRC and took effect immediately. This new 

disclosure regulation was expected to enhance the quality and timeliness of information 

disclosure. In February 2006, the 2006 Accounting Standards was promulgated by the Ministry of 

Finance (MoF), effective from 1 January 2007. The objectives of the new accounting standards, 

which are based on IFRS, were to increase the quality, and quantity of accounting information. 

In summary, these reforms reflected the desire of the Chinese government to strengthen 

listed companies’ information transparency and improve the quality of financial information, so 

as to better protect investors (CSRC, 2007; Dong et al., 2006; Jin, 2006). Thus, the Chinese 

regulators expected the information environment in the Chinese stock market to be significantly 

improved by the reforms. 

2.5.2 The AMID 

2.5.2.1 The key points of the AMID 

The AMID involves critical changes in the institutional arrangements for Chinese listed 

companies when compared to the former regulations. First, it introduces the discipline of “fair 

disclosure”, along with the requirement that information disclosure should be ‘truthful, accurate, 

complete, and timely’. Article 2 states that information disclosure should be ‘public and 

simultaneous’. Article 4 states that ‘No person with knowledge of inside information shall, prior 

to a lawful disclosure of inside information, make public or disclose such information or conduct 

insider trading with such information’. 
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Second, it specifies the obligations of the board of directors, supervisors and senior 

managers regarding information disclosure matters. The chairman of the board is responsible for 

the reliability of the information disclosed; senior managers, the chief financial officer and board 

secretary are responsible for preparing periodic report drafts; the board secretary is responsible 

for the release of periodic and non-periodic disclosure. 

Third, it requires listed companies to formulate a system of managing information 

disclosure matters. It explicitly requires listed companies to establish rules for information 

disclosure, which include: (i) the specification and standard of information that should be 

disclosed; (ii) the duties of board directors, senior managers and related parties in information 

disclosure practices; and (iii) the civil and criminal sanctions for violation of the rules. 

Fourth, it defines the rights and obligations of financial intermediaries, accounting firms 

and other relevant parties in the information disclosure affairs of listed companies. In addition, it 

emphasizes the non-periodic disclosures of important information and lists in detail those events 

that can be deemed major matters. 

Lastly, the AMID enhances the sanctions for any breach of the regulation, which is 

enforced by the CSRC according to the relative articles of the Securities Law. In the event of a 

violation, a listed company would be liable to a fine of up to RMB 600,000 by the CSRC. The 

person-in-charge and any other persons directly responsible, such as directors and senior 

managers, may also be liable to a fine of up to RMB 300,000 by the CSRC.18 After the 2007 

reforms, CSRC improved enforcement of information disclosure, and relatively more listed 

companies were fined because of failing to comply with disclosure requirements. 

                                                           
18

 The magnitude of fines is not related to the firm’s market capitalization, but depends on the seriousness of the offence. In 

addition, the magnitude of fines on individuals are normally their a quarter or even half-year’s income, this should be an incentive 

for the management to comply. Appendix 2.1 shows the number of companies or individuals fined for not meeting information 

disclosure requirements per year during 2005-2011. The number increased greatly after year 2007, suggesting that the CSRC 

improved the enforcement on the breach of information disclosure requirement. 
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2.5.2.2 The potential influence of the AMID 

The AMID is expected to have a significant influence on the information environment in 

the Chinese stock market. First, the market should be able to access more information that is 

more accurate and timelier. To ensure compliance with the rules, the senior managers and 

boards will need to pay much more attention to the company’s management information 

disclosure systems to ensure that accurate and timely information is disclosed to the public. The 

definition of a “significant event,” which is required to be disclosed in a timely and continuous 

manner, should also increase the number of non-periodic announcements by companies. 

Second, the AMID should reduce information asymmetry between informed and 

uninformed investors. The “fair disclosure” rules prohibit selective disclosure of private 

information, enhance the interests of investors, and establish a “public, fair, and just” security 

market. With less private information being disclosed to selected investors, the level of 

information asymmetry between informed and uninformed investors should be reduced. 

2.5.3 The 2006 Accounting Standards 

The 2006 Accounting Standards replaced the former accounting standards, the 2001 

Regulation. They include a basic standard and 38 specific standards, which cover the different 

aspects of business operations.19 Of the 38 specified standards, 16 standards were transferred, 

with some refinements, from the former ASBE, while 22 new standards were promulgated.20 This 

set of standards took effect on 1 January 2007 and Chinese listed companies were required to 

prepare their financial reports based on the 2006 Accounting Standards from the first quarter of 

2007. 

                                                           
19

 Examples are accounting for inventories (No.1) and fixed assets (No. 4).  
20

 Examples of new standards are accounting for biological assets (No.5), hedging (No. 24), insurance (No. 25, 26) and 
extraction of petroleum and natural gas (No. 27). 
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2.5.3.1 The changes in the accounting regime 

The 2006 Accounting Standards bring greater convergence of Chinese domestic 

accounting standards with IFRS (Kuan & Noronha, 2007; Wang & Zhu, 2009). An August 2006 

report by Deloitte compares China’s new accounting standards with the prior GAAP in Chinese 

Mainland and IFRS (Deloitte, 2006). According to Deloitte (2006), "the ASBEs do not simply 

expand the disclosure requirements. They make fundamental changes. Accordingly, they may 

have a significant impact on the reported financial result and/or the net assets of enterprises that 

are presented in the financial statements." 

Several important changes were introduced in the 2006 Accounting Standards.21 The most 

important changes are the measurement of the elements of financial accounting, the accounting 

treatment of asset depreciation reserves, debt restructuring, investments in real estate, 

investments in securities and the preparation of consolidated financial statements.22 Most but 

not all changes are considered to have a positive impact on the quality of accounting 

information.23 

The 2006 Accounting Standards also made six major changes to harmonize Chinese GAAP 

with IFRS, in particular the requirement for disclosure of related-party transactions (i.e. the state-

controlled entities), business combinations of entities under common control, and fair value 

                                                           
21

 The new standards still keep certain modifications to accommodate China’s unique circumstances and 
environment. In the light of China’s evolving market economy and developing accounting profession and the 
practical circumstances of Chinese enterprises, the MoF has not adopted every accounting convention applied in 
IFRS. 
22

 The 2006 Accounting Standards require listed companies to prepare consolidated financial statements, which 
should include the financial information of all the subsidiary companies of which the listed company has de facto 
control (2006 Accounting Standards No. 33). 
23

 It is believed that changes in the accounting treatment of asset impairment and consolidated financial statements 
may improve the quality of accounting information and reduce earnings management. For example, once any loss of 
asset impairment is recognized, it cannot be reversed in any future accounting periods (2006 Accounting Standards, 
No. 8 Article 17). A further example is, if the debt of a listed company is restructured (i.e., one part of the debt is 
waived), under the 2006 Accounting Standards the waived debt is included in the “current profits and losses” (2006 
Accounting Standards, No. 12). This creates potential for earnings management as the parent company of a listed 
company can increase the current profits of the listed company by waiving debts(Chen, 2008; Lin, 2006). 
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measurement.24 Overall, the discrepancies between the 2006 Accounting Standards and IFRS/IAS 

are greatly reduced compared to the discrepancies between the accounting standards for 

Chinese GAAP in the pre-reform period and IAS/IFRS (Kuan & Noronha, 2007).  

First, the 2006 Accounting Standards use fair value accounting in financial reporting. 

Investment property, financial investments, exchange of non-monetary assets, and debt 

restructuring and business combinations involving entities that are not under common control 

are all required to be measured at fair value. The 2006 Accounting Standards also require listed 

enterprises to disclose basic and diluted earnings per share (hereafter, EPS), while the former 

Chinese GAAP required the EPS figure to be calculated using a simple formula prescribed by the 

CSRC. 

Second, the scope of the related party rules is expanded. If two parties are subject to joint 

control or significant influence from the same party, they are regarded as related parties. If 

separate financial statements of the parent are presented together with its consolidated financial 

statements, information on related party relationships and the related party transactions of the 

parent must also be disclosed. 

Third, the recognition and measurement of contingencies is defined. The 2006 Accounting 

Standards contain guidance on how the recognition and measurement provisions apply to 

onerous contracts and restructuring. Fourth, the 2006 Accounting Standards require 

capitalisation of borrowing costs for a broader scope of assets, including inventories and 

intangible assets, instead of being limited to fixed assets. 

Fifth, the requirements for segment reporting are changed. The 2006 Accounting 

Standards require one basis of segmentation to be primary and the other to be secondary, with 

                                                           
24

 Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (2006) reports the differences between the 2006 Accounting Standards and the former 
standards and IFRS in detail. 
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considerably less information needing to be disclosed for the secondary segment. In contrast, the 

former Chinese GAAP required the same amount of information to be reported for both business 

segments and geographical segments. 

Lastly, the 2006 Accounting Standards introduce a number of significant new disclosure 

requirements. More information concerning business combinations needs to be disclosed. With 

respect to the financial statements, there are several important changes: (i) Enterprises must 

prepare a statement of changes in equity and present minority interests separately instead of 

preparing a statement of profit appropriation; (ii) more information is required to be disclosed in 

the notes to financial statements; (iii) in the consolidated income statement, profit attributable 

to minority interests and profit attributable to owners of the parent must be presented 

separately after the profit for the year; (iv) comparative information must be disclosed in respect 

of the previous period for all amounts reported in the financial statements; (v) all  enterprises are 

required to prepare consolidated financial statements; and (vi) all subsidiaries under the control 

of a parent must be consolidated. Significant new disclosure requirements are also introduced for 

financial instruments. 

2.5.3.2 A comparison between the 2006 Accounting Standards and IFRS 

The new accounting standards are substantially in line with IFRS, except for a number of 

specific modifications that reflect China’s unique circumstances and environment (Deloitte, 2006). 

First, the 2006 Accounting Standards prohibit the reversal of all impairment losses, 

whereas IAS/IFRS only prohibits the reversal of any impairment loss for goodwill. 

Second, in terms of cash flow statements, the 2006 Accounting Standards require the use 

of the direct method, accompanied by a note showing the reconciliation of profit to net cash flow 

from operating activities using the indirect method. Under IAS/IFRS, an enterprise is encouraged 

to use the direct method but is permitted to use the indirect method. 
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Third, the 2006 Accounting Standards require the balance sheet, income statement and 

cash flow statement in an interim report to be complete. However, the 2006 Accounting 

Standards do not require the presentation of changes in equity. 

Lastly, with respect to earnings per share, IAS/IFRS requires disclosure of the basic and 

diluted EPS amounts for profit or loss from continuous operations and those for discontinued 

operations. The 2006 Accounting Standards only require the calculation of basic and diluted EPS 

based on net profit or loss for the current period. 

2.5.3.3 The potential impact of the 2006 Accounting Standards on the information environment 

In summary, the 2006 Accounting Standards make fundamental changes to Chinese GAAP, 

and are expected to have a significant impact on the reported financial earnings and/or the net 

assets of the enterprise. The 2006 Accounting Standards should (i) lead to greater transparency 

of accounting information and enhance the information content of earnings announcements; (ii) 

enhance the ability of financial analysts and investors to analyse company performance and 

make more accurate forecasts of future performance; and (iii) make accounting numbers 

comparable to those of foreign companies, and thereby assist foreign investors and analysts to 

better understand the performance of Chinese companies. 

2.6 The Hong Kong stock market 

The Hong Kong stock market was established in 1891 and is one of the largest emerging 

markets in the world.25 At the end of 2010, there were 1,244 listed companies on the Main Board, 

with a total market capitalisation of HK$ 20,942.2 billion. The total turnover of Main Board 

equities was HK$12,277.7 billion in 2010. 

                                                           
25

 According to the statistics of the Securities and Futures Commission, at the end of December, 2005, the Hong Kong 
stock exchange turnover in 2005 was US$1,055 billion, which is 8th place in the world and 2nd place in Asia. 
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The Hong Kong stock market is much more developed than the Chinese stock market.26 

Prompted by the 1987 stock market crash, Hong Kong has taken a series of actions to bring its 

securities market in line with international standards. Reforms include the formation of an 

independent Securities and Futures Commission (hereafter, SFC) that serves as the securities 

watchdog, the restructuring of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (hereafter, SEHK), the revision of 

its listing procedures, and the enactment of insider trading and disclosure laws. In 1993, the Hong 

Kong Society of Accountants (HKSA), which issues the local Statements of Standard Accounting 

Practice, decided that International Accounting Standards would serve as the basis for the 

development of all new accounting standards. Prior to 1993, HKSA standards were based largely 

on those from the UK. Since 1993, firms can satisfy SEHK listing requirements by preparing 

financial statements that comply with either international or existing HKSA accounting standards. 

The SFC is the principal regulator of HKEx.27 The SFC performs a number of supervisory 

roles and has extensive regulatory powers to enable it to perform its functions. Market 

regulation is undertaken by the Securities and Futures Ordinance (SFO), which commenced 

operation on 1 April 2003. The SFO conducts a more stringent regulation of information 

disclosure by listed companies than the former disclosure regulations of the Chinese stock 

market (Liao, 2007). 

In additional to regional growth, the HKEx has also forged a role as China’s primary 

international capital formation centre. Of the 159 formerly wholly state-owned Chinese 

companies listed outside the mainland in 2009, 150 were listed on the HKEx. Many of these 

companies are essentially “equity carve-outs” from their wholly state-owned parent. They tend 

to specialize in a single activity, usually heavy industry or a major infrastructure project, and 

                                                           
26

 Under the MSCI taxonomy, Hong Kong is categorized as a “developed” market, with China classified as an 
“emerging” market. 
27

 In 1999, the SEHK, Hong Kong Futures Exchange Limited (HKFE), and Hong Kong Securities Clearing Company 
Limited (HKSCC) merged under a single holding company, HKEx (HKEx, 2011). 
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operate exclusively in Mainland China. They have been selected by the Chinese State Planning 

Commission for listing on the HKEx based on their economic importance, management quality, 

technology, profitability and international significance, with the primary objective of raising 

foreign capital. Most of the Chinese H-share companies are also listed on the Chinese stock 

market. 

H-share companies must comply with the information disclosure rules of the Securities 

and Futures Ordinance and Listing Rules issued by HKEx. They must prepare annual and semi-

annual reports in accordance with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (HKFRS), which 

comprises HKFRS, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (HKAS), Statement of Standard Accounting 

Practice (SSAP), and interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 

Accountants (HKICPA). Accounting standards in Hong Kong are fully compliant with IFRS, with the 

exception of several Hong Kong interpretations that do not have a counterpart in IFRSs. 

2.7 Summary 

This chapter summarizes the institutional background of the Chinese and Hong Kong stock 

markets, including the history of the Chinese stock market, the information disclosure practices 

of Chinese listed companies, and the development of the information disclosure regime and 

accounting standards since the beginning of Chinese economic reform. In addition, the 

information disclosure regulations and the accounting regime in the Hong Kong stock market are 

briefly discussed. 

The 2007 reforms are a significant development in the Chinese stock market. The key 

objective of the reforms is to improve the information environment of Chinese listed companies.  

First, the improved information disclosure regulation under the 2007 reforms prescribes 

timely and accurate disclosure of material information. This should significantly improve the 

quantity and quality of information available to the market. 
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Second, the information disclosure regulation introduces ‘fair disclosure’ and promotes 

better investor protection for all investors.  The prohibition on selective disclosure of material 

information by management to a minority of market participants should improve the level of 

fairness in information access and information availability to all investors. 

Third, the convergence of accounting standards with IFRS should ensure that companies 

provide more accurate and more value-relevant financial information to investors. 
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Chapter Three: Data and Sources 

3.1 Introduction 

This chapter describes the data employed in this research and is organized as follows: 

Section 3.2 briefly outlines the samples and sample period. Section 3.3 describes the data sources 

and section 3.4 concludes the chapter. 

3.2 Sample 

The sample period in this research is from 1 January 2005 to 31 December 2008. This 

period spans a two-year period immediately before and after the implementation of the 2007 

reforms in January 2007. The pre-reform period is defined as the period between 1 January 2005 

and 31 December 2006, and the post-reform period is defined as the period between 1 January 

2007 and 31 December 2008.28 

Chapter two describes the types of shares examined in this study. For each share type, 

the sample shares are restricted to those that were issued and listed by the end of 2003 on the 

main board of their respective exchanges and listed continuously during 2004-2008.29 In addition, 

for shares issued by cross-listing companies, the corresponding A-share must have had no high 

“delisting risks” during the period 2004-2008 (i.e., classified as *ST shares by CSRC).30 

                                                           
28 The market participants had a long time period to adapt the new accounting standards and disclosure regulation. 

The new accounting standards were released on 15/02/2006, ten months before it took effect. In addition, the 
Ministry of Finance released a set of application guides for the new accounting standards to help with adaptation. 
These guides should enhance market participants’ understanding of new standards. So market participants (i.e., 
listed companies, accountant firms, financial analysts, and investors) had sufficient time to adapt to the new 
accounting standards. In terms of the AMID, since the middle of 2006 the issuance of a new information disclosure 
regulation has been discussed. The CSRC also publicly published a draft of AMID on 26/12/2006, a month before the 
final edition, to collect comments. 
29

 The requirement that shares should have been listed by 2003 is to exclude new companies so as to avoid any 
potential bias in forecast accuracy and price volatility where the market is still not familiar with these companies. 
30

 The Special treatment (ST) system was established by the CSRC in 1998. Any Chinese listed companies with two 
successive years of loss or with asset value per share less than face value will be specially treated on the stock 
exchange and will have ST before their short names (Bai et al., 2002). Moreover, in 2003 the Shenzhen and Shanghai 
stock exchanges introduced the “delisting risk warning” system. The exchanges will issue a delisting risk warning on 
stocks of Chinese listed companies which were previously eligible for special treatment, and put *ST before short 
stock names. The exchanges will put stocks of any Chinese listed companies under “other kind of special treatment” 
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The number of A-shares listed on the Chinese A-share market was 1,176 at the end of 

2003. Following Firth et al. (2007), I first exclude 20 companies in the financial sector because of 

the special regulatory environment applied to these companies.31 I then eliminate 80 companies 

with high delisting risks during the period 2004-2008 (classified as *ST shares by CSRC). The size 

of the sample is further reduced to 987 companies after excluding 189 companies which 

temporarily continuously ceased trading for at least one month. Of the final sample, 335 

companies are listed on SZSE and 652 companies are listed on SSE. 

Table 3.1 shows the distribution of the final sample of A-shares (i.e., the combination of 

AO-, ABA-, and AHA-shares) by CSRC industrial classification. The 987 sample shares are from 22 

industries: 15.6% of sample shares come from the machinery, equipment and instrument 

industries, and 10.74% from the petroleum, chemistry, rubber, and plastic industries. 

 Table 3.2 shows the distribution of the BO-share and ABB-share samples by CSRC 

industrial classification. The size of the BO-share sample is 15 companies and the size of the ABB-

share sample is 73 companies, with 25% of samples belonging to machinery, equipment and 

instrument industries, and 9.09% belonging to textiles, clothes and fur industries. 

Table 3.3 shows the distribution of the HO-share and the HM-share samples by the 

Thomson Datastream industrial classification. The HO- and HM-share samples are from seven 

industries, including 28.57% of sample shares from industrial transportation. The size of the HO-

share sample and its match sample, HM-shares, is 14 companies, and the size of the AHH-share 

sample and its match sample, the AHM-share sample, is 25 companies. The two matched 

samples (HM- and AHM-share samples) are restricted to Hong Kong based companies and were 

listed on HKEx before 2003. The selection of matched samples is paired according to industry 

                                                                                                                                                                                              
and put ST before their short stock names if the shareholders’ equity interest is negative in the most recent financial 
year (SSE, 2008; SZSE, 2008). 
31

 Companies in the financial sector are subject to different information disclosure requirements in China. 
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code and company size. The two matched samples are employed to compare how the 

information environment in the HKEx has change during the period 2005-2008.  

Table 3.1 
Distribution of Companies in the A-share Sample across Industries* 

Industry Sector 
Overall  SSE  SZSE 

No. of obs Percent  No. of obs Percent  No. of obs Percent 

Agriculture, Forecast, Livestock 
Farming, Fishery 

17 1.72%  11 1.69%  6 1.79% 

Communication and Cultural 
Industry 

8 0.81%  6 0.92%  2 0.60% 

Comprehensive 56 5.67%  36 5.52%  20 5.97% 

Construction 22 2.23%  16 2.45%  6 1.79% 

Electric Power, Gas and Water 
Production and Supply 

47 4.76%  32 4.91%  15 4.48% 

Electronic 31 3.14%  19 2.91%  12 3.58% 

Finance and Insurance 1 0.10%  1 0.15%  0 0.00% 

Food and Beverage 46 4.66%  32 4.91%  14 4.18% 

Information Technology 57 5.78%  44 6.75%  13 3.88% 

Machinery, Equipment and 
Instruments 

154 15.60%  100 15.34%  54 16.12% 

Medicine and Biological 
Products 

66 6.69%  44 6.75%  22 6.57% 

Metal and Non-metal 86 8.71%  56 8.59%  30 8.96% 

Mining 17 1.72%  10 1.53%  7 2.09% 

Other Manufacturing 11 1.11%  10 1.53%  1 0.30% 

Paper Making and Printing 16 1.62%  10 1.53%  6 1.79% 

Petroleum, Chemistry, Rubber 
and Plastic 

106 10.74%  61 9.36%  45 13.43% 

Real Estate 59 5.98%  36 5.52%  23 6.87% 

Social Services 31 3.14%  16 2.45%  15 4.48% 

Textile, Clothes and Fur 40 4.05%  28 4.29%  12 3.58% 

Timber and Furniture 1 0.10%  1 0.15%  0 0.00% 

Transport and Storage 43 4.36%  32 4.91%  11 3.28% 

Wholesale and Retail Trade 72 7.29%  51 7.82%  21 6.27% 

Total 987 100.00%  652 100.00%  335 100.00% 

*Industry Classification is provided by the CSRC 
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Table 3.2 
Distribution of Companies in the BO-share and ABB-share Samples across Industriesa 

Industry Sector 

Overall  ABB-share  BO-share 

Number 
of obs. 

Percent  
Number 
of obs. 

Percent  
Number 
of obs. 

Percent 

Mining 2 2.27%  0 0.00%  2 13.33% 

Food and Beverage 3 3.41%  3 4.11%  0 0.00% 

Textile, Clothes and Fur 8 9.09%  7 9.59%  1 6.67% 

Paper Making and Printing 1 1.14%  0 0.00%  1 6.67% 

Petroleum, Chemistry, Rubber 
and Plastic 

5 5.68%  5 6.85%  0 0.00% 

Electronic 6 6.82%  6 8.22%  0 0.00% 

Metal and Non-metal 6 6.82%  6 8.22%  0 0.00% 

Machinery, Equipment and 
Instruments 

22 25.00%  17 23.29%  5 33.33% 

Medicine and Biological 
Products 

2 2.27%  2 2.74%  0 0.00% 

Other Manufacturing 1 1.14%  1 1.37%  0 0.00% 

Electric Power, Gas and Water 
Production and Supply 

4 4.55%  3 4.11%  1 6.67% 

Construction 1 1.14%  0 0.00%  1 6.67% 

Transport and Storage 5 5.68%  4 5.48%  1 6.67% 

Information Technology 4 4.55%  3 4.11%  1 6.67% 

Wholesale and Retail Trade 3 3.41%  3 4.11%  0 0.00% 

Real Estate 7 7.95%  6 8.22%  1 6.67% 

Social Service 5 5.68%  4 5.48%  1 6.67% 

Communication and Cultural 
Industry 

1 1.14%  1 1.37%  0 0.00% 

Comprehensive 2 2.27%  2 2.74%  0 0.00% 

Total 88 100.00%  73 100.00%  15 100.00% 

a
 Industry Classification is provided by the CSRC. 
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Table 3.3 
Distribution of Companies in the HO-share and HM-share Samples across Industries* 

Industrial Sector 
HO-share HM-share  Average Total 

Asset 
(millions of HKD) 

Number 
of obs. 

Percent 
Number 
of obs. 

Percent 

Industrial transportation 4 28.57% 4 28.57% 7,186.51 

Industrial engineering 3 21.43% 3 21.43% 9,699.77 

Fixed line 1 7.14% 1 7.14% 229,764.90 

Gas water  1 7.14% 1 7.14% 4,733.80 

Software 1 7.14% 1 7.14% 4,834.34 

Tech hardware 1 7.14% 1 7.14% 6,271.09 

Electronic and electrical equipment 3 21.43% 3 21.43% 5,531.90 

*The industrial classification is provided by Thomson DataStream. 

Table 3.4 shows the distribution of the AHH-share and AHM-share samples by the Thomson 

Datastream industrial classification. The AHH-share and AHM-share samples are from 13 

industries, with 20% of the sample shares from industrial engineering and 16% of sample shares 

from industrial transportation. 

Table 3.4 
Distribution of Companies in the AHH-share and AHM-share Samples across Industries* 

Industrial Sector 
AHH-share AHM-share  

Average Total Asset 
(millions of HKD) 

Number of 
obs. 

Percent 
Number 
of obs. 

Percent 

Industrial transportation 4 16.00% 4 16.00% 11,620.40 

Industrial engineering 5 20.00% 5 20.00% 2,658.58 

Tech hardware 1 4.00% 1 4.00% 2,516.92 

Electronic and electrical 
equipment 

1 4.00% 1 4.00% 1,241.10 

Oil and Gas Producers 1 4.00% 1 4.00% 265,943.32 

Beverage 1 4.00% 1 4.00% 6,040.89 

Properties 2 8.00% 2 8.00% 64,241.62 

Basic Materials 2 8.00% 2 8.00% 14,379.57 

Health and personal care 2 8.00% 2 8.00% 2,669.17 

Utilities 1 4.00% 1 4.00% 99,371.81 

Construction 1 4.00% 1 4.00% 22,175.65 

Industrial Metals & Mining 3 12.00% 3 12.00% 12,081.76 

Textiles & clothing 1 4.00% 1 4.00% 21,850.73 

*The industrial classification is provided by Thomson DataStream. 
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3.3 Data sources 

The data employed in this research are obtained mainly from five databases, namely 

RESSET, China Stock Market and Accounting Research Databases (CSMAR), Institutional Brokers 

Estimate System (I/B/E/S), SICRA, and Thomson DataStream. RESSET and CSMAR are two Chinese 

commercial online databases. They both supply data on the Chinese financial markets, such as 

data for stock markets, bond markets, futures markets and macroeconomic data.32 

RESSET has supplied the majority of data used in this research. For Chinese listed 

companies, these data include: (1) the share structure, profile of shareholders, accounting 

numbers, the dates of important events, and daily stock returns; and (2) market capitalization, 

stock indices, and market daily returns. In addition, RESSET provided (1) the daily returns of 

shares listed on the Hong Kong stock market; and (2) the daily return of the Hong Kong stock 

market. 

CSMAR supplied the earnings forecasts on Chinese listed companies made by local 

financial analysts.33 This data is collected from the Analyst Forecasts’ database of CSMAR. I/B/E/S 

data supplied the earnings forecasts on Chinese and Hong Kong listed companies. These forecasts 

are mainly made by foreign analysts.34 The intraday share transaction data is sourced from SIRCA. 

The accounting numbers of the HO-share and AHH-share samples and their match samples are 

sourced from Thomsom Datastream. 

Information on the laws, regulations, and rules for the Chinese market are obtained from 

the websites of market regulators (i.e., CSRC and PBOC) and stock exchanges (i.e., SSE, SZSE, and 

HKEx). The official information disclosure website for the Chinese stock market, CNINFO 

                                                           
32

 Much of the CSMAR database is now available at WRDS. 
33

 CSMAR supplied the name of financial analysts and the name of their companies. 
34

 I cannot identify the financial analysts in I/B/E/S, as I/B/E/S does not provide information of analysts and broker 
agency identities. However, the evidence suggests that the majority of analysts’ forecasts in I/B/E/S should be 
foreign analysts. For instance, Bae et al. (2008) obtained their sample from I/B/E/S, and report 91% of analysts 
following Chinese listed companies are foreign analysts. 
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(www.cninfo.com.cn), provides the information on the announcements made by listed 

companies to the Chinese stock market. The official information disclosure website for the Hong 

Kong stock market (www.hkexnews.hk) provides the information on the announcements made 

by listed companies to Hong Kong stock market. In addition, the websites of listed companies are 

used where necessary to obtain more detailed data on companies. 

Table 3.5 summarises the sources of data used in this research.
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Table 3.5 
Sources of Data 

DATA Sample Source Period 

Accounting numbers of Chinese listed companies 
AO-share, ABA-share, AHA-share, BO-share, 
and ABB-share samples 

RESSET 2004-2008 

Accounting numbers of companies listed on Hong Kong 
stock market 

HO-share, AHH-share, HM-share, and AHM-
share samples 

Periodic reports obtained 
from CNINFO or HKEXNEWS 

2004-2008 

Earnings announcements date 

 AO-share, ABA-share, AHA-share, BO-share, 
and ABB-share samples 

RESSET 2005-2008 

HO-share, AHH-share, HM-share, and AHM-
share samples 

HKNEWS 2005-2008 

Earnings forecasts made by financial analysts 
 AO-share, ABA-share, and AHA-share samples CSMAR, I/B/E/S 2005-2008 

BO-share, ABB-share, HO-share, and AHH-
share samples 

I/B/E/S 2005-2008 

Financial data 

 AO-share, ABA-share, AHA-share, BO-share, 
and ABB-share samples 

RESSET 2004-2008 

HO-share, AHH-share, HM-share, and AHM-
share samples 

Datastream 2004-2008 

Intraday transaction data All samples SICRA 2005-2008 

Market daily returns, daily indices All samples RESSET 2003-2008 

Stock daily returns, daily prices All samples RESSET 2003-2008 

The number of shares held by institutional investors All samples RESSET 2004-2008 

The number of shares outstanding All samples RESSET 2004-2008 

The quantity of disclosure made to the Chinese stock 
market 

 AO-share, ABA-share, AHA-share, BO-share, 
and ABB-share samples 

CNINFO 2005-2008 

The quantity of disclosure made to Hong Kong stock market 
HO-share, AHH-share, HM-share, and AHM-
share samples 

HKEXNEWS 2005-2008 
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Chapter Four: The impact of the 2007 reforms on information disclosure 

4.1 Introduction 

This chapter investigates the impact of the 2007 reforms on the quantity of public 

information disclosed by Chinese listed companies. The public disclosure comprises periodic 

announcements, non-periodic NPSA, and non-periodic PSA. The focus of this research is on the 

number of non-periodic PSA, for the following reasons: 

 First, the AMID requires the board and senior managers of Chinese listed 

companies to disclose significant information (as explicitly defined) in a timely and continuous 

manner. This should increase the number of non-periodic PSA and consequently improve the 

information environment of listed companies. 

 The requirements by Chinese companies to provide periodic announcements have 

been well established since year 2002. Thus, the 2007 reforms should not have a significant 

influence on the number of periodic announcements.35 

 The number of non-periodic NPSA have little or no relationship with the 

information environment of listed companies (Lannoo, 2003; Ryan & Taffler, 2004). Thus, 

examining changes in the amount of non-periodic NPSA will not test the effects of the 2007 

reforms on the information environment. 

The remainder of this chapter is organized as follows. Section 4.2 provides a brief review of 

the literature and develops three hypotheses concerning the number of non-periodic PSA. Section 

4.3 describes the data and methodology used in this study. Section 4.4 reports the results of 

                                                           
35

 Since 2002, Chinese listed companies have been required by the CSRC to prepare annual, semi-annual, and 
quarterly reports (CSRC, 2001).  The new accounting standards, which were also introduced in this reform, should 
improve the quantity of accounting information, but did not require Chinese listed companies to improve the 
frequency of periodic disclosure (i.e., quarterly, semi-annual, and annual reports). 
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univariate tests. Section 4.5 reports the results of multivariate test. Section 4.6 summarizes this 

chapter. 

4.2 Hypothesis Development 

4.2.1 Prior Literature 

In general, prior research by Brown et al. (1999), Heflin et al. (2003), Bailey et al. (2003), 

and Huang et al. (2009) finds that a more stringent disclosure regulation will enhance the 

information disclosure of companies. 

Heflin et al. (2003) examine the impact of Reg FD introduced in the US in 2000 on the 

information environment. Reg FD forbids firms disclosing material information to selected 

investors or securities market professionals. A potential consequence of Reg FD is that the firms 

will seek to improve their public disclosure so as to reduce information asymmetry between 

informed and uninformed investors. Heflin et al. (2003) suggest that voluntary disclosure becomes 

a new channel by which a company may disclose information, and they document a substantial 

increase in the amount of voluntary, forward-looking, earnings-related company disclosures. 

Heflin et al. conclude that the information environment improved after Reg FD. Bailey et al. (2003) 

report similar results to Heflin et al. (2003), and also find that firms significantly increased their 

information disclosure after the adoption of Reg FD. 

In the Australian market, Brown et al. (1999) examine the Corporations Law Reform Act 

introduced in Australia in 1994. The authors argue that the reform will significantly change 

company disclosure policy, especially voluntary disclosures, by introducing material statutory civil 

and criminal penalties for breaches of the continuous disclosure requirements. Brown et al. (1999) 

found that both the total volume of material information disclosed and the amount of “forward-

looking” information disclosed increased substantially in the post-reform period. A further study 

by Chan et al. (2007) investigated the consequences of legislative changes and increased 
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enforcement action by the Australian Securities and Investments Commission (ASIC). They 

examined changes in the disclosure of non-routine management earnings forecasts and reported 

an increase in the number of bad news non-routine forecasts. This result supports Skinner’s (1994) 

litigation cost hypothesis, whereby companies disclose more information to avoid litigation costs 

and actions by disgruntled shareholders when shareholders are surprised by large negative 

earnings surprises. 

In a similar study, Huang et al. (2009) examine reforms in 2002 to the listing rules of the 

New Zealand Exchange and the Securities Market Act 1988. Their results also indicate an increase 

in the amount of value-relevant information disclosure and the greater timeliness in disclosure of 

periodic announcements. 

4.2.2 Hypotheses 

One of the objects of the 2007 reforms is to enhance the disclosure of material information 

in a timely and continuous manner. The 2007 reforms also defined more explicitly the obligations 

of directors, and imposed more severe civil and criminal sanctions.  

The improvement in the information environment depends not only on the issuance of 

laws and regulations, but also on the enforcement of the laws and regulations. It is not rare that a 

law became a dead letter in China (Zheng, 2009). Therefore, I would first examine if the AMID was 

well enforced by CSRC and if the listed companies well followed the requirements. Thus, I 

hypothesize: 

H1: The quantity of non-periodic PSA made by A-shares increased significantly in the post-

reform period. 

This hypothesis can be further tested by examining the disclosure practices of B-shares and 

H-shares. Chinese B-shares and H-shares are likely to have been less influenced by the 2007 
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reforms36. The Chinese B-share market was initially set up to attract foreign investors. Shares 

listed on this market are subject to stricter disclosure requirements. The level of information 

disclosure made by B-shares to the Chinese B-share market is also higher than the level of 

information disclosure in the Chinese A-share market (Wang, O, & Claiborne, 2008). Thus, I expect 

the impact of the 2007 reforms on the Chinese B-shares to be less significant compared to the 

Chinese A-shares. This leads to the second hypothesis: 

H2: The number of non-periodic PSA made by BO-shares increased less in the post-reform 

period than that made by A-shares. 

Empirical research suggests that HKEx is much more developed than the Chinese stock 

market, and thus listed companies on HKEx have a better information environment than listed 

companies in the Chinese stock market (Liu & Liu, 2007). Thus, HO- and AHH-shares, which are 

issued by Chinese companies but listed on HKEx, were also subject to more stringent information 

disclosure requirements and stricter accounting standards in the pre-reform period than Chinese 

A-shares (Wu & Kao, 2006).37 

Therefore, it is posited that the level of information disclosure made by Chinese H-shares 

should not increase significantly in the post-reform period. This leads to the third hypothesis: 

H3: The number of non-periodic PSA made by HO-shares and AHH-shares did not change 

significantly in the post-reform period. 

                                                           
36

 A-share sample is a collection sample of AO-shares, ABA-shares, and AHA-shares. They are all listed on the Chinese 
A-share market. 
37

 H-shares must meet disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong stock market and comply with IFRS, whereas A-
shares only need to meet disclosure requirements of the Chinese stock market and prepare their financial statements 
under Chinese GAAP. 
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4.3 Data and methodology 

4.3.1 Data and sample 

I investigate the influence of the 2007 reforms by examining the number of non-periodic 

PSA during consecutive two-year periods immediately before and after the introduction of the 

reforms. Since the reforms were implemented January 2007, I define the pre-reform period as 1 

January 2005 - 31 December 2006, and the post-reform period as 1 January 2007 - 31 December 

2008. 

The main sample is the A-share sample, and the five control samples are BO-share, HO-

share, AHH-share, HM-share, and AHM-share samples.38 All sample shares are restricted to those 

that were continuously listed during the 2004-2008 years. The final size of the A-share sample in 

this study is 987, and that of the BO-share sample is 15. The size of the HO-share sample and its 

match sample, HM-share, is 14. The size of the AHH-shares and its match sample, AHM-shares, is 

25. The data used in this study is discussed in Chapter 3. 

4.3.2 The amount of announcements 

4.3.2.1 The processing of announcements data 

The number of announcements made by listed companies to the Chinese stock market is 

calculated manually, based on the electronic records from CNINFO.39 On the website of CNINFO, 

announcements issued by Chinese listed companies after year 2001 are freely accessible online 

and can be searched according to share symbol, year, key words, and the type of announcements. 

The search terms are entered and a linked list of search results is shown. The list states the titles of 

each announcement that suit the search terms and each heading has a hyperlink with it.40 

                                                           
38

 The ABB-shares are not examined in this study as their companies make the same disclosures to the Chinese A-
share and B-share markets. 
39

 To the best of my knowledge, the data for the number of disclosures made by Chinese listed companies is not 
readily available. Therefore, the raw data has to be processed manually to calculate the number of announcements. 
40

 The PDF document of the main body of this announcement can be downloaded from the website. 
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I use four steps to process the records and calculate the number of announcements. The 

first step is to search on CNINFO for each company’s announcements made during the period 

2005-2008.  

The second step is to classify these announcements according to key words in their 

headings.41 I classify all announcements into 61 groups according to keywords in their headings. 

The third step is to combine the 61 groups into 20 sub-categories.42 The sub-categories are 

detailed in Table 4.1.43 Two of these sub-categories (i) Share Split Structure Reform, and (ii) 

Announcements released on overseas market, are excluded from the sample to avoid biases.44 The 

number of announcements in each sub-category is then measured. 

All announcements are then classified according to: (i) whether this announcement is 

periodic or non-periodic; (ii) whether the content of non-periodic announcements is price-

sensitive or not. Thus, the 20 sub-categories are combined into three mutually exclusive categories, 

namely Periodic Announcement, Non-periodic NPSA, and Non-Periodic PSA. 

4.3.2.2 The number of announcements made by the A-share sample 

Table 4.2 shows the number of announcements made by the A-share sample to the 

Chinese A-share market in the overall sample period, and in the pre- and post-reform periods for 

each of three main categories and 20 sub-categories. The total number of announcements is 

113,524, comprising 15,472 periodic announcements, 12,464 non-periodic NPSA, and 85,588 non-

                                                           
41

 Chinese listed companies are not required to classify the announcements into categories. Therefore, specified key 
words have to be used for classification. 
42

 The 20 sub-categories are designed according to the classification of AMID. Previous research also suggests that 
these types of information have significant impacts on the stock prices (Bagnoli & Lipman, 1996; Dierkens, 1991; Fan, 
Wei, & Xu, 2011; Gombola & Tsetsekos, 1992; Iatridis, 2008; Patell, 1976; Sunder, 1973; Warner & Watts, 1988). 
43

 The category of Results of Meetings includes all announcements related to the results of the general meetings, the 
supervisory board meetings and meetings of the board of directors. All major matters of a Chinese listed company 
must be decided by the general meeting and then be approved by both the board of directors and the supervisory 
board. The results of meetings can have a significant impact on the prices of the securities. Therefore, I classify all 
these announcements as price-sensitive. 
44

 Announcements disclosed by AHH-shares to HKEx are released simultaneously to the Chinese A-share market. Thus, 
the inclusion of announcements released on overseas market will cause duplication. 
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periodic PSA. The total number of announcements made in the pre-reform period is 47,102, 

comprising 6,848 periodic announcements, 7,767 non-periodic NPSA, and 32,487 non-periodic PSA. 

The total number of announcements made in the post-reform period is 66,422, comprising 8,624 

periodic announcements, 4,697 non-periodic NPSA, and 53,101 non-periodic PSA. Thus, the 

number of periodic announcements and the number of non-periodic PSA increased in the post-

reform period, but the number of non-periodic NPSA decreased. 
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Table 4.1 

Key Words and Classification of Announcements made by the A-share Sample 

Classification Key Words 

                       Periodic Announcements 

Periodic Report/Audit Report annual report, semi-annual report, quarterly report, audit report 

            Non-periodic Non-price-sensitive Announcements 

Document/Corporate Governance general document, amendment of articles of corporation, internal control, corporate governance 

Notice of Meetings notice of meeting 

Notice of Extraordinary Meetings notice of extraordinary meeting 

Notice/Circulars notice, circular, general information, letter to shareholders 

                Non-periodic Price-sensitive Announcements 

Accounting Policies & Estimation change in accounting rules, major accounting error and correction, tax 

Acquisition & Reorganization acquisition, major reorganization, asset evaluation 

Changes in Directorship change in supervisor, change in director, change in senior manager 

Changes in Majority Shareholders shareholding, state-owned shares, legal shares 

Changes in Scheduled Disclosure change in announcement date 

Clarification of News or Reports revision of information in published preliminary results, clarification of news or reports 

Investment and Fund-raising 
investment, financing, bond issue, share issue, change in application of raised funds, major shareholders' occupying 
funds of listed company 

Potential risks loan guarantee, major arbitration or lawsuit, obligatory right or liability, under investment, punishment 

Research and Market Development major technique, market entrance, cooperation, incentive plan 

Forward-looking earning-related forward-looking earning-related 

Results of Meeting results of general meeting, results of board meeting, results of supervisors' meeting 

Results of Extraordinary Meeting results of extraordinary meeting 

Share Trading and Risks transfer to paid-in capital, suspension of trading, risk alert, unusual price or turnover movements 

Transactions connected transaction, major transaction, operation, establish or close a company, strategic investor, subsidy 

Voluntary Disclosure temporary announcement, volunteer disclosure 
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Table 4.2 
The Number of Announcements made by the A-share Sample in the Chinese A-share Market 

Announcement 
Overall Pre-reform Post-reform Changes from 

Pre- to Post-reform Number Percent Number Percent Number Percent 

Periodic Announcements 

Periodic Report/Audit Report 15,472 13.63% 6,848 14.54% 8,624 12.98% 1,776 

Sub-total 15,472 13.63% 6,848 14.54% 8,624 12.98% 1,776 

Non-periodic NPSA 

Document/Corporate Governance 4,749 4.18% 4,507 9.57% 242 0.36% -4,265 

Notice of Extraordinary Meetings 264 0.23% 153 0.32% 111 0.17% -42 

Notice of Meetings 2,020 1.78% 1,004 2.13% 1,016 1.53% 12 

Notice/Circulars 5,431 4.78% 2,103 4.46% 3,328 5.01% 1,225 

Sub-total 12,464 10.98% 7,767 16.49% 4,697 7.07% -3,070 

Non-periodic PSA 

Accounting Policies & Estimates 725 0.64% 260 0.55% 465 0.70% 205 

Acquisition & Reorganization 2,010 1.77% 763 1.62% 1,247 1.88% 484 

Changes in Directorship 2,676 2.36% 1,296 2.75% 1,380 2.08% 84 

Changes in Majority Shareholders 7,596 6.69% 3,844 8.16% 3,752 5.65% -92 

Changes in Scheduled Disclosure 1,216 1.07% 233 0.49% 983 1.48% 750 

Clarification of News or Reports 892 0.79% 289 0.61% 603 0.91% 314 

Investment and Fund-raising 6,942 6.12% 2,241 4.76% 4,701 7.08% 2,460 

Potential Risks 4,177 3.68% 1,764 3.75% 2,413 3.63% 649 

Research and Market Development 276 0.24% 92 0.20% 184 0.28% 92 

Forward-looking Earnings-related 
Announcements 

6,143 5.41% 2,023 4.29% 4,120 6.20% 2,097 

Results of Meeting 30,090 26.51% 11,608 24.64% 18,482 27.83% 6,874 

Results of Extraordinary Meeting 4,726 4.16% 1,763 3.74% 2,963 4.46% 1,200 

Share Trading and Risks 4,987 4.39% 1,267 2.69% 3,720 5.60% 2,453 

Transactions 13,029 11.48% 5,007 10.63% 8,022 12.08% 3,015 

Voluntary Disclosures 103 0.09% 37 0.08% 66 0.10% 29 

Sub-total 85,588 75.39% 32,487 68.97% 53,101 79.94% 20,614 

Total 113,524 100% 47,102 100% 66,422 100% 19,320 
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4.3.2.3 The number of announcements made by the BO-share sample 

Table 4.3 presents the number of announcements made by the BO-share sample over the 

overall period 2005-2008, in the pre-reform period and the post-reform period. The total sum of 

announcements is 2,021, including 352 Periodic Announcements, 514 Non-periodic NPSA, and 

1,155 non-periodic PSA. The total sum of announcements made in the pre-reform period is 904, 

including 180 periodic announcements, 191 non-periodic NPSA, and 533 non-periodic PSA. The 

total sum of announcements made in the post-reform period is 1,117, including 172 periodic 

announcements, 323 non-periodic NPSA, and 622 non-periodic PSA. Compared to the pre-reform 

period, the number of non-periodic NPSA and non-periodic PSA increased in the post-reform 

period, but the number of periodic announcements decreased. 

4.3.2.4 The amount of announcements made by H-share samples 

The number of announcements made by the H-share sample (i.e., the HO-share and AHH-

share samples) is manually calculated from the electronic record from HKEXNEWS. Following the 

step process described above, the announcements made by H-shares are classified into three 

main categories and 17 sub-categories, and those made by HK-based companies to HKEx are 

classified into three main categories and 13 sub-categories.45 For Chinese listed companies, one 

sub-category, Overseas Regulatory Announcement, is removed from the sample to avoid bias.46 

                                                           
45

 The 17 sub-categories, instead of the 20 sub-categories in the Chinese A-share markets, may be attributed to the 
difference between the Chinese stock market and HKEx in disclosure requirements. 
46

 Since October 2004, all cross-listing companies on the Hong Kong stock market are required to simultaneously 
release all announcements they issue on other markets and call them “overseas regulatory announcements.” I 
remove these announcements from the sample to avoid a bias towards a larger number of announcements. 
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Table 4.3 
The Number of Announcements made by the BO-share Sample in the Chinese B-share Market 

Announcement 
Overall Pre-reform Post-reform Changes from Pre-  

to Post- Reform Number Percent Number Percent Number Percent 

           Periodic Announcements 

Periodic Report/Audit Report 352 17.42% 180 19.91% 172 15.40% -8 

Sub-total 352 17.42% 180 19.91% 172 15.40% -8 

              Non-periodic NPSA 

Document/Corporate 
Governance 

239 11.83% 69 7.63% 170 15.22% 101 

Notice of Extraordinary 
Meetings 

49 2.42% 23 2.54% 26 2.33% 3 

Notice of Meetings 47 2.33% 25 2.77% 22 1.97% -3 

Notice/Circulars 179 8.86% 74 8.19% 105 9.40% 31 

Sub-total 514 25.43% 191 21.13% 323 28.92% 132 

             Non-periodic PSA 

Accounting Policies & Estimates 25 1.24% 14 1.55% 11 0.98% -3 

Acquisition & Reorganization 11 0.54% 4 0.44% 7 0.63% 3 

Changes in Directorship 37 1.83% 23 2.54% 14 1.25% -9 

Changes in Majority 
Shareholders 

32 1.58% 21 2.32% 11 0.98% -10 

Changes in Scheduled 
Disclosure 

17 0.84% 10 1.11% 7 0.63% -3 

Clarification of News or Reports 3 0.15% 0 0.00% 3 0.27% 3 

Investment and Fund-raising 81 4.01% 25 2.77% 56 5.01% 31 

Potential Risks 37 1.83% 14 1.55% 23 2.06% 9 

Research and Market 
Development 

28 1.39% 10 1.11% 18 1.61% 8 

Forward-looking Earnings-
related Announcements 

64 3.17% 27 2.99% 37 3.31% 10 

Results of Meeting 518 25.63% 231 25.55% 287 25.69% 56 

Results of Extraordinary 
Meeting 

102 5.05% 53 5.86% 49 4.39% -4 

Share Trading and Risks 50 2.47% 28 3.10% 22 1.97% -6 

Transactions 146 7.22% 73 8.08% 73 6.54% 0 

Voluntary Disclosures 4 0.20% 0 0.00% 4 0.36% 4 

Sub-total 1,155 57.15% 533 58.96% 622 55.68% 89 

                Total 2,021 100.00% 904 100.00% 1,117 100.00% 213 
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Table 4.4 presents the number of announcements made by the HO-share sample in HKEx 

in the pre- and post-reform periods. The total number of announcements made by the HO-share 

sample is 1,825, including 313 periodic Announcements, 675 non-periodic NPSA, and 837 non-

periodic PSA.47 The number of non-periodic PSA made in the post-reform period is 463, 23.8% 

higher than that in the pre-reform period. 

Table 4.5 presents the number of announcements made by the AHH-share sample over 

the period 2005-2008, in the pre-reform and post-reform periods. The total number of 

announcements made by the AHH-share sample to HKEx is 3,802, including 1,728 periodic 

announcements, 433 non-periodic NPSA, and 1,641 non-periodic PSA.48 The number of non-

periodic PSA in the post-reform period is 854, and 787 in the pre-reform period. 

                                                           
47

 Appendix 4.1 shows the number of announcements made by the HM-share sample in HKEx during the period 
2005-2008. The total number of announcements made by HM-share is 1,215, including 243 periodic announcements, 
347 non-periodic NPSA, and 625 non-periodic PSA. The number of non-periodic PSA in the post-reform period is 321, 
compared to 304 in the pre-reform period. 
48

 Appendix 4.2 shows the number of announcements made by the AHM-share sample in HKEx during the period 
2005-2008. The total number of announcements made by the AHM-shares is 2,176, including 589 periodic 
announcements, 526 non-periodic NPSA, and 1,601 non-periodic PSA. The number of non-periodic PSA declined 
from 532 in the pre-reform period and 529 in the post-reform period. 
Appendix 4.3 shows the number of announcements made by the AHA-share sample in the Chinese A-share market 
during the period 2005-2008. The total number of announcements made by the AHA-shares in the Chinese A-share 
market is 2,283, including 57 periodic announcements, 381 non-periodic NPSA, and 1,845 non-periodic PSA. The 
number of non-periodic PSA increased 49.7% from 739 in the pre-reform period to 1,106 in the post-reform period. 
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Table 4.4 
The Number of Announcements made by the HO-share Sample in HKEx 

Announcement 
Overall Pre-reform Post-reform 

Change from Pre- 
to Post-reform Number Percent Number Percent Number Percent 

          Periodic Announcements 

Periodic Report/Audit Report 313 17.15% 186 23.88% 127 12.14% -59 

Sub-total 313 17.15% 186 23.88% 127 12.14% -59 

             Non-periodic NPSA 

Document/Corporate Governance 3 0.16% 2 0.26% 1 0.10% -1 

Notice of Extraordinary Meetings 81 4.44% 9 1.16% 72 6.88% 63 

Notice of Meetings 173 9.48% 74 9.50% 99 9.46% 25 

Notice/Circulars 418 22.90% 134 17.20% 284 27.15% 150 

Sub-total 675 36.99% 219 28.11% 456 43.59% 237 

                Non-periodic PSA 

Acquisition & Reorganization 16 0.88% 8 1.03% 8 0.76% 0 

Changes in Directorship 87 4.77% 43 5.52% 44 4.21% 1 

Changes in Majority Shareholders 20 1.10% 11 1.41% 9 0.86% -2 

Clarification of News or Reports 28 1.53% 14 1.80% 14 1.34% 0 

Investment and Fund-raising 32 1.75% 10 1.28% 22 2.10% 12 

Potential Risks 15 0.82% 5 0.64% 10 0.96% 5 

Research and Market Development 8 0.44% 6 0.77% 2 0.19% -4 

Forward-looking Earnings-related 
Announcements 

3 0.16% 2 0.26% 1 0.10% -1 

Results of Meeting 97 5.32% 63 8.09% 34 3.25% -29 

Results of Extraordinary Meeting 47 2.58% 3 0.39% 44 4.21% 41 

Share Trading and Risks 259 14.19% 132 16.94% 127 12.14% -5 

Transactions 225 12.33% 77 9.88% 148 14.15% 71 

Sub-total 837 45.86% 374 48.01% 463 44.26% 89 

Total 1,825 100.00% 779 100.00% 1,046 100.00% 267 
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Table 4.5 
The Classification of Announcements made by the AHH-share Sample in HKEx 

Announcement 
Overall Pre-reform Post-reform Change from pre- 

to post-reform Number Percent Number Percent Number Percent 

          Periodic Announcements 

Periodic Report/Audit Report 1,728 45.45% 966 51.17% 762 39.81% -204 

Sub-total 1,728 45.45% 966 51.17% 762 39.81% -204 

             Non-periodic NPSA 

Document/Corporate 
Governance 

34 0.89% 22 1.17% 12 0.63% -10 

Notice of Extraordinary Meetings 81 2.13% 6 0.32% 75 3.92% 69 

Notice of Meetings 145 3.81% 3 0.16% 142 7.42% 139 

Notice/Circulars 173 4.55% 104 5.51% 69 3.61% -35 

Sub-total 433 11.39% 135 7.15% 298 15.57% 163 

               Non-periodic PSA 

Acquisition & Reorganization 20 0.53% 16 0.85% 4 0.21% -12 

Changes in Directorship 128 3.37% 37 1.96% 91 4.75% 54 

Changes in Majority Shareholders 28 0.74% 20 1.06% 8 0.42% -12 

Clarification of News or Reports 54 1.42% 24 1.27% 30 1.57% 6 

Investment and Fund-raising 61 1.60% 34 1.80% 27 1.41% -7 

Potential Risks 4 0.11% 4 0.21% 0 0.00% -4 

Research and Market 
Development 

61 1.60% 27 1.43% 34 1.78% 7 

Forward-looking Earnings-related 
Announcements 

47 1.24% 37 1.96% 10 0.52% -27 

Results of Meeting 203 5.34% 146 7.73% 57 2.98% -89 

Results of Extraordinary Meeting 71 1.87% 11 0.58% 60 3.13% 49 

Share Trading and Risks 594 15.62% 332 17.58% 262 13.69% -70 

Transactions 370 9.73% 99 5.24% 271 14.16% 172 

Sub-total 1,641 43.16% 787 41.68% 854 44.62% 67 

                      Total 3,802 100% 1,888 100% 1,914 100% 26 
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4.4 Univariate Test 

4.4.1 Methodology 

In this study, both univariate and multivariate tests are employed to investigate the 

impact of the 2007 reforms on the amount of information released by listed companies to the 

Chinese stock market. 

To test hypothesis H1, I examine the number of non-periodic PSA made by the A-share 

sample. The sample for this test comprises 987 A-shares, and is divided into two sub-samples, 

namely the SZSE sample and SSE sample, depending on the exchange on which the sample shares 

are listed. For each of the three sub-samples (the whole, SSE, and SZSE samples), the mean and 

median number of non-periodic PSA per company in each year over the period 2005-2008 is 

reported, together with the mean and median number of non-periodic PSA in the pre- and post-

reform periods. 

To test hypotheses H2 and H3, six control samples are employed, including the BO-share, 

HO-share, AHH-share, AHA-share samples and two control samples, i.e., HM-share and AHM-

share samples.49 For the six control samples, the mean and median number of non-periodic PSA 

made to their corresponding stock markets per share-year over the period 2005-2008 is also 

provided. 

In the univariate tests, the mean and median number of non-periodic PSA made in the 

pre- and post-reform periods per company-year are measured and the statistical difference 

between the pre- and post-reform periods is calculated. 

                                                           
49

 The ABB-share sample is not examined in this study because Chinese ABB-shares and their corresponding ABA-
shares disclosed information simultaneously in both the Chinese A- and B-share markets. Thus, it is hard to identify 
the influence of the 2007 reforms on the Chinese A-share market and the Chinese B-share market by studying the 
ABB-share sample. The univariate analysis on the ABA-share sample (not tabulated) shows that the ABB-shares 
significantly increased their information disclosure in the post-reform period, but the increase in percentage is less 
than the increase in percentage for the A-share sample. 
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4.4.2 Univariate test results 

Table 4.6 presents the number of non-periodic PSA per company-year for the A-share 

sample during the period 2005-2008. It also presents results of statistical test of differences 

between the pre- and post-reform pooled cross-sectional mean and median quantity of non-

periodic PSA per company-year. The A-share sample is divided into two sub-samples, the SSE 

sample and the SZSE sample. The SSE sample comprises 652 shares listed on the SSE and the SZSE 

sample comprises 335 shares listed on the SZSE. 

Panel A of Table 4.6 presents the mean and median number of non-periodic PSA per 

company-year during the period 2005-2008. For the total A-share sample, the mean and median 

number of non-periodic PSA per company has increased from 2005 to 2007 but then decreased 

in 2008. Furthermore, Table 4.6 indicates that the disclosure practices of shares are related to 

the place, SSE or SZSE, on which they are listed. The SSE and SZSE listed shares have similar 

trends in the number of non-periodic PSA per share, while SZSE shares have a higher mean and 

median number of non-periodic PSA than SSE shares. 

Panel B of Table 4.6 presents the mean and median number of non-periodic PSA per 

company-year during the pre- and post-reform periods and the statistical test of differences. The 

post-reform mean and median non-periodic PSA are higher than their pre-reform counterparts 

for the whole, the SSE and the SZSE samples, with all differences statistically significant at the 1% 

level. The results suggest that the 2007 reforms had a positive and significant impact on the 

information disclosure of A-shares. 

The results for the SSE and the SZSE samples are quantitatively similar to those for the 

whole sample. On average, SSE shares disclosed 9.79 more non-periodic PSA per year in the post-

reform period than in the pre-reform period. Similarly SZSE shares on average disclosed 11.71 
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more non-periodic PSA per year in the post-reform period compared to the pre-reform period. As 

already noted, the differences are all significant at the 1% level. 

Panel C presents the percentage of shares which increased the number of periodic non-

PSA in the post-reform period. The results show that about 90% of shares in the A-share sample 

increased their disclosure of non-periodic PSA, suggesting that changes in their disclosure 

practices were pervasive and significant.50 

In summary, the results suggest that the A-share sample increased significantly in terms 

of the number of non-periodic PSA after the 2007 reforms, thus supporting hypothesis H1. 

 Table 4.6 
The Number of Non-periodic PSA made by the A-share Samplea 

Panel A: Number of Non-periodic PSA per Share-year in Each Year from 2005 to 2008 
Year Whole 

 
SSE 

 
SZSE 

 
Mean Median 

 
Mean Median 

 
Mean Median 

2005 14.57 13 
 

13.61 12.5 
 

16.45 15 

2006 18.35 17 
 

17.41 16 
 

20.18 19 

2007 27.90 25 
 

26.39 24 
 

30.85 29 

2008 25.91 23 
 

24.22 22 
 

29.21 28 

Panel B: Number of Non-periodic PSA per Share-year in the Pre- and Post-reform periods
b
 

Pre-reform 16.46 15.00 
 

15.51 14.00 
 

18.32 17.50 

Post-reform 26.91 24.50 
 

25.30 23.50 
 

30.03 28.50 

Differences 10.45 9.50 
 

9.79 9.50 
 

11.71 11 

% change 63.46% 63.33% 
 

63.16% 67.86% 
 

63.95% 62.86% 

p-value
c
 0.00*** 0.00*** 

 
0.00*** 0.00*** 

 
0.00*** 0.00*** 

Panel C: By Share Differences: 

% of Share-years with More 
Disclosures post-Reform 

89.87% 
 

90.64% 
 

88.36% 

p-value 0.00*** 
 

0.00*** 
 

0.00*** 
a
 A-share sample comprises the AO-share, ABA-share, and AHA-share samples. The whole sample includes A-shares listed on 

either SSE or SZSE; the SSE (SZSE) sample includes only A-shares listed on SSE (SZSE). The number of Non-periodic PSA made 
by A-shares is calculated manually based on electronic records of the www.cninfo.cn. 
b
 Pre-reform period is the period from 1 January 2005 to 31 December 2006; and post-reform period is the period from 1 

January 2007 to 31 December 2008. 
c
 All p-values are two sided. P-values for means are from t-tests of the difference between the pre- and post-reform means. 

For medians, p-values are from Wilcoxon two-sample tests. P-values for difference in percentages are from binomial tests. 
0.00 means very small. ***, ** and * indicate significant at or better than the 1%, 5% and 10% two-sided levels, respectively. 

                                                           
50

 Appendix 4.4 also presents the results for the number of forward-looking earnings-related announcements made 
by the A-share sample in the pre- and post-reform periods. For the whole A-share sample, the number of forward-
looking earnings-related announcements significantly increased in the post-reform period. The results are 
qualitatively similar to the results reported in Table 4.6. 
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Table 4.7 shows the results of univariate test for the BO-share sample.51 Panel A shows 

the means and medians of the number of non-periodic PSA per company-year in the pre- and 

post-reform periods. The post-reform mean is higher than its pre-reform counterpart, but the 

difference is not significant. The medians in the pre- and post-reform periods are the same. Panel 

B shows that 53% of sample BO-shares disclosed more non-periodic PSA in the post-reform 

period, it is not significantly different from 50% (p-value of 1.00). This result suggests that, on 

average, BO-shares did not change their information disclosure practices after the 2007 reforms. 

In conclusion, the results support hypothesis H2 that the number of non-periodic PSA by BO-

shares increased insignificantly in the post-reform period, indicating the non-significant influence 

of the 2007 reforms. 

Table 4.7 
The Number of Non-periodic PSA made by the BO-share Sample 

Panel A: Difference between pre- and post-reform periods
a 

   
Mean Median 

Pre-reform 
 

17.77 16.5 

Post-reform 
 

20.73 16.5 

Difference 
 

2.96 0 

% change 
 

16.66% 0.00% 

p-value
b 

 
0.209 0.144 

Panel B: By company differences 

% of Company-years with More 
Disclosure post-Reform 

53% 

P-value 1.00 
a
 Pre-reform period refers to the period from 1 January 2005 to 31 December 2006; and post-reform period 

refers to the period from 1 January 2007 to 31 December 2008. 
b
 All p-values are two sided. P-value for means is from t-tests of the difference between the pre- and post-

reform means. For medians, p-value is from Wilcoxon two-sample tests. P-value for difference in percentages 
is from binomial tests. 0.00 means very small. ***,** and * indicate significant at or better than the 1%, 5% 
and 10% two-sided levels, respectively 

 

                                                           
51

 Appendix 4.5 lists the number of non-periodic PSA made by each share in the BO-share sample. Column (1) is the 
official symbol of BO-shares and columns (2) to (5) present the number of non-periodic PSA each BO-share made in 
each year during period 2005-2008, respectively. The means and medians show that the number of non-periodic PSA 
made by the BO-share sample increased gradually during the period 2005-2008. 
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Table 4.8 shows the results of univariate test for the HO-share and the HM-share 

samples.52 Panel A displays changes in the number of non-periodic PSA between the pre- and 

post-reform periods. For both the HO-share and the HM-share samples, the post-reform means 

and medians are higher than their pre-reform counterparts. However, the differences are not 

significant. Panel B shows that 64.29% of sample HO-shares and 50% of sample HM-shares 

disclosed more non-periodic PSA in the post-reform period, they are not significantly different 

from 50%. The results suggest that, on average, HO- and HM-shares did not change their 

information disclosure practices in the post-reform period. 

Table 4.8 
The Number of Non-periodic PSA made by the HO-share and the HM-share Samples 

Panel A: Difference between pre- and post-reform periods
a
 

 

  
HO-share sample 

 
HM-share sample 

  
Mean Median 

 
Mean Median 

Pre-reform 13.36 11.50 
 

10.86 8.00 

Post-reform 16.54 16.50 
 

11.46 8.50 

Difference 3.18 5.00 
 

0.60 0.50 

% change 23.80% 43.48% 
 

5.52% 6.25% 

p-value
b
 0.17 0.11 

 
0.75 0.63 

Panel B: By company differences 

  
HO-share sample 

 
HM-share sample 

% of Company-years 
with More Disclosure 
post-Reform 

64.29% 
 

50.00% 

P-value 
 

0.61 
 

1.00 
a
 Pre-reform period refers to the period from 1 January 2005 to 31 December 2006; and post-reform period 

refers to the period from 1 January 2007 to 31 December 2008. 
b
 All p-values are two sided. P-value for means is from t-tests of the difference between the pre- and post-

reform means. For medians, p-value is from Wilcoxon two-sample tests. P-value for difference in 
percentages is from binomial tests. 0.00 means very small. ***,** and * indicate significant at or better than 
the 1%, 5% and 10% two-sided levels, respectively 

 

                                                           
52

 Appendix 4.6 shows the number of non-periodic PSA made in each year from 2005 to 2008 by each share in the 
HO-share and HM-share samples. Columns (2)-(5) show the number of non-periodic PSA made by the HO-share 
sample and columns (7)-(10) present the number of non-periodic PSA made by the HM-share sample. The means and 
medians indicate that the number of non-periodic PSA made by the HO-share sample increased from 2005 to 2007 
and decreased in 2008. This pattern is much like that of the A-share sample. For the HM-share sample, the number 
of non-periodic PSA was generally unchanged during the period 2005-2008. 
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The results support hypothesis H3 that the number of non-periodic PSA made by the HO-

share sample did not change significantly in the post-reform period. The univariate analysis for 

the HM-share sample also shows that there was no significant change in the information 

disclosure practices for shares listed on HKEx. 

Table 4.9 shows the results of univariate tests for the AHH-share, AHA-share, and AHM-

share samples.53 In Panel A, the means and medians of the number of non-periodic PSA per 

company-year show that only the AHA-share sample significantly increased the number of non-

periodic PSA in the post-reform period. Panel B of Table 4.9 also shows that only the AHA-share 

sample significantly increased their information disclosure in the post-reform period. These 

results are consistent with those reported in Table 4.8 that the 2007 reforms had no impact on 

the information disclosure of Chinese shares listed on HKEx, and thus support hypothesis H3. 

Furthermore, the results show that the AHA-share sample significantly increased information 

disclosure in the Chinese A-share market, but its corresponding AHH-share sample did not 

change information disclosure practices on HKEx. This result also suggests that the 2007 reforms 

led to an increase in the number of non-periodic PSA disclosed in the Chinese A-share market, 

supporting hypothesis H1. 

4.4.3 Summary 

In summary, the univariate test results suggest that only the A-share sample significantly 

increased the number of non-periodic PSA in the Chinese A-share market after the 2007 reforms. 

The univariate analysis on the control samples shows no changes in information disclosure 

practices in the post-reform period. Overall, the results support hypothesis H1 that the 2007 

reforms caused a significant increase in the number of non-periodic PSA made by the A-share 
                                                           
53

 Appendix 4.7 shows the number of non-periodic PSA made in each year from 2005 to 2008 by each share in AHH-
share (columns 1-5), AHA-share (columns 6-10), and AHM-share samples (columns 11-15). The means and medians 
suggest that the number of non-periodic PSA made by the AHH-share and AHM-share samples were similar in each 
year. However, the number of non-periodic PSA made by the AHA-share sample increased in the post-reform period. 
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sample, and support hypotheses H2 and H3 that the 2007 reforms had not influence on the BO-

shares and H-shares. 

Table 4.9 
The Number of Non-periodic PSA made by the AHH-share and the AHM-share Samples in 

HKEx, and made by the AHA-share Sample in the Chinese A-share Market 

Panel A: Difference between pre- and post-reform periods
a 

 

AHH-share sample 
 

AHA-share sample 
 

AHM-share sample 

Mean Median 
 

Mean Median 
 

Mean Median 

Pre-reform 15.74 16.00 
 

14.74 13.00 
 

10.64 10.00 

Post-reform 17.08 15.00 
 

22.16 20.00 
 

10.58 9.00 

Difference 1.34 -1.00 
 

7.42 7.00 
 

-0.06 -1.00 

% change 8.51% -6.25% 
 

50.34% 53.85% 
 

-0.56% -10.00% 

p-value
b
 0.41 0.30 

 
0.00*** 0.00*** 

 
0.96 0.96 

Panel B: By Share Differences 

 
AHH-share sample 

 
AHA-share sample 

 
AHM-share sample 

% of Share-years with 
More Disclosure post-
Reform 

56% 
 

84% 
 

48% 

p-value 0.69 
 

0.00*** 
 

1.00 
a
 Pre-reform period refers to the period from 1 January 2005 to 31 December 2006; and post-reform period 

refers to the period from 1 January 2007 to 31 December 2008. 
b
 All p-values are two sided. P-value for means is from t-tests of the difference between the pre- and post-

reform means. For medians, p-value is from Wilcoxon two-sample tests. P-value for difference in percentages 
is from Binomial tests. 0.00 means very small. ***, ** and * indicate significant at or better than the 1%, 5% 
and 10% two-sided levels, respectively. 

 

4.5 Multivariate Test 

4.5.1 Methodology 

The hypotheses in this study are also tested by using ordinary least squares (OLS) 

regression models. To test hypothesis H1, several variables are employed to control for factors 

other than the 2007 reforms that may affect the non-periodic announcement. Following Brown 

et al. (1999) and Heflin et al. (2003), regression model 4.1 is estimated for the A-share sample 

over the sample period: 

                                                                     

                                                                                                          (4.1) 

Variable Definitions: 
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       : The number of non-periodic PSA made by share i in year y. This is the dependent 

variable indicating the quantity of information disclosed by the A-share sample in the Chinese A-

share market.54 

     : A dummy variable, set to 1 when data are observed in year 2007 or 2008, and zero 

if data are observed in year 2005 or 2006. This is the 2007 reforms “indicator” variable employed 

to examine the impact of the reforms on the level of information disclosure of the A-share 

sample.55 It is hypothesized that the 2007 reforms would have a positive influence on the amount 

of information disclosed by A-shares, thus         should be positively related to        , i.e. 

    . 

           : The absolute cumulative abnormal daily stock returns for share i in year y-1. 

It is measured as:                                 |∏ (       )   
    
    

| 

where,    is the first trading day of year y-1, and     is the last trading day of year y-1. 

      is the daily abnormal return on day t of year y-1, estimated as: 

            (    |  ) 

where,      is the daily stock return for share i on day t.  (    |  ) is the expected stock 

return for share i on day t, which is estimated as:  (    |  )   ̂   ̂      

To estimate  ̂       ̂ , I regress the market model over the trading days of the prior year 

y-2:                                                                               

                                                           
54

 I also measure the dependent variable as a firm’s DISC scaled by its DISC in 2005, so as to rule out the possibility 
that some firms, due to the nature of activities and unrelated to the regulation, have higher level of disclosure. The 
results are quantitatively the same. 
55

 POST is used to capture the changes in dependent variable during the sample period. If POST=0, the model 
indicates that in the pre-reform period, the number of announcement is decided by variables ABSCAR, TA, IIS, LOSS, 
NEEDCAP, SSSR, and SZSE. If POST=1, this model indicates that in the post-reform period, other than these variables, 
there is also something that affect the number of announcement. If the coefficient on POST is significant, we can say 
that this thing has good impact on the number of announcement. 
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where      is the daily tradable value-weighted market return on day t of year y-2,    is an 

error term, and        .56 

            is used to measure the information asymmetry between managers and 

investors. Larger price movements indicate greater information flows and potentially higher 

information asymmetry between managers and investors. According to the “expectation 

adjustment hypothesis” (Ajinkya & Gift, 1984), managers have incentives to disclose information 

to reduce information asymmetry. Thus, a higher ABSCAR in the present period indicates greater 

information disclosure in the next period. Thus I predict             to be positively related to 

       , i.e.     . 

           : The natural logarithm of total assets of share i measured at the end of year 

y-1, is used as an indicator of company size.57  Brown et al. (1999) suggest that large companies 

are expected to disclose more information. Thus,             is predicted to be positively 

related to        , i.e.     . 

         is the proportion of shares held by institutional investors at the end of  year y-1.58 

It is measured as following: 

        
                                                                    

                                                   
 

Empirical research suggests that the proportion of shares held by institutional investors is 

positively associated with the level of disclosure and the information environment (Abrahamson 

                                                           
56

 The market return is determined by the stock exchange on which the share is listed. If the stock is an A-share on 
the SSE, the market return is the daily market capitalization weighted average of all the A-share stocks on the SSE; 
similarly, if the stock is an A-share on the SZSE, the market return is the weighted average of all the A-shares on the 
SZSE. I use both the tradable market value weighted daily market return and an equal weighted daily market return 
to estimate the market model. The results are quantitatively the same. 
57

 I also use the natural logarithm of average market value of total shares and average market value of tradable 
shares as proxies for the size of company i. The results are quantitatively the same. 
58

 The institutional investors include banks, insurance companies, securities companies, open-end and close-end 
funds, investment consulting corporations, finance companies, and social security entities. 
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& Park, 1994; Beasley, 1996; Diamond & Verrecchia, 1991; Kim & Verrecchia, 1994). Thus,        

is predicted to be positively related to        , i.e.     . 

       : A dummy variable, used as a proxy for litigation risk.         equals to 1 if share i 

reported losses in year y, and zero otherwise. Prior research suggests that managers have 

incentives to disclose more information when expected litigation costs are high (Skinner, 1994, 

1997). Thus         is predicted to be positively associated with        , i.e.     . 

          : This measures the ex-ante capital requirements for share i in year y. 

Following Dechow et al. (1996),            equals operating cash flows minus capital 

expenditures, scaled by last year’s current assets: 

           
                       

 
 

∑                     
   
   

                   
 

where                      is the operating cash flow in year y; 

 

 
∑                     

   
    is the average capital expenditure over the prior three years; 

                    is the current assets of share i measured at the end of year y-1. Following 

Barniv et al. (2000), capital expenditure is the cash paid to acquire fixed assets minus 

depreciation and amortization. Dechow et al. (1996) and Heflin et al. (2003) suggest that 

companies have incentives to disclose more information when they need capital, and the level of 

disclosure would be positively correlated with the need for capital. As            is defined as 

the difference between operating cash flow and capital expenditure, a lower            

indicates a higher need for capital. Thus, it is predicted that            is negatively related to 

       , i.e.     . 
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       : A dummy variable, equal to 1 if share i was implementing the Share-split 

Structure Reform (hereafter, SSSR) in year y, and zero otherwise.59 The SSSR began in June 2005 

and was almost completed at the end of 2007 with the intention of transferring all the non-

tradable shares into tradable shares, and thereby achieving ‘same shares, same rights and same 

benefits’. Each company was assigned a date to begin this reform. However, the time frame for 

each company to complete the reform was not pre-determined. 

The SSSR is expected to have a significant influence on the amount of information 

released by Chinese listed companies, as companies were required to make numerous 

announcements concerning the process of SSSR. This included the start date of the SSSR, the plan 

of reform, and notices and results of meetings. Although all of the announcements that have key 

words related to the SSSR in headings have been eliminated, some announcements related to the 

SSSR may remain in the sample.60 The dummy variable         is predicted to be positively 

related to        , i.e.     . 

     : A dummy variable, equal to 1 if share i is listed on the SZSE, and zero if it is listed 

on the SSE. Prior research suggests that companies listed on SSE and SZSE have different 

characteristics (Xu, 2000). Most of the companies listed on SSE are large and state-owned, while 

those listed on SZSE are relatively smaller and may be joint-venture and export-oriented 

companies. These differences in shareholders, company size and target markets may have 

influenced their disclosure practices. 

                                                           
59

 For instance, Yan Tian Harbour (SZSE.000088), a company listed on SZSE, began its SSSR on 9 January 2006 and 
completed it on 8 March 2006. Therefore, its          is set as:                  ,                  , 

                 , and                  . 
60

 The results of extraordinary meetings, which were held specially for implementing the SSSR, were disclosed along 
the process of the SSSR. I am not able to classify all these announcements into SSSR related disclosure based on key 
words in their headings. 
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To test hypotheses H2 and H3, six samples are examined. Firstly, a simpler version of the 

equation 4.1 is employed for each of the six samples to examine whether or not disclosure 

practices have changed during the reform period.61 The regression model is: 

                                                                     

                                                                                                                                  (4.2) 

All variables have the same definition as variables in equation 4.1. 

Secondly, I adjust equation 4.2 by adding dummy variables representing share types and 

product terms representing the interaction of the       and share types.62 Thus, the regression 

model is: 

                                                                     

              ∑          
 
 ∑                                                        (4.3) 

where,            is a dummy variable, indicating the type of shares. 

By employing equation 4.3, I can compare the impact of the 2007 reforms on the 

disclosure practice among the six samples. The study begins with the multivariate analysis on 

each of the six samples. Then I put the HO-share and the HM-share samples in a pooled sample 

and compare the disclosure practices of the HO-share sample and its control group (i.e. the HM-

share sample). Later, a pooled sample of the AHH-share, the AHA-share, and the AHM-share 

samples is examined to test whether there are differences in disclosure practices among these 

control groups.  

                                                           
61

 The variable         is removed from the equation as the SSSR had little or no influence on these control samples. 
62

 A detailed interpretation of the interactive variables (i.e., ∑                    ) can be find in Appendix 

4.18. 
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4.5.2 The multivariate test results on the A-share sample 

4.5.2.1 Influence of the 2007 reforms on Chinese A-shares 

Panel A of Table 4.10 reports descriptive statistics for the dependent and independent 

variables in equation 4.1 for the A-share sample. For the combined years 2005-2008, together 

with the pre- and post-reform periods, the p-values present the mean and median differences 

between the pre- and post-reform periods. 

The mean annual absolute cumulative abnormal return (           ) is 0.44 and there is 

an increase from the pre-reform period (0.36) to the post-reform period (0.52). The mean total 

assets are 4.82 Billion and there is an increase from 3.88 Billion in the pre-reform period to 5.75 

billion in the post-reform period. The institutional investors, on average, hold 40% of shares 

outstanding. This proportion has increased from 31% in the post-reform period to 50% in the 

post-reform period. The mean         during the pre- and post-reform period was 0.10 and 0.09 

respectively, suggesting that the performance of A-shares has marginally improved during the 

post-reform period. The mean and median            is -0.04, suggesting that A-shares 

needed external capital during the period 2005-2008 (i.e. capital expenditures were higher than 

operating cash flows). In the pre- reform period, 56% of shares were implementing the SSSR, 

whereas only 6% of shares were implementing the SSSR in the post-reform period.63 

In comparing the means and medians of data in the pre- and the post-reform periods, the 

post-reform means and medians are significantly different from their pre-reform counterparts at 

the 1% level or better for all control variables except        ,            and      . 

                                                           
63

 This will act as a bias against finding evidence to support hypothesis H1. It is discussed in footnote 55. 
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Table 4.10 
 Distributional Statistics and Correlation Coefficients of Variables for the A-share Samplea 

Panel A: Descriptive Summary 

 
DISC POST ABSCAR TA (Billion) IIS LOSS NEEDCAP SSSR SZSE 

Mean 

Overall 21.68 0.50 0.44 4.82 0.40 0.09 -0.04 0.31 0.34 

Pre-reform
b 

16.46 0.00 0.36 3.88 0.31 0.10 -0.04 0.56 0.34 

Post-reform 26.91 1.00 0.52 5.75 0.50 0.09 -0.04 0.06 0.34 

p-value
c 

0.00*** N.A. 0.00*** 0.00*** 0.00*** 0.58 0.99 0.00*** N/A 

Median 

Overall 19.00 0.50 0.31 1.98 0.45 0.00 -0.04 0.00 0.00 

Pre-reform 15.00 0.00 0.27 1.75 0.24 0.00 -0.03 1.00 0.00 

Post-reform 24.00 1.00 0.37 2.24 0.51 0.00 -0.04 0.00 0.00 

p-value 0.00*** N.A. 0.00*** 0.00*** 0.00*** 0.57 0.81 0.00*** N.A. 

Standard Deviation 

Overall 12.22 0.50 0.71 21.55 0.27 0.29 0.52 0.46 0.47 

Pre-reform 9.04 0.00 0.48 17.35 0.29 0.29 0.48 0.50 0.47 

Post-reform 12.75 0.00 0.87 25.03 0.20 0.29 0.55 0.24 0.47 

Panel B: Pearson Correlation 

 
DISC POST ABSCAR TA (Billion) IIS LOSS NEEDCAP SSSR SZSE 

DISC 1 0.43 0.09 0.05 0.24 0.05 0.02 -0.15 0.15 

POST 
 

1 0.12 0.04 0.35 -0.01 0.00 -0.55 0.00 

ABSCAR 
  

1 -0.01 0.01 0.00 0.00 -0.07 -0.02 

TA (Billion) 
   

1 0.10 -0.01 -0.01 -0.03 -0.04 

IIS 
    

1 -0.09 0.00 0.06 -0.03 

LOSS 
     

1 -0.08 -0.06 0.03 

NEEDCAP 
      

1 0.02 0.00 

SSSR 
       

1 0.03 

SZSE 
        

1 
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Table 4.10 (continued) 
a 

Variable definitions:         is the number of Non-periodic PSA made by share i in year y;       = 1 if the observation is from year 2007 and 2008, and 

zero if the observation is from year 2005 and 2006;             is the absolute cumulative abnormal stock return of share i over year y-1;         is 

the total assets of share i at the end of year y-1;          is the proportion of shares held by institutional investors of share i at the end of year y; 

        = 1 if the company has negative net profit of  i in year y, and zero otherwise;             is the share i’s need for capital in year y, equal to 

operating cash flow minus capital expenditure and scaled by current assets;         = 1 if share i was implementing the Share-split Structure Reform in 

year y, and zero otherwise;       = 1 if share i is listed on Shenzhen Stock Exchange, and zero if it is listed on Shanghai Stock Exchange. 
b 

Pre-reform period refers to the period from 1 January 2005 to 31 December 2006; and post-reform period refers to the period from 1 January 2007 to 
31 December 2008. 
c 
All p-values are two sided. P-values for means are from t-tests of the difference between the pre- and post-reform means. For medians, p-values are 

from Wilcoxon two-sample tests. 0.00 means very small. ***, ** and * indicate significant at or better than the 1%, 5% and 10% two-sided levels, 
respectively. 
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The correlation matrix, shown in Panel B of Table 4.10, demonstrates that         is 

highly correlated with all the control variables (coefficient>10%).       is highly negatively 

correlated with         (-0.55) and highly positively correlated with        (0.35). Most of the 

correlation coefficients between the other variables are small in magnitude. All variance inflation 

factors in the multivariate analysis (not tabulated) are less than 2.5, suggesting multicollinearity is 

not an issue. 

Table 4.11 presents the results from OLS regressions of equation 4.1 for the A-share 

sample.             and          are normalized using the natural logarithm transformation.64 

To avoid extreme outliers influence, I also winsorise            , ln       ,         , and 

           at the top and bottom one percent of values. 

In models (1) to (4), the coefficients on       are all positive and significant at the 1% 

level or better, consistent with hypothesis H1. The results suggest that the number of non-

periodic PSA increased significantly in the post-reform period, consistent with the empirical 

findings in other markets (Brown et al., 1999; Heflin et al., 2003; Huang et al., 2009).65 

The coefficients on             are positive and significant at the 1% level or better in 

each model. The positive coefficients are consistent with the prediction that shares having 

abnormal price movements in the prior period have incentives to increase the level of disclosure 

in the current period. This result is contrary to the findings of Heflin et al. (2003) in the US market. 

The coefficients on             are all positive and significant at the 1% level or better in all 

                                                           
64

 The             and          are generally less than one. Thus, according to Osborne (2002), I add a constant to 

each variable to make the minimum value of each distribution to one. 
65

 I also introduce industry dummies into models (1) to (4) so as to control for the possibility that domination of 

industry membership create some potential clustering effect. The results are quantitatively the same. 
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models. This is again consistent with the prediction that large companies will disclose more 

information and in line with the findings of Brown et al. (1999). 

In models (1) to (4) the coefficients on          are all positive and significant at the 1% 

level or better. The empirical results support the findings of Abrahamson & Park (1994), Beasley 

(1996), and Diamond & Verrecchia (1991), suggesting that the proportion of shares held by 

institutional investors has a significant positive impact on the level of information disclosure. 

Table 4.11 
Regression Results when the Dependent Variable is Number of Non-periodic PSA per 

Company-year on Post-reform Indicator and Control Variables for the A-share sample 

OLS Regression Model
a
: 

                                                                                 

                        

 
Predicted 

Sign 
(1) (2) (3) (4) 

Intercept 
 

-4.260 
(-1.12) 

-7.191* 
(-1.88) 

-5.509 
(-1.47) 

-8.180** 
(-2.16) 

POST +ve 
9.156*** 
(23.89) 

10.787*** 
(22.66) 

9.094*** 
(24.07) 

10.596*** 
(22.55) 

ABSCAR +ve 
1.999*** 

(2.70) 
2.153*** 

(2.92) 
2.215*** 

(3.04) 
2.352*** 

(3.24) 

Ln(TA) +ve 
0.861*** 

(4.82) 
0.946*** 

(5.30) 
0.852*** 

(4.84) 
0.930*** 

(5.28) 

IIS +ve 
6.195*** 

(6.44) 
4.234*** 

(4.16) 
6.506*** 

(6.86) 
4.696*** 

(4.67) 

LOSS +ve 
2.662*** 

(4.36) 
2.822*** 

(4.63) 
2.503*** 

(4.15) 
2.654*** 

(4.41) 

NEEDCAP -ve 
-0.473 
(-0.67) 

-0.480 
(-0.68) 

-0.557 
(-0.80) 

-0.561 
(-0.81) 

SSSR +ve 
 

2.732*** 
(5.73)  

2.514*** 
(5.34) 

SZSE ? 
  

3.901*** 
(10.74) 

3.815*** 
(10.53) 

Adj. R
2 

 
0.20 0.21 0.22 0.23 

F-test 
 

165 147 162 146 

No. of Observations 3,948 3,948 3,948 3,948 
a 

Variable definitions:         is the number of Non-periodic PSA made by share i in year y;      =1 if the 

observation is from year 2007 or 2008, and zero if the observation is from year 2005 or 2006;             is 

the absolute cumulative abnormal stock return of share i over year y-1;             is the natural logarithm 

of total assets of share i at the end of year y-1;          is the proportion of shares held by institutional 

investors of share i at the end of year y;        =1 if share i reported losses in year y, and zero otherwise;  

           is share i’s need for capital in year y, calculated as operating cash flow minus capital 

expenditure and scaled by current assets;        =1 if share i was implementing the Share-split Structure 

Reform in year y, and zero otherwise;       = 1 if share i is listed on the SZSE, and zero if it is listed on the 
SSE. 
b 

Numbers in parentheses are t statistic values. ***, ** and * indicate significant at or better than the 1%, 5% 
and 10% two-sided levels, respectively. 
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The coefficients on         are all positive and significant at the 1% level or better. 

Consistent with the results of Heflin et al. (2003), that shares with potential high litigation risks 

increase their level of information disclosure. 

The coefficients on         are significant at the 1% level or better in all models. The 

findings are consistent with the prediction that shares issue more announcements during the 

process of their Share-split Structure Reform. 

The       coefficients are all positive and significant at the 1% level. The results suggest 

that the number of non-periodic PSA made by A-shares listed on the SZSE is significantly higher 

than that made by A-shares listed on the SSE. Sjöö & Zhang (2000) report evidence that 

companies listed on the SZSE have a better information environment than SSE. The multivariate 

results are consistent with the univariate tests, that SZSE listed companies, on average, issued 

more non-periodic PSA over the whole sample period between the years 2005 and 2008. 

The coefficients on            are negative, consistent with the predicted sign, but are 

not significant for all models. 

In summary, the results support hypothesis H1 that the 2007 reforms had a significant 

and positive impact on the information disclosure of A-shares. After controlling for other factors 

that may impact on the disclosure practices of companies, I find that, on average,  A-shares made 

around 10 more non-periodic PSA per year in the post-reform period. The empirical results also 

show that the previous year’s stock price movement, company size, the proportion of shares held 

by institutional investors, and litigation risk all affect the quantity of information released by A-

shares. 
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4.5.2.2 Robustness tests on the A-share sample 

I conduct a number of sensitivity tests to check the robustness of the results reported in 

Table 4.11. 

First, I re-estimate the equation 4.1 using the number of forward-looking earnings-related 

announcements issued by A-shares as the dependent variable.66 I find similar empirical results 

with the coefficients of the variable       being significant and positive in all regression models 

tested. 

Second, I estimate equation 4.1 by using quarterly data for the periods between the first 

quarter (Q1) of 2005 to the last quarter (Q4) of 2008. Equation 4.1 is modified as follows:67 

                                                                         

                                                                                                                                 (4.4) 

where, 

        = The quantity of non-periodic PSA made by A-share i over quarter q; 

         = The indicator of the 2007 reforms. It is a dummy variable set to 1 if the data 

are observed from the post-reform period (i.e. 1 January 2007 to 31 December 2008), and zero if 

the data are observed from the pre-reform period; 

           = The absolute cumulative abnormal daily returns of share i over quarter q-1; 

            = The natural logarithm of the total assets of share i at the end of quarter q-1; 

        = Dummy variable, set to 1 if the net profits of share i reported losses in quarter q, 

and zero otherwise; 

                                                           
66

 The results of this analysis are presented in Appendices 4.8 and 4.9. 
67

 The proportion of shares held by institutional investors (IIS) is not controlled in this regression model because the 
data for this variable is not disclosed quarterly. 
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           = The need for capital of share i in quarter q; 

        = Dummy variable, set to 1 if share i was implementing the SSSR in quarter q, and 

zero otherwise; 

      = Dummy variable, indicating the listing place of share i, set to 1 if share i is listed 

on the SZSE, and zero if it is listed on the SSE. 

The results of these analyses are presented in Appendices 4.10 and 4.11. The estimated 

results are also qualitatively similar, with a positive and significant coefficient on the variable 

      in all regression models. 

Overall, the results of these robustness tests support the findings that the number of non-

periodic PSA made by A-shares significantly increased in the post-reform period. Thus, hypothesis 

H1 is supported. 

4.5.3 Multivariate test results on control variables 

In this section, I examine the quantity of information released during the period 2005-

2008 by the six control samples, namely the BO-share, the HO-share, the AHH-share, the AHA-

share, the HM-share and the AHM-share samples.68 In the multivariate analysis, the variable 

            is normalized using the natural logarithm transformation. To avoid extreme outliers 

influence, I also winsorise            , Ln         , and            at the top and bottom 

one percent of values. 

                                                           
68

 Appendices 4.12-4.17 show the descriptive information for the six samples. Panel A of each appendix reports the 
descriptive summary. Apart from the AHA-share sample, the explanatory variables in each sample are not 
significantly different between the pre- and post-reform periods. For the AHA-share sample, the DISC, ABSCAR and 
TA are all significantly higher in the post-reform period. Panel B of each appendix reports the correlation coefficients 
between the variables. It shows that in each sample the explanatory variables are all highly correlated (coefficient > 
10%), except that POST is not highly correlated with DISC for the AHM-share sample (Appendix 4.17). POST is also 
not highly correlated with both         and         for the HO-share sample (Appendix 4.13). 
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4.5.3.1 The results of multivariate analysis on each control variable 

Table 4.12 reports estimation results for each of the six samples. With the exception of 

the AHA-share sample, the coefficients on        are not significant for all models. The results 

suggest that shares other than A-shares did not change their disclosure practices in the post-

reform period. This result supports the hypotheses H1, H2, and H3 that only the A-shares 

significantly increased their number of non-periodic PSA in the post-reform period, and the BO-

shares, HO-shares, and AHH-shares did not. 

Furthermore, it is notable that the coefficients on       for the HM-share and the AHM-

share samples are not significant. The result suggests that the 2007 reforms had no impact on the 

level of information disclosure of listed companies on HKEx. 

The coefficients on             are all positive as predicted, but only are significant at 

the 10% level or better for the AHH-share and the AHM-share samples. The coefficients on 

            are significant and positive for the control samples as predicted, except for the HO-

share and AHH-share samples. The coefficients on         are positive and significant for the HO-

share, HM-share, AHH-share, and AHA-share samples, indicating that shares in these samples 

disclose more information in the presence of bad news so as to mitigate or deter the litigation 

risks, as suggested by Field et al. (2005). 

Contrary to my expectation, the coefficients on            are positive and significant 

for the AHA-shares. Jia et al. (2005) argue that H-shares have a high borrowing capacity because 

the Chinese government provides a de facto guarantee for the shares’ loans, and will not allow H-

shares to fail. Thus, bank loans are the preferred source of funds for HO-shares and AHH-shares. 

This may explain why the coefficients on            are not significant for HO-shares and AHH-

shares.
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Table 4.12 
Regression Results when the Dependent Variable is Number of Non-periodic PSA per Company-year made by the Control Samplesa 

OLS Regress Model
b
:                                                                                                       

 
Predicted 

Sign 
HO-share 

sample  
HM-share 

sample  
AHH-share 

sample  
AHA-share 

sample  
AHM-share 

sample  
BO-share 
sample 

Intercept 
 

30.218 
(1.24)

C  
-23.329 
(-1.23) 

 
-0.338 
(-0.03) 

 
-22.456 
(-1.61) 

 
-32.337*** 

(-2.73) 
 

-39.260 
(-1.27) 

POST +ve 
3.264 
(1.41) 

 
-0.339 
(-0.15) 

 
1.396 
(0.89) 

 
6.488*** 

(3.80) 
 

-0.276 
(-0.18) 

 
1.680 
(0.69) 

ABSCAR +ve 
1.400 
(0.26) 

 
5.700 
(1.33) 

 
7.953** 

(2.41) 
 

0.476 
(0.13) 

 
5.456* 
(1.72) 

 
6.190 
(1.15) 

Ln(TA) +ve 
-0.768 
(-0.69) 

 
1.482* 
(1.76) 

 
0.491 
(0.90) 

 
1.585*** 

(2.64) 
 

1.914*** 
(3.64) 

 
2.630* 
(1.80) 

LOSS +ve 
23.017*** 

(3.43) 
 

9.134** 
(2.30) 

 
7.327*** 

(3.53) 
 

7.510*** 
(2.65) 

 
-0.293 
(-0.12) 

 
-1.580 
(-0.41) 

NEEDCAP -ve 
-1.817 
(-0.63) 

 
-2.006 
(-0.68) 

 
2.463 
(1.46) 

 
4.970** 
(2.11) 

 
-4.454 
(-1.48) 

 
-2.890 
(-0.92) 

Adj. R
2
 

 
0.23 

 
0.07 

 
0.13 

 
0.22 

 
0.09 

 
0.06 

F-test 
 

4.26 
 

1.77 
 

4.07 
 

6.70 
 

2.82 
 

1.71 

No. of Observations 56 
 

56 
 

100 
 

100 
 

100 
 

60 
a 

Sample definitions: HO-share sample comprises 14 Hong Kong shares issued by Chinese companies, which are only listed on HKEx; HM-share sample is the 
HO-share sample’s match sample, and it is selected from Hong Kong shares issued by Hong Kong based companies; AHH-share sample comprises 25 Hong Kong 
shares issued by Chinese based companies that were listed on both the Chinese A-share market and HKEx; and AHA-share sample comprises the corresponding 
25 Chinese A-shares issued by the same Chinese based companies that were listed on both the Chinese A-share market and HKEx; AHM-share sample is the 
match sample of the AHH-share sample, the AHM-share sample is selected from Hong Kong shares issued by Hong Kong based companies; BO-share sample 
comprises 15 Chinese BO-shares issued by Chinese based companies. 
b 

Variable definitions:         is the number of Non-periodic PSA made by share i in year y;       = 1 if the observation is from year 2007 or 2008, and zero if 

the observation is from year 2005 or 2006;             is the absolute cumulative abnormal stock return of share i over year y-1;             is the natural 

logarithm of total assets of share i at the end of year y-1;         = 1 if share I reported losses in year y, and zero otherwise;             is share i’s need for 

capital in year y, calculated as operating cash flow minus capital expenditure and scaled by current assets. 
c 
numbers in parentheses are t statistic values. ***, ** and * indicate significant at or better than the 1%, 5% and 10% two-sided levels, respectively. 
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4.5.3.2 Results of multivariate analysis on Pooled HO- and HM-share sample 

Table 4.13 presents estimation results of Equation 4.2 with a pooled sample of the HO-

share and the HM-share samples. First, Equation 4.2 is estimated for the pooled sample. Then I 

add a dummy variable representing the share type and a product term representing the 

interaction of share type and the 2007 reforms. The dummy variables    , and     represent 

the HO-shares and HM-shares, respectively. The product terms           and           

represent the interaction of HO-shares with the 2007 reforms, and HM-shares with the 2007 

reforms, respectively.69 

The coefficients on       are not significant in all models (1) to (3), supporting 

hypothesis H3 that HO-shares and HM-shares did not change the number of non-periodic PSA in 

the post-reform period. The Coefficient on the     or     is not significant, suggesting these is 

no significant difference between the HO-shares and HM-shares in the level of information 

disclosure. The coefficient on the interaction    *      or    *      is also not significant, 

suggesting that the 2007 reforms did not impact on the level of information disclosure of HO-

shares and HM-shares. 

4.5.3.3 Results of multivariate analysis on the Pooled AHH-, AHA-, and AHM-share sample  

Table 4.14 presents the regression results of Equation 4.2 for the pooled sample of the 

AHH-share, the AHA-share, and the AHM-share samples.  Equation 4.2 is again estimated for the 

pooled sample, with a dummy variable then added representing the share type and the 

interaction variable of share type and the 2007 reforms. The dummy variables     ,     , and 

     represent the AHH-share sample, the AHM-share sample, and the AHA-share sample, 

respectively. The product terms                       , and            represent the 

                                                           
69

 A detailed discussion on the interactive variables can be found in Appendix 4.18. 
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interaction of the AHH-share sample with the 2007 reforms, the AHM-share sample with the 

2007 reforms, and the AHA-share sample with the 2007 reforms, respectively. 

Table 4.13 
Regression Results when the Dependent Variable is Number of Non-periodic PSA per 

Company-year made by the Pooled Sample of HO- and HM-sharesa 

OLS Regress Model
b
: 

                                                                      + 

                                     

 
Predicted 

Sign 
(1)

c 

 
(2) 

 
(3) 

Intercept 
 

-13.374 
(-0.97) 

 
-2.879 
(-0.20) 

 
-5.046 
(-0.36) 

POST +ve 
1.284 
(0.78) 

 
2.932 
(1.32) 

 
-0.410 
(-0.18) 

ABSCAR +ve 
5.610* 
(1.96) 

 
4.892* 
(1.73) 

 
4.892* 
(1.73) 

Ln(TA) +ve 
1.083* 
(1.74) 

 
0.666 
(1.04) 

 
0.666 
(1.04) 

LOSS +ve 
9.242** 
(2.54) 

 
10.137*** 

(2.82) 
 

10.137*** 
(2.82) 

NEEDCAP -ve 
-3.371* 
(-1.80) 

 
-3.075* 
(-1.67) 

 
-3.075* 
(-1.67) 

HO ?   
-2.167 
(-0.93) 

  

HO*POST    
-3.342 
(-1.04) 

  

HM ?     
2.167 
(0.93) 

HM*POST      
3.342 
(1.04) 

Adj. R
2 

 
0.14 

 
0.17 

 
0.17 

F-test 
 

4.38 
 

4.13 
 

4.13 

No. of observations 
 

112 
 

112 
 

112 
a
 Sample definitions: HO-share sample comprises 14 Hong Kong shares issued by Chinese companies, 

which are only listed on the Hong Kong stock market; HM-share is the HO-share sample’s match sample, 
and is selected from Hong Kong shares issued by Hong Kong based companies. 
b
 Variable definitions:         is the number of Non-periodic PSA made by share i in year y;       = 1 if 

the observation is from year 2007 and 2008, and zero if the observation is from year 2005 and 2006; 
            is the absolute cumulative abnormal stock return of share i over year y-1;             is the 

natural logarithm of total assets of share i at the end of year y-1;         = 1 if share i reported losses in 

year y, and zero otherwise;             is share i’s need for capital in year y, equal to operating cash 

flow minus capital expenditure and scaled by current assets. 
c
 numbers in parentheses are t statistic values. ***, ** and * indicate significant at or better than the 1%, 

5% and 10% two-sided levels, respectively. 
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The coefficients on       are only significant and positive in models (1) and (2), providing 

some evidence that the number of non-periodic PSA increased significantly in the post-reform 

period. 

However, in model (2) of Table 4.14, the coefficients on            and       

     are negative and significant, suggesting that the number of non-periodic PSA made by the 

AHA-share sample significantly increased in the post-reform period. 

In model (3) of Table 4.14, the coefficient on      is positive but only significant at the 

10% level, suggesting that the difference between AHH- and AHM-shares in the number of 

information disclosures is only significant at the 10% level. However, the positive but not 

significant coefficient on            suggests that post the 2007 reforms, the AHH-share 

sample did not significantly change their level of information disclosure. The coefficient on      

is positive and significant at the 10% level, again suggesting that the AHA-shares disclose more 

information than the AHH- and AHM-shares. The coefficients on            is positive and 

significant, suggesting that the AHA-share sample significantly increased their level of 

information disclosure in the post-reform period. 

In model (4) of Table 4.14, the coefficient on      is negative and significant at the 10% 

level, again suggesting that generally the AHH-share sample has a higher level of information 

disclosure than the AHM-share sample. However, the insignificant coefficient on            

suggests that the AHM-share sample did not change the level of information disclosure in the 

post-reform period. 

In summary, the results suggest that only AHA-shares significantly increased the level of 

information disclosure in the post-reform period, supporting hypothesis H1. The AHH-share 

sample generally discloses more information than its match sample, i.e., the AHM-share sample, 
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but it did not show any significant change in their disclosure practices in the post-reform period, 

supporting hypothesis H3. 

Table 4.14 
Regression Results when the Dependent Variable is Number of Non-periodic PSA per Company-year 

made by Pooled Sample of AHH-, AHA-, and AHM-sharesa
 

OLS Regress Model
b
: 

                                                                                 + 

                                     

 
Predicted 

Sign 
(1)

c 

 
(2) 

 
(3)  (4) 

Intercept 
 

-26.781*** 
(-3.775)

  
-11.518 
(-1.57) 

 
-15.115 

(-2.15)** 
 

-12.160 
(-1.64) 

POST +ve 
2.171** 

(2.19) 
 

6.344*** 
(3.95) 

 
-0.452 
(-0.28) 

 
1.244 
(0.78) 

ABSCAR +ve 
4.779** 

(2.46) 
 

4.855*** 
(2.62) 

 
4.855*** 

(2.62) 
 

4.855*** 
(2.62) 

Ln(TA) +ve 
1.692*** 

(5.54) 
 

1.070*** 
(3.44) 

 
1.070*** 

(3.44) 
 

1.070*** 
(3.44) 

LOSS +ve 
4.484*** 

(3.11) 
 

4.777*** 
(3.47) 

 
4.777*** 

(3.48) 
 

4.777*** 
(3.48) 

NEEDCAP -ve 
0.596 
(0.48) 

 
2.189* 
(1.77) 

 
2.189* 
(1.77) 

 
2.189* 
(1.77) 

AHH ? 
 

 
-0.643 
(-0.39) 

 
2.955* 
(1.78) 

  

POST*AHH ? 
 

 
-5.099** 

(-2.26) 
 

1.697 
(0.75) 

  

AHM ? 
 

 
-3.598** 

(-2.14) 
   

-2.955* 
(-1.78) 

POST*AHM ? 
 

 
-6.796*** 

(-2.98) 
   

-1.697 
(-0.75) 

AHA ? 
 

   
3.598** 
(2.14) 

 
0.643 
(0.39) 

POST*AHA +ve 
 

   
6.796*** 

(2.98) 
 

5.099** 
(2.26) 

Adj. R
2
 

 
0.14 

 
0.24 

 
0.24  0.24 

F-value 
 

10.32 
 

11.08 
 

11.08  11.08 

No. of Observations 
 

300 
 

300 
 

300  300 
a 

Sample definitions: the AHH-share sample comprises 25 Hong Kong shares issued by Chinese companies that listed 
on both the Chinese A-share market and HKEx; and AHA-share sample comprises corresponding 25 Chinese A-shares 
issued by the same Chinese companies that listed on both the Chinese A-share market and HKEx; AHM-share sample 
is the AHH-share match sample, which is selected from Hong Kong shares issued by Hong Kong based companies. 
b 

Variable definitions:         is the number of Non-periodic PSA made by share i in year y;      =1 if the 

observation is from year 2007 or 2008, and zero if the observation is from year 2005 or 2006;             is the 

absolute cumulative abnormal stock return of share i over year y-1;             is the natural logarithm of total 

assets share i at the end of year y-1;         = 1 if share i reported losses in year y, and zero otherwise;             

is share i’s need for capital in year y, equal to operating cash flow minus capital expenditure and scaled by current 
assets. 
c 
numbers in parentheses are t statistic values. ***, ** and * indicate significant at or better than the 1%, 5% and 

10% two-sided levels, respectively.
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4.6 Summary 

In this chapter, I investigate the impact of the 2007 reforms on the level of information 

disclosure by Chinese listed companies. I employ both univariate and multivariate tests to test 

three hypotheses. First, I examine a sample of 987 A-shares, which are all listed in the Chinese A-

share market. The findings suggest that the mean and median numbers of non-periodic PSA 

made by these shares are significantly higher in the post-reform period than in the pre-reform 

period. In multivariate analysis, there is still strong evidence that the 2007 reforms significantly 

increased the level of price-sensitive information disclosed to the market, after controlling for 

other factors that may have impact on the level of information disclosure of A-shares. Overall, 

the results support hypothesis H1 that the number of non-periodic PSA significantly increased in 

the post-reform period. 

In addition, I compare the differences in disclosure practices between A-shares listed on 

the SZSE and the SSE. The univariate and multivariate test results both suggest that A-shares 

listed on SZSE have a higher mean and median number of non-periodic PSA than their 

counterparts on SSE. 

This chapter also investigates the influence of the 2007 reforms on the BO-share, the HO-

share, and the AHH-share samples. The results indicate that these samples did not significantly 

change their level of information disclosure, suggesting that they were not influenced by the 

2007 reforms. Moreover, the empirical results for the HM-share and the AHM-share samples 

suggest that during the period 2005-2008, there was no significant change in the disclosure 

practices of listed companies on HKEx. This provides strong evidence that the increase in the level 

of information disclosure of the A-share sample can be attributed to the 2007 reforms. 

In conclusion, I find that the impact of the 2007 reforms on the disclosure level of A-

shares is positive and significant. However, the impact of the 2007 reforms on Chinese shares 
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listed on the Chinese B-share market or HKEx is limited. Although shares listed on the Chinese B-

share market or HKEx increased the number of announcements in the post-reform period, this 

increase was not significant.
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Chapter Five: The Impact of the 2007 reforms on the information 

environment of financial analysts 

5.1 Introduction 

This chapter examines the impact of the 2007 reforms on the information environment of 

financial analysts. The 2007 reforms affect the information environment of financial analysts 

from three aspects. First, the 2007 reforms require continuous disclosure of price sensitive 

information by companies, so that more timely information is available for financial analysts. 

Second, the reforms introduce new accounting standards which are more closely aligned to IFRS 

so they should provide higher quantity and quality of financial information. Third, the reforms 

prohibit “selective disclosure,” which prohibits the communication of private information from 

companies to financial analysts. The prohibition of “selective disclosure” should mitigate 

information asymmetry between informed and uninformed financial analysts and improve 

fairness in the market. However, the prohibition on selective disclosure may reduce the total 

amount of information disclosed to the market. 

I examine the earnings forecast error and earnings forecast dispersion of both local and 

foreign financial analysts. Local and foreign financial analysts are likely to have differential access 

to information, especially private information. Bae et al. (2008) argue that the local financial 

analysts’ information advantage is strong in countries “where disclosures are weaker, where 

institutional investors are less important, where corporate ownership is more concentrated, and 

where accounting information is less informative.” These are characteristics of the Chinese stock 

market prior to the 2007 reforms (Allen, Qian, & Qian, 2005; Firth et al., 2007; Kling & Gao, 2008; 

Liu, 2006). Thus, local financial analysts should be more heavily affected by the 2007 reforms in 

comparison to foreign analysts. That is, if the reforms have improved the information 

environment of the Chinese stock market, the local analysts may lose their relative information 
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advantage over foreign analysts. However, all analysts may still benefit from the improvement in 

the information environment. 

The remainder of this chapter is organized as follows. Section 5.2 briefly summaries the 

prior literature and develops the hypotheses concerning analysts’ forecast errors and forecast 

dispersion. Section 5.3 describes variables and regression models employed to test the 

hypotheses. Section 5.4 describes the data used in this study. The results of the empirical studies 

are reported in Section 5.5, and the results of the robustness tests are discussed in Section 5.6. 

Section 5.7 summarizes this chapter. 

5.2 Hypotheses Development 

Financial analysts are an integral part of the capital market. They collect information from 

public and private sources, evaluate the current performance of companies that they follow, and 

use the information they hold to make forecasts about the future prospects of companies (Healy 

& Palepu, 2001). Thus, the accuracy of analysts’ forecasts of earnings should be highly related to 

the information that they can access (Barron, Kim, Lim, & Stevens, 1998; Hu, Lin, & Li, 2008). 

A large body of prior research finds that the accuracy and dispersion of forecasts is 

affected by the financial disclosure practice of companies (Acker, Horton, & Tonks, 2002; Ang & 

Ciccone, 2001; Chang, Khanna, & Palepu, 2000; Higgins, 1998; Hope, 2003a, 2003b, 2004; Lang & 

Lundholm, 1996; Vanstraelen, Zarzeski, & Robb, 2003). Lang and Lundholm (1996) examine the 

“overall informativeness of a firm’s discretionary disclosures” and find that the level of disclosure 

is positively associated with forecast accuracy, and is negatively associated with forecast 

dispersion. From an international perspective, Hope (2003b) supports the findings of Lang and 

Lundholm (1996).  Hope (2003b)  examines the level of annual disclosure and the degree of 

enforcement of accounting standards across different countries to find out how disclosure 

behaviour can affect the accuracy of analysts’ forecasts. He uses a sample of 1,309 company-year 
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observations from 22 countries and observes that both company disclosure levels and the level of 

enforcement are positively associated with analysts’ forecast accuracy. These findings are in line 

with other studies in various countries (Acker et al., 2002; Ang & Ciccone, 2001; Chang et al., 

2000; Higgins, 1998; Hope, 2003a, 2004; Vanstraelen et al., 2003). 

A number of other studies have also investigated the relationship between the companies’ 

accounting standards and analysts’ forecast accuracy. Ashbaugh and Pincus (2001) find that 

analysts’ forecast accuracy was improved with IFRS adoption for companies domiciled in 

countries where domestic-GAAPs required less disclosure and allowed more measurement 

options. Ernstberger et al. (2008) study Germany firms and find evidence that analysts’ forecast 

accuracy improves for those firms adopting IAS or US GAAP. Hodgdon et al. (2008) focus on the 

level of firms’ compliance with the disclosure of requirements of IFRS and document that the 

forecast error is negatively correlated with the level of compliance. Cheong et al. (2010) study 

companies in Australia, New Zealand and Hong Kong and find evidence that the adoption of IFRS 

may increase the value-relevance of financial information reported and lead to a decline in 

forecast error. 

Overall, the results of the prior literature suggest that the improved amount of publicly 

available information to financial analysts should enhance the analysts’ abilities to predict the 

future earnings of companies. The two main themes of the 2007 reforms are enhancing the 

information disclosure of listed companies and promoting the convergence of Chinese GAAP with 

IFRS. This suggests that the 2007 reforms should improve the accuracy of analysts’ forecast of 

earnings and reduce analysts’ forecast dispersion. 

Barron et al. (1998) argue, however, that the analysts’ forecast accuracy is determined 

not only by the publicly available information, but also by the private information that some 

analysts can access. Thus, the third main object of the 2007 reforms, the “fair disclosure” 
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requirement, may potentially cause a decline in analysts’ forecast accuracy if the 2007 reforms 

lead to companies no longer releasing information to a select group of analysts. Prior research on 

Reg FD suggests that financial analysts’ forecast accuracy is lower since the implementation of 

Reg FD. Heflin et al. (2003) find no significant change in analysts’ forecast accuracy, and they 

interpret this result as the consequence of increased information disclosure offsetting any 

information loss from reduced selective disclosure. However, Bailey et al. (2003) find increased 

forecast dispersion in the post-Reg FD period. Agrawal et al. (2006) and Findlay et al. (2006) also 

both find lower earnings forecast accuracy by analysts in the post-Reg FD period. 

The effects of changes in the “fair disclosure” rule in the Chinese stock market is uncertain, 

as it is still an emerging market and share manipulation and insider trading is widespread 

(Chakravarty et al., 1998; Chan et al., 2008; Cheng, 2008). The “fair disclosure” rule in the AMID 

may, however, significantly mitigate the level of private information disclosure and reduce the 

total amount of information available to financial analysts. Thus, it is possible that the 2007 

reforms could cause deterioration in the information environment and consequently lead to a 

decline in analysts’ forecast accuracy of earnings. 

In summary, based on the prior literature, the influence of the 2007 reforms on the 

financial analysts’ information environment is ambiguous. On the one hand, the new disclosure 

regulation (i.e. the AMID) and the new Chinese GAAP (i.e. the 2006 Accounting Standards) should 

increase the quality and quantity of public information available to analysts, and thus improve 

their forecast accuracy. On the other hand, the “fair disclosure” requirement may cause a 

decrease in the level of private information disclosed to analysts and lower their forecast ability. 

Thus, the first hypothesis stated in null form is: 

H1: Financial analysts’ forecast accuracy and forecast dispersion of the earnings of 

Chinese A-shares did not change in the post-reform period. 
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Malloy (2005) provides evidence that local financial analysts have opportunities to obtain 

valuable private information. Sonney (2009) addresses that “local or geographically proximate 

market participants are assumed to be better informed than foreign or more distantly ones.” In 

summary, local financial analysts should be able to more easily access the private information of 

companies. For this reason, the “fair disclosure” rule should have more influence on local 

analysts compared to the foreign analysts. The second hypothesis is: 

H2: The “fair disclosure” rule has a greater impact on the forecast accuracy and forecast 

dispersion of local financial analysts compared to foreign financial analysts. 

5.3 Sample and Data 

5.3.1 Time line of the sample period 

The pre-reform period is from 1 January 2005 to 31 December 2006, and the post-reform 

period is from 1 January 2007 to 31 December 2008. All Chinese listed companies adopt the 

calendar year-end as their financial year-end, and release quarterly financial reports. The annual 

report must be released by April of the following year, the semi-annual reports by August of the 

same year, and the quarterly reports by April or October for the first-quarter and third-quarter 

reports, respectively. A company should disclose its first-quarter report after its annual report of 

the previous year. Table 5.1 presents the time line of the sample period.
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1/1/2005 1/1/2006 1/1/2007 1/1/2008 1/1/2009 

31/01/2007: new 

disclosure requirements 

(AMID) took effect 

Pre-reform Period Post-reform Period 

Table 5.1  

Time Line of Sample Period 2005-2008 

30/04/2006: the 

deadline for 

2005 Annual 

Report 

30/04/2005: the 

deadline for2004 

Annual Report 

30/04/2007: 

the deadline 

for 2006 

Annual Report 

30/04/2009: the 

deadline for 2008 

Annual Report 

30/04/2008: the 

deadline for 

2007 Annual 

Report  

01/01/2007: New 

accounting standards (2006 

Accounting Standards) 

were issued  
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5.3.2 Sample 

Only financial analysts’ forecasts for annual earnings are available, so this study examines 

the forecasts for annual earnings of years 2005-2008. The forecasts for years 2005 and 2006 were 

ascribed to the pre-reform period and the forecasts for years 2007 and 2008 were ascribed to the 

post-reform period.70 

The A-share sample is described in the Chapters 2 ad 3. The A-share sample comprises all 

shares listed on the Chinese A-share market (i.e., AO-shares, ABA-shares, and AHA-shares). 

Shares in this sample are restricted to those issued by non-financial companies. The shares must 

also have been listed before 2004 and have been continuously traded during the period 2004-

2008. Shares with high delisting risk (classified as *ST shares by the CSRC) are removed from the 

A-share sample. 

5.3.3 Analyst forecasts data 

The financial analysts’ earnings forecasts for the A-share sample are retrieved from two different 

sources. They are (1) the CSMAR, and (2) the I/B/E/S. The forecast data that comes from the 

CSMAR are all made by Chinese local financial analysts. However, I cannot identify the specific 

financial analysts in I/B/E/S, as I/B/E/S does not provide information on the identity of analysts 

and broker agencies. Evidence suggests that the majority of analysts providing information 

recorded on I/B/E/S should be foreign analysts. For instance, Bae et al. (2008) obtained their 

sample from I/B/E/S, and in their sample 91% of analysts following Chinese listed companies are 

                                                           
70

 As the annual reports of the 2006 year were disclosed between January and April 2007, some earnings forecasts 
made for the 2006 year are made after the reform. As this period is only a short time period following the 
introduction of the 2007 reforms, I ignore the effects of the reform on earnings forecast for the year 2006. As a 
robustness test, I also excluded forecasts for the 2006 year that were made in the 2007 year from the pre-reform 
sample. The results are qualitatively the same as reported in this chapter. 
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foreign analysts.71 Thus, the forecast data from I/B/E/S is regarded as primarily made by foreign 

analysts. 

The CSMAR forecast data is taken from the CSMAR Analysts Forecasts database and provide 

analysts’ forecasts solely for A-shares. The number of shares with forecast data is between 510 in 

year 2005 and 991 in the 2008. After removing shares that are listed after year 2004, have been 

suspended or delisted, have high delisting risks, and have no forecasts in at least one year, the 

final sample comprises 761 shares. 

I/B/E/S forecast data is taken from I/B/E/S data provided through the Wharton Research Data 

Services (WRDS). After removing shares that are listed after year 2004, shares that have been 

suspended or delisted, have high delisting risks, and have no forecasts in at least one year, there 

are 493 shares in the A-share sample. 

5.3.4 Other datasets 

The financial data on various sample companies, including market values, book values, EPS, long-

term debts and the type of shares, all come from the RESSET Financial Research Database. 

5.4 Summary of statistics and methodology 

5.4.1 Introduction 

This study uses the accuracy of analysts’ earnings forecasts as the proxy for the information 

environment to examine the influence of the 2007 reforms on Chinese listed companies. Analysts’ 

forecast accuracy is measured using both forecast error and forecast dispersion. Forecast error is 

the difference between consensus analysts’ forecasts on EPS and actual EPS, and forecast 

dispersion is the standard deviation of analysts’ forecasts on EPS. 

                                                           
71

 Bae et al. (2008) report that in their sample there are 74 analysts following Chinese firms and 67 out of them are 
foreign analysts. 
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Two forecast error metrics are measured, the mean consensus forecast error and the median 

consensus forecast error.72 

Following Lang and Lundholm (1996) and Heflin et al. (2003), I calculated the analyst’s EPS 

forecast error for share i as the absolute difference between the analyst’s EPS estimate and the 

actual EPS of year y for share i, scaled by the year-end stock price of year 200673: 

         
|                |

           
 

where            is analyst j’s latest unrevised EPS forecast for share i in year y. This forecast 

must be submitted within a time period of one year prior to share i’s annual earnings 

announcement of year y.        is the actual EPS of share i of year y; and             is the 2006 

year-end closing price of share i. The mean consensus forecast error for share i is then calculated 

respectively as the following:74 

                         

Following Lang and Lundholm (1996), analyst forecast dispersion is measured as the standard 

deviation of analysts’ EPS forecasts for share i in year y, deflated by the closing stock price of year 

2006.                                           

      
            

           
 

where               is the standard deviation of analysts’ latest unrevised forecasts for share i’s 

EPS in year y, submitted within one year prior to share i’s annual earnings announcement of year 

y. In calculating      , I require in year y that share i was followed by no less than two analysts. 

                                                           
72

 Bulter and Lang (1991) address that the median consensus forecasts exhibit slightly greater forecast accuracy. 
73

 Year 2006 is the end of the pre-reform period. The reason I choose to scale the difference by stock price instead of 
the actual EPS, as Brown et al. (1987) suggest, is that some EPSs of Chinese listed companies are really small and 
even close to zero, which results in very large infinite        . 
74

 I also estimate the median consensus forecast error (            ), which is measured as: 
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5.4.2 Summary statistics 

Table 5.2 show the statistical summaries of the overall mean and median of the mean consensus 

forecast error and forecast dispersion for the A-share sample for both CSMAR and I/B/E/S 

forecast data.75 For the CSMAR data, the forecast error and forecast dispersion show a common 

trend of declining from 2005 to 2006 and then increasing from 2007 to 2008. The forecast error 

and forecast dispersion in 2008 was higher than in 2005. In contrast, for the I/B/E/S data, the 

forecast error and forecast dispersion exhibited little change, apart from a big jump in 2008. A 

comparison between CSMAR data and I/B/E/S data shows that the forecast error in the CSMAR 

data is relatively lower than that in the I/B/E/S data, whereas the forecast dispersion in the 

CSMAR data is higher than that in the I/B/E/S data. 

 

Table 5.2 
Forecast Error and Forecast Dispersion for the A-share Sample in Each Year Over Period 2005-2008a 

Forecast Error 

 
CSMAR data 

 
I/B/E/S data 

Year 2005 2006 2007 2008 
 

2005 2006 2007 2008 

Mean 0.021 0.013 0.016 0.035 
 

0.016 0.015 0.018 0.030 

Median 0.007 0.006 0.008 0.015 
 

0.010 0.010 0.011 0.015 

Standard Deviation 0.052 0.026 0.059 0.057 
 

0.024 0.020 0.021 0.051 

No. of Observations 455 531 616 678 
 

147 308 381 444 

Forecast Dispersion 

 
CSMAR data 

 
I/B/E/S data 

Year 2005 2006 2007 2008 
 

2005 2006 2007 2008 

Mean 0.014 0.008 0.009 0.021 
 

0.007 0.005 0.007 0.017 

Median 0.006 0.004 0.006 0.012 
 

0.003 0.003 0.004 0.009 

Standard Deviation 0.060 0.033 0.014 0.026 
 

0.022 0.006 0.008 0.021 

No. of Observations 320 377 467 552 
 

77 182 268 338 
a 

Forecast Error: the forecast error measured as the difference between mean of EPS forecasts and actual EPS, 
scaled by the 2006 year-end stock price; FD: the forecast dispersion, measured as the standard deviation of EPS 
forecast scaled by the 2006 year-end stock price. 
b 

A-share sample comprises of AO-shares, ABA-shares, and AHA-shares; CAMRA data are obtained from CAMAR 
database and I/B/E/S data are obtained from I/B/E/S database. 

 

                                                           
75

 Appendix 5.1 represents the median consensus forecast error for the A-share sample. The results are qualitatively 
the same as Table 5.2. 
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5.4.3 Univariate and multivariate tests 

Both univariate and multivariate tests are employed to examine forecast accuracy during 

the sample period, and thereby assess the effects of the 2007 reforms on the information 

environment for listed companies. The univariate tests focus on the difference between pre-and 

post-reform forecast accuracy and the multivariate test seeks to control for factors other than 

the reforms that may affect analysts’ forecast ability. 

In univariate test, I employ a pooled analysis of forecast metrics (i.e. forecast error and 

forecast dispersion) for the years 2005-2008 to examine the effects of the reforms on analysts’ 

forecast accuracy. 

In Multivariate test, I use the following multivariate OLS regression models, which include 

indicator variables for the 2007 reforms (     ) or year (     ,      , and      ), to control 

for other factors which may influence analysts’ forecast accuracy: 

                                                                          

                                                               

          ∑                                                                                                       (5.1) 

or 

                                                                            

                                                                      

                    ∑                                                                                 (5.2) 

where 

     =indicator of the 2007 reforms. It is set to 1 if analysts’ forecasts are for the post-

reform period, and zero if analysts’ forecasts are for the pre-reform period. 
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     =year dummy variable, equal 1 if analysts’ forecasts are for the year 2006, and zero 

otherwise. 

     =year dummy variable, equal 1 if analysts’ forecasts are for the year 2007, and zero 

otherwise. 

     =year dummy variable, equal 1 if analysts’ forecasts are for the year 2008, and zero 

otherwise. 

     =the forecast time horizon. Following Heflin et al. (2003), it is measured as the 

logarithm of the number of days by which the forecast precedes the earnings announcement. 

Clement (1999) argues that later forecasts are more accurate than earlier forecasts. 

      = the logarithm of the number of analysts who have issued forecasts for earnings 

of share i in year y. With more analysts following the company, the consensus forecast should be 

more accurate and show less dispersion (Allen, Cho, & Jung, 1997). 

           = the natural logarithm of total assets of share i at the end of year y-1. A 

company’s size is considered an important factor in determining the information environment of 

the company, as larges companies tend to be more transparent (Allen et al., 1997; Ang & Ma, 

1999; Brown, 1997). Thus, the coefficient on             should be negative. 

         =the financial leverage of share i at the end of year y-1. It is calculated as the 

ratio of long-term debt over the market value of share i. A control variable for leverage is 

employed as the use of more debt increases the variance of earnings (Rubin & Smith, 2009). 

       = the book-to-market ratio at the end of year y-1. It is the book value of equity 

divided by the market value of equity for share i in year y.  Prior empirical research, such as Fama 

and French (1995), Penman (1992) and Beaver and Ryan (2000), finds that the book-to-market 
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ratio is correlated with the future book return on equity. Furthermore, Kwon (2002) finds that 

the market-to-book ratio is negatively related to forecast error. 

       = indicator of a net loss. It is a dummy variable, set to 1 if share i’s earnings in year 

y are negative, and zero otherwise.         is predicted to be positively associated with forecast 

error and forecast dispersion. Brown (2001) finds financial analysts are more optimistic in loss 

periods and it is more difficult for analysts to forecast earnings for loss firms. 

        = absolute unexpected earnings. Following the definition of Heflin et al. (2003), 

it is estimated as: 76                                      
|               |

           
 

where        and          is the EPS of share i in year y and y-1 respectively.77 A control 

variable for unexpected earnings is used as large changes in earnings are more difficult to 

forecast than small changes (Kross, Ro, & Schroeder, 1990; Lang & Lundholm, 1996). 

        = the indicator of earnings decline. It is a dummy variable set to 1 if share i’s 

earnings in year y are below earnings in year y-1, and zero otherwise. 

     = the indicator of cross-listing. It takes the value of 1 if the company issuing share i 

has also issued shares to other markets. Cross-listed companies are posited to provide more 

information as they must comply with the listed rules in two or more markets. An increased level 

of financial information disclosed to the market is posited to make it easier for analysts to 

forecast earnings. The coefficient on       is predicted to be negative. 

      = the indicator of the gap between “new” (based on the 2006 Accounting 

Standards) and “old” (based on old China GAAP) financial statements for the 2006 year.78 This 

                                                           
76

 I also measure the earnings surprise as the absolute value of the difference between the current year's earnings 
per share and last year’s earnings per share, divided by last year’s earnings per share. The results are qualitatively 
the same. 
77

 For A-shares, EPS in year 2005 and 2006 is based on Chinese GAAP, and EPS in year 2007 and 2008 is based on IFRS. 
For other shares, EPS is based on international accounting standards (i.e. IFRS or IAS). 
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variable takes the value of 1 if share i has a large gap, and zero if it has a small gap. This 

measurement of gap is the absolute difference in year 2006’s EPSs between the old Chinese 

GAAP and the new Chinese GAAP (i.e., the 2006 Accounting Standards), scaled by corresponding 

stock price at year-end 2006. The sample shares are sorted by the size of the gap and evenly split 

into two groups.        equals 1 if share i belongs to the group having higher EPS difference, 

and equals 0 if share i belongs to the group having a lower EPS difference. I posit that the lower 

the gap, the easier it is for analysts to forecast earnings for companies under the new Chinese 

GAAP, so the analysts’ forecast accuracy is higher. 

INDUSTRY DUMMIES: companies are classified into 22 industries according to the industry 

categories of CSRC.  

5.5 Results 

5.5.1 Univariate test results 

Table 5.3 reports the results of the univariate analysis of analysts’ forecast performance. 

Columns 1-2 of Table 5.3 show the mean and median company-year forecast error and forecast 

dispersion by local analysts (i.e. data obtained from CSMAR), and columns 3-4 show the mean 

and median company-year forecast error and forecast dispersion of foreign analysts (i.e. data 

obtained from I/B/E/S). The results show that for both local and foreign analysts, both the mean 

and median forecast errors, and the forecast dispersion are all significantly higher (at 1% 

significant level or better) in the post-reform period.79 That is, both local and foreign analysts had 

higher forecast errors and wider disagreement regarding companies’ earnings in the post-reform 

                                                                                                                                                                                              
78

 The CSRC required the 2006 annual reports to be still prepared under the old accounting standards, and listed 
companies began to adopt the new accounting standards when preparing the first quarter reports of 2007. Thus the 
accounting numbers of 2006 prepared under IFRS are reported in the 2007 annual report. 
79

 Appendix 5.2 reports the univariate test on median consensus forecast error for the A-share sample. The results 
are qualitatively the same as Table 5.3 and show that the forecast error increased significantly in the post-reform 
period. 
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period. These results are consistent with the findings of Heflin et al. (2003) and Bailey et al. 

(2003). 

Table 5.3 
Pre-reform and Post-reform Forecast Accuracy Indicators for the A-share Samplea 

 
CSMAR datab 

 
I/B/E/S data 

 
Mean_FEc FD 

 
Mean_FE FD 

Column (1) (2)  (3) (4) 
Mean 

Overall 0.022 0.014  0.021 0.011 

Pre-reform 0.017 0.011  0.016 0.006 

Post-reform 0.026 0.016  0.025 0.013 

Difference 0.009 0.005  0.009 0.007 

p-valuec 0.000*** 0.012***  0.000*** 0.000*** 

Median 

Overall 0.009 0.007  0.011 0.005 

Pre-reform 0.007 0.005  0.010 0.003 

Post-reform 0.010 0.008  0.013 0.006 

Difference 0.004 0.004  0.003 0.004 

p-valued 0.000*** 0.000***  0.000*** 0.000*** 

No. of Analysts 2,196 1,662  1,242 850 
a 

Pre-reform period is from 01/01/2005 to 31/12/2006, and post-reform period is from 01/01/2007 to 31/12/2008. 
Mean_FE=mean consensus forecast error, the absolute difference between mean consensus EPS forecasts for a 
company and its actual EPS, scaled by the 2006 yearend stock price;  FD=forecast dispersion, the standard deviation of 
EPS forecasts for a company, scaled by the 2006 yearend stock price. 
b 

CSMAR data are forecast data obtained from CSMAR; I/B/E/S data are forecast data obtained from I/B/E/S. 
c 
P-values are two-sided. P-values for means are from t-tests of the difference between the pre- and post-reform 

means. For medians, p-values are from Wilcoxon two-sample tests. ***, ** and * indicate significant at or better than 
the 1%, 5% and 10% two-sided levels, respectively. 
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5.5.2 Multivariate test results 

In this section, I examine analysts’ forecast accuracy by controlling for factors other than 

the 2007 reforms that may affect analysts’ forecast accuracy. 

The continuous variables in the multivariate model are winsorised at 99th percentiles of 

the distributions of their absolute values so as to reduce the possible influence of extreme 

observations. Variables      ,       ,        ,          ,         and          are also 

normalized by employing a log transformation. 

Petersen (2009) argues that when dealing with financial panel data, the correlation within 

clusters may bias the estimation of OLS standard error and thus either over or underestimate the 

true variability of the coefficient estimates. Generally, two standard clusters are fixed company 

effects and time effects. The fixed company effects are due to the autocorrelation of persistent 

dependent variables within a company over time. The time effects are the residual correlation of 

persistent dependent variables across companies for a given time period. To solve this problem, 

Cameron et al. (2006) and Thompson (2011) derive an estimator for standard errors with 

clustering along multiple dimensions. In this study, I employ this approach to adjust the standard 

errors for residual correlation, namely, within companies over time and across companies in each 

time period. 

5.5.2.1 The responses of local financial analysts to the 2007 reforms 

Table 5.4 reports the distributional statistics and correlation coefficients of control 

variables in equation 5.1 for the CSMAR data. Panel A on Table 5.4 shows the descriptive 

statistics. The average forecast time horizon (     ) is 192 days and, on average, each company 

was followed by more than 5 analysts. The average total assets of a company (       ) is around 

RMB 7 billion, the financial leverage ratio (         ) is 0.09, and the book-to-market ratio 

(       ) is 0.43.  In terms of the earnings, 32 percent of companies on average reported losses 
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(       ). The absolute difference in EPSs between the current and previous year (        ) 

scaled by the share price is 0.03, and 40 percent of companies experienced earnings drop in the 

sample period (        ). A comparison of the difference between the pre-reform variables and 

their post-reform counterparts shows that most of the control variables, with the exception of 

          and        , have experienced significant changes during the sample period. These 

results may suggest that any changes in local analysts’ forecast accuracy can be partially 

explained by changes in these variables. 

Panel B of Table 5.4 reports the correlation matrix. The correlation between       and 

        is -0.49 and the coefficient between        and       is -0.26. Most of the correlation 

coefficients between the control variables are modest, except the correlation between         

and          (0.75) and the correlation between         and       (0.24).80 However, in 

regression results, variance inflation factors (not tabulated) are less than 2.5, suggesting no 

multicollinearity issues. 

Table 5.5 presents the regression results when the dependent variable is mean consensus 

forecast error (            for the A-share sample by using CSMAR data. Panel A of Table 5.5 

shows the regression results of equation 5.1, in which the dummy variable       is used as post-

reform indicator, and Panel B shows the regression results of equation 5.2, in which three year 

dummies are used to capture time-specific effects. 

Panel A of Table 5.5 shows that the       coefficient is positive and significant at the 1% 

level, suggesting that the local financial analysts’ forecast error has significantly increased after 

the 2007 reforms, even after controlling for other factors that potentially affect forecast accuracy.   

                                                           
80

 Hung et al. (2008) posit that this positive coefficient between       and         can be explained by both the 

government’s plan to showcase prominent Chinese state owned enterprises and the relatively lower listing cost for 
larger firms. 
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Table 5.4 
Statistical Distribution of Variables for the A-share Sample (CSMAR data)

a 

Panel A: Descriptive Summary 

 TD NAF TA(million) LEVG BM LOSS ABSUE NEGUE DUAL 

Mean 

Overall 192.76 5.63 6982.57 0.09 0.43 0.32 0.03 0.40 0.12 

Pre-reform 215.84 4.41 6075.00 0.09 0.58 0.28 0.02 0.36 0.13 

Post-reform 174.83 6.57 7687.48 0.09 0.31 0.35 0.04 0.42 0.11 

p-value
b 

0.00*** 0.00*** 0.16 0.56 0.00*** 0.00*** 0.00*** 0.01** 0.25 

Median 

Overall 192.83 4.00 2854.89 0.05 0.38 0.00 0.01 0.00 0.00 

Pre-reform 218.45 3.00 2575.24 0.05 0.54 0.00 0.01 0.00 0.00 

Post-reform 170.22 4.00 3114.63 0.05 0.25 0.00 0.02 0.00 0.00 

p-value 0.00*** 0.00*** 0.00*** 0.72 0.00*** 0.00*** 0.00*** 0.01** 0.25 

Standard Deviation 

Overall 79.30 5.81 27574.30 0.11 0.27 0.47 0.08 0.49 0.32 

Pre-reform 76.98 3.97 24598.54 0.11 0.26 0.45 0.05 0.48 0.33 

Post-reform 76.41 6.77 29671.16 0.11 0.22 0.48 0.09 0.49 0.31 

Panel B: Pearson Correlation 

 TD NAF TA(million) LEVG BM LOSS ABSUE NEGUE DUAL 

POST -0.26 0.18 0.03 0.01 -0.49 0.08 0.11 0.06 -0.02 

TD  0.04 -0.02 -0.02 0.05 0.20 -0.01 0.20 0.03 

NAF   0.02 -0.01 -0.19 0.07 0.03 0.09 -0.02 

TA(million)    0.12 0.00 0.04 0.02 0.03 0.24 

LEVG     0.04 0.01 0.05 0.02 0.04 

BM      -0.09 -0.05 -0.13 -0.01 

LOSS       0.11 0.75 0.02 

ABSUE        0.07 0.01 

NEGUE         0.01 
a 

Variable definitions:      =time horizon of forecast;       =the number of analysts following share i in year y;         = total 

assets of share i at the end of year y-1;           = the leverage ratio of share i at the end of year y-1, calculated as (long-term 

debt + debt within one year)/total assets;         = the book-to-market ratio of share i at the end of year y-1;         = 1 if share 

i reported losses in year y, and zero otherwise;          = the absolute difference in share i’s EPS between year y and the 

previous year, scaled by its 2006 year-end share price;           = 1 if share i’s EPS in year y is lower than in the previous year, 

and zero otherwise;       = 1 if share i is cross-listed, and zero otherwise. 
b 

P-values are two-sided. P-values for means are from t-tests of the difference between the pre- and post-reform means. For 
medians, p-values are from Wilcoxon two-sample tests. ***, ** and * indicate significant at or better than the 1%, 5% and 10% 
two-sided levels, respectively. 
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This result rejects my hypothesis H1 and suggests that the 2007 reforms have significant 

negative effects on earnings forecast accuracy by local financial analysts. That is, their forecast 

error and forecast dispersion significantly increased after the 2007 reforms after controlling for 

other factors. 

Panel B of Table 5.5 indicates that after controlling for other variables that may affect the 

forecast accuracy, the forecast error is higher in years 2007 and 2008, with the coefficient on the 

dummy variable for the year 2008 significantly positive at the 1% level. This is consistent with my 

findings on the information asymmetry for listed companies. These results, which are reported in 

the next chapter, indicate that the level of information asymmetry increased after the reforms, 

suggesting less information was available in the stock market. 

The coefficient on       is positive and significant at the 1% level or better, consistent 

with my prediction that the longer the forecast time horizon, the less accurate the analysts’ 

forecasts. Consistent with predication, the coefficients on        ,         , and          are 

all positive and significant at the 1% level, and suggest that the forecast error is higher for 

companies with greater earnings surprise and greater uncertainty. This is consistent with Lang 

and Lundholm (1996) and Lang et al. (2003). The coefficients on           are both significant at 

10% or better, suggesting that the level of financial leverage negatively affects analysts’ forecast 

accuracy, consistent with Eddy and Seifert (1992) and Firth and Smith (1992). The coefficients of 

other control variables are not significant.81

                                                           
81

 Appendix 5.3 presents the regression results on median consensus forecast error (            ) for the A-share 

sample, using the CSMAR data. Panel A shows the regression results of equation 5.1, in which the dummy variable 
      is used as post-reform indicator; Panel B shows the regression results of equation 5.2, in which three year 
dummies are used to capture time-specific effects. The results in Appendix 5.3 are qualitatively the same as those 
shown in Table 5.5. The       coefficient is still positive and significant, and for equation 5.2, the       coefficient 
is negative and the coefficients on       and       are positive. However, only the coefficient on       is 
significant. 
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Table 5.5 
Regression Results when the Dependent Variable is Mean Forecast Error for the A-share Sample (CSMAR data)

a
 

Panel A: Regression on dummy POST (equation 1) 
                                                                                                                      

           ∑                         

Variable Intercept POST TD NAF Ln(TA) LEVG BM LOSS ABSUE 

Expected Sign 
 

? +ve -ve -ve +ve -ve +ve +ve 

Coefficient 
-0.073*** 

(-4.68) 
0.004*** 

(2.84) 
0.012*** 
(11.24) 

-0.000 
(-0.43) 

0.000 
(0.53) 

0.013* 
(1.82) 

0.000 
(0.13) 

0.009*** 
(5.19) 

0.419*** 
(33.78) 

Variable NEGUE DUAL FSCHG 
INDUSTRY 
DUMMIES 

Adj. R
2 

F-test 
No. of 

Observations   

Expected Sign +ve -ve +ve 
Not reported 

     

Coefficient 
0.007*** 

(4.08) 
-0.002 
(-0.83) 

-0.000 
(-0.28) 

0.47 59.13 2,196 
  

Panle B: Regression on year dummies (equation 2) 
                                                                                                                               

                    ∑                         

Variable Intercept 2006 2007 2008 TD NAF Ln(TA) LEVG BM 

Expected Sign 
 

? ? ? +ve -ve -ve +ve -ve 

Coefficient 
-0.065*** 

(-4.00) 
-0.002 
(-1.05) 

0.002 
(1.20) 

0.006*** 
(2.86) 

0.012*** 
(10.66) 

-0.000 
(-0.61) 

0.000 
(0.24) 

0.014*** 
(1.95) 

0.001 
(1.22) 

Variable LOSS ABSUE NEGUE DUAL FSCHG 
INDUSTRY 
DUMMIES 

Adj. R
2 

F-test 
No. of 

Observations 

Expected Sign +ve +ve +ve -ve +ve 
Not reported 

   

Coefficient 
0.009*** 

(4.88) 
0.417*** 
(33.49) 

0.007*** 
(3.84) 

-0.001 
(-0.73) 

-0.000 
(-0.13) 

0.47 55.85 2,196 

a Variable definitions:            = mean consensus forecast error, the absolute difference between mean consensus EPS forecasts for a company and its actual EPS, scaled by the 2006 yearend share price;       

= the indicator of the 2007 reforms, equal 1 if the observation is from the period 1/1/2007-31/12/2008 and zero if the observation is from the period 1/1/2005-31/12/2006;      ,      , and       = year 
dummies, equal to 1 if the observation is from the year 2006, 2007, or 2008, respectively.       = time horizon of forecast;        = the number of analysts following share i in year y;             = natural 

logarithm of total assets of share i at the end of year y-1;           = the leverage ratio of share i at the end of year y-1, calculated as (long-term debt + debt within one year)/total assets;         = the book-to-

market ratio of share i at the end of year y-1;         = 1 if share i reported losses in year y, and zero otherwise;          = the absolute difference in share i’s EPS between year y and the previous year, scaled by 

its 2006 year-end share price;           = 1 if share i’s EPS in year y is higher than in the previous year, and zero otherwise;       = 1 if the company issuing share i is cross-listed, and zero otherwise.        = 

the indicator of new GAAP effects, equal to 1 if the accounting numbers of share i were highly affected by the new GAAP, and zero otherwise. 
b Numbers in parentheses are t statistic values, t-tests are conducted by using cluster-robust standard errors. ***, ** and * indicate significant at or better than the 1%, 5% and 10% two-sided levels, respectively. 
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Table 5.6 presents the Regression Results when the Dependent Variable is forecast 

dispersion (     ), using the CSMAR data. Panel A shows the regression results of equation 5.1, in 

which the dummy variable       is used as the post-reform indicator, and Panel B shows the 

regression results of equation 5.2, in which three year dummies are used to capture time-specific 

effects. The        coefficient is positive and significant, consistent with the univariate test 

results. This result indicates that after the reforms, analysts’ forecast dispersion increased. The 

results in Panel B of Table 5.6 show that the coefficient on        is negative and significant at 

the 5% level. The coefficient on       is positive and significant at the 1% level. The magnitudes 

of coefficients of year dummies indicate that the forecast dispersion dropped in year 2006, but 

then increased from 2007 to 2008. 

 The coefficients on      ,         , and          are similar to those reported in Table 

5.5, suggesting that the forecast time horizon, earnings surprise, as well as financial leverage all 

impact on analysts’ forecasts. The negative coefficient on        ,       ,       are consistent 

with my predictions. However, the coefficients on and Ln(         are positive and opposite to 

the predicted signs. 

In summary, the results reposted in Tables 5.5-5.6 indicate that the local financial analysts’ 

forecast accuracy was lower in the post-reform period, suggesting that the 2007 reforms 

impacted negatively on local analysts’ forecast ability. These results reject hypothesis H1, and 

demonstrate that the 2007 reforms significantly impaired local financial analysts’ forecast 

accuracy. Furthermore, if we examine the forecast accuracy year by year during the period 2005-

2008, the results show that the forecast accuracy significantly declined for the year 2008. 
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Table 5.6 
Regression Results when the Dependent Variable is Forecast Dispersion for the A-share Sample (CSMAR data)

a
 

Panel A: Regression on dummy POST (equation 1) 
                                                                                                                 

            ∑                       

Variable Intercept POST TD NAF Ln(TA) LEVG BM LOSS ABSUE 

Expected Sign 
 

? +ve -ve -ve +ve -ve +ve +ve 

Coefficient 
-0.060*** 

(-6.32) 
0.004*** 

(4.04) 
0.006*** 

(7.32) 
0.001** 

(2.01) 
0.002*** 

(3.40) 
0.003 
(0.66) 

-0.001** 
(-2.54) 

0.000 
(0.31) 

0.184*** 
(22.90) 

Variable NEGUE DUAL FSCHG 
INDSUTRY 
DUMMIES 

Adj. R
2 

F-test 
No. of 

Observations   

Expected Sign +ve -ve +ve  
     

Coefficient 
0.004*** 

(4.21) 
-0.003*** 

(-3.29) 
0.000 
(0.26) 

Not reported 0.39 34.76 1,662 
  

Panle B: Regression on year dummies (equation 2) 
                                                                                                                          

                     ∑                        

Variable Intercept 2006 2007 2008 TD NAF Ln(TA) LEVG BM 

Expected Sign 
 

? ? ? +ve -ve -ve +ve -ve 

Coefficient 
-0.047*** 

(-4.74) 
-0.002 
(-1.59) 

0.001 
(0.99) 

0.006*** 
(5.28) 

0.005*** 
(5.82) 

0.001 
(1.55) 

0.001*** 
(2.86) 

0.003 
(0.86) 

0.000 
(0.31) 

Variable LOSS ABSUE NEGUE DUAL FSCHG 
INDUSTRY 
DUMMIES 

Adj. R
2 

F-test 
No. of 

Observations 

Expected Sign +ve +ve +ve -ve +ve  
   

Coefficient 
-0.000 
(-0.29) 

0.180*** 
(22.46) 

0.004*** 
(3.64) 

-0.003*** 
(-3.08) 

0.000 
(0.54) 

Not reported 0.40 33.78 1,662 

a Variable definitions:       = forecast dispersion, the standard deviation of EPS forecasts for share i in year y, scaled by the 2006 yearend shre price;       = the indicator of the 2007 reforms, equal 1 if the 

observation is from the period 1/1/2007-31/12/2008 and zero if the observation is from the period 1/1/2005-31/12/2006;      ,      , and       = year dummies, equal to 1 if the observation is from the year 
2006, 2007, or 2008, respectively.       = time horizon of forecast;        = the number of analysts following share i in year y;             = natural logarithm of total assets of share i at the end of year y-1; 

          = the leverage ratio of share i at the end of year y-1, calculated as (long-term debt + debt within one year)/total assets;         = the book-to-market ratio of share i at the end of year y-1;         = 1 if 

share i reported losses in year y, and zero otherwise;          = the absolute difference in share i’s EPS between year y and the previous year, scaled by its 2006 year-end share price;           = 1 if share i’s EPS 

in year y is higher than in the previous year, and zero otherwise;       = 1 if the company issuing share i is cross-listed, and zero otherwise.        = the indicator of new GAAP effects, equal to 1 if the 
accounting numbers of share i were highly affected by the new GAAP, and zero otherwise. 
b Numbers in parentheses are t statistic values, t-tests are conducted by using cluster-robust standard error. ***, ** and * indicate significant at or better than the 1%, 5% and 10% two-sided levels, respectively. 
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5.5.2.2 The responses of foreign financial analysts to the 2007 reforms 

Foreign analysts’ EPS forecasts obtained from I/B/E/S are also examined in this study for 

the purpose of comparison and robustness checks. 

Table 5.7 reports the distributional statistics and correlation coefficients of control 

variables in equation 5.1 for I/B/E/S data. Panel A of Table 5.7 shows the descriptive statistics. 

The relative changes between the pre-reform variables and their post-reform counterparts 

shown in Table 5.7 are qualitatively similar to those shown in Table 5.4, but it is notable that the 

difference between pre-reform       and its post-reform counterpart is not significant, whereas 

the difference is significant for the CSMAR data (reported in Table 5.4). 

Panel B reports the correlation matrix. The correlation between       and         is -

0.52 and the coefficient between       and        is 0.24. Most of the control variables are 

modestly correlated with each other, except for the correlation between         and          

(0.73) and the correlation between         and       (0.34). Variance inflation factors (not 

tabulated) are less than 5, suggesting that multicollinearity is not an issue. 

Table 5.8 presents the regression results when the dependent variable is mean consensus 

forecast error, which is measured using data obtained from I/B/E/S. Panel A shows the regression 

results of equation 5.1, in which the dummy variable       is used as post-reform indicator, and 

Panel B shows the regression results of equation 5.2, in which three year dummies are used to 

capture time-specific effects. The       coefficient for equation 5.1 is negative but not 

significant after controlling for other variables that may contribute to the change of forecast 

accuracy, suggesting that foreign financial analysts’ abilities to forecast earnings were not 

significantly affected by the 2007 reforms. This is also supported by the results shown in Panel B 

of Table 5.8. The coefficients on year dummies are all not significant, suggesting only small 
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changes in the level of forecast accuracy in years 2006-2008, based on a comparison with the 

forecast accuracy in year 2005. 

Table 5.7 
Statistical Distribution of Variables for the A-share Sample (I/B/E/S Data)

a 

Panel A: Descriptive Summary 

 TD NAF TA(million) LEVG BM LOSS ABSUE NEGUE DUAL 

Mean 

Overall 163.00 3.37 9095.16 0.10 0.39 0.30 0.03 0.40 0.07 

Pre-reform 160.88 2.42 8085.40 0.10 0.57 0.23 0.02 0.34 0.09 

Post-reform 164.20 3.91 9666.89 0.09 0.29 0.34 0.04 0.43 0.07 

p-value
b 

0.50 0.00*** 0.40 0.38 0.00*** 0.00*** 0.00*** 0.00*** 0.23 

Median 

Overall 157.42 2.00 3562.04 0.05 0.33 0.00 0.01 0.00 0.00 

Pre-reform 159.05 2.00 3251.92 0.06 0.53 0.00 0.01 0.00 0.00 

Post-reform 157.00 3.00 3760.56 0.05 0.23 0.00 0.02 0.00 0.00 

p-value 0.40 0.00*** 0.02** 0.44 0.00*** 0.00*** 0.00*** 0.00*** 0.21 

Standard Deviation 

Overall 79.41 2.95 33763.12 0.11 0.26 0.46 0.05 0.49 0.26 

Pre-reform 86.53 2.06 28297.43 0.12 0.25 0.42 0.03 0.48 0.28 

Post-reform 75.11 3.23 36501.44 0.11 0.20 0.47 0.06 0.50 0.25 

Panel B: Pearson Correlation 

 TD NAF TA(million) LEVG BM LOSS ABSUE NEGUE DUAL 

POST 0.02 0.24 0.02 -0.02 -0.52 0.12 0.18 0.08 -0.04 

TD  -0.05 -0.02 0.02 0.03 -0.04 -0.01 -0.04 0.04 

NAF   0.04 0.02 -0.15 0.08 0.04 0.11 -0.01 

TA(million)    0.12 0.02 0.06 0.06 0.03 0.34 

LEVG     0.09 0.02 0.10 0.03 0.07 

BM      -0.14 -0.06 -0.16 0.04 

LOSS       0.17 0.73 0.07 

ABSUE        0.10 0.09 

NEGUE         0.01 
a 

Variable definitions:       = time horizon of forecast;        = the number of analysts following share i in year y; 

        = total assets of share i at the end of year y-1;           = the leverage ratio of share i at the end of year y-1, 

calculated as (long-term debt + debt within one year)/total assets;         = the book-to-market ratio of share i at the 

end of year y-1;         = 1 if share i reported losses in year y, and zero otherwise;          = the absolute difference 

in share i’s EPS between year y and the previous year, scaled by its 2006 year-end share price;           = 1 if share i’s 

EPS in year y is higher than in the previous year, and zero otherwise;       = 1 if the company issuing share i is cross-
listed, and zero otherwise. 
b 

P-values are two-sided. P-values for means are from t-tests of the difference between the pre- and post-reform means. 
For medians, p-values are from Wilcoxon two-sample tests. ***, ** and * indicate significant at or better than the 1%, 
5% and 10% two-sided levels, respectively. 
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Table 5.8 
Regression Results when the Dependent Variable is Mean Forecast Error for the A-share Sample (IBES data)

a
 

Panel A: Regression on dummy POST (equation 1) 
                                                                                                                      

           ∑                         

Variable Intercept POST TD NAF Ln(TA) LEVG BM LOSS ABSUE 

Expected Sign 
 

? +ve -ve -ve +ve -ve +ve +ve 

Coefficient 
-0.017 
(-0.98) 

-0.001 
(-0.66) 

0.004*** 
(4.70) 

0.001* 
(1.72) 

0.000 
(0.02) 

0.016** 
(2.10) 

-0.002 
(-1.60) 

0.006*** 
(2.92) 

0.393*** 
(22.40) 

Variable NEGUE DUAL FSCHG 
INDUSTRY 
DUMMIES 

Adj. R
2 

F-test 
No. of 

Observations   

Expected Sign +ve -ve +ve 
Not reported 

     

Coefficient 
-0.003* 
(-1.70) 

-0.004 
(-1.57) 

-0.001 
(-0.39) 

0.39 24.50 1,241 
  

Panle B: Regression on year dummies (equation 2) 
                                                                                                                               

                    ∑                         

Variable Intercept 2006 2007 2008 TD NAF Ln(TA) LEVG BM 

Expected Sign 
 

? ? ? +ve -ve -ve +ve -ve 

Coefficient 
-0.011 
(-0.64) 

-0.001 
(-0.47) 

0.002 
(1.06) 

0.001 
(0.37) 

0.005*** 
(4.86) 

0.001 
(1.49) 

-0.000 
(-0.26) 

0.017** 
(2.19) 

-0.005 
(-0.39) 

Variable LOSS ABSUE NEGUE DUAL FSCHG 
INDUSTRY 
DUMMIES 

Adj. R
2 

F-test 
No. of 

Observations 

Expected Sign +ve +ve +ve -ve +ve 
Not reported 

   

Coefficient 
0.005*** 

(2.67) 
0.389*** 
(22.01) 

-0.004* 
(-1.93) 

-0.004 
(-1.49) 

-0.000 
(-0.27) 

0.39 23.14 1,241 

a Variable definitions:            = mean consensus forecast error, the absolute difference between mean consensus EPS forecasts for a company and its actual EPS, scaled by the 2006 yearend share price;       

= the indicator of the 2007 reforms, equal 1 if the observation is from the period 1/1/2007-31/12/2008 and zero if the observation is from the period 1/1/2005-31/12/2006;      ,      , and       = year 
dummies, equal to 1 if the observation is from the year 2006, 2007, or 2008, respectively.       = time horizon of forecast;        = the number of analysts following share i in year y;             = natural 

logarithm of total assets of share i at the end of year y-1;           = the leverage ratio of share i at the end of year y-1, calculated as (long-term debt + debt within one year)/total assets;         = the book-to-

market ratio of share i at the end of year y-1;         = 1 if share i reported losses in year y, and zero otherwise;          = the absolute difference in share i’s EPS between year y and the previous year, scaled by 

its 2006 year-end share price;           = 1 if share i’s EPS in year y is higher than in the previous year, and zero otherwise;       = 1 if the company issuing share i is cross-listed, and zero otherwise.        = 

the indicator of new GAAP effects, equal to 1 if the accounting numbers of share i were highly affected by the new GAAP, and zero otherwise. 
b Numbers in parentheses are t statistic values, t-tests are conducted by using cluster-robust standard errors. ***, ** and * indicate significant at or better than the 1%, 5% and 10% two-sided levels, respectively. 
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The coefficients on      ,          ,         and          are positive and significant at 

the 5% level or better, consistent with my prior expectations that analysts’ forecast accuracy is 

heavily affected by earnings surprise and higher financial leverage negatively affects the forecast 

accuracy. However, the coefficient on          is negative and significant at 10% level, contrary 

to my expectation. The coefficient on        is positive and significant at the 10% level, contrary 

to my expectation. The coefficients of other control variables are not significant.82 

Table 5.9 presents the regression results when the dependent variable is forecast 

dispersion, using the I/B/E/S data. The results are consistent with the regression results when the 

dependent variable is forecast error as shown in Table 5.8. After controlling for other variables 

that may affect the level of forecast accuracy, the coefficient on       in equation 5.1 is 

significant at 10% level and the coefficients of year dummies in equation 5.2 are not significant, 

with the exception of the coefficient on      , which is positive and significant at the 1% level. 

The positive and significant coefficient on       may reflect the impact of the financial crisis that 

increased analysts’ forecast dispersion of earnings’ estimates. Overall, these results suggest that 

the impacts of the 2007 reforms on the foreign analysts’ forecast dispersion of earnings were not 

significant. 

The coefficients on      and           are positive and significant, consistent with my 

prior expectations.  The positive and significant coefficients on         and          are also 

consistent with my expectations, suggesting the negative effects of earnings surprise on analysts’ 

forecast accuracy. The coefficient on         in equation 5.1 is positive and significant at 1% 

                                                           
82

 Appendix 5.4 presents the regression results on median consensus forecast error, measured by using data 
obtained from I/B/E/S. The results are qualitatively similar to the regression results on mean consensus forecast 
error. After controlling other variables, the coefficient on       in equation 5.1 and the coefficients on year 
dummies in equation 5.2 are all not significant, suggesting no impact of the reform on foreign analysts’ forecast 
accuracy of earnings. The coefficients of         and          are still positive and significant, and the coefficients 

of NEGUE are negative and significant. The coefficients of       and              in equation 5.1 are still 
negative, indicating the effects of IFRS in improving the quality of financial information. 
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level, suggesting hign book-market ratio is negatively related with the forecast dispersion. The 

coefficient on        in equation 5.2 is positive and significant at 10% level, consistent with my 

expectations that the changes in the accounting standards affected the forecast dispersion. 

Contrary to my expectation, the coefficient on        and             in equation 5.1 is 

positive and significant. The coefficients on other control variables are not significant. 

In summary, the results of the multivariate regressions on I/B/E/S forecast error and 

dispersion indicate that foreign financial analysts were not significantly affected by the 2007 

reforms. 

Overall, the results are consistent with prior research. Brown et al. (1999) examine the 

enhanced disclosure reform in Australia in 1993, and their results show that analyst forecast 

error and dispersion were not reduced by the reform. Heflin et al. (2003) study the market 

reaction to earnings announcements and the accuracy and dispersion of analyst forecasts. They 

find no changes in analysts’ earnings forecast errors or dispersion in the post-reform period. 

Shane et al. (2001) also report that the accuracy of analysts’ forecasts made at the end of the 

quarter after Reg FD were similar to the pre-Reg FD level of accuracy, even though forecasts 

made at the beginning of the quarter were less accurate after Reg FD. Huang et al. (2009) study 

the 2002 emendations to the listing rules of the New Zealand Exchange and the reform of the 

Securities Market Act 1988. Their results show that forecast accuracy did not improve but that 

the dispersion of forecasts declined.
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Table 5.9 
Regression Results when the Dependent Variable is Forecast Dispersion for the A-share Sample (IBES data)

a
 

Panel A: Regression on dummy POST (equation 1) 
                                                                                                                 

            ∑                        

Variable Intercept POST TD NAF Ln(TA) LEVG BM LOSS ABSUE 

Expected Sign 
 

? +ve -ve -ve +ve -ve +ve +ve 

Coefficient 
-0.038*** 

(-3.10) 
0.002* 
(1.74) 

0.002** 
(2.03) 

0.001** 
(2.00) 

0.001*** 
(2.24) 

0.010* 
(1.94) 

-0.003*** 
(-3.76) 

0.003** 
(2.34) 

0.171*** 
(16.03) 

Variable NEGUE DUAL FSCHG 
INDSUTRY 
DUMMIES 

Adj. R
2 

F-test 
No. of 

Observations   

Expected Sign +ve -ve +ve  
     

Coefficient 
-0.000 
(-0.09) 

-0.001 
(-0.57) 

0.001 
(1.36) 

Not reported 0.41 17.73 849 
  

Panle B: Regression on year dummies (equation 2) 
                                                                                                                          

                    ∑                         

Variable Intercept 2006 2007 2008 TD NAF Ln(TA) LEVG BM 

Expected Sign 
 

? ? ? +ve -ve -ve +ve -ve 

Coefficient 
-0.030** 

(-2.46) 
0.000 
(0.05) 

0.001 
(0.49) 

0.007*** 
(4.05) 

0.003*** 
(2.80) 

0.001 
(1.27) 

0.001 
(1.47) 

0.011** 
(2.12) 

-0.000 
(-0.34) 

Variable LOSS ABSUE NEGUE DUAL FSCHG 
INDUSTRY 
DUMMIES 

Adj. R
2 

F-test 
No. of 

Observations 

Expected Sign +ve +ve +ve -ve +ve  
   

Coefficient 
0.002* 
(1.90) 

0.161*** 
(15.08) 

-0.001 
(-0.91) 

-0.000 
(-0.30) 

0.002* 
(1.89) 

Not reported 0.43 17.87 849 

a Variable definitions:       = forecast dispersion, the standard deviation of EPS forecasts for share i in year y, scaled by the 2006 yearend shre price;       = the indicator of the 2007 reforms, equal 1 if the 

observation is from the period 1/1/2007-31/12/2008 and zero if the observation is from the period 1/1/2005-31/12/2006;      ,      , and       = year dummies, equal to 1 if the observation is from the year 
2006, 2007, or 2008, respectively.       = time horizon of forecast;        = the number of analysts following share i in year y;             = natural logarithm of total assets of share i at the end of year y-1; 

          = the leverage ratio of share i at the end of year y-1, calculated as (long-term debt + debt within one year)/total assets;         = the book-to-market ratio of share i at the end of year y-1;         = 1 if 

share i reported losses in year y, and zero otherwise;          = the absolute difference in share i’s EPS between year y and the previous year, scaled by its 2006 year-end share price;           = 1 if share i’s EPS 

in year y is higher than in the previous year, and zero otherwise;       = 1 if the company issuing share i is cross-listed, and zero otherwise.        = the indicator of new GAAP effects, equal to 1 if the 
accounting numbers of share i were highly affected by the new GAAP, and zero otherwise. 
b Numbers in parentheses are t statistic values, t-tests are conducted by using cluster-robust standard error. ***, ** and * indicate significant at or better than the 1%, 5% and 10% two-sided levels, respectively. 
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A comparison of forecast accuracy between local and foreign analysts suggests that the 

two groups of analysts were differentially impacted by the 2007 reforms. After the reforms, the 

local analysts had diminished forecast ability, but foreign analysts had only unchanged forecast 

ability. This may be attributed to the “fair disclosure” requirements introduced in the 2007 

reforms. Before the reforms, local analysts could access private information directly from 

companies and, hence, their forecasts may reflect their privately obtained information. After the 

2007 reforms, with the introduction of the “fair disclosure” rule, local analysts’ ability to obtain 

private information significantly reduced and their earnings forecast accuracy was impaired. In 

contrast, as foreign analysts were less easily able to access private information before the 

reforms, their ability to forecast earnings was not affected by the 2007 reforms. 

5.6 Robustness tests 

5.6.1 Matched samples of CSMAR and I/B/E/S data 

I conduct a robustness test to rule out the possibility that the difference in the changes of 

earnings forecast ability between local and foreign analysts is only because CSMAR data and 

I/B/E/S data contain different companies. Therefore, two sub-samples are created, each from 

CSMAR data and I/B/E/S data. I require the two sub-samples to contain same company-year 

observations so as to avoid company bias. Table 5.10 shows the results of multivariate 

regressions for the two sub-samples.83 Columns 1-2 are for the CSMAR sample and columns 3-4 

are for the I/B/E/S sample. The results are qualitatively the same as those reported in Tables 5.5, 

5.6, 5.8, and 5.9. The coefficients on       for the CSMAR sample are positive and significant at 

the 1% level, indicating that the earnings forecasts by local analysts are significantly negatively 

impacted by the reforms. In contrast, the coefficients on       for the I/B/E/S sample are not 

significant, suggesting no significant changes in forecast accuracy after the reforms.

                                                           
83

 Appendix 5.5 reports the regression results with median consensus forecast error as dependent variable for the 
two sub-samples. The results are qualitatively the same as Table 5.11. 
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Table 5.10 
Regression Results when the Dependent Variable is Forecast Error/Dispersion for the A-share Sample for the 

Match Samples of CSMAR and I/B/E/S
a,b

 

                   

                                                                             

                                          ∑                        

  CSMAR data  I/B/E/S data 

  Mean_FE FD  Mean_FE FD 

Column  (1) (2)  (3) (4) 

Intercept 
 -0.092*** 

(-5.35)
c 

-0.066*** 
(-4.64)

c  
-0.027 
(-1.55) 

-0.037*** 
(-3.02) 

POST ? 
0.003** 
(1.93) 

0.003*** 
(2.60) 

 
-0.002 
(-1.01) 

0.001 
(1.09) 

TD +ve 
0.013*** 

(8.68) 
0.009*** 

(6.46) 
 

0.005*** 
(4.81) 

0.001* 
(1.76) 

NAF -ve 
0.001 
(1.19) 

0.000 
(1.11) 

 
0.002* 
(1.88) 

0.001* 
(1.96) 

Ln(TA) -ve 
0.001 
(1.47) 

0.001 
(1.18) 

 
0.000 
(0.43) 

0.001** 
(2.18) 

LEVG +ve 
0.014*** 

(2.00) 
0.005*** 

(0.82) 
 

0.017** 
(2.18) 

0.010* 
(1.90) 

BM -ve 
-0.003** 
(-2.67) 

-0.002*** 
(-2.85) 

 
-0.002* 
(-1.92) 

-0.003*** 
(-4.33) 

LOSS +ve 
0.008*** 

(4.61) 
-0.000 
(-0.06) 

 
0.005*** 

(2.75) 
0.002* 
(1.92) 

ABSUE +ve 
0.394*** 
(24.44) 

0.263*** 
(20.99) 

 
0.394*** 
(22.84) 

0.191*** 
(16.92) 

NEGUE +ve 
0.005*** 

(2.92) 
0.004*** 

(3.04) 
 

-0.004* 
(-1.96) 

0.000 
(0.04) 

DUAL -ve 
-0.001 
(-0.62) 

-0.003 
(-1.64) 

 
-0.004* 
(-1.70) 

-0.001 
(-0.34) 

FSCHG +ve 
-0.000 
(-0.28) 

0.001 
(1.28) 

 
-0.001 
(-0.52) 

0.001 
(1.27) 

INDUSTRY DUMMIES NOT REPORTED 

No. of 
Observations 

 1,177 809  1,177 809 

Adj. R
2
  0.53 0.52  0.42 0.43 

F-test  39.88 27.98  25.42 19.69 
a 

The sample companies are contained in both The CSMAR sample and I/B/E/S sample. That is, for certain year y, I have 
forecasts for share i in the CSMAR sample and the I/B/E/S sample. 
b 

Variable definitions:            = mean consensus forecast error, the absolute difference between mean consensus EPS 

forecasts for a company and its actual EPS, scaled by the 2006 yearend share price;       = forecast dispersion, the 

standard deviation of EPS forecasts for share i in year y, scaled by the 2006 yearend share price;       = the indicator of 
the 2007 reforms, equal 1 if the observation is from the period 1/1/2007-31/12/2008 and zero if the observation is from 
the period 1/1/2005-31/12/2006;       = time horizon of forecast;        = the number of analysts following share i in 

year y; Ln(         = natural logarithm of total assets of share i at the end of year y-1;           = the leverage ratio of 

share i at the end of year y-1, calculated as (long-term debt + debt within one year)/total assets;         = the book-to-

market ratio of share i at the end of year y-1;         = 1 if share i reported losses in year y, and zero otherwise;          

= the absolute difference in share i’s EPS between year y and the previous year, scaled by its 2006 year-end share price;  
         = 1 if share i’s EPS in year y is higher than in the previous year, and zero otherwise;       = 1 if the company 

issuing share i is cross-listed, and zero otherwise.        = the indicator of new GAAP effects, equal to 1 if the accounting 
numbers of share i were highly affected by the new GAAP, and zero otherwise. 
c 
Numbers in parentheses are t statistic values, t-tests are conducted by using cluster-robust standard error. ***, ** and * 

indicate significant at or better than the 1%, 5% and 10% two-sided levels, respectively. 
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5.6.2 Restrict the sample period to 2006-2007 

A further robustness test is taken to control for the effects of the global financial crisis 

began in late 2007. I narrow the sample period from 2005-2008 to 2006-2007, only one year 

immediately preceding and after the reforms. The regression results are shown in Table 5.11.84 

Columns 1-2 show the results for CSMAR data and columns 3-4 for I/B/E/S data. For CSMAR data, 

the coefficients on       are still positive and significant, in line with earlier reported results.  

However, for I/B/E/S data, the coefficients on       are positive instead of negative. 

Furthermore, the coefficients on      with forecast dispersion as dependent variable is 

significant at the 5% level, suggesting that if only consider forecast dispersion change during this 

two-year period, the earnings forecast ability of foreign analysts was negatively affected by the 

reforms, albeit less affected compared to local analysts. Barron et al. (1998) suggest that mean 

forecast errors reflect the quality of analysts’ common information, while forecast dispersion 

captures the precision of their private information. The increase in forecast dispersion of both 

local and foreign analysts in the post-reform period implies that it was more difficult for both 

groups of analysts to access private information in the post-reform period than in the post-

reform period, due to the “fair disclosure” rule. 

5.6.3 Different event windows 

I further check the robustness of empirical results by looking at the forecasts made within 

30, 60, 90, 120, and 150 days before the earnings announcements, to examine the consistency of 

the results over time. Tables 5.12-5.13 show the results of regressions.85 In each table, columns 

1-5 show the results for CSMAR data and columns 6-10 show the results for I/B/E/S data. The 

results of this robustness test are consistent with earlier findings. The coefficients on       for 

                                                           
84

 Appendix 5.6 reports the regression results with median consensus forecast error as the dependent variable for 
the period 2006-2007. The results are generally the same as Table 5.11, except that the coefficient on       for the 
I/B/E/S data is positive and significant at the 10% level. 
85

 Appendix 5.7 shows the results of regression with median consensus forecast error as dependent variable. The 
results are qualitatively the same as Table 5.12. 
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CSMAR data are almost all positive and significant. Although the coefficients on       for I/B/E/S 

data are negative and not significant. 

Table 5.11 
Regression Results when the Dependent Variable is Forecast Error/Dispersion for the A-share Sample for Period 2006-2007

a,b
 

                   

                                                                                        

                                ∑                        

  CSMAR data  I/B/E/S data 
  Mean_FE FD  Mean_FE FD 

Column 
Predicted 

sign 

(1) (2)  (3) (4) 

Intercept 
-0.008 
(-0.44)

c 
-0.011 
(-1.09) 

 
0.015 
(0.75) 

-0.005 
(-0.50) 

2007 ? 
0.003** 
(2.23) 

0.004*** 
(4.15) 

 
0.001 
(0.37) 

0.002** 
(2.41) 

TD +ve 
0.005*** 

(3.76) 
0.003*** 

(3.28) 
 

0.001 
(0.98) 

0.002*** 
(2.61) 

NAF -ve 
0.001 
(1.24) 

0.000 
(0.97) 

 
0.001 
(1.09) 

0.001 
(1.64) 

TA -ve 
-0.000 
(-0.61) 

0.000 
(0.89) 

 
-0.001 
(-0.60) 

-0.000 
(-0.61) 

LEVG +ve 
0.003 
(0.38) 

-0.000 
(-0.04) 

 
0.008 
(0.94) 

0.006 
(1.46) 

BM -ve 
0.005*** 

(3.82) 
0.002*** 

(3.53) 
 

0.001 
(0.78) 

0.001* 
(1.85) 

LOSS +ve 
0.011*** 

(4.72) 
0.001 
(0.39) 

 
0.003 
(1.28) 

0.001 
(1.09) 

ABSUE +ve 
0.283*** 
(16.40) 

0.129*** 
(11.51) 

 
0.333*** 
(12.79) 

0.100*** 
(7.88) 

NEGUE +ve 
0.004* 
(1.85) 

0.002* 
(1.65) 

 
-0.003 
(-1.43) 

0.000 
(0.44) 

DUAL -ve 
-0.002 
(-1.02) 

-0.001 
(-1.24) 

 
-0.003 
(-1.11) 

0.002 
(1.28) 

FSCHG +ve 
0.001 
(0.55) 

-0.000 
(-0.08) 

 
-0.001 
(-0.63) 

0.003*** 
(3.88) 

INDUSTRY DUMMIES Not reported 

No. of Observations 1,104 816  672 445 

Adj. R
2
  0.28 0.23  0.30 0.36 

F-test  13.75 7.89  8.74 7.11 
a 

The sample period is narrowed down to 2006-2007, one year immediately preceding and following the 2007 reforms. 
b 

Variable definitions:           =mean consensus forecast error, the absolute difference between mean consensus EPS forecasts 

for share i and its actual EPS, scaled by the 2006 yearend share price;      =forecast dispersion, the standard deviation of EPS 

forecasts for share i in year y, scaled by the 2006 yearend share price;      =the indicator of the 2007 reforms, equal 1 if the 
observation is from the period 1/1/2007-31/12/2007, and zero if the observation is from the period 1/1/2006-31/12/2006; 
     =time horizon of forecast;       =the number of analysts following share i in year y;            =natural logarithm of total 

assets of share i at the end of year y-1;          =the leverage ratio of share i at the end of year y-1, calculated as (long-term debt + 

debt within one year)/total assets;        =the book-to-market ratio of share i at the end of year y-1;        =1 if share i reported 

losses in year y, and zero otherwise;         =the absolute difference in share i’s EPS between year y and the previous year, scaled 

by its 2006 year-end share price;         =1 if share i’s EPS in year y is higher than in the previous year, and zero otherwise; 

     =1 if the company issuing share i is cross-listed, and zero otherwise.       =the indicator of new GAAP effects, equal to 1 if 
the accounting numbers of share i were highly affected by the new GAAP, and zero otherwise. 
c 
Numbers in parentheses are t statistic values, t-tests are conducted by using cluster-robust standard error. ***, ** and * indicate 

significant at or better than the 1%, 5% and 10% two-sided levels, respectively. 
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Table 5.12 
Regression Results when the Dependent Variable is Mean Consensus Forecast Error Made Various Days before the Earnings Announcements for the A-share Sample

a,b 

                                                                                                                                

 ∑                          

  CSMAR data  I/B/E/S data 

Column  (1) (2) (3) (4) (5)  (6) (7) (8) (9) (10) 

  <=30 days <=60 days <=90 days <=120 days <=150 days  <=30 days <=60 days <=90 days <=120 days <=150 days 

Intercept  
-0.008 
(-0.60) 

-0.006 
(-0.47) 

-0.008 
(-0.71) 

-0.013 
(-1.08) 

-0.024** 
(-2.10) 

 
0.015 
(0.66) 

0.020 
(0.98) 

0.008 
(0.44) 

-0.007 
(-0.41) 

-0.012 
(-0.68) 

POST ? 
0.003*** 

(2.03) 
0.002* 
(1.65) 

0.003** 
(2.09) 

0.003*** 
(3.01) 

0.002** 
(2.30) 

 
-0.002 
(-0.64) 

-0.000 
(-0.21) 

-0.001 
(-0.27) 

-0.001 
(-0.45) 

-0.001 
(-0.62) 

TD +ve 
0.001 
(1.52) 

0.001** 
(2.35) 

0.002*** 
(2.91) 

0.002*** 
(3.71) 

0.002*** 
(3.36) 

 
-0.001 
(-0.75) 

0.000 
(0.49) 

0.001 
(0.92) 

0.001* 
(1.68) 

0.001* 
(1.72) 

NAF -ve 
-0.000 
(-0.17) 

0.002** 
(2.32) 

-0.001 
(-1.43) 

-0.001 
(-1.60) 

0.000 
(0.66) 

 
0.005* 
(2.13) 

0.002 
(1.47) 

-0.001 
(-0.96) 

-0.001 
(-1.11) 

0.000 
(0.48) 

Ln(TA) -ve 
0.000 
(0.43) 

0.000 
(0.45) 

0.000 
(0.80) 

0.000 
(0.72) 

0.001 
(1.60) 

 
0.000 
(0.21) 

0.000 
(-0.50) 

-0.000 
(-0.08) 

0.001 
(0.68) 

0.001 
(0.80) 

LEVG +ve 
0.005* 
(0.76) 

0.008 
(1.27) 

0.001 
(0.16) 

0.001 
(0.19) 

0.003 
(0.52) 

 
0.000 
(0.03) 

0.011 
(1.20) 

0.013 
(1.49) 

0.008 
(0.97) 

0.011 
(1.39) 

BM -ve 
0.000*** 

(0.47) 
0.001* 
(1.84) 

0.001* 
(1.91) 

0.001 
(1.49) 

0.001 
(1.80) 

 
0.001 
(0.75) 

0.001 
(0.68) 

0.001 
(0.97) 

0.001 
(0.45) 

0.000 
(0.22) 

LOSS +ve 
0.001 
(0.74) 

0.003* 
(1.75) 

0.003* 
(1.65) 

0.003** 
(2.21) 

0.004*** 
(3.14) 

 
-0.001 
(-0.37) 

-0.000 
(-0.16) 

-0.001 
(-0.58) 

0.000 
(0.12) 

0.000 
(0.24) 

ABSUE +ve 
0.079*** 

(6.84) 
0.129*** 
(11.62) 

0.137*** 
(12.67) 

0.145*** 
(13.26) 

0.175*** 
(17.30) 

 
0.200*** 

(7.09) 
0.210*** 

(8.70) 
0.219*** 
(10.45) 

0.247*** 
(13.23) 

0.265*** 
(14.85) 

NEGUE +ve 
-0.000 
(-0.03) 

-0.000 
(-0.08) 

0.000 
(0.34) 

0.000 
(0.31) 

0.001 
(0.64) 

 
-0.004** 
(-1.57) 

-0.003 
(-1.47) 

-0.002 
(-1.12) 

-0.003* 
(-1.72) 

-0.003 
(-1.62) 

DUAL -ve 
-0.001 
(-0.60) 

-0.001 
(-0.80) 

-0.002 
(-1.12) 

-0.002 
(-1.23) 

-0.002 
(-1.40) 

 
-0.000 
(-0.08) 

-0.005 
(-1.58) 

-0.002 
(-0.57) 

-0.005* 
(-1.78) 

-0.005* 
(-1.79) 

FSCHG +ve 
-0.000 
(-0.08) 

-0.001 
(-0.75) 

-0.000 
(-0.22) 

0.000 
(0.40) 

-0.000 
(-0.35) 

 
-0.004** 
(-1.81) 

-0.000 
(-0.04) 

0.000 
(0.14) 

-0.000 
(-0.02) 

0.000 
(0.25) 

INDUSTRY 
DUMMIES 

 
Not 

reported 
Not 

reported 
Not 

reported 
Not 

reported 
Not 

reported 
 

Not 
reported 

Not 
reported 

Not 
reported 

Not 
reported 

Not 
 reported 

No. of observations 456 777 989 1,215 1,462  326 569 731 862 946 

Adj. R
2 

 0.18 0.22 0.22 0.21 0.25  0.25 0.19 0.20 0.25 0.28 

F-test  3.20 7.19 8.94 10.39 15.67  3.28 4.12 5.52 8.73 11.14 
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Table 5.12 (continued) 
a 

The dependent variable is the mean consensus error of forecasts made within the specified days before the earnings announcements. For instance, ‘<=30 days’ means the 
forecasts are made within 30 days before the earnings announcement.  
b 

Variable definitions:            = mean consensus forecast error, the absolute difference between mean consensus EPS forecasts for a company and its actual EPS, scaled 

by the 2006 yearend share price;       = the indicator of the 2007 reforms, equal 1 if the observation is from the period 1/1/2007-31/12/2008 and zero if the observation 
is from the period 1/1/2005-31/12/2006;       = time horizon of forecast;        = the number of analysts following share i in year y;             = natural logarithm of 

total assets of share i at the end of year y-1;           = the leverage ratio of share i at the end of year y-1, calculated as (long-term debt + debt within one year)/total 

assets;         = the book-to-market ratio of share i at the end of year y-1;         = 1 if share i reported losses in year y, and zero otherwise;          = the absolute 

difference in share i’s EPS between year y and the previous year, scaled by its 2006 year-end share price;           = 1 if share i’s EPS in year y is higher than in the 

previous year, and zero otherwise;       = 1 if the company issuing i is cross-listed, and zero otherwise.        = the indicator of new GAAP effects, equal to 1 if the 
accounting numbers of share i were highly affected by the new GAAP, and zero otherwise. 
c 
Numbers in parentheses are t statistic values, t-tests are conducted by using cluster-robust standard error. ***, ** and * indicate significant at or better than the 1%, 5% 

and 10% two-sided levels, respectively. 
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Table 5.13 
Regression Results when the Dependent Variable is Forecast Dispersion made within Various Days before Earnings Announcements for the A-share 

Sample 

                                                                                                                            

∑                               

  CSMAR data  I/B/E/S data 

  <=30 days <=60 days <=90 days <=120 days <=150 days  <=30 days <=60 days <=90 days <=120 days <=150 days 

Intercept  
-0.019** 
(-2.04) 

-0.006*** 
(-0.55) 

0.001 
(0.09) 

-0.002 
(-0.23) 

-0.019** 
(-2.34) 

 
-0.045 
(-1.18) 

-0.006 
(-0.29) 

-0.015 
(-0.97) 

-0.020 
(-1.42) 

-0.039*** 
(-2.98) 

POST ? 
0.003** 
(2.44) 

0.002** 
(2.06) 

0.002* 
(1.95) 

0.002* 
(1.94) 

0.001* 
(1.76) 

 
0.007 
(0.91) 

-0.001 
(-0.18) 

0.000 
(0.12) 

-0.000 
(-0.21) 

0.000 
(0.04) 

TD +ve 
0.000 
(0.55) 

0.000*** 
(0.44) 

-0.000 
(-0.05) 

0.001* 
(1.70) 

0.001 
(1.38) 

 
-0.001 
(-0.60) 

-0.002 
(-1.52) 

-0.001 
(-1.30) 

-0.000 
(-0.49) 

-0.000 
(-0.48) 

NAF -ve 
0.000 
(0.34) 

-0.000*** 
(-0.02) 

0.000 
(0.68) 

-0.001 
(-1.12) 

0.000 
(0.96) 

 
0.003 
(1.26) 

-0.000 
(-0.22) 

-0.001 
(-1.05) 

0.000 
(0.45) 

-0.000 
(-0.45) 

Ln(TA) -ve 
0.001* 
(1.73) 

0.004*** 
(0.99) 

0.001 
(1.23) 

0.000 
(0.85) 

0.001*** 
(2.73) 

 
0.002 
(1.03) 

0.000 
(0.48) 

0.001 
(1.04) 

0.001 
(1.27) 

0.001*** 
(2.64) 

LEVG +ve 
0.002 
(0.38) 

-0.000 
(-0.07) 

-0.004 
(-0.85) 

0.004 
(0.81) 

0.003 
(0.79) 

 
-0.008 
(-0.44) 

-0.018* 
(-1.66) 

-0.001 
(-1.29) 

0.001 
(0.09) 

0.003 
(0.41) 

BM -ve 
-0.000 
(-0.35) 

0.000 
(0.11) 

-0.000 
(-0.38) 

-0.000 
(-0.20) 

-0.000 
(-0.88) 

 
-0.000 
(-0.10) 

-0.002 
(-1.62) 

-0.002* 
(-1.83) 

-0.003*** 
(-2.71) 

-0.004*** 
(-4.34) 

LOSS +ve 
0.002 
(1.12) 

0.001* 
(0.60) 

0.002 
(1.15) 

0.000 
(0.32) 

0.001 
(1.25) 

 
-0.006 
(-1.40) 

0.001 
(0.27) 

-0.000 
(-0.18) 

0.000 
(0.30) 

0.001 
(0.62) 

ABSUE +ve 
0.046*** 

(5.05) 
0.086* 
(8.66) 

0.087*** 
(9.07) 

0.094*** 
(9.99) 

0.104*** 
(13.17) 

 
0.078** 

(2.02) 
0.068*** 

(3.09) 
0.083*** 

(4.72) 
0.097*** 

(6.79) 
0.101*** 

(8.00) 

NEGUE +ve 
-0.001 
(-0.78) 

-0.001 
(-1.02) 

-0.002* 
(-1.76) 

-0.000 
(-0.23) 

-0.000 
(-0.48) 

 
0.006* 
(1.75) 

-0.000 
(-0.17) 

0.0001 
(0.82) 

0.001 
(0.34) 

0.001 
(0.57) 

DUAL -ve 
-0.003** 
(-2.30) 

-0.001 
(-1.06) 

-0.001 
(-1.09) 

-0.000 
(-0.28) 

-0.001 
(-1.17) 

 
0.005 
(1.04) 

0.004 
(1.54) 

0.003 
(1.56) 

0.003 
(1.54) 

0.002 
(0.88) 

FSCHG +ve 
0.001 
(1.34) 

0.001 
(1.11) 

0.001 
(0.78) 

0.001 
(0.73) 

0.000 
(0.69) 

 
0.004 
(1.46) 

0.000 
(0.18) 

0.000 
(0.26) 

0.001 
(0.85) 

0.001 
(0.62) 

INDUSTRY 
DUMMIES 

 
Not 

reported 
Not 

reported 
Not 

reported 
Not 

reported 
Not  

reported 
 

Not 
reported 

Not 
reported 

Not 
reported 

Not 
reported 

Not 
reported 

No. of observations 200 414 591 753 957  82 207 290 395 473 

Adj. R
2 

 0.31 0.15 0.23 0.20 0.25  0.43 0.21 0.24 0.30 0.36 

F-test  2.64 4.45 5.52 5.86 10.23  1.55 1.74 2.74 5.14 8.37 
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Table 5.13(continued) 
a 

The dependent variable is dispersion of forecasts made within the specified days before the earnings announcements. For instance, ‘<=30 days’ means the forecasts are 
made within 30 days before the earnings announcement.  
b 

Variable definitions:       = forecast dispersion, the standard deviation of EPS forecasts for share i in year y, scaled by the 2006 yearend share price;       = the indicator of 

the 2007 reforms, equal 1 if the observation is from the period 1/1/2007-31/12/2008 and zero if the observation is from the period 1/1/2005-31/12/2006;       = time 

horizon of forecast;        = the number of analysts following share i in year y;             = natural logarithm of total assets of share i at the end of year y-1;           = 

the leverage ratio of share i at the end of year y-1, calculated as (long-term debt + debt within one year)/total assets;         = the book-to-market ratio of share i at the end 

of year y-1;         = 1 if share i reported losses in year y, and zero otherwise;          = the absolute difference in share i’s EPS between year y and the previous year, 

scaled by its 2006 year-end share price;           = 1 if share i’s EPS in year y is higher than in the previous year, and zero otherwise;       = 1 if the company issuing share 

i is cross-listed, and zero otherwise.        = the indicator of new GAAP effects, equal to 1 if the accounting numbers of share i were highly affected by the new GAAP, and 
zero otherwise. 
c Numbers in parentheses are t statistic values, t-tests are conducted by using cluster-robust standard error. ***, ** and * indicate significant at or better than the 1%, 5% and 

10% two-sided levels, respectively. 
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5.7 Conclusion 

In this chapter, the impact of the 2007 reforms on the financial analysts’ earnings forecast 

accuracy is examined in the context of the Chinese stock market. The earnings forecasts made by 

local and foreign financial analysts are studied separately. 

The findings show that the local analysts were significantly affected by the reforms, and 

earnings forecast error and earnings forecast dispersion increased. The increased forecast error 

and larger forecast dispersion indicate the lower quantity of total information that the local 

analysts could access, and in particularly a decline in their access to private information. An 

explanation is that the 2007 reforms stopped selective disclosure of private information from 

managers to local analysts. In contrast, foreign analysts’ forecast accuracy was generally 

unchanged after the reforms. This may reflect less access to private information by foreign 

analysts in the pre-reform period. 

In robustness results, I narrow down the sample period to 2 years (from 2006 to 2007), to 

control for any potential effects of the financial crisis. The results are qualitatively the same, with 

the exception of the forecast dispersion of foreign analysts that also increased in the post-reform 

period. This result also suggests that foreign analysts had a limited degree of access to private 

information in the pre-reform period, but had no or reduced access in the post-reform period.
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Chapter Six: The influence of the 2007 reforms on the information 

environment of the Chinese stock market: An information gap perspective 

6.1 Introduction 

This chapter examines the impact of the 2007 reforms on the information environment of 

investors in the Chinese stock market by studying the “information gap” between investors and 

Chinese listed companies in the pre- and post-reform periods. 

The information gap is measured as the absolute distance between the pre-earnings 

announcement stock price and the post-earnings announcement or full-information stock price, 

reflecting the price reaction to the earnings announcement. Atiase (1985) argues that a larger 

information gap is consistent with less precise pre-earnings announcement information and a 

greater earnings surprise. Kim and Verrecchia (1991) use a rational expectations model to 

investigate price and volume reactions to public announcements. They find that the price change 

at the time of an announcement is proportional to the unexpected portion of the announcement. 

I expect the 2007 reforms to change the price reaction to earnings announcements, as the 

AMID increased the amount of information available to the market (see Chapter 4). An increase 

in the amount of information disclosed by companies to the market could lead to earnings being 

less unpredictable and, hence, a smaller market response to the earnings announcement. In 

addition, the adoption of the 2006 Accounting Standards should improve the quality of 

accounting information and thus reduce the information gap (Barth, Landsman, & Lang, 2008; 

Tobin, 1987). 

The remainder of this chapter is organized as follows. Section 6.2 summarizes the main 

findings of the prior work and develops the hypotheses concerning the information gap of 

Chinese listed companies. Section 6.3 describes the data employed in the empirical studies. The 
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results of univariate test are reported in Section 6.4, and the multivariate test results are 

reported in Section 6.5. This chapter is summarized in Section 6.6. 

6.2 Literature review and hypothesis development 

6.2.1 Literature review 

The size of the information gap is an important component of a company’s information 

environment (Simon, 1989). Prior literature suggests that the size of the information gap is 

associated with information disclosure regulation and accounting standards (Atiase, 1985; Kim & 

Verrecchia, 1991). An information disclosure regulation, like the AMID, that requires managers to 

fully disclose their private information should reduce information asymmetry and reduce the 

information gap (Healy & Palepu, 2001). A set of accounting standards, like the IFRS, that 

promotes higher quality and quantity accounting information should lead to firms’ financial 

information becoming more predictable and also reduce the information gap (Ashbaugh & Pincus, 

2001).  

Several empirical studies document the negative relationship between the size of the 

information gap and the level of information disclosure. Simon (1989) studies the economic 

effects of the US 1933 Securities Act and finds that the dispersion of abnormal returns, a proxy 

for investors’ forecast errors, is significantly lower following the enactment of the Securities Act. 

This reduction will likely be the result of post-Act improvements in the quantity and quality of 

available financial information. Brown et al. (1999) examine the enhanced disclosure reforms in 

Australia in 1993. They find weak evidence that in the post-reform period, share prices better 

anticipated the value relevant component of annual periodic accounting data, but this result is 

confined to smaller firms. Huang et al. (2009) use the information gap to investigate the impact 

of changes to the New Zealand Exchange’s listing rules and legislative amendments to the 

Securities Markets Act 1988, which imposed a more stringent continuous disclosure regime on 

listed companies in New Zealand. They report that the information gap was smaller after the 
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reform and suggest that this is evidence that more information flowed to investors in the post-

reform period. 

Shane et al. (2001), Heflin et al. (2003), and Bailey et al. (2003) use the information gap to 

study the effect of Reg FD on the information environment. Reg FD forbade firms from disclosing 

material information to selected investors or securities market professionals. Shane et al. (2001) 

find significantly reduced stock market reaction to earnings announcements after Reg FD. They 

argue that “firms have found effective alternative means of informing analysts and investors 

about forthcoming quarterly earnings.” Heflin et al. (2003) also document that the size of the 

information gap was smaller in the post-reform period. This improvement in information 

efficiency derives from the companies’ significant reinforcement of their voluntary disclosures as 

an alternative to selective disclosures in communicating material information. However, although 

Bailey et al. (2003) find that Reg FD increased the quantity of information available to investors, 

they find no evidence of changes in the information gap. 

Theoretical research argues that increased accounting quality is expected to mitigate 

information asymmetry (Ball, 2001; Watts, 1977). Empirical research also suggests that the 

adoption of better accounting standards, such as IFRS, lowers the level of information asymmetry 

(Barth et al., 2008; Tobin, 1987).86 Bartov et al. (2005) examine the impact of IFRS adoption for 

German companies. They document that the relationship between stock returns and earnings is 

much stronger for IAS than for German GAAP i.e., IAS-based earning numbers are more value-

relevant than those based on German GAAP. Barth et al. (2008) study firms in 21 countries that 

have adopted IAS. Their results suggest that, compared to their matched sample under non-US 

domestic standards, firms subject to IAS disclose more timely and more value-relevant 

                                                           
86

 The global IFRS adoption is believed to increase the accounting quality of financial reports, and hence improve the 
relevance and timeliness of information. This leads to more material information being disclosed to the public and a 
decrease of information asymmetry between managers and investors (Frankel & Li, 2004; Land & Lang, 2002). 
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accounting information, and exhibit less earnings management, suggesting better accounting 

quality.  Landsman et al. (2011) examine the effects of IFRS mandated adoption on the 

information content of earnings announcements. They study firms in 16 counties, most of them 

European, and find an increased information content of earnings announcements compared to 

the matched sample under domestic standards in 11 countries. However, Hung and 

Subramanyam (2007) study German firms which voluntarily adopted IAS. The author concludes 

that the value-relevance of accounting numbers under IAS is no higher than under German GAAP. 

In conclusion, the prior literature suggests that better accounting standards should 

generally reduce the size of the information gap between managers and investors. The impact of 

greater information disclosure regulation, which requires more information disclosure to the 

market, should also lower the size of the information gap. 

6.2.2 Hypothesis development 

The impact of the 2007 reforms on the information gap between Chinese listed 

companies and investors is unclear. On the one hand, the disclosure regulations should increase 

the amount of value-relevant information disclosures made by listed companies by imposing 

greater penalties for failure to meet the regulations. The mandatory adoption of IFRS by 

companies should also improve the accounting quality of financial reports and enable analysts 

and investors to more accurately forecast companies’ earnings. 

On the other hand, a disclosure regulation prohibiting the disclosure of information to 

selected investors could cause an increase in the information gap. The opponents of Reg FD 

argued that, by requiring firms to make material disclosures broadly available, Reg FD would 

result in firms disclosing less high-quality information for fear of competitors exploiting this 

information or individual investors misinterpreting the information provided (Hassett, 2000; 

Opdyke & Lucchetti, 2000; Weber, 2000). This suggests the possibility that less information would 
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be disclosed to the public, leading to a higher level of information asymmetry. Thus, the “fair 

disclosure” rule in the AMID could reduce the amount of information available to the market, 

albeit that it levels the playing field and reduces the number of informed investors.  

Furthermore, Huang et al.(2009) suggest that increased information disclosure may not 

lead to improvements in the information environment if investors are deluged with information 

and are unable to process or identify valuable information. In addition, most investors in China 

are retail investors who lack the time and expertise to analyse a greater volume of information 

and make investment decisions accordingly. Chinese retail investors also do not trust financial 

analysts due to frequent scandals and the incentives for analysts to provide misleading 

information to the market for personal gain (Chiang et al., 2008; Lim, Habibullah, & Hinich, 2009).  

To test whether the 2007 reforms had a significant impact on the information 

environment in the Chinese stock market, the first hypothesis, stated in null form, is: 

H1: The information gap of Chinese A-shares did not change in the post-reform period. 

To isolate the effects of the 2007 reforms from other factors, such as changes in auditing 

requirements, long-term trends in improvement in the information environment, and the 

development of information technology, I employ B-shares and H-shares as control samples.  

The results in Chapter 4 show that the amount of information disclosed by the BO-share 

sample did not change significantly during the sample period. In addition, the BO-share sample 

adopted IFRS before the 2007 reforms, and there is likely to be relatively less “selective 

disclosure” in the Chinese B-share market. Thus, I hypothesize that the 2007 reforms should not 

affect the information gap between management of BO-shares and their investors. The second 

hypothesis, stated in null form, is: 

H2:  The information gap of BO-shares did not change in the post-reform period.  
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The results in Chapter 4 show that the amount of information disclosed by the ABB-share 

sample increased in the post-reform period, suggesting that their information gap should 

become less in the post-reform period. However, ABB-shares also adopted IFRS before the 

reforms, suggesting that we should not see any improvement in accounting information quality in 

the post-reform period. Furthermore, there is information flowing from the Chinese A-share 

market to the Chinese B-share market, which reduces the information gap of ABB-shares. Thus, 

the impact of the 2007 reforms on the information gap for this sub-sample is ambiguous. The 

third hypothesis, stated in null form, is: 

H3: The information gap of ABB-shares did not change in the post-reform period. 

The HO-shares and AHH-shares were not affected directly by the 2007 reforms. However, 

there may still be information overflow from the Chinese A-share markets. The fourth and fifth 

hypotheses, stated in null form, are: 

H4: The information gap of HO-shares did not change in the post-reform period.  

H5: The information gap of AHH-shares did not change in the post-reform period. 

6.3 Sample and Data 

6.3.1 The samples 

I investigate the changes in the information gap during the two-year periods immediately 

before and after the enactment of the reforms in January 2007. The pre-reform period is from 1 

January, 2005 to 31 December, 2006, and the post-reform period is from 1 January, 2007 to 31 

December, 2008. In China, the financial year is the calendar year. The earnings are announced 

quarterly through periodic reports. The required time periods for releasing the information are: 

annual reports within four months, semi-annual reports within two months, and quarterly 

reports (applying to the first and third quarters) within one month of the end of the financial 
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period. In this sample period, I examine the price movements around the earnings 

announcement of each quarter from 2004Q4 (annual report) to 2008Q3 (third-quarter report).87  

I exclude the first-quarter observations from my sample. The short time interval between 

the annual earnings announcements of year t and the first-quarter earnings announcements of 

year t+1 may dampen any price response to the first-quarter earnings announcement. Appendix 

6.2 shows that 60% of the first-quarter earnings were announced less than 30 days after the 

release of the annual earnings of the prior year, making it more difficult to isolate the effects of 

the first-quarter earnings announcement on stock prices.88 

To calculate the absolute cumulative abnormal return, the estimation window period 

spans the interval from 240 trading days before the earnings announcement to 61 trading days 

before the earnings announcement (i.e., [-240, -61]). The event window period spans from 60 

trading days (around a quarter) preceding the earnings announcement to 2 days after the 

earnings announcement (i.e., [-60, +2]), as Heflin et al. (2003) argue, the stock price on day +2 

should be the full-information stock price. 

In this study, the main sample is the A-share sample. Other samples are also examined for 

the purpose of robustness test, namely the B-share sample (i.e., the BO-share and the ABB-share 

samples) and the H-share sample (i.e., the HO-share and the AHH-share samples). The size of the 

A-share sample is 909, the sizes of the BO-share and ABB-share samples are 14 and 72, 

respectively, and the sizes of the HO-share and the AHH-share samples are 14 and 23, 

respectively. 

                                                           
87

 The 2004 annual reports were released during the period January-April 2005, and the 2008 third-quarter reports 
were released in October 2008. Appendix 6.1 shows the periods in which each periodic report was released. 
88

 The results are qualitatively the same when adding the first-quarter observations into the sample. 
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6.3.2 The sources of data 

Data for shares listed on the Chinese stock market (i.e., A-shares, BO-shares, and ABB-

shares) are mainly obtained from RESSET. The data includes daily share returns, daily market 

returns, share prices at year-end 2006 and accounting data. The daily market returns are tradable 

market value weighted daily market returns.89 The accounting data include total assets, long-

term debt, long-term debt payable within one year, book-to-market ratio, net profits/losses, EPS, 

and price-earnings ratio. The dates of the earnings announcements are obtained from CSMAR, 

supplemented with data from RESSET. 

For shares listed on the Hong Kong stock market (i.e., HO-shares and AHH-shares), I 

source data on daily share returns, market value-weighted daily market returns and daily share 

prices at year-end 2006 from the electronic records of RESSET. The earnings announcement dates 

are collected manually from HKEXNEWS. Comparable accounting data are obtained from 

Thomson Datastream. Missing data are collected by referring to financial reports held by 

HKEXNEWS.  

6.3.3 The absolute cumulative abnormal return 

Following Heflin et al. (2003), the information gap between companies and investors is 

measured using the absolute cumulative abnormal return (ACAR) methodology, which estimates 

the absolute deviation between prices around the earnings announcement. Large values of the 

ACAR suggest that earnings are more informative and thus less predictable (Bamber & Cheon, 

1995; Lang et al., 2003; Officer, Poulsen, & Stegemoller, 2009).  

The ACAR is calculated as follows: 

        |∑      
      
      |                                     

                                                           
89

 I also use equal-weighted daily market returns and market capitalization-weighted daily market returns for the 
purpose of estimating ACAR, ABSCAR and RETVAR. The results are quantitatively the same. 



133 
 

      is the daily abnormal return for day t for share i, -y is the number of days the 

accumulation window extends backwards from the earnings announcement day (i.e., day 0), and 

+x is the number of days the accumulation window extends forward from the earnings 

announcement date (i.e., two trading days after the release of earnings). For the earnings 

announcement day (day 0), if earnings are released before close of trading, day 0 is the 

announcement day, and if they are released after close of trading, day 0 is the next trading day.  

If earnings are released on public holidays, day 0 is the next trading day.  

      is calculated as:                                          [    ]                                        

     is the actual daily return for share i for day t.  [    ] is the expected daily return for 

share i for day t.  [    ] is estimated using the single-factor market model as: 

 [    ]                                                      

where the    and    parameter estimates are from the single-factor market model. This 

model is estimated as:                                                                                                      

where      is the daily return for share i for day n over the estimation window period, 

     is the daily return for market index for day n over the estimation window period, and      is 

the error term. 

6.4 Univariate test results 

6.4.1 A-share sample 

 In the univariate test I assess the changes in ACARs around the quarterly earnings 

announcements for A-shares in the Chinese A-share market over the four-year sample period. 

The ACARs are estimated by the market model,  and the results for six difference accumulation 

windows (i.e., [-60,+2], [-30,+2], [-10,+2], [-5,+2], [-2,+2], [-1,+2]) are reported for each year 

during the period 2005-2008 in Appendix 6.3. The last day of each window is the second day after 

the earnings announcement (i.e., day +2), and the first day is -60, -30, -10, -5, -2, or -1 days 
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relative to the earnings announcement, respectively. Kim and Verrecchia (1994) suggest that the 

level of information asymmetry is much higher just before the earnings announcement. I 

therefore concentrate on the accumulation windows [-5,+2], [-2,+2] and [-1,+2], as the price 

reaction to the earnings announcement in these windows should best reflect the level of 

information asymmetry. 

Figures 6.1 plots mean and median ACARs from 60 trading days before to two trading 

days after the earnings announcement for both the pre- and post-reform quarters over the 

period 2005-2008. The mean and median post-reform ACARs are higher than their pre-reform 

counterparts in the days leading up to and including the announcement day. The distance 

between the pre- and post-reform ACARs widens as time extends backward from the 

announcement day. 

The plots in Figure 6.1 show the absolute information flow for the pre- and post-reform 

quarters, that is, they do not consider the difference in total information flow between the pre- 

and post-reform quarters (Heflin et al. 2003). The post-reform plots lie above the pre-reform 

plots, suggesting a larger information gap in the post-reform period. To measure the proportion 

of each quarter’s total information impounded in price by any given day, I follow Heflin et al. 

(2003) to scale each day’s mean/median ACAR by the mean/median ACAR for day -60, so that 

each plot starts the quarter at 1.0.90 These scaled plots are presented in Figure 6.2. These plots 

are rather different to the plots in Figure 6.1, as they show that both the mean and median post-

reform ACARs lie slightly below their pre-reform counterparts. This suggests that although the 

information gap is larger in the post-reform period, information is incorporated into the stock 

prices a little faster, and thus the information efficiency of stock prices slightly improves.

                                                           
90

 Because of the problem of small denominator, I have to scale each day’s cross-sectional mean or median ACAR by 
the cross-sectional mean or median ACAR on day -60, rather than computing the mean or median of firm-specific 
scaled ACARs.  
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Figure 6.1 
Pre- and Post-reform Mean and Median ACARs for the A-share Sample during 2005-2008 (excludes Q1)
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Figure 6.2  
Pre- and Post-reform Mean and Median Scaled ACARs for the A-share Sample during 2005-2008 (excludes Q1) 
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Table 6.1 presents the cross-sectional company-quarter ACARs in various accumulation 

windows during the period 2005-2008.  The table shows that in each year, the mean and median 

ACARs increase with the longer accumulation window period. 

Table 6.1 
ACARs in Different Accumulation Windows over Period 2005-2008 for the A-share Sample (excludes Q1) 

Year 
Accumulation Window* 

[-1, +2] [-2, +2] [-5, +2] [-10, +2] [-30, +2] [-60, +2] 

Mean 

2005 0.040 0.043 0.050 0.060 0.085 0.134 

2006 0.040 0.043 0.054 0.065 0.111 0.163 

2007 0.055 0.059 0.073 0.092 0.154 0.243 

2008 0.055 0.060 0.072 0.089 0.141 0.220 

Median 

2005 0.029 0.032 0.039 0.046 0.068 0.106 

2006 0.030 0.032 0.041 0.050 0.085 0.128 

2007 0.044 0.048 0.059 0.073 0.125 0.202 

2008 0.043 0.047 0.056 0.068 0.111 0.173 

Standard deviation 

2005 0.037 0.039 0.046 0.056 0.076 0.117 

2006 0.039 0.040 0.049 0.059 0.098 0.138 

2007 0.046 0.049 0.061 0.083 0.130 0.197 

2008 0.048 0.054 0.061 0.077 0.119 0.185 

n 8,256 8,164 8,356 7,996 7,616 7,120 

*Accumulation window is the interval around the earnings announcement, i.e., [-1, +2] window means from 
one day before the earnings announcement to two days after the earnings announcement. n is the number 
of observations in each window. 

 

Table 6.2 reports the results of the statistical test of the differences between the pre- and 

post-reform cross-sectional mean and median company-quarter ACARs for the six different 

accumulation windows. Columns 1 to 6 in Table 6.2 show the company-quarter ACARs in the pre- 

and post-reform periods, and columns 7 to 12 show the company-quarter ACARs from 2006 to 

2007, which is the one-year period immediately before and after the enactment of the 2007 

reforms. I also compare the year 2006 ACARs to the year 2007 ACARs to control for any impact of 

the global financial crisis on Chinese company earnings in 2008. 

The results reported in columns 1 to 6 in Table 6.2 show that the post-reform mean and 

median ACARs are all higher than their pre-reform counterparts for all six windows, and all 
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differences are significant at the 1% level. The results reported in columns 7 to 12 show that 

mean and median ACARs in year 2007 are significantly higher than their counterparts in year 

2006. These results suggest that, contrary to hypothesis H1, the ACAR increased in the post-

reform period, suggesting that the in the post-reform period differences between the pre-

earnings announcement and the full-information stock prices increased. Thus, it could indicate 

that it became more difficult for investors to forecast earnings. This is consistent with the 

findings in Chapter 5 that the earnings forecast accuracy of domestic financial analysts decreased 

in the post-reform period. 

Table 6.2 also reports the proportions of sample companies for which ACARs either 

decreased or increased from the pre- to post-reform periods. The percentage of companies with 

higher post-reform ACARs is significantly greater than the percentage with lower post-reform 

ACARs for every accumulation window. These results are contrary to hypothesis H1 and indicate 

that the 2007 reforms significantly increased the information gap of A-shares.91 

In addition, I employ the Maynes and Rumsey (1993) model to estimate ACARs so as to 

control for any thin trading bias, as trading suspensions - the suspended trading of stocks for no 

less than a day - are very common in the Chinese stock market.92 The results (not tabulated) also 

indicate that the post-reform ACARs are significantly higher than their pre-reform counterparts 

for both the 2005-2008 and 2006-2007 sample periods (excluding Q1).

                                                           
91

 Appendix 6.4 reports the statistical tests of differences between the pre- and post-reform cross-sectional ACARs in 
each quarter over the period 2005-2008. The mean and median post-reform ACARs of quarters other than the first 
quarter are all significantly higher than their pre-reform counterparts. The mean and median post-reform ACARs of 
the first quarter are lower than their pre-reform counterparts in the shorter windows [-1, +2], [-2, +2], [-5, +2], and [-
10, +2] (except for the mean post-reform ACARs of window [-10, +2]), but these differences are not significant. 
However, for the longer windows [-30, +2] and [-60, +2], the mean and median post-reform ACARs increased 
significantly. The proportions of sample firms for which ACARs either decreased or increased from the pre- to post-
reform periods are also shown in Appendix 6.4. In quarters other than the first quarter, the percentage of firms with 
higher post-reform ACARs is significantly greater than the percentage with lower post-reform ACARs for every 
accumulation window. However for the first-quarter, the percentage of firms with higher post-reform ACARs is not 
significantly different from the percentage with lower post-reform ACARs, except in window [-60, +2]. 
92

 The details of the Maynes and Rumsey (1993) model can be found in Appendix 6.5. 
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Table 6.2 
Pre- and Post-reform ACARs for the A-share Sample (excludes Q1)a 

Column (1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6) (7) (8) (9) (10) (11) (12) 

 Period 2005-2008 Period 2006-2007 

 [-1, +2] [-2, +2] [-5, +2] [-10, +2] [-30, +2] [-60, +2] [-1, +2] [-2, +2] [-5, +2] [-10, +2] [-30, +2] [-60, +2] 

Mean 

Pre-reform 0.040 0.043 0.052 0.063 0.098 0.149 0.040 0.043 0.054 0.065 0.111 0.163 

Post-reform 0.055 0.060 0.072 0.090 0.148 0.231 0.055 0.059 0.073 0.092 0.154 0.243 

Difference 0.015 0.017 0.020 0.028 0.049 0.083 0.016 0.016 0.019 0.026 0.043 0.079 

p-value
b 

0.000*** 0.000*** 0.000*** 0.000*** 0.000*** 0.000*** 0.000*** 0.000*** 0.000*** 0.000*** 0.000*** 0.000*** 

Median 

Pre-reform 0.029 0.032 0.040 0.048 0.075 0.118 0.030 0.032 0.041 0.050 0.085 0.128 

Post-reform 0.043 0.048 0.057 0.071 0.117 0.187 0.044 0.048 0.059 0.073 0.125 0.202 

Difference 0.011 0.011 0.014 0.019 0.035 0.064 0.012 0.013 0.014 0.019 0.031 0.059 

p-value 0.000*** 0.000*** 0.000*** 0.000*** 0.000*** 0.000*** 0.000*** 0.000*** 0.000*** 0.000*** 0.000*** 0.000*** 

% of Companies with higher or lower post-reform ACARs 

% of Companies with 
Higher Post-reform 
ACAR 

60.54% 59.43% 60.72% 61.33% 62.74% 63.65% 61.29% 61.00% 60.36% 60.93% 60.19% 61.97% 

% of Companies with 
Lower Post-reform 
ACAR 

39.46% 40.57% 39.28% 38.67% 37.26% 36.35% 38.71% 39.00% 39.64% 39.07% 39.81% 38.03% 

p-value 0.000*** 0.000*** 0.000*** 0.000*** 0.000*** 0.000*** 0.000*** 0.000*** 0.000*** 0.000*** 0.000*** 0.000*** 
a 

Over the period 2005-2008, the pre-reform period is from 01/01/2005 to 31/12/2006, and the post-reform period is from 01/01/2007 to 31/12/2008. Over the period 
2006-2007, the pre-reform period is from 01/01/2006 to 31/12/2006, and the post-reform period is from 01/01/2007 to 31/12/2007. ACAR is the absolute cumulative 
abnormal return from x days before to 2 days after the earnings announcement. Abnormal returns are prediction errors from the market model. 
b 

P-values are two-sided. P-values for means are from t-tests of the difference between the pre- and post-reform means. For medians, p-values are from Wilcoxon two-
sample tests; p-values for differences in percentage of lower/higher post-reform ACARs are from binomial tests. ***, ** and * indicate significant at the 1%, 5% and 10% 
two-sided levels, respectively. 
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In summary, the univariate test results suggest that, in the post-reform period, the 

information gap becomes larger, and relatively less information is available to market 

participants in the pre-announcement period. The larger information gap makes it harder for the 

market to forecast earnings and move stock prices to their full-information price. This increased 

size in the information gap is pervasive throughout the entire quarter preceding the earnings 

announcement. 

6.4.2 B-share sample 

The B-share sample comprises the BO-share and the ABB-share samples. Figures 6.3 and 

6.4 plot, respectively, ACARs and scaled ACARs from 60 trading days before to two days after 

earnings announcements for both the pre- and post-reform quarters for the BO-share sample. 

The plots in Figure 6.3 show that for days [-60, -18], the post-reform mean ACARs lie below the 

pre-reform counterparts, and for days [-17, +2], the post-reform mean ACARs are above the pre-

reform counterparts, but the post-reform median ACARs always lie above their pre-reform 

counterparts. The distance between pre- and post-reform ACARs is rather narrow. The plots in 

Figure 6.4 are similar to those in Figure 6.3; the scaled post-reform mean ACARs lie below their 

pre-reform counterparts before day -18, and above after that day. The scaled post-reform 

median ACARs generally lie above their pre-reform counterparts. However, the differences 

between pre- and post-reform ACARs are small.93 

 

                                                           
93

 Appendix 6.6 reports the ACARs of the BO-share sample for the six event windows in each year during the period 
2005-2008. 
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Figure 6.3  
Pre- and Post-reform Mean and Median ACARs for the BO-share Sample during 2005-2008 (excludes Q1) 

 

Figure 6.4 
Pre- and Post-reform Mean and Median Scaled ACARs for the BO-share Sample during 2005-208 (excludes Q1) 
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Figure 6.5  
Pre- and Post-reform Mean and Median ACARs for the ABB-share Sample during 2005-2008 (excludes Q1) 

 

Figure 6.6  
Pre- and Post-reform Mean and Median Scaled ACARs for the ABB-share Sample during 2005-2008 (excludes Q1) 
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The plots of ACARs for the ABB-share sample are similar to those for the A-share sample 

as presented in Figures 6.1 and 6.2, suggesting possible information flow from the Chinese A-

share market to the Chinese B-share market. The plots in Figures 6.5 and 6.6 show that the mean 

and median post-reform ACARs lie above their pre-reform counterparts, but for scaled mean and 

median ACARs, the differences between pre- and post-reform ACARs are small.94 

Table 6.3 shows the ACARs for the BO-share sample in different accumulation windows. 

Columns 1 to 6 report results for the period 2005-2008, while columns 7 to 12 report results for 

the period 2006-2007. Columns 1 to 6 show that the post-reform mean and median ACARs are all 

higher than their pre-reform counterparts in each accumulation window except window [-30, +2]. 

However, the differences between the pre- and post-reform ACARs are generally not significant; 

only for window [-10, +2] are the changes in mean and median ACARs significant at the 10% level 

or better; and only for window [-5, +2] is the change in median ACARs significant at the 10% level. 

The percentage of companies with higher post-reform ACAR is higher in every window, but this is 

not significant except in windows [-5, +2] and [-60, +2]. The results in columns 7 to 12 are 

consistent with those in columns 1 to 6; only the changes in mean and median ACARs in window 

[-10, +2] are significant at the 10% level. Thus, these results support hypothesis H2 that the 2007 

reforms had no impact on the information gap of the BO-share sample. In addition, I examine 

quarterly data and also find that the 2007 reforms have no significant influence on the 

information gap of the BO-share sample.95

                                                           
94

 Appendix 6.7 reports the ACARs of the ABB-share sample in the six event windows for each year during the period 
2005-2008. 
95

 Appendix 6.8 reports the statistical tests for quarter-specific ACARs for the BO-share sample in each window over 
the period 2005-2008.  Results show that the ACARs have not changed significantly between the pre- and post-
reform periods. The mean and median post-reform ACARs are not significantly different to their pre-reform 
counterparts (other than for windows [-10, +2] and [-60, +2]). The percentages of firms with higher post-reform 
ACARs are also not significant.  
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Table 6.3 
Pre- and Post-reform ACARs for the BO-share Sample (excludes Q1)

a 

Column (1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6) (7) (8) (9) (10) (11) (12) 

 Period 2005-2008 Period 2006-2007 

 [-1, +2] [-2, +2] [-5, +2] [-10, +2] [-30, +2] [-60, +2] [-1, +2] [-2, +2] [-5, +2] [-10, +2] [-30, +2] [-60, +2] 

Mean 

Pre-reform 0.049 0.047 0.051 0.052 0.121 0.167 0.047 0.045 0.048 0.045 0.138 0.166 

Post-reform 0.051 0.049 0.059 0.068 0.112 0.179 0.052 0.049 0.055 0.069 0.116 0.197 

Difference 0.002 0.002 0.007 0.016 -0.008 0.012 0.006 0.003 0.007 0.024 -0.023 0.032 

p-value
b 0.799 0.796 0.358 0.088* 0.642 0.621 0.555 0.751 0.519 0.084* 0.402 0.337 

Median 

Pre-reform 0.036 0.040 0.036 0.032 0.062 0.114 0.036 0.034 0.028 0.030 0.086 0.122 

Post-reform 0.039 0.042 0.048 0.049 0.081 0.163 0.047 0.043 0.051 0.047 0.079 0.171 

Difference 0.004 0.003 0.010 0.017 0.009 0.020 0.006 0.008 0.002 0.005 0.004 0.025 

p-value 0.381 0.501 0.094* 0.030** 0.349 0.262 0.169 0.364 0.337 0.080* 0.941 0.310 

% of Companies with Higher or Lower Post-reform ACARs  

% of Companies with 
Higher Post-reform 
ACAR 

55.26% 52.70% 63.16% 59.21% 53.66% 60.00% 60.53% 62.16% 55.26% 57.89% 51.22% 60.00% 

% of Companies with 
Lower Post-reform 
ACAR 

44.74% 47.30% 36.84% 40.79% 46.34% 40.00% 39.47% 37.84% 44.74% 42.11% 48.78% 40.00% 

p-value 0.422 0.728 0.029** 0.135 0.581 0.093* 0.256 0.188 0.627 0.418 1.000 0.268 

No. of observations 152 148 152 152 164 160 76 74 76 76 82 80 
a 

Over the period 2005-2008, the pre-reform period is from 01/01/2005 to 31/12/2006, and the post-reform period is from 01/01/2007 to 31/12/2008; over the period 
2006-2007, the pre-reform period is from 01/01/2006 to 31/12/2006, and the post-reform period is from 01/01/2007 to 31/12/2007. ACAR is the absolute cumulative 
abnormal return from x days before to 2 days after the earnings announcement. Abnormal returns are prediction errors from the market model. 
b 

P-values are two-sided. P-values for means are from t-tests of the difference between the pre- and post-reform means. For medians, p-values are from Wilcoxon two-
sample tests; p-values for differences in percentage of lower/higher post-reform ACARs are from binomial tests. ***, ** and * indicate significant at or better than the 1%, 
5% and 10% two-sided levels, respectively. 
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Table 6.4 reports the results of the statistical tests of company-quarter ACARs for the ABB-

share sample in the period 2005-2008 (columns 1 to 6) and in the period 2006-2007 (columns 7 to 

12). The post-reform ACARs are always higher than their pre-reform counterparts. In general, 

changes from the pre-reform to post-reform period are significant at the 10% level or better, the 

exceptions being the changes in median ACARs in window [-5, +2] for both periods and the change in 

mean ACARs in window [-10, +2] for the period 2006-2007. The percentage of companies with higher 

post-reform ACARs is also significantly higher in all windows, with the exception of window [-5, +2]. 

These results do not support hypothesis H3. Therefore, it is concluded that the information gap of 

the ABB-share sample increased significantly in the post-reform period. I also study the quarter-

specific ACARs for the ABB-share sample and find that only post-reform ACARs in Q2 and Q3 are 

significantly higher than their pre-reform counterparts.96 Compared to the results reported in 

Appendix 6.4, I conclude that although the 2007 reforms affected the information gap of the ABB-

share sample, this impact is less than the impact on the information gap of the A-share sample. 

The comparison of univariate test results for the BO-share and ABB-share samples suggests 

the possibility of information flowing from the Chinese A-stock market to the Chinese B-stock market. 

The results are consistent with the fact that selective disclosure was prevalent in the Chinese A-stock 

market before the 2007 reforms. Information of companies issuing both ABA- and ABB-shares may 

flow from the Chinese A-share market to the Chinese B-share market and result in an increase in 

information for ABB-shares. Since the 2007 reforms, with the prohibition on selective disclosure, 

there has been no more information flow from the Chinese A-share market and the information gap 

of ABB-shares has become larger.

                                                           
96

 Appendix 6.9 shows the statistical tests for quarter-specific ACARs in the period 2005-2008 for the ABB-share sample. 
The post-reform ACARs in the second and third quarters for the ABB-share sample are generally significantly higher than 
their pre-reform counterparts. However, the ACARs in the first and fourth quarters did not change significantly in the 
post-reform period. 
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Table 6.4 
Pre- and Post-reform ACARs for the ABB-share Sample (excludes Q1)

a 

Column (1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6) (7) (8) (9) (10) (11) (12) 

 Period 2005-2008 Period 2006-2007 

 [-1, +2] [-2, +2] [-5, +2] [-10, +2] [-30, +2] [-60, +2] [-1, +2] [-2, +2] [-5, +2] [-10, +2] [-30, +2] [-60, +2] 

Mean 

Pre-reform 0.035 0.037 0.048 0.055 0.093 0.143 0.032 0.033 0.043 0.053 0.094 0.136 

Post-reform 0.041 0.044 0.054 0.062 0.111 0.166 0.041 0.043 0.054 0.061 0.111 0.178 

Difference 0.006 0.006 0.006 0.007 0.018 0.024 0.010 0.009 0.011 0.008 0.018 0.042 

p-value
b 

0.010** 0.017** 0.092* 0.071* 0.005*** 0.011* 0.004*** 0.006*** 0.017** 0.112 0.055* 0.001*** 

Median 

Pre-reform 0.026 0.030 0.037 0.039 0.070 0.115 0.023 0.026 0.035 0.037 0.073 0.108 

Post-reform 0.034 0.032 0.041 0.049 0.093 0.138 0.037 0.032 0.042 0.050 0.104 0.148 

Difference 0.005 0.005 0.007 0.006 0.016 0.016 0.008 0.007 0.003 0.008 0.023 0.019 

p-value 0.010** 0.037** 0.173 0.018** 0.001*** 0.008*** 0.004*** 0.025** 0.156 0.054* 0.035** 0.002*** 

% of Companies with Higher or Lower Post-reform ACARs  

% of Companies with 
Higher Post-reform 
ACAR 

54.92% 55.58% 53.85% 56.12% 56.32% 55.08% 60.62% 61.42% 51.28% 59.04% 57.89% 56.15% 

% of Companies with 
Lower Post-reform 
ACAR 

45.08% 44.42% 46.15% 43.88% 43.68% 44.92% 39.38% 38.58% 48.72% 40.96% 42.11% 43.85% 

p-value 0.060* 0.030** 0.142 0.020** 0.016** 0.056* 0.004*** 0.002*** 0.775 0.016** 0.035** 0.107 

No. of observations 772 788 780 752 760 748 386 394 390 376 380 374 
a 

Over the period 2005-2008, the pre-reform period is from 01/01/2005 to 31/12/2006, and the post-reform period is from 01/01/2007 to 31/12/2008; over the period 2006-
2007, the pre-reform period is from 01/01/2006 to 31/12/2006, and the post-reform period is from 01/01/2007 to 31/12/2007. ACAR is the absolute cumulative abnormal return 
from x days before to 2 days after the earnings announcement. Abnormal returns are prediction errors from the market model. 
b 

P-values are two-sided. P-values for means are from t-tests of the difference between the pre- and post-reform means. For medians, p-values are from Wilcoxon two-sample 
tests; p-values for differences in percentage of lower/higher post-reform ACARs are from binomial tests. ***, ** and * indicate significant at or better than the 1%, 5% and 10% 

two-sided levels, respectively.  
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6.4.3 H-share samples 

Companies listed on HKEx are only required to release their semi-annual and annual 

results. Thus for the H-share samples, which comprise the HO-share and AHH-share samples, I 

examine only eight earnings announcements for each share during the sample period, namely 

from annual 2004 results to semi-annual 2008 results. Figures 6.7 and 6.8 plot, respectively, 

ACARs and scaled ACARs from 60 trading days before to two days after the earnings 

announcements for both the pre- and post-reform quarters for the HO-share sample. The plots in 

Figure 6.7 show that both mean and median post-reform ACARs lie below their pre-reform 

counterparts. The distance between pre- and post-reform mean ACARs widens as time extends 

backward from the announcement, peaking at about day -32 and remaining relatively constant 

back to day -60. The distance between pre- and post-reform median ACARs is narrow from the 

announcement day back to day -22, and then widens and peaks at day -38 and remains relatively 

constant back to day -60.  

The plots in Figure 6.8 show scaled ACARs for the HO-share sample over the period 2005-

2008. The distance between the pre- and post-reform ACARs is relatively narrow and only in 

window [-38, -24] does the post-reform ACAR lie above the pre-reform ACAR. These plots suggest 

that the information gap between the pre-announcement and the full-information post-

announcement price is larger in the post-reform period.97 

Figures 6.9 and 6.10 plot, respectively, ACARs and scaled ACARs from 60 trading days 

before to two days after earnings announcements for both the pre- and post-reform quarters for 

the AHH-share sample. The plots in Figure 6.9 show that the mean and median post-reform 

ACARs both lie above their pre-reform counterparts. The distance between pre- and post-reform 

ACARs widens as time extends backward from the announcement. 

                                                           
97

 Appendix 6.10 reports the ACARs of the HO-share sample in the six event windows in each year during the period 
2005-2008. 
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Figure 6.7  
Pre- and Post-reform Mean and Median ACARs for the HO-share Sample during 2005-2008 

 

Figure 6.8  
Pre- and Post-reform Mean and Median Scaled ACARs for the HO-share Sample during 2005-2008 
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Figure 6.9  
Pre- and Post-reform Mean and Median ACARs for the AHH-share Sample during 2005-2008 

 

Figure 6.10  
Pre- and Post-reform Mean and Median Scaled ACARs for the AHH-share Sample during 2005-2008 
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The plots in Figure 6.10 show the scaled mean and median ACARs for the AHH-share 

sample. The distance between pre- and post-reform ACARs is very small for this sample.98 

Table 6.5 reports the results of univariate tests of ACARs for the HO-share sample over 

the period 2005-2008 (columns 1 to 6) and 2006-2007 (columns 7 to 12). Similar to the results for 

the BO-share sample, the HO-share sample shows no evidence of their information gap being 

influenced by the 2007 reforms. Table 6.5 shows that although the post-reform ACARs are higher 

than their pre-reform counterparts, only in windows [-30, +2] and [-60, +2] are the post-reform 

ACARs significantly higher than their pre-reform counterparts. Table 6.5 also shows that the 

percentage of companies with higher post-reform ACARs is higher than the percentage of 

companies with lower post-reform ACARs, but this difference is only significant at the 10% level 

in windows [-1, +2] and [-2, +2] during the period 2005-2008, and significant at the 1% level in 

window [-30, +2] during the period 2006-2007. These results generally support hypothesis H4.99   

Table 6.6 reports the statistical test results of ACARs for the AHH-share sample. In this 

table, the ACARs are higher in the post-reform period than in the pre-reform period. With regard 

to the mean pre-reform ACARs, they are significantly higher than their pre-reform counterparts 

in event windows [-5, +2], [-10, +2], [-30, +2], and [-60, +2]. The median pre-reform ACARs are 

generally significantly higher than their pre-reform counterparts, except for windows [-1, +2] and 

[-5, 2] over the period 2006-2007.100 These results do not support hypothesis H5 and suggest that 

the information gap of AHH-shares increased significantly in the post-reform period.

                                                           
98 Appendix 6.11 reports the ACARs of the AHH-share sample in the six windows in each year during the 2005-2008. 
99 Appendix 6.12 reports the statistical test results of semi-annual and annual ACARs for the HO-share sample over 
2005-2008. In all window periods, the post-reform mean ACARs are higher than their pre-reform counterparts, but 
only in windows [-30, +2] and [-60, +2] are the differences significant at the 5% level or better. 
100 Appendix 6.13 reports the statistical test results of semi-annual and annual ACARs for the AHH-share sample 
over 2005-2008. In windows [-1, +2], [-2, +2] and [-5, +2], the post-reform ACARs for semi-annual earnings 
announcements are higher than their corresponding pre-reform ACARs. In windows [-5, +2], [-10, +2], and [-60, +2], 
all pre-reform ACARs are higher than their corresponding pre-reform ACARs. It is also notable that in windows [-1, +2] 
and [-2, +2], the post-reform ACARs are lower than their pre-reform counterparts.  
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Table 6.5 
Pre- and Post-reform ACARs for the HO-share Sample

a 

Column (1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6) (7) (8) (9) (10) (11) (12) 

 Period 2005-2008 Period 2006-2007 

 [-1, +2] [-2, +2] [-5, +2] [-10, +2] [-30, +2] [-60, +2] [-1, +2] [-2, +2] [-5, +2] [-10, +2] [-30, +2] [-60, +2] 

Mean 

Pre-reform 0.055 0.054 0.060 0.067 0.096 0.158 0.048 0.044 0.046 0.055 0.079 0.131 

Post-reform 0.089 0.070 0.097 0.098 0.208 0.255 0.123 0.067 0.123 0.114 0.214 0.288 

Difference 0.035 0.016 0.037 0.031 0.112 0.097 0.076 0.023 0.077 0.060 0.135 0.157 

p-value
b 0.193 0.141 0.175 0.224 0.000*** 0.028** 0.146 0.152 0.132 0.190 0.005*** 0.027** 

Median 

Pre-reform 0.038 0.037 0.045 0.040 0.068 0.117 0.030 0.030 0.032 0.036 0.063 0.106 

Post-reform 0.046 0.058 0.046 0.058 0.146 0.147 0.050 0.052 0.056 0.053 0.152 0.165 

Difference 0.006 0.013 0.004 0.015 0.072 0.001 0.021 0.014 0.012 0.024 0.079 0.047 

p-value 0.607 0.107 0.327 0.228 0.000*** 0.308 0.327 0.180 0.174 0.323 0.003*** 0.141 

% of Companies with Higher or Lower Post-reform ACARs  

% of Companies with 
Higher Post-reform 
ACAR 

61.90% 63.04% 54.76% 56.52% 76.92% 52.17% 71.43% 69.57% 61.90% 60.87% 65.38% 60.87% 

% of Companies with 
Lower Post-reform 
ACAR 

38.10% 36.96% 45.24% 43.48% 23.08% 47.83% 28.57% 30.43% 38.10% 39.13% 34.62% 39.13% 

p-value 0.078* 0.093* 0.383 0.405 0.169 0.405 0.164 0.104 0.644 0.461 0.000*** 0.883 

No. of Observations 84 92 84 92 104 92 42 46 42 46 52 46 
a 

Over the period 2005-2008, the pre-reform period is from 01/01/2005 to 31/12/2006, and the post-reform period is from 01/01/2007 to 31/12/2008; over the period 2006-2007, 
the pre-reform period is from 01/01/2006 to 31/12/2006, and the post-reform period is from 01/01/2007 to 31/12/2007. Shares listed on HKEx are only required to disclose semi-
annual and annual earnings. ACAR is the absolute cumulative abnormal return from x days before to 2 days after the earnings announcement. Abnormal returns are prediction errors 
from the market model. 
b 

P-values are two-sided. P-values for means are from t-tests of the difference between the pre- and post-reform means. For medians, p-values are from Wilcoxon two-sample tests; 
p-values for differences in percentage of lower/higher post-reform ACARs are from binomial tests. ***, ** and * indicate significant at or better than the 1%, 5% and 10% two-sided 

levels, respectively.  
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Table 6.6 
Pre- and Post-reform ACARs for the AHH-share Sample

a 

Column (1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6) (7) (8) (9) (10) (11) (12) 

 Period 2005-2008 Period 2006-2007 

 [-1, +2] [-2, +2] [-5, +2] [-10, +2] [-30, +2] [-60, +2] [-1, +2] [-2, +2] [-5, +2] [-10, +2] [-30, +2] [-60, +2] 

Mean 

Pre-reform 0.058 0.050 0.045 0.066 0.094 0.147 0.053 0.042 0.049 0.071 0.102 0.158 

Post-reform 0.069 0.064 0.084 0.105 0.154 0.238 0.064 0.062 0.077 0.102 0.144 0.225 

Difference 0.011 0.014 0.039 0.039 0.060 0.090 0.011 0.020 0.028 0.031 0.042 0.067 

p-value 0.401 0.296 0.000*** 0.008*** 0.002*** 0.006*** 0.453 0.180 0.081* 0.091* 0.066* 0.080* 

Median 

Pre-reform 0.038 0.031 0.036 0.043 0.075 0.119 0.030 0.025 0.044 0.061 0.081 0.124 

Post-reform 0.062 0.047 0.062 0.080 0.119 0.178 0.048 0.049 0.056 0.083 0.121 0.204 

Difference 0.014 0.009 0.021 0.029 0.047 0.054 0.007 0.013 0.016 0.024 0.029 0.021 

p-value 0.042** 0.011** 0.002*** 0.000*** 0.000*** 0.010** 0.278 0.041** 0.177 0.072* 0.011** 0.059* 

% of Companies with Higher or Lower Post-reform ACARs  

% of Companies with 
Higher Post-reform 
ACAR 

59.68% 60.94% 66.13% 72.06% 63.89% 54.55% 54.84% 62.50% 64.52% 73.53% 63.89% 57.58% 

% of Companies with 
Lower Post-reform 
ACAR 

40.32% 39.06% 33.87% 27.94% 36.11% 45.45% 45.16% 37.50% 35.48% 26.47% 36.11% 42.42% 

p-value 0.162 0.103 0.015** 0.000*** 0.025** 0.539 0.720 0.215 0.150 0.009*** 0.133 0.487 

No. of observations 124 128 124 136 144 132 62 64 62 68 72 66 
a 

Over the period 2005-2008, the pre-reform period is from 01/01/2005 to 31/12/2006, and the post-reform period is from 01/01/2007 to 31/12/2008; over the 
period 2006-2007, the pre-reform period is from 01/01/2006 to 31/12/2006, and the post-reform period is from 01/01/2007 to 31/12/2007. Shares listed on HKEx 
are only required to disclose semi-annual and annual earnings. ACAR is the absolute cumulative abnormal return from x days before to 2 days after the earnings 
announcement. Abnormal returns are prediction errors from the market model. 
b 

P-values are two-sided. P-values for means are from t-tests of the difference between the pre- and post-reform means. For medians, p-values are from Wilcoxon 
two-sample tests; p-values for differences in percentage of lower/higher post-reform ACARs are from binomial tests. ***, ** and * indicate significant at or better 

than the 1%, 5% and 10% two-sided levels, respectively.  
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6.4.4 Summary 

Table 6.7 presents a summary of univariate test results for the five types of shares 

examined. The post-reform ACARs for the A-share, ABB-share, and AHH-share samples are 

significantly higher than their pre-reform counterparts, suggesting that the size of the 

information gap for the A-share, ABB-share, and AHH-share samples increased significantly in the 

post-reform period. For the BO-shares and HO-share samples, the ACARs did not change 

significantly over both periods 2005-2008 and 2006-2007, suggesting that the size of the 

information gap did not change in the post-reform period. 

The difference in the ACAR changes between the BO-share and ABB-share samples, and 

between the HO-share and AHH-share samples, can be explained by the potential information 

flow from the Chinese A-share market to the Chinese B-share market and HKEx before the 2007 

reforms. Prior to the reforms, selective disclosure to local Chinese financial analysts was common, 

and information could flow to the Chinese B-share market and HKEx, resulting in more 

information for the ABB-share and AHH-share samples and consequently there was a smaller 

information gap for the ABB-share and AHH-share samples. Since the reforms, the prohibition of 

selective disclosure has caused less inside information to be disclosed to privileged insiders and 

an increase in the size of the information gap for the A-share, ABB-share, and AHH-share samples. 

In contrast, the BO-share and HO-share samples, which should not be affected by any changes in 

information flows relating to the A-share sample, showed no significant changes in the size of 

their information gaps. 

In conclusion, the univariate test results support hypotheses H2 and H4 that the 2007 

reforms had no influence on the information gap of the BO-share and HO-share samples. The 

results cannot support hypotheses H1, H3 and H5, suggesting that the 2007 reforms significantly 

affected the information gap of the A-share, ABB-share, and AHH-share samples.
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Table 6.7 
Summary of Univariate Test Results 

Sample Period 2005-2008 Period 2006-2007 

A-share 
Post-reform ACARs are significantly 
higher than pre-reform ACARs 

Post-reform ACARs are significantly 
higher than pre-reform ACARs 

BO-share  
Post-reform ACARs are not significantly 
higher than pre-reform ACARs 

Post-reform ACARs are not 
significantly higher than pre-reform 
ACARs 

ABB-share 
Post-reform ACARs are generally 
significantly higher than pre-reform 
ACARs 

Post-reform ACARs are generally 
significantly higher than pre-reform 
ACARs 

HO-share 
Post-reform ACARs are generally not 
significantly higher than pre-reform 
ACARs 

Post-reform ACARs are generally not 
significantly higher than pre-reform 
ACARs 

AHH-share 
Post-reform ACARs are generally 
significantly higher than pre-reform 
ACARs 

Post-reform ACARs are significantly 
higher than pre-reform ACARs only at 
the level 10% 

 

6.5 The multivariate test results 

6.5.1 The impact of the 2007 reforms on the Chinese A-shares 

The multivariate test is employed to control for factors other than the 2007 reforms that 

could influence the level of information asymmetry in the Chinese stock market. The sample 

selection for the multivariate test ensures that each pre-reform and corresponding post-reform 

quarter contains the same companies, largely by controlling for stationary company-specific 

factors.101 The first set of control variables, used to account for inherent price variability, is 

            and            . The second set of variables, used to control for pre-

announcement information precision, is             and            . The third set of variables, 

used to control for the earnings surprise that is unrelated to the 2007 reforms, is          , 

         ,            and           . The last control variable,        , is used to control for 

differences in the companies’ growth prospects that could affect the price response to earnings 

announcements. The pooled cross-sectional and time-series linear regression model is as follows. 

The model is estimated by OLS. 

                                                           
101

 The multivariate test results for the whole sample are still qualitatively the same. 
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                                                                                                                                           (6.1) 

Variable Definitions: 

         : The absolute cumulative abnormal return for share i around the 

announcement of quarter q earnings of year y. This is the dependent variable measuring the size 

of the information gap of share i at the earnings announcement. 

     : A dummy variable, equal to 1 when data are observed in year 2007 or 2008, and 

zero if data are observed in year 2005 or 2006. It is the 2007 reforms indicator, which is 

employed to examine the impact of the 2007 reforms on the information gap around earnings 

announcements. If the 2007 reforms reduce the size of the information gap in the market, 

        should be negatively related to        , i.e.,     . 

           :  The absolute cumulative daily abnormal stock returns from 60 days before 

to 2 days after the quarter q’s earnings announcement for share i in year y.102 It is measured as:                    

            |∏ (       )   
  
    

|                                                 (6.2) 

where    is the 60th trading day before the earnings announcement, and   is the second 

trading day after the earnings announcement.       is the daily abnormal return for share i for 

day t of year y. The estimation window spans 180 trading days before the start of quarter q and 

the event window spans the whole quarter q.             is used to measure the inherent 

information asymmetry, as company-quarters with larger total information flow are expected to 

have larger information gaps and ACARs at any given time (Heflin et al., 2003).103 Therefore, 

                                                           
102

  This equals to its corresponding ACAR for the accumulation window [-60, +2].  
103

 Using Maynes and Rumsey (1993) model to estimate ABSCAR yields qualitatively similar results. 
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            is posited to be positively related to          , i.e.,      (Jegadeesh & Titman, 

1993). 

           : A dummy variable, equal to 1 if the cumulative daily abnormal stock returns 

from 60 days before to 2 days after the quarter q’s earnings announcement of share i in year y is 

negative, and zero otherwise. This variable is employed to control for price variability. Black 

(1976) and Christie (1982) suggest that the movement of price is much greater when the price is 

decreasing compared to when the price is increasing. Therefore,             is posited to be 

positively related to          , i.e.,     . 

         : The standard deviation of share i’s abnormal returns during the market 

model estimation period for the relevant pre-reform quarter. It is used to control for company-

specific inherent price variability, which reflects the level of information asymmetry of companies 

(Dierkens, 1991). The inherent information asymmetry is expected to influence the size of the 

information gap before the earnings announcement. Thus             is expected to be 

positively related to          , i.e.,      (Heflin et al., 2003). 

           :  The natural logarithm of total assets of share i measured at the end of 

quarter q in year y. This is used as the proxy for company size and to control for the effects of size 

on information asymmetry.104  Prior literature suggests that large companies are expected to 

disclose more information and have a lower level of information asymmetry than small 

companies (Brown et al., 1999; Chari, Jagannathan, & Ofer, 1988). Thus,             is posited to 

be negatively related to          , i.e.,     . 

                                                           
104

 I also use the natural logarithm of average market value of total shares and average market value of tradable 
shares as proxies for company size. The results are quantitatively similar.  
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         : The financial leverage of share i is calculated as: (long-term debt + debt within 

one year)/total assets.105 High financial leverage of a company will increase variability of earnings 

and make it difficult to forecast earnings (Liu et al., 2011; Opdyke & Lucchetti, 2000). Thus, 

          is expected to be positively related to          , i.e.,     . 

         : A dummy variable, equal to 1 if share i reported losses in quarter q of year y, 

and zero otherwise. It is used to control for earnings surprises as well as the ability of the market 

to forecast earnings (Heflin et al, 2003).           is expected to be positively related to 

         , i.e.,     . 

          : This variable also captures the degree of earning surprise. It is the absolute 

difference between this quarter’s EPS of share i and the EPS in the corresponding quarter in the 

previous year, scaled by the 2006 year-end share price (Heflin et al, 2003). It is expected that the 

earning surprise is positively related to          , i.e.,     . 

          : A dummy variable, equal to 1 if EPS in quarter q is less than EPS in last year’s 

corresponding quarter, and zero otherwise.            is posited to cause the market to be less 

able to forecast the upcoming EPS. Thus,            is expected to be positively related to 

         , i.e.,     . 

       : The price/earnings ratio for share i at the end of quarter q of year y.         is used 

as a proxy for expected growth in earnings, since prior research argues that growth expectations 

increase stock price responses to earnings (Chiang et al., 2008; Liu & Liu, 2007). Thus,         is 

expected to be positively related to          , i.e.,      . 

Table 6.8 reports the descriptive statistics and correlation coefficients of the control 

variables in model 6.1. Panel A on Table 6.8 shows the descriptive summary. The average 

                                                           
105

           is set equal to zero if the leverage is less than zero.  
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absolute cumulative abnormal return (           ) is 18.4 percent and cumulative abnormal 

returns are negative for over 54 percent of our company-quarters (           ). The average 

standard deviation of daily returns (           ) is 0.021. The average total assets (       ) is 

RMB 5,603 million and the average leverage ratio is 8 percent. The sample companies report 

losses in over 11.4 percent of our quarters (         ).  

On average, the current quarter’s earnings differ from the same quarter’s earnings in the 

previous year by 1.9 percent (          ), and in 37.3 percent of our company-quarters, the 

current quarter’s earnings are lower than those of the same quarter in the previous year. The 

mean price/earnings ratio is 48.68 (       ).  

Panel A also shows the pre- and post-reform means and medians of these control 

variables. The post-reform means and medians are significantly different (p = 0.05 or better, two-

sided) from their pre-reform counterparts for all control variables, with the exception of 

          because of the definition of this variable. It is notable that the post-reform 

            is significantly higher than its pre-reform counterpart, suggesting a larger total 

information flow during the quarter in the post-reform period. 

Panel B reports the correlation matrix between the variables. The correlations between 

      and other variables are all significant but not large, i.e., less than 0.10 in magnitude, with 

the exception of             and          . The correlation between       and             

is 0.232, and       is not correlated with          . Most of the control variables are modestly 

but significantly correlated with each other, with the exception of the correlations between 

          and            (0.266) and between           and            (0.233), which are 

highly significant. Although a number of the correlations among the control variables reported in 

Panel B of Table 6.8 are statistically significant, variance inflation factors (not tabulated) are less 

than 5, suggesting multicollinearity is not likely to be a serious problem.  
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Table 6.8 
Descriptive Statistics and Correlation Coefficients of Variables for the A-share Sample (excludes Q1)a

 

Panel A: Descriptive Summary 

 ABSCAR NEGCAR RETVAR TA (million) LEVG LOSS ABSUE NEGUE PE 

Mean 

Total 0.184 0.540 0.021 5603.098 0.080 0.114 0.019 0.373 48.684 

Pre-reform 0.146 0.551 0.021 4561.738 0.076 0.121 0.017 0.418 39.702 

Post-reform 0.222 0.529 0.021 6644.458 0.083 0.106 0.021 0.328 57.665 

p-value
b 0.000*** 0.097* NA 0.003*** 0.013** 0.081* 0.000*** 0.000*** 0.008*** 

Median 

Total 0.142 1.000 0.021 2210.097 0.041 0.000 0.007 0.000 32.622 

Pre-reform 0.117 1.000 0.021 1977.265 0.040 0.000 0.006 0.000 25.388 

Post-reform 0.180 1.000 0.021 2493.367 0.044 0.000 0.009 0.000 42.122 

p-value 0.000*** 0.097* NA 0.000*** 0.107 0.081* 0.000*** 0.000*** 0.000*** 

Standard Deviation 

Total 0.162 0.498 0.005 26008.192 0.102 0.318 0.034 0.484 250.268 

Pre-reform 0.127 0.497 0.005 21656.702 0.099 0.327 0.033 0.493 128.703 

Post-reform 0.183 0.499 0.005 29697.102 0.106 0.308 0.035 0.469 329.493 

Panel B: Pearson Correlation Coefficient 

 ABSCAR NEGCAR RETVAR TA LEVG LOSS ABSUE NEGUE PE 

POST 0.232 -0.022 0.000 0.040 0.034 -0.024 0.059 -0.094 0.036 

ABSCAR  0.009 0.120 0.022 0.016 0.043 0.050 -0.023 0.019 

NEGCAR   0.061 -0.015 -0.023 0.018 0.001 -0.002 0.039 

RETVAR    -0.097 -0.060 0.058 0.011 -0.008 0.024 

TA     0.103 -0.033 0.016 -0.017 -0.013 

LEVG      0.025 0.095 0.033 -0.0228 

LOSS       0.266 0.233 0.005 

ABSUE        0.071 -0.052 

NEGUE         -0.008 
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Table 6.8 (continued) 
a
 Variable definitions:      =1 if the observation is from period 1/1/2007-31/12/2008, and zero if the observation is from period 1/1/2005-

31/12/2006.             is the absolute value of the cumulative abnormal return from 60 working days before to two days after the 

earnings announcement;             = 1 if the cumulative abnormal return from 60 working days before to two days after the earnings 

announcement is negative, and zero otherwise;             is the standard deviation of the abnormal returns during the market model 

estimation period for the pre-reform quarter;         is the total assets of share i at the end of quarter q;           is the leverage ratio of 

share i at the end of quarter q, calculated as (long-term debt + debt within one year)/total assets;           = 1 if share i reported losses in 

quarter q, and zero otherwise;            is the absolute value of share i’s EPS in quarter q in year y minus its EPS in quarter q in year y-1, 

and then scaled by its 2006 year-end share price;            = 1 if share i’s EPS in quarter q in year y is higher than its EPS in quarter q in 

year y-1, and zero otherwise;         is the price/earnings ratio of share i in quarter q. Observations from the first-quarter in each year are 

excluded from the sample because it is hard to isolate the effects of information other than the first-quarter earnings.  
b
 P-values are two-sided. P-values for means are from t-tests of the difference between the pre- and post-reform means. For medians, p-

values are from Wilcoxon two-sample tests; p-values for differences in percentage of lower/higher post-reform ACARs are from binomial 

tests. ***, ** and * indicate significant at or better than the 1%, 5% and 10% two-sided levels, respectively.   
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Table 6.9 presents the regression results for equation 6.1 in each of the six accumulation 

windows over the period 2005-2008. All continuous variables in this model are winsorised at 99th 

percentiles of the distributions of their absolute values so as to reduce the possible influence of 

extreme observations. Furthermore,            ,          , and            are normalized by 

taking the square roots, and         is normalized by log transformation. 

The       coefficients are positive and significant at the 1% level for all six accumulation 

windows, suggesting that the information gap became larger after the 2007 reforms.106 The 

results are consistent with the univariate test results reported in Table 6.4 and do not support 

hypothesis H1. These results show that after controlling for other variables that could influence 

the ACARs, the ACARs still increased in the post-reform period. This is contrary to my prior 

expectation that the reforms would improve the information environment of the Chinese stock 

market by reducing the ACARs around earnings announcements and lower the level of 

information asymmetry in the post-reform period. As already noted, one potential explanation 

for this result is that the prohibition of selective disclosure from management to selected 

investors worsened the information environment in the Chinese stock market. Chapter 7 tests 

the explanation in more detail by examining the adverse selection component of bid-ask spread 

before and after the earnings announcement in the pre-reform and post-reform periods. 

Table 6.9 shows that the           coefficients are positive as expected and significant 

at the 10% level or better, suggesting that shares with greater past price variability experienced 

greater ACARs. This is in line with the findings in Heflin et al. (2003). The negative coefficients on 

            are significant only for the shorter windows [-1, +2], [-2, +2] and [-5, +2]. This result 

is contrary to that of Heflin et al. (2003) and is also not consistent with my prior expectations.

                                                           
106

 I also introduce industry dummies into model 6.1 so as to control for the possibility that domination of industry 

membership create some potential clustering effect. The results are quantitatively the same. 
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Table 6.9 
Regression Results when the Dependent Variable is ACAR for the A-share Sample for Period 

2005-2008 (excludes Q1)a 

                                                                                         

                                                         

Variable 
Expected 

Sign 

Accumulation Window 

[-1, +2] [-2, +2] [-5, +2] [-10, +2] [-30, +2] [-60, +2] 

Intercept 
0.072*** 
(5.677) 

0.063*** 
(4.644) 

0.036** 
(2.253) 

0.058*** 
(2.876) 

-0.032 
(-1.156) 

0.125*** 
(2.589) 

POST ? 
0.014*** 
(12.688) 

0.014*** 
(12.159) 

0.015*** 
(11.259) 

0.018*** 
(10.695) 

0.018*** 
(7.533) 

0.072*** 
(17.881) 

ABSCAR +ve 
0.026*** 
(8.976) 

0.033*** 
(10.469) 

0.062*** 
(16.641) 

0.104*** 
(22.045) 

0.323*** 
(49.225)  

NEGCAR +ve 
-0.002** 
(-2.232) 

-0.003*** 
(-2.994) 

-0.003** 
(-2.049) 

-0.002 
(-1.270) 

-0.003 
(-1.106) 

0.003 
(0.895) 

RETVAR +ve 
0.202* 
(1.786) 

0.432*** 
(3.561) 

0.736*** 
(5.153) 

0.695*** 
(3.899) 

0.919*** 
(3.630) 

3.600*** 
(8.355) 

Ln(TA) -ve 
-0.002*** 
(-3.987) 

-0.002*** 
(-3.399) 

-0.001 
(-1.639) 

-0.002** 
(-2.574) 

0.000 
(-0.226) 

-0.003 
(-1.548) 

LEVG +ve 
-0.004 

(-1.444) 
-0.003 

(-1.113) 
-0.002 

(-0.642) 
0.000 

(-0.061) 
0.002 

(0.231) 
0.023** 
(2.105) 

LOSS +ve 
0.005*** 
(3.175) 

0.007*** 
(3.713) 

0.007*** 
(3.249) 

0.011*** 
(3.807) 

0.009** 
(2.281) 

0.012* 
(1.782) 

ABSUE +ve 
0.015** 
(2.198) 

0.014* 
(1.871) 

0.009 
(1.112) 

0.004 
(0.387) 

0.024 
(1.591) 

0.089*** 
(3.476) 

NEGUE +ve 
0.002 

(1.593) 
0.003** 
(2.286) 

0.001 
(1.023) 

0.000 
(0.226) 

-0.004* 
(-1.645) 

-0.004 
(-0.915) 

PE +ve 
0.000 

(1.050) 
0.000** 
(2.024) 

0.000 
(1.246) 

0.000 
(1.382) 

0.000*** 
(2.644) 

0.000*** 
(2.878) 

n
c  5,452 5,420 5,472 5,224 5,144 5,988 

Adj. R
2
  0.065 0.073 0.100 0.137 0.365 0.073 

F-test  38.62 43.58 61.74 84.04 297.01 53.28 
a
 Variable definitions:           is the absolute cumulative abnormal return from x days before to 2 days after the 

earnings announcement. Abnormal returns are prediction errors from the market model.      =1 if the 

observation is from period 1/1/2007-31/12/2008 and zero if the observation is from period 1/1/2005-31/12/2006. 
            is the absolute value of the cumulative abnormal return from 60 working days before to two days 

after the earnings announcement;            =1 if the cumulative abnormal return from 60 working days before 

to two days after the earnings announcement is negative, and zero otherwise;             is the standard 

deviation of the abnormal returns during the market model estimation period for the pre-reform quarter; 
             is the natural logarithm of total assets of share i at the end of quarter q;           is the leverage ratio 

of share i at the end of quarter q, calculated as (long-term debt + debt within one year)/total assets;          =1 if 

share i reported losses in quarter q, and zero otherwise;            is the absolute value of share i’s EPS in quarter 

q in year y minus its EPS in quarter q in year y-1, and then scaled by its 2006 year-end share price;            = 1 

if share i’s EPS in quarter q in year y is higher than its EPS in quarter q in year y-1, and zero otherwise;         is the 

price/earnings ratio of share i in quarter q. First quarter observations in each year are excluded from the sample 
because it is hard to isolate the effects of information other than the first-quarter earnings.  
b
 Numbers in parentheses are t statistic values. ***, ** and * indicate significant at or better than the 1%, 5% and 

10% two-sided levels, respectively. 
c
 n is the number of observations. The reason that n is various is that the sample in each event window must be 

traded for at least a half day during the window. 



163 
 

The             coefficients are positive and generally significant, consistent with the 

notion that the information gap before the earnings announcement is positively related to the 

amount of information flow over the quarter. This result is consistent with the findings of Heflin 

et al. (2003). 

The             coefficients are negative and consistent with my prior expectations, 

although they are not significant for windows [-5, +2], [-30, +2] and [-60, +2]. The results suggest 

that the information gap between management and the market decreases with an increase in 

company size. This is in line with the empirical findings of Chari et al. (1988) and Brown et al. 

(1999). 

The positive coefficients on           are consistent with my prior expectations. The 

coefficients are all significant at the 5% level or better, suggesting that the losses are significantly 

related to information asymmetry and cause the pre-announcement stock prices to deviate more 

than from full-information prices. This is consistent with the findings of Huang et al. (2009). 

The coefficients of            are positive and consistent with my prior expectations but 

only significant for windows [-1, +2], [-2, +2], and [-60, +2]. The coefficients on            are 

general positive and consistent with my prior expectations but only significant for window [-5, 

+2]. The coefficient is also significantly negative for window [-30, +2]. Overall, these results, 

together with the results for           , indicate that earnings surprises impair the investor’s 

ability to forecast the upcoming earnings and lead to a larger information gap. 

The coefficients on            are only positive and significant at the 5% level for window 

[-60, +2]. The         coefficients are positive but only significant for windows [-2, +2], [-30, +2] 

and [-60, +2], suggesting a greater price reaction to earnings announcements for high growth 

companies. 
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In summary, the estimation results of the cross-sectional regression model 6.1 suggest 

that, after controlling for other factors that could influence the size of the information gap, the 

impact of the 2007 reforms has been to increase the information gap. This is not consistent with 

my prior expectations and does not support hypothesis H1. One potential explanation for the 

increase in the information gap is that the prohibition of selective disclosure has restricted the 

flow of information to certain investors. In the absence of informed investors, the share price 

displays a greater reaction to the release of new information contained in the earnings 

announcements. 

6.5.2 Robustness tests 

6.5.2.1 Year dummy variables 

To control for fixed year effects, I introduce three year dummy variables for the dummy 

variable       in the regression model 6.1. Dummy variables      ,      , and       are set 

to equal 1 if the observation is  from the years 2006, 2007, and 2008 respectively, and zero 

otherwise.  The regression model is the following: 

                                                                    

                                                                

                                                                                                                             (6.3) 

Table 6.10 presents the estimation results for equation 6.3 in each of the six accumulation 

windows over the period 2005-2008. The       coefficients are generally positive and significant 

only for the longer windows [-30, +2] and [-60, +2], indicating that ACARs were relatively constant 

over the pre-reform period (from 2005 to 2006). The coefficients of       and       are all 

positive, consistent with the positive coefficients for the       variable in Table 6.9, suggesting 

that ACARs rose significantly after the 2007 reforms.  
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Table 6.10 
Regression Results when the Dependent Variable is ACAR for the A-share Sample for period 2005-2008 with 

Year Dummies (Excludes Q1)
a 

                                                                                 

                                                                             

        

Variable 
Expected 

Sign 

Accumulation Windows 

[-1, +2] [-2, +2] [-5, +2] [-10, +2] [-30, +2] [-60, +2] 

Intercept 
0.072*** 
(5.648) 

0.064*** 
(4.669) 

0.037** 
(2.272) 

0.060*** 
(2.959) 

-0.034 
(-1.204) 

0.108** 
(2.242) 

2006 ? 
-0.001 

(-0.521) 
0.000 

(-0.153) 
0.002 

(1.062) 
0.002 

(0.720) 
0.014*** 
(4.387) 

0.030*** 
(5.479) 

2007 -ve 
0.014*** 
(8.999) 

0.014*** 
(8.288) 

0.016*** 
(8.165) 

0.017*** 
(7.120) 

0.025*** 
(7.237) 

0.097*** 
(17.216) 

2008 -ve 
0.013*** 
(8.664) 

0.014*** 
(8.945) 

0.017*** 
(9.001) 

0.021*** 
(8.908) 

0.027*** 
(7.954) 

0.077*** 
(13.827) 

ABSCAR +ve 
0.026*** 
(8.953) 

0.033*** 
(10.464) 

0.062*** 
(16.520) 

0.104*** 
(21.988) 

0.321*** 
(48.871)  

NEGCAR +ve 
-0.002** 
(-2.248) 

-0.003*** 
(-2.940) 

-0.003** 
(-2.020) 

-0.002 
(-1.181) 

-0.003 
(-1.271) 

0.002 
(0.505) 

RETVAR +ve 
0.203* 
(1.793) 

0.430*** 
(3.545) 

0.735*** 
(5.144) 

0.689*** 
(3.869) 

0.925*** 
(3.657) 

3.626*** 
(8.444) 

Ln(TA) -ve 
-0.002*** 
(-3.929) 

-0.002*** 
(-3.418) 

-0.001* 
(-1.717) 

-0.002*** 
(-2.697) 

-0.001 
(-0.415) 

-0.003 
(-1.514) 

LEVG +ve 
-0.004 

(-1.455) 
-0.003 

(-1.095) 
-0.002 

(-0.627) 
-0.000 

(-0.015) 
0.001 

(0.225) 
0.021* 
(1.938) 

LOSS +ve 
0.005*** 
(3.193) 

0.007*** 
(3.701) 

0.007*** 
(3.217) 

0.010*** 
(3.768) 

0.009** 
(2.188) 

0.012* 
(1.762) 

ABSUE +ve 
0.015** 
(2.207) 

0.013* 
(1.853) 

0.009 
(1.095) 

0.004 
(0.334) 

0.024 
(1.599) 

0.092*** 
(3.588) 

NEGUE +ve 
0.002 

(1.600) 
0.003** 
(2.221) 

0.001 
(1.008) 

0.000 
(0.106) 

-0.004 
(-1.468) 

-0.002 
(-0.390) 

PE +ve 
0.000 

(1.032) 
0.000** 
(2.055) 

0.000 
(1.248) 

0.000 
(1.460) 

0.000** 
(2.552) 

0.000** 
(2.479) 

number of observations 5,452 5,420 5,472 5,224 5,144 5,988 

Adj. R2  0.064 0.073 0.100 0.137 0.367 0.079 

F-test  32.22 36.33 51.59 70.35 250.00 47.72 
a
 Variable definitions:           is the absolute cumulative abnormal return from x days before to 2 days after the 

earnings announcement. Abnormal returns are prediction errors from the market model.       = 1 if the observation is 

from year 2006 and zero otherwise;       = 1 if the observation is from year 2007 and zero otherwise;       = 1 if the 

observation is from year 2008 and zero otherwise;             is the absolute value of the cumulative abnormal return 

from 60 working days before to two days after the earnings announcement;             = 1 if the cumulative abnormal 

return from 60 working days before to two days after the earnings announcement is negative, and zero otherwise; 
            is the standard deviation of the abnormal returns during the market model estimation period for the pre-

reform quarter;              is the logarithm of total assets of share i at the end of quarter q;           is the leverage ratio 

of share i at the end of quarter q, calculated as (long-term debt + debt within one year)/total assets;           = 1 if share i 

reported losses in quarter q, and zero otherwise;            is the absolute value of share i’s EPS in quarter q in year y 

minus its EPS in quarter q in year y-1, and then scaled by its 2006 year-end share price;            = 1 if share i’s EPS in 

quarter q in year y is higher than its EPS in quarter q in year y-1, and zero otherwise;         is the price/earnings ratio of 

share i in quarter q. Observations from the first-quarter in each year are excluded from the sample because it is hard to 
isolate the effects of information other than the first-quarter earnings.  
b
 Numbers in parentheses are t statistic values. ***, ** and * indicate significant at or better than the 1%, 5% and 10% 

two-sided levels, respectively. 
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The estimation results for the other control variables are qualitatively the same as in 

Table 6.9. The coefficients on            ,           and           are all positive and 

significant for all windows, consistent with my prior expectations. The coefficients on             

are negative for all windows. The coefficients of other variables are generally consistent with my 

prior expectations and significant for some of the event windows, except for the coefficients on 

            and          , which are not consistent with my prior expectations. 

6.5.2.2 Restricted sample period 

The Chinese stock market experienced a significant fall in stock prices over the period 

from October 2007 to October 2008, with the SSE index falling from 6,092 to 1,678 in one year. 

This large price movement suggests that the estimation of the abnormal return will have a large 

standard error. To mitigate any impact of the global financial crisis on the results, I restrict the 

sample period to the years 2006-2007, i.e., one year immediately before and after the reform. 

The regression model is:107 

                                                              

                                                                            

                                                                                                                                                  (6.4) 

      equals 1 if the observation is from year 2007, and zero if the observation is from 

year 2006. The definitions of other variables are the same as those in equation 6.1. 

Table 6.11 reports the estimation results for equation 6.4 in the six accumulation 

windows over the period 2006-2007. The coefficients on           are positive and significant at 

the 1% level, suggesting the ACARs increased significantly from 2006 to 2007. In addition, the 

                                                           
107

 Due to the lag of earnings disclosure in this sample period, I study the price responses to 2005Q4, 2006Q1, 
2006Q2, and 2006Q3 earnings announcements, which occurred before the 2007 reforms, as well as the price 
responses to 2006Q4, 2007Q1, 2007Q2, and 2007Q3 earnings announcements, which occurred after the 2007 
reforms. The Chinese stock market began to decline in October 2007, so I assume that the share prices were not 
affected by the financial crisis until October 2007. Thus, I set the post-reform period in this case as the four quarters 
immediately after the 2007 reforms. 
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coefficients on other control variables are also qualitatively the same as in Table 6.9. These 

results show that the global financial crisis was not responsible for the increase in the 

information gap in the post-reform period. 

Table 6.11 
Regression Results when the Dependent Variable is ACARs for the A-share Sample for Period 2006-2007 

(excludes Q1)
a 

                                                                                         

                                                         

Variable 
Expected 

Sign 

Accumulation Window 

[-1, +2] [-2, +2] [-5, +2] [-10, +2] [-30, +2] [-60, +2] 

Intercept  
0.096*** 
(5.370) 

0.096*** 
(5.117) 

0.068*** 
(2.977) 

0.102*** 
(3.608) 

0.026 
(0.614) 

0.000 
(1.194) 

2007 +ve 
0.015*** 
(10.224) 

0.014*** 
(9.012) 

0.014*** 
(7.440) 

0.017*** 
(7.184) 

0.011*** 
(3.070) 

0.067*** 
(11.434) 

ABSCAR +ve 
0.021*** 
(5.170) 

0.029*** 
(6.943) 

0.059*** 
(11.425) 

0.088*** 
(13.781) 

0.317*** 
(33.413)  

NEGCAR +ve 
-0.004*** 
(-2.949) 

-0.005*** 
(-3.044) 

-0.003 
(-1.521) 

-0.003 
(-1.332) 

-0.008** 
(-2.347) 

0.020*** 
(3.541) 

RETVAR +ve 
0.165 

(1.046) 
0.206 

(1.234) 
0.671*** 
(3.318) 

0.520** 
(2.091) 

1.039*** 
(2.754) 

4.784*** 
(7.942) 

Ln(TA) -ve 
-0.003*** 
(-3.995) 

-0.003*** 
(-3.969) 

-0.003** 
(-2.530) 

-0.004*** 
(-3.181) 

-0.003 
(-1.466) 

0.001** 
(2.091) 

LEVG +ve 
-0.002 

(-0.544) 
-0.001 

(-0.195) 
0.000 

(0.014) 
0.007 

(1.135) 
0.004 

(0.457) 
0.019 

(1.199) 

LOSS +ve 
0.005** 
(2.150) 

0.008*** 
(3.138) 

0.010*** 
(3.290) 

0.014*** 
(3.596) 

0.012** 
(1.996) 

0.015 
(1.535) 

ABSUE +ve 
0.015 

(1.613) 
0.018* 
(1.721) 

0.020 
(1.582) 

0.015 
(0.985) 

0.062*** 
(2.761) 

0.102*** 
(2.638) 

NEGUE +ve 
0.001 

(0.659) 
0.002 

(1.304) 
0.002 

(0.817) 
0.001 

(0.556) 
-0.003 

(-0.850) 
0.001 

(0.183) 

PE +ve 
-0.000 

(-0.976) 
0.000 

(1.272) 
0.000 

(1.222) 
0.000 

(0.617) 
0.000* 
(1.854) 

0.000 
(0.101) 

Number of observations 2,726 2,710 2,736 2,612 2,572 2,994 

Adj. R
2
  0.066 0.074 0.096 0.117 0.340 0.070 

F-test  20.13 22.51 30.12 35.68 133.60 26.12 
a
 Variable definitions:           is the absolute cumulative abnormal return from x days before to 2 days after the 

earnings announcement. Abnormal returns are prediction errors from the market model.       = 1 if the observation is 

from year 2007 and zero if the observation is from year 2006;             is the absolute value of the cumulative 

abnormal return from 60 working days before to two days after the earnings announcement;             = 1 if the 

cumulative abnormal return from 60 working days before to two days after the earnings announcements is negative, and 
zero otherwise;             is the standard deviation of the abnormal returns during the market model estimation 

period for the pre-reform quarter;              is the logarithm of total assets of share i at the end of quarter q;           

is the leverage ratio of share i at the end of quarter q, calculated as (long-term debt + debt within one year)/total assets; 
          = 1 if share i reported losses in quarter q, and zero otherwise;            is the absolute value of share i’s EPS 

in quarter q in year y minus its EPS in quarter q in year y-1, and then scaled by its 2006 year-end share price;            

= 1 if share i’s EPS in quarter q in year y is higher than its EPS in quarter q in year y-1, and zero otherwise;         is the 

price/earnings ratio of share i in quarter q. Observations from the first-quarter in each year are excluded from the 
sample because it is hard to isolate the effects of information other than the first-quarter earnings.  
b
 Numbers in parentheses are t statistic values. ***, ** and * indicate significant at or better than the 1%, 5% and 10% 

two-sided levels, respectively. 
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6.5.2.3 Use of Maynes and Rumsey model 

As a further robustness check, I employ the Maynes and Rumsey (1993) model to 

estimate ACARs around earning announcements. I find the univariate and multivariate tests 

results are qualitatively the same as the results reported in Tables 6.2 and 6.9. The results still 

suggest that the size of the information gap of Chinese A-shares increased after the 2007 reforms. 

6.5.3 The influence of the 2007 reforms on B-shares 

The Chinese B-share sample comprises the BO-share and the ABB-share samples. The BO-

share and the ABB-share sample should not be affected by the adoption of the 2006 Accounting 

Standards as they have been required to prepare their financial statements under IAS since the 

1990s. However the results in Chapter 4 show that companies the issued ABB-shares enhanced 

their disclosure after the reforms, whereas companies that issued BO-shares did not. Therefore, I 

estimate the regression equation 6.1 separately for the BO-share and the ABB-share samples.  

6.5.3.1 BO-share sample 

Table 6.12 presents the descriptive statistics and correlation coefficients for the control 

variables for the BO-share sample. Panel A of Table 6.12 shows that the post-reform means and 

medians are not significantly different for many of the variables. The only significant changes are 

for variables         and        . The         increased from 920 million in the pre-reform period 

to 2,103 million in the post-reform period. The         increased from 26.9 to 53.2. Panel B shows 

that       is significantly correlated with all other variables except            . However, 

apart from the correlation coefficient on 0.289 between           and           , all correlation 

coefficients are relatively small, notwithstanding that many of the variables are statistically 

significantly correlated. In regression results, variance inflation factors (not tabulated) are less 

than 2.5, suggesting multicollinearity is not likely to be an issue. 
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Table 6.12 
Descriptive Statistics and Correlation Coefficients of Variables of the BO-share Sample (excludes Q1)a

 

Panel A: Descriptive Summary 

 ABSCAR NEGCAR RETVAR TA (million) LEVG LOSS ABSUE NEGUE PE 

Mean 

Total 0.147 0.475 0.018 1511.638 0.078 0.164 0.036 0.341 40.050 

Pre-reform 0.133 0.462 0.018 920.138 0.071 0.185 0.040 0.408 26.924 

Post-reform 0.162 0.487 0.018 2,103.138 0.086 0.143 0.033 0.274 53.175 

p-value
b 0.793 0.544 NA 0.024** 0.197 0.428 0.808 0.307 0.005*** 

Median 

Total 0.119 0.000 0.017 741.464 0.022 0.000 0.011 0.000 17.701 

Pre-reform 0.107 0.000 0.017 553.624 0.022 0.000 0.010 0.000 14.488 

Post-reform 0.130 0.000 0.017 1,089.172 0.021 0.000 0.012 0.000 23.760 

p-value 0.892 0.544 NA 0.000*** 0.215 0.428 0.863 0.307 0.001*** 

Standard Deviation 

Total 0.123 0.500 0.004 2577.072 0.112 0.371 0.103 0.474 160.523 

Pre-reform 0.114 0.499 0.004 1410.226 0.106 0.389 0.127 0.492 97.515 

Post-reform 0.130 0.501 0.004 3257.776 0.118 0.351 0.071 0.447 204.360 

Panel B: Panel B: Pearson Correlation 

 ABSCAR NEGCAR RETVAR TA LEVG LOSS ABSUE NEGUE PE 

POST 0.121 0.026 0.000 0.230 0.068 -0.056 -0.036 -0.141 0.082 

ABSCAR  -0.006 0.229 -0.005 0.056 0.109 0.189 0.009 0.084 

NEGCAR   -0.030 0.049 0.010 -0.016 0.056 -0.017 0.038 

RETVAR    -0.023 0.069 0.239 0.134 0.057 0.023 

TA     0.079 -0.165 -0.037 0.076 -0.008 

LEVG      0.145 0.182 0.088 -0.120 

LOSS       0.292 0.289 -0.046 

ABSUE        0.093 -0.019 

NEGUE         -0.053 
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Table 6.12 (continued) 
a
 Variable definitions:      =1 if the observation is from period 1/1/2007-31/12/2008 and zero if the observation is from period 1/1/2005-31/12/2006.              is the 

absolute value of the cumulative abnormal return from 60 working days before to two days after the earnings announcement;             = 1 if the cumulative abnormal 

return from 60 working days before to two days after the earnings announcement is negative, and zero otherwise;             is the standard deviation of the abnormal 

returns during the market model estimation period for the pre-reform quarter;         is the total assets of share i at the end of quarter q;           is the leverage ratio of 

share i at the end of quarter q, calculated as (long-term debt + debt within one year)/total assets;           = 1 if share i reported losses in quarter q, and zero otherwise; 

           is the absolute value of share i’s EPS in quarter q in year y minus its EPS in quarter q in year y-1, and then scaled by its 2006 year-end share price;            = 1 if 

share i’s EPS in quarter q in year y is higher than its EPS in quarter q in year y-1, and zero otherwise;         is the price/earnings ratio of share i in quarter q. Observations from 

the first-quarter in each year are excluded from the sample because it is hard to isolate the effects of information other than the first-quarter earnings.  
b 

P-values are two-sided. P-values for means are from t-tests of the difference between the pre- and post-reform means. For medians, p-values are from Wilcoxon two-sample 
tests; p-values for differences in percentage of lower/higher post-reform ACARs are from binomial tests. ***, ** and * indicate significant at or better than the 1%, 5% and 

10% two-sided levels, respectively.   
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Table 6.13 presents the estimation results for equation 6.1 in each of the six accumulation 

windows for the BO-share sample over the period 2005-2008. I winsorize all continuous variables 

in this model at the 99th percentiles of the distributions of their absolute values so as to reduce 

the possible influence of extreme observations. Furthermore,            ,          , and  

           are normalized by taking the square roots, and         is normalized by log 

transformation. The coefficients of       are not significant, suggesting that the information gap 

of the BO-share sample companies did not change significantly in the post-reform period. This 

supports hypothesis H2 that the 2007 reforms had no influence on the information gap of BO-

shares. 

Most of the control variables coefficients in Table 6.13 are not significant. Only the 

coefficients on             are positive and significant at the 1% level or better for the longer 

windows [-5, +2], [-10, +2] and [-30, +2]. The coefficients on             are significantly positive 

for window [-30, +2], which is not consistent with my expectation. The coefficients on           

are positive as expected and significant for window [-5, +2]. The coefficients on            are 

positive and significant for windows [-1, +2] and [-5, +2], consistent with my prior expectations. 

The coefficients on         are negative and significant at the 5% level for window [-60, +2], which 

is not consistent with my prior expectations. The results from several robustness tests are 

qualitatively similar.108 I can conclude that the information gap of the BO-share sample was not 

affected by the 2007 reforms. 

                                                           
108

 The results reported in Appendices 6.14 and 6.15 support the conclusion that the information gap of firms in the 
BO-share sample had not significantly changed in the post-reform period. Appendix 6.14 reports the estimation 
results of equation 6.3, which employs year dummies instead of the dummy variable. The coefficients on the three 
dummies are generally positive but not significant, with the exception of the coefficients on      , which are 

positive and significant for window [-30, +2], and the coefficients on      , which are positive and significant at the 

10% level for window [-5, +2]. The results suggest the size of firms’ information gaps did not change significantly over 
the four-year period. Appendix 6.15 reports the estimation results of equation 6.1 for the BO-share sample over 
period 2006-2007, and the coefficients on      ,  are also generally not significant, although significantly negative 

for window [-30, +2]. As a further robustness check, I employ the Maynes and Rumsey (1993) model to estimate 
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Table 6.13 
Regression Results when the Dependent Variable is ACAR for the BO-share Sample for period 

2005-2008 (Excludes Q1)
a 

                                                                             

                                                                     

Variable 
Expected 

Sign 

Accumulation Window 

[-1, +2] [-2, +2] [-5, +2] [-10, +2] [-30, +2] [-60, +2] 

Intercept  
0.091 

(0.691) 
0.022 

(0.177) 
0.074 

(0.589) 
0.075 

(0.446) 
-0.609*** 
(-2.819) 

-0.476 
(-1.406) 

POST ? 
0.008 

(0.718) 
-0.002 

(-0.152) 
0.014 

(1.210) 
0.023 

(1.513) 
-0.032 

(-1.628) 
-0.012 

(-0.407) 

ABSCAR +ve 
0.024 

(0.843) 
0.024 

(0.759) 
0.052* 
(1.691) 

0.076** 
(1.815) 

0.473*** 
(8.865) 

 
 

NEGCAR +ve 
-0.006 

(-0.658) 
-0.010 

(-1.009) 
0.000 

(0.022) 
0.000 

(-0.036) 
-0.024 

(-1.411) 
-0.024 

(-0.905) 

RETVAR +ve 
-0.416 

(-0.340) 
-0.047 

(-0.035) 
-1.674 

(-1.304) 
-0.366 

(-0.214) 
6.047*** 
(2.667) 

8.929** 
(2.559) 

Ln(TA) -ve 
-0.003 

(-0.438) 
0.001 

(0.162) 
-0.001 

(-0.170) 
-0.003 

(-0.312) 
0.024** 
(2.320) 

0.025 
(1.526) 

LEVG +ve 
0.021 

(0.969) 
0.018 

(0.758) 
0.001 

(0.029) 
0.019 

(0.591) 
-0.044 

(-1.084) 
0.097 

(1.549) 

LOSS +ve 
0.001 

(0.046) 
0.018 

(1.123) 
0.025* 
(1.699) 

0.030 
(1.393) 

0.038 
(1.453) 

0.054 
(1.335) 

ABSUE +ve 
0.116** 
(2.405) 

0.054 
(1.024) 

0.089* 
(1.703) 

-0.001 
(-0.013) 

-0.042 
(-0.461) 

-0.001 
(-0.004) 

NEGUE +ve 
-0.015 

(-1.599) 
-0.012 

(-1.210) 
-0.011 

(-1.028) 
-0.003 

(-0.255) 
-0.005 

(-0.267) 
-0.005 

(-0.168) 

PE +ve 
0.000 

(0.214) 
0.000 

(0.078) 
0.000 

(-1.234) 
0.000 

(0.168) 
-0.000 

(-0.342) 
-0.001* 
(-1.852) 

Number of observations 96 92 96 92 104 104 

Adj. R
2
  0.035 -0.034 0.051 0.010 0.523 0.115 

F-test  1.34 0.70 1.51 1.09 12.31 2.48 
a
 Variable definitions:           is the absolute cumulative abnormal return from x days before to 2 days 

after the earnings announcement. Abnormal returns are prediction errors from the market model.       = 1 

if the observation is from period 1/1/2007-31/12/2008 and zero if the observation is from period 1/1/2005-
31/12/2006.             is the absolute value of the cumulative abnormal return from 60 working days 

before to two days after the earnings announcement;             = 1 if the cumulative abnormal return 

from 60 working days before to two days after the earnings announcement is negative, and zero otherwise; 
            is the standard deviation of the abnormal returns during the market model estimation period 

for the pre-reform quarter;              is the logarithm of total assets of share i at the end of quarter q; 

          is the leverage ratio of share i at the end of quarter q, calculated as (long-term debt + debt within 

one year)/total assets;           = 1 if share i reported losses in quarter q, and zero otherwise;            is 

the absolute value of share i’s EPS in quarter q in year y minus its EPS in quarter q in year y-1, and then scaled 
by its 2006 year-end share price;            = 1 if share i’s EPS in quarter q in year y is higher than its EPS in 

quarter q in year y-1, and zero otherwise;         is the price/earnings ratio of share i in quarter q. 

Observations from the first-quarter in each year are excluded from the sample because it is hard to isolate 
the effects of information other than the first-quarter earnings.  
b
 Numbers in parentheses are t statistic values. ***, ** and * indicate significant at or better than the 1%, 5% 

and 10% two-sided levels, respectively. 

                                                                                                                                                                                              
ACARs around earnings announcements and find the univariate and multivariate tests results are qualitatively the 
same as the results in Table 6.12. 
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6.5.3.2 ABB-share sample 

Table 6.14 presents the descriptive statistics and correlation coefficients of control 

variables for the ABB-share sample. Panel A of Table 6.14 shows that the means of five out of 

nine control variables changed significantly between the pre-reform and post-reform periods. 

The             decreased from 0.186 in the pre-reform period to 0.179 in the post-reform 

period;         increased from 620 million to 1,808 million;           increased from 0.113 to 

0.149;            increased from 0.375 to 0.479; and         increased from 17.535 to 54.585. 

The changes in other variables are not significant.  

Panel B of Table 6.14 shows that correlation coefficients of       with other variables 

are all significant, except for the correlation with            . Some of correlations are large 

(greater than 0.10), such as the correlations with        ,          ,           , and        . The 

control variables are modestly but statistically significantly correlated with each other. In 

regression results, variance inflation factors (not tabulated) are less than 2.5, suggesting that 

multicollinearity is not an issue. 

Table 6.15 reports the estimation results for equation 6.1 in each of the six accumulation 

windows for the ABB-share sample over the period 2005-2008. The coefficients on       are 

generally positive but only significant for longer windows [-30, +2] and [-60, +2], suggesting that 

the 2007 reforms may have had some influence on the information gap of the ABB-share sample. 

There is weak evidence to reject hypothesis H3 and conclude that the information environment 

of investors of the ABB-share sample worsened after the 2007 reforms.  

The coefficients on             are positive as expected and significant for the five 

windows. The coefficients on             are generally positive, consistent with my expectation, 

and significant. The positive coefficients on             are consistent with my expectation, but 

are only significant for the shorter window periods [-1, +2] and [-2, +2]. The           coefficients 
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are negative and significant for the windows [-1, +2] and [-2, +2], and are positive and significant 

for window [-60, +2]. The           coefficients are generally positive but only significant for 

windows [-1, +2] and [-2, +2]. The positive coefficients on            are consistent with my 

prior expectations and are generally significant. The negative and significant coefficients on 

           are not consistent with my prior expectations, but are only significant for windows [-1, 

+2] and [-30, +2].  The         coefficients are only marginally positive and significant for window 

[-60, +2]. The coefficients on             and             are not significant. The results for 

several robustness tests are qualitatively similar.109 I conclude that the information gap of the 

ABB-share sample was weakly affected by the 2007 reforms.

                                                           
109

 Appendix 6.16 reports the estimation results for equation 6.3 for ABB-shares over the period 2005-2008. The 
coefficients on       are negative but only significant for windows [-1, +2] and [-2, +2], indicating that the 

information gap declined in year 2006. The coefficients of       and       are generally not significant, although 

the coefficients on       are positive and significant at the 5% level for window [-60, +2] and the coefficients on 

      are significantly positive at the 1% level for window [-30, +2]. I also estimate the regression model on ACARs 

measured using the Maynes and Rumsey (1993) model for the ABB-share sample and the results are qualitatively 
similar. Appendix 6.17 reports the estimation results for equation 6.1 for the ABB-share sample over period 2006-
2007. The coefficients on       are generally not significant, although significantly positive for windows [-1, +2] and 

[-60, +2]. As a further robustness check, I employ the Maynes and Rumsey (1993) model to estimate ACARs around 
earnings announcements and find the univariate and multivariate tests results are qualitatively the same as my 
results in Table 6.12. 
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Table 6.14 
Descriptive Statistics and Correlation Coefficients of Variables for the ABB-share Sample (excludes Q1)

a
  

Panel A: Descriptive Summary 

 ABSCAR NEGCAR RETVAR TA (million) LEVG LOSS ABSUE NEGUE PE 

Mean 

Overall 0.183 0.469 0.018 1214.256 0.131 0.177 0.028 0.427 36.060 

Pre-reform 0.186 0.500 0.018 620.231 0.113 0.208 0.029 0.375 17.535 

Post-reform 0.179 0.438 0.018 1808.280 0.149 0.146 0.026 0.479 54.585 

p-value 0.002*** 0.523 NA 0.000*** 0.088* 0.162 0.363 0.000*** 0.041** 

Median 

Overall 0.161 0.000 0.017 518.621 0.100 0.000 0.013 0.000 20.704 

Pre-reform 0.149 0.500 0.017 365.788 0.051 0.000 0.012 0.000 14.416 

Post-reform 0.162 0.000 0.017 1043.857 0.128 0.000 0.015 0.000 30.289 

p-value 0.003*** 0.523 NA 0.000*** 0.704 0.162 0.266 0.000*** 0.000*** 

Standard Deviation 

Overall 0.142 0.502 0.004 2553.303 0.138 0.384 0.056 0.497 65.212 

Pre-reform 0.156 0.505 0.004 634.915 0.125 0.410 0.057 0.489 60.399 

Post-reform 0.128 0.501 0.004 3471.824 0.149 0.357 0.056 0.505 65.166 

Panel B: Panel B: Pearson Correlation 

 ABSCAR NEGCAR RETVAR TA LEVG LOSS ABSUE NEGUE PE 

POST -0.027 -0.063 0.000 0.234 0.133 -0.082 -0.025 0.105 0.286 

ABSCAR  -0.031 0.228 0.244 0.248 0.154 0.177 0.085 -0.358 

NEGCAR   -0.047 0.124 0.002 0.166 0.005 -0.009 -0.025 

RETVAR    -0.197 -0.026 0.294 0.160 0.133 0.038 

TA     0.267 -0.132 -0.061 -0.003 0.000 

LEVG      0.070 0.247 0.116 -0.111 

LOSS       0.097 0.317 0.059 

ABSUE        -0.008 -0.150 

NEGUE         -0.044 



176 
 

Table 6.14 (continued) 
a
 Variable definitions:       = 1 if the observation is from period 1/1/2007-31/12/2008 and zero if the observation is from period 1/1/2005-31/12/2006.              is the 

absolute value of the cumulative abnormal return from 60 working days before to two days after the earnings announcement;             = 1 if the cumulative abnormal 

return from 60 working days before to two days after the earnings announcement is negative, and zero otherwise;             is the standard deviation of the abnormal 

returns during the market model estimation period for the pre-reform quarter;         is the total assets of share i at the end of quarter q;           is the leverage ratio of 

share i at the end of quarter q, calculated as (long-term debt + debt within one year)/total assets;           = 1 if share i reported losses in quarter q, and zero otherwise; 

           is the absolute value of share i’s EPS in quarter q in year y minus its EPS in quarter q in year y-1, and then scaled by its 2006 year-end share price;            = 1 if 

share i’s EPS in quarter q in year y is higher than its EPS in quarter q in year y-1, and zero otherwise;         is the price/earnings ratio of share i in quarter q. Observations from 

the first-quarter in each year are excluded from the sample because it is hard to isolate the effects of information other than the first-quarter earnings.  
b 

P-values are two-sided. P-values for means are from t-tests of the difference between the pre- and post-reform means. For medians, p-values are from Wilcoxon two-sample 
tests; p-values for differences in percentage of lower/higher post-reform ACARs are from binomial tests. ***, ** and * indicate significant at or better than the 1%, 5% and 10% 

two-sided levels, respectively.   
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Table 6.15 
Regression Results when the Dependent Variable is ACAR for the ABB-share Sample for period 2005-2008 

(Excludes Q1)
a 

                                                                                         

                                                         

Variable 
Expected 

Sign 

Accumulation Window 

[-1, +2] [-2, +2] [-5, +2] [-10, +2] [-30, +2] [-60, +2] 

Intercept 
-0.012 

(-0.418) 
-0.016 

(-0.496) 
-0.025 

(-0.653) 
-0.008 

(-0.185) 
-0.050 

(-0.832) 
0.143 

(1.335) 

POST -ve 
0.004 

(1.383) 
0.003 

(1.041) 
0.000 

(0.109) 
0.003 

(0.654) 
0.015*** 
(2.626) 

0.027*** 
(2.735) 

ABSCAR +ve 
0.023*** 
(2.661) 

0.025*** 
(2.841) 

0.065*** 
(5.911) 

0.080*** 
(6.225) 

0.300*** 
(17.779)  

NEGCAR +ve 
0.003 

(1.133) 
0.002 

(0.809) 
0.003 

(1.026) 
0.006 

(1.590) 
0.004 

(0.716) 
-0.001 

(-0.088) 

RETVAR +ve 
0.691** 
(2.062) 

0.908*** 
(2.592) 

1.383*** 
(3.188) 

1.664*** 
(3.262) 

1.208* 
(1.805) 

5.430*** 
(4.503) 

Ln(TA) -ve 
0.001 

(0.912) 
0.001 

(0.862) 
0.001 

(0.625) 
-0.000 

(-0.028) 
0.001 

(0.221) 
-0.007 

(-1.362) 

LEVG +ve 
-0.013** 
(-1.970) 

-0.013* 
(-1.774) 

-0.008 
(-0.890) 

-0.004 
(-0.431) 

-0.022 
(-1.585) 

0.043* 
(1.749) 

LOSS +ve 
0.016*** 
(4.084) 

0.010** 
(2.426) 

0.008 
(1.523) 

-0.001 
(-0.235) 

0.008 
(0.944) 

-0.007 
(-0.472) 

ABSUE +ve 
0.020* 
(1.688) 

0.028** 
(2.054) 

0.018 
(1.183) 

0.038** 
(2.141) 

0.050* 
(1.913) 

0.192*** 
(4.754) 

NEGUE +ve 
-0.006** 
(-2.264) 

-0.005 
(-1.583) 

-0.001 
(-0.258) 

-0.001 
(-0.341) 

-0.012** 
(-2.143) 

-0.001 
(-0.124) 

PE +ve 
-0.000 

(-1.144) 
-0.000 

(-1.010) 
-0.000 

(-1.485) 
-0.000 

(-0.544) 
0.000 

(0.927) 
0.000** 
(2.266) 

number of observations 628 632 628 612 628 656 

Adj. R
2
  0.072 0.054 0.092 0.103 0.389 0.095 

F-test  5.86 4.60 7.36 8.04 40.94 8.65 
a
 Variable definitions:           is the absolute cumulative abnormal return from x days before to 2 days after the 

earnings announcement. Abnormal returns are prediction errors from the market model.       = 1 if the 

observation is from period 1/1/2007-31/12/2008 and zero if the observation is from period 1/1/2005-31/12/2006. 
            is the absolute value of the cumulative abnormal return from 60 working days before to two days 

after the earnings announcement;             = 1 if the cumulative abnormal return from 60 working days 

before to two days after the earnings announcement is negative, and zero otherwise;             is the standard 

deviation of the abnormal returns during the market model estimation period for the pre-reform quarter; 
            is the logarithm of total assets of share i at the end of quarter q;           is the leverage ratio of 

share i at the end of quarter q, calculated as (long-term debt + debt within one year)/total assets;           = 1 if 

share i reported losses in quarter q, and zero otherwise;            is the absolute value of share i’s EPS in 

quarter q in year y minus its EPS in quarter q in year y-1, and then scaled by its 2006 year-end share price; 
           = 1 if share i’s EPS in quarter q in year y is higher than its EPS in quarter q in year y-1, and zero 

otherwise;         is the price/earnings ratio of share i in quarter q. Observations from the first-quarter in each 

year are excluded from the sample because it is hard to isolate the effects of information other than the first-
quarter earnings.  
b
 Numbers in parentheses are t statistic values. ***, ** and * indicate significant at or better than the 1%, 5% and 

10% two-sided levels, respectively. 
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6.5.4 The influence of the 2007 reforms on H-shares 

I examine the HO-share and AHH-share samples to provide a matched sample to control 

for other changes that may have impacted on the information environment for Chinese shares. 

The information gap of HO-shares should not be affected by the 2007 reforms. The AHH-shares 

could be impacted to a limited extend depending upon (1) the change in the disclosure behaviour 

of AH-share companies, and (2) a reduction in the information flow from the Chinese A-share 

market to HKEx due to the prohibition on selective disclosure.    

Tables 6.16 and 6.17 present the descriptive statistics and correlation coefficients for the 

control variables for the HO-share and the AHH-share samples respectively. Compared to shares 

listed on the Chinese stock market, the shares listed on HKEx have relatively higher            , 

       ,          , and           ,  and relatively lower          , suggesting larger information 

flows, much greater company size, greater financial leverage and greater absolute earnings 

surprises but a lower possibility of losses.       

6.5.4.1 HO-share sample 

In terms of the HO-share sample, Panel A of Table 6.16 shows that only mean 

            changes significantly in the post-reform period. Panel B of Table 6.16 indicates that 

the correlation between       and control variables other than             are significant. The 

correlations between control variables are generally modestly significant. In the regression 

results, variance inflation factors (not tabulated) are less than 2.5, suggesting that 

multicollinearity is not an issue. 

Table 6.17 reports the estimation results for equation 6.1 in each of the six accumulation 

windows for the HO-share sample over the four-year period 2005-2008. The coefficients on 

      are positive and not significant for the shorter windows, but are significant for the longer 
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windows [-30, +2] and [-60, +2]. Generally the information gap of HO-shares did not change 

significantly in the post-reform period. These results support hypothesis H4.  

For the control variables, the             coefficients are positive and significant at the 5% 

level or better, consistent with my prior expectations. The coefficients on             are 

significantly positive for window [-30, +2]. The             coefficients are generally positive as 

expected and significant for windows [-1, +2], [-2, +2] and [-60, +2]. The              coefficients 

are significantly positive at the 5% level for window [-30, +2], which is not consistent with my 

prior expectations. The            coefficients are significantly negative for window [-30, +2], 

which is not consistent with my prior expectations. The            coefficients are significantly 

positive for window [-60, +2], consistent with my prior expectations. These results generally 

support hypothesis H4 that the 2007 reforms had only weak but significant impact on the 

information gap of HO-shares.110 

                                                           
110

 The results reported in Appendices 6.18 and 6.19 are consistent with the results in Table 6.17. Appendix 6.18 
reports the estimation results for equation 6.3 in each of the six accumulation windows for the HO-share sample 
over the period 2005-2008. The coefficients of all the year dummies, i.e.,      ,      , and      , are not 

significant, suggesting the size of the information gap of HO-shares was relatively constant through the period. 
Appendix 6.19 reports the estimation results for equation 6.4 in each of the six accumulation windows for the HO-
share sample over the period 2006-2007. The coefficients on       are generally positive, but only significant for 

the longer windows [-30, +2] and [-60, +2], suggesting only small change in the size of the information gap. 
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Table 6.16 
Descriptive Statistics and Correlation Coefficients of Variables for the HO-share Sample

a
  

Panel A: Descriptive Summary 

 ABSCAR NEGCAR RETVAR TA (million) LEVG LOSS ABSUE NEGUE 

Mean 

Overall 0.192 0.472 0.020 32,066.236 0.159 0.056 0.038 0.375 

Pre-reform 0.147 0.444 0.020 29,446.646 0.167 0.083 0.029 0.361 

Post-reform 0.237 0.500 0.020 34,685.826 0.151 0.028 0.047 0.389 

p-value
b 0.062* 0.643 NA 0.813 0.677 0.311 0.298 0.811 

Median 

Overall 0.130 0.000 0.018 7,597.829 0.097 0.000 0.012 0.000 

Pre-reform 0.111 0.000 0.018 7,446.065 0.107 0.000 0.011 0.000 

Post-reform 0.145 0.500 0.018 7,898.110 0.093 0.000 0.012 0.000 

p-value 0.287 0.644 NA 0.209 0.477 0.314 0.248 0.814 

Standard Deviation 

Overall 0.203 0.503 0.005 92,738.149 0.154 0.231 0.074 0.488 

Pre-reform 0.117 0.504 0.005 90,094.058 0.149 0.280 0.063 0.487 

Post-reform 0.256 0.507 0.005 96,516.307 0.161 0.167 0.084 0.494 

Panel B: Panel B: Pearson Correlation 

 ABSCAR NEGCAR RETVAR TA LEVG LOSS ABSUE NEGUE 

POST 0.222 0.056 0.000 0.028 -0.050 -0.121 0.124 0.029 

ABSCAR  -0.087 0.209 -0.183 -0.066 0.013 0.252 0.114 

NEGCAR   -0.112 0.138 0.112 0.013 0.103 0.014 

RETVAR    -0.326 -0.039 0.145 0.180 -0.038 

TA     0.245 -0.069 -0.114 0.079 

LEVG      -0.136 -0.194 0.011 

LOSS       0.394 0.188 

ABSUE        -0.059 
a
 Variable definitions:       = 1 if the observation is from period 1/1/2007-31/12/2008 and zero if the observation is from 

period 1/1/2005-31/12/2006.              is the absolute value of the cumulative abnormal return from 60 working days 

before to two days after the earnings announcement;             = 1 if the cumulative abnormal return from 60 working 

days before to two days after the earnings announcement is negative, and zero otherwise;             is the standard 

deviation of the abnormal returns during the market model estimation period for the pre-reform quarter;         is the total 

assets of share i at the end of quarter q;           is the leverage ratio of share i at the end of quarter q, calculated as (long-

term debt + debt within one year)/total assets;           = 1 if share i reported losses in quarter q, and zero otherwise; 

           is the absolute value of share i’s EPS in quarter q in year y minus its EPS in quarter q in year y-1, and then scaled 

by its 2006 year-end share price;            = 1 if share i’s EPS in quarter q in year y is higher than its EPS in quarter q in 

year y-1, and zero otherwise;         is the price/earnings ratio of share i in quarter q. Observations from the first-quarter in 

each year are excluded from the sample because it is hard to isolate the effects of information other than the first-quarter 
earnings.  
b 

P-values are two-sided. P-values for means are from t-tests of the difference between the pre- and post-reform means. For 
medians, p-values are from Wilcoxon two-sample tests; p-values for differences in percentage of lower/higher post-reform 
ACARs are from binomial tests. ***, ** and * indicate significant at or better than the 1%, 5% and 10% two-sided levels, 

respectively.   
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Table 6.17 
Regression Results when the Dependent Variable is ACAR for HO-share Sample for period 2005-2008

a 

                                                                                         

                                              

Variable 
Expected 

Sign 

Accumulation Window 

[-1, +2] [-2, +2] [-5, +2] [-10, +2] [-30, +2] [-60, +2] 

Intercept 
-0.340** 
(-2.304)b 

-0.095 
(-0.891) 

0.172 
(0.904) 

-0.251 
(-1.542) 

-0.652*** 
(-2.856) 

0.159 
(0.374) 

POST ? 
0.004 

(0.252) 
0.014 

(1.286) 
0.006 

(0.420) 
0.001 

(0.079) 
0.052** 
(2.446) 

0.084** 
(2.038) 

ABSCAR +ve 
0.178*** 
(4.683) 

0.062** 
(2.083) 

0.165*** 
(4.141) 

0.199*** 
(4.882) 

0.464*** 
(8.031) 

 
 

NEGCAR +ve 
-0.019 

(-1.383) 
0.006 

(0.592) 
0.008 

(0.557) 
-0.006 

(-0.434) 
0.044** 
(2.148) 

0.022 
(0.551) 

RETVAR +ve 
4.996*** 
(3.255) 

3.752*** 
(3.302) 

1.118 
(0.762) 

1.330 
(0.836) 

2.014 
(0.927) 

11.457*** 
(2.904) 

Ln(TA) -ve 
0.011* 
(1.770) 

0.002 
(0.367) 

-0.008 
(-1.037) 

0.010 
(1.413) 

0.025** 
(2.602) 

-0.014 
(-0.798) 

LEVG +ve 
-0.008 

(-0.258) 
0.040 

(1.537) 
-0.015 

(-0.429) 
-0.017 

(-0.483) 
-0.065 

(-1.283) 
0.066 

(0.666) 

LOSS +ve 
-0.018 

(-0.558) 
0.045 

(1.641) 
0.020 

(0.567) 
0.007 

(0.168) 
0.035 

(0.701) 
-0.105 

(-1.083) 

ABSUE +ve 
0.031 

(0.536) 
-0.054 

(-1.027) 
-0.050 

(-0.772) 
-0.042 

(-0.550) 
-0.179* 
(-1.895) 

0.244 
(1.336) 

NEGUE +ve 
-0.002 

(-0.116) 
-0.009 

(-0.807) 
0.007 

(0.451) 
0.015 

(0.902) 
-0.011 

(-0.488) 
0.071* 
(1.671) 

n
c  72 80 76 84 88 92 

Adj. R
2
  0.373 0.232 0.214 0.265 0.542 0.140 

F-test  5.69 3.65 3.27 4.32 12.43 2.85 
a
 Variable definitions:           is the absolute cumulative abnormal return from x days before to 2 days after the earnings 

announcement. Abnormal returns are prediction errors from the market model.       = 1 if the observation is from 

period 1/1/2007-31/12/2008 and zero if the observation is from period 1/1/2005-31/12/2006.             is the absolute 

value of the cumulative abnormal return from 60 working days before to two days after the earnings announcement; 
            = 1 if the cumulative abnormal return from 60 working days before to two days after the earnings 

announcement is negative, and zero otherwise;             is the standard deviation of the abnormal returns during the 

market model estimation period for the pre-reform quarter;             is the logarithm of total assets of share i at the 

end of quarter q;           is the leverage ratio of share i at the end of quarter q, calculated as (long-term debt + debt 

within one year)/total assets;           = 1 if share i reported losses in quarter q, and zero otherwise;            is the 

absolute value of share i’s EPS in quarter q in year y minus its EPS in quarter q in year y-1, and then scaled by its 2006 year-
end share price;            = 1 if share i’s EPS in quarter q in year y is higher than its EPS in quarter q in year y-1, and zero 

otherwise. 
b
 Numbers in parentheses are t statistic values. ***, ** and * indicate significant at or better than the 1%, 5% and 10% two-

sided levels, respectively. 
c
 n is the number of observations. 
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6.5.4.2 AHH-share sample 

For the AHH-share sample, Panel A of Table 6.18 shows that only             and         

increased significantly between the pre-reform and post-reform periods.             increased 

from 0.150 in the pre-reform period to 0.234 in the post-reform period, and         increased 

from 22,721 million in the pre-reform period to 37,227 million in the post-reform period. Other 

variables did not change significantly. Panel B of Table 6.18 indicates that the correlation 

between       and the control variables, except for            , are significant at the 10% 

level or better. The correlation between           and           is -0.469 and the correlation 

between       and           is 0.670. However, the variance inflation factors in the multivariate 

regressions (not tabulated) are less than 2.5, suggesting that multicollinearity is not an issue. 

Table 6.19 reports the estimation results for equation 6.1 in each of the six accumulation 

windows for the AHH-share sample over the four-year period 2005-2008. The coefficients on  

      are positive, but only significant for windows [-5, +2] and [-60, +2]. The robustness tests 

results also only show weak evidence of an increase in the information gap of the AHH-share 

sample over the four-year period, but no significant changes during the period 2006-2007.111 In 

conclusion, there is very weak evidence of the effects of the 2007 reforms on the size of the 

information gap of the AHH-share sample. This does not support hypothesis H5 and suggests that 

the information environment of AHH-shares had a very weak decrease after the 2007 reforms. 

Overall, the regression results for the HO-share and the AHH-share samples show that the 

information gap of HO- and AHH-shares experienced only minor changes in the post-reform 

period. The HO-share sample shows significant and positive coefficients on       for windows [-
                                                           
111

 Appendix 6.20 reports the estimation results for equation 6.3 in each of the six accumulation windows for the 
AHH-share sample over the period 2005-2008. Coefficients for the three year dummies are generally not significant 
or only significant at the 10% level, suggesting that the information gap for the AHH-share did not change 
significantly during the period 2005-2008. Appendix 6.21 reports the estimation results for equation 6.4 in each of 
the six accumulation windows for the AHH-share sample over the period 2006-2007. The positive but not significant 
coefficients on       in Appendix 6.21 indicate that the size of the information gap in year 2007 is insignificantly 

larger than its counterpart in year 2006. 
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30, +2] and [-60, +2], suggesting a small increase in the size of the information gap. For the AHH-

share sample, the coefficients on       are only positive and significant for windows [-5, +2] and 

[-60, +2] at the 5% level, suggesting a very weak increase in the size of the information gap. 

 Table 6.18 
Descriptive statistics and Correlation Coefficients of Variables for the AHH-share Sample

a
  

Panel A: Descriptive Summary 

 ABSCAR NEGCAR RETVAR TA (million) LEVG LOSS ABSUE NEGUE 

Mean 

Overall 0.192 0.563 0.022 29973.885 0.264 0.116 0.039 0.339 

Pre-reform 0.150 0.554 0.022 22721.120 0.254 0.125 0.030 0.375 

Post-reform 0.234 0.571 0.022 37226.651 0.274 0.107 0.048 0.304 

p-value
b 0.023** 0.851 NA 0.019** 0.584 0.771 0.136 0.429 

Median 

Overall 0.141 1.000 0.023 17190.794 0.204 0.000 0.019 0.000 

Pre-reform 0.119 1.000 0.023 13270.830 0.196 0.000 0.015 0.000 

Post-reform 0.163 1.000 0.023 25070.064 0.219 0.000 0.022 0.000 

p-value 0.036** 0.852 NA 0.022** 0.543 0.773 0.391 0.429 

Standard Deviation 

Overall 0.194 0.498 0.005 32942.630 0.187 0.322 0.064 0.476 

Pre-reform 0.133 0.502 0.005 24818.993 0.184 0.334 0.034 0.489 

Post-reform 0.234 0.499 0.005 38302.278 0.191 0.312 0.083 0.464 

Panel B: Panel B: Pearson Correlation 

 ABSCAR NEGCAR RETVAR TA LEVG LOSS ABSUE NEGUE 

POST 0.216 0.018 0.000 0.221 0.052 -0.028 0.142 -0.075 

ABSCAR  -0.004 -0.020 0.057 0.090 -0.064 0.549 -0.176 

NEGCAR   -0.022 0.030 0.040 0.151 0.114 -0.090 

RETVAR    -0.265 -0.469 -0.118 -0.106 -0.059 

TA     0.670 0.195 0.108 0.004 

LEVG      0.263 0.295 0.046 

LOSS       0.375 0.388 

ABSUE        0.145 
a
 Variable definitions:       = 1 if the observation is from period 1/1/2007-31/12/2008 and zero if the observation is from 

period 1/1/2005-31/12/2006.              is the absolute value of the cumulative abnormal return from 60 working days 

before to two days after the earnings announcement;             = 1 if the cumulative abnormal return from 60 working 

days before to two days after the earnings announcement is negative, and zero otherwise;             is the standard 

deviation of the abnormal returns during the market model estimation period for the pre-reform quarter;         is the total 

assets of share i at the end of quarter q;           is the leverage ratio of share i at the end of quarter q, calculated as (long-

term debt + debt within one year)/total assets;           = 1 if share i reported losses in quarter q, and zero otherwise; 

           is the absolute value of share i’s EPS in quarter q in year y minus its EPS in quarter q in year y-1, and then scaled by 

its 2006 year-end share price;            = 1 if share i’s EPS in quarter q in year y is higher than its EPS in quarter q in year y-

1, and zero otherwise;         is the price/earnings ratio of share i in quarter q. Observations from the first-quarter in each 

year are excluded from the sample because it is hard to isolate the effects of information other than the first-quarter 
earnings.  
b 

P-values are two-sided. P-values for means are from t-tests of the difference between the pre- and post-reform means. For 
medians, p-values are from Wilcoxon two-sample tests; p-values for differences in percentage of lower/higher post-reform 
ACARs are from binomial tests. ***, ** and * indicate significant at or better than the 1%, 5% and 10% two-sided levels, 

respectively.    
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Table 6.19 
Regression Results when the Dependent Variable is ACARs for the AHH-share Sample for period 2005-2008a 

                                                                                         

                                              

Variable Expected Sign 
Accumulation Windows 

[-1, +2] [-2, +2] [-5, +2] [-10, +2] [-30, +2] [-60, +2] 

Intercept  
0.123 

(0.966)
b 

0.179* 
(1.661) 

0.063 
(0.545) 

0.183 
(1.404) 

-0.196 
(-1.336) 

0.129 
(0.472) 

POST +ve 
0.011 

(1.003) 
0.006 

(0.530) 
0.028** 
(2.456) 

0.021 
(1.602) 

0.010 
(0.671) 

0.055** 
(2.105) 

ABSCAR +ve 
0.068** 
(2.204) 

0.072** 
(2.263) 

0.048 
(1.471) 

0.166*** 
(4.424) 

0.292*** 
(7.138) 

 

NEGCAR +ve 
-0.015 

(-1.360) 
-0.021* 
(-1.901) 

0.006 
(0.547) 

0.005 
(0.425) 

-0.001 
(-0.101) 

-0.037 
(-1.402) 

RETVAR +ve 
0.825 

(0.616) 
0.721 

(0.616) 
2.356* 
(1.897) 

2.702* 
(1.946) 

2.953* 
(1.894) 

-4.005 
(-1.389) 

Ln(TA) -ve 
-0.004 

(-0.714) 
-0.007 

(-1.417) 
-0.006 

(-1.202) 
-0.012** 
(-2.191) 

0.004 
(0.609) 

0.005 
(0.470) 

LEVG +ve 
-0.031 

(-0.808) 
-0.042 

(-1.051) 
0.062 

(1.610) 
0.071 

(1.589) 
0.041 

(0.829) 
-0.135 

(-1.501) 

LOSS +ve 
0.000 

(-0.020) 
0.003 

(0.148) 
-0.015 

(-0.728) 
-0.049* 
(-1.841) 

-0.053* 
(-1.900) 

-0.083 
(-1.616) 

ABSUE +ve 
0.040 

(0.665) 
0.140** 
(2.232) 

0.140** 
(2.282) 

0.186** 
(2.555) 

0.251*** 
(3.096) 

0.652*** 
(4.594) 

NEGUE +ve 
-0.011 

(-0.905) 
-0.014 

(-1.191) 
-0.007 

(-0.530) 
-0.018 

(-1.248) 
-0.027* 
(-1.688) 

-0.055* 
(-1.902) 

number of observations 112 112 112 124 132 132 

Adj. R
2
  0.074 0.154 0.158 0.271 0.433 0.174 

F-test  1.98 3.25 3.32 6.09 12.11 4.46 
a
 Variable definitions:           is the absolute cumulative abnormal return from x days before to 2 days after the earnings 

announcement. Abnormal returns are prediction errors from the market model.       = 1 if the observation is from 

period 1/1/2007-31/12/2008 and zero if the observation is from period 1/1/2005-31/12/2006.             is the absolute 

value of the cumulative abnormal return from 60 working days before to two days after the earnings announcement; 
            = 1 if the cumulative abnormal return from 60 working days before to two days after the earnings 

announcement is negative, and zero otherwise;             is the standard deviation of the abnormal returns during the 

market model estimation period for the pre-reform quarter;              is the logarithm of total assets of share i at the 

end of quarter q;           is the leverage ratio of share i at the end of quarter q, calculated as (long-term debt + debt 

within one year)/total assets;           = 1 if share i reported losses in quarter q, and zero otherwise;            is the 

absolute value of share i’s EPS in quarter q in year y minus its EPS in quarter q in year y-1, and then scaled by its 2006 year-
end share price;            = 1 if share i’s EPS in quarter q in year y is higher than its EPS in quarter q in year y-1, and zero 

otherwise.  
b
 Numbers in parentheses are t statistic values. ***, ** and * indicate significant at or better than the 1%, 5% and 10% 

two-sided levels, respectively. 
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6.6 Summary 

This Chapter examines the information gap of various Chinese shares in order to 

investigate the impacts of the 2007 reforms on the information environment of the Chinese A-

share market. Table 6.20 summarizes the multivariate test results for all samples used in this 

study. I find that the enactment of the 2007 reforms has significantly increased the size of the 

information gap for A-shares, suggesting that the information asymmetry between management 

and investors increased following the reforms.  

I also examine the information gap of shares that listed on the Chinese B-share market or 

HKEx, namely BO-shares, ABB-shares, HO-shares, and AHH-shares. BO-shares and HO-shares 

were not expected to be affected by the 2007 reforms and should show no change in the size of 

the information gap between the pre-reform and post-reform periods. These hypotheses are 

supported by the multivariate test results. On the other hand, ABB-shares and AHH-shares were 

expected to be affected by the 2007 reforms, as companies issuing these shares also issued A-

shares to the Chinese A-share market. The change in the information environment of their A-

shares should inevitably lead to a change in the information environment of these ABB-shares 

and AHH-shares. The findings suggest that the information gap of ABB-shares was affected by the 

2007 reforms but the magnitude of the effects was low. The information gap of AHH-shares also 

shows very weak evidence of being affected by the 2007 reforms. 

In conclusion, I find in this chapter that the 2007 reforms have significantly influenced the 

size of the information gap of Chinese A-shares. The larger information gap of the A-share sample 

in the post-reform period is contrary to the findings in Chapter 4, that the amount of information 

disclosed by Chinese A-shares increased significantly in the post-reform period. This is consistent 

with the findings in Chapter 5 that the information environment for Chinese financial analysts 

worsened in the post-reform period. An explanation for this contradiction is that the prohibition 

of selective disclosure, which is required by the AMID, effectively stopped the communication of 
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private information from managers to selected market participants, and resulted in a decrease in 

the total amount of information released to the market. This explanation is examined in the next 

chapter.
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Table 6.20 
The Summary of Multivariate Test Results 

 Model 6.1 over 2005-2008  Model 6.2 over 2005-2008  Model 6.1 over 2006-2007 Conclusion 

A-share 

The coefficients on       

are positive and significant at 
the 5% level or better for all 
six accumulative windows 

 

The coefficients on       are generally positive 

but are only significant for longer windows [-30, 
+2] and [-60, +2]; The coefficients on       and 

      are both positive and significant for all six 

windows. 

 

The coefficients on       are 

positive and significant for all six 
windows 

ACARs increased in the post-
reform period, i.e., a larger 
information gap in the post-
reform period 

BO-share 

The sign of       

coefficients are mixed and 
are not significant for all six 
windows 

 

The coefficients on       are positive and are 

only significant for longer windows [-30, +2]; the 
coefficients on       are generally positive but 

not significant for all six windows; the coefficients 
on       are generally positive and are only 

significant for windows [-5, +2]. 

 

The signs of        coefficients 

are mixed. For shorter windows, 
the coefficients have positive sign 
but not significant, and for longer 
windows [-30, +2] and [-60, +2], 
they have negative sign and are 
significant for window [-30, +2]. 

ACARs unaffected, i.e., no 
changes in information gap 

ABB-share  

The       coefficients are 

positive and are significant 
for longer windows [-30, +2] 
and [-60, +2]. 

 

The coefficients on       are generally negative 

and are significant for shorter windows [-1, +2] 
and [-2, +2]; the signs of                  s are 

mixed; they are negative for shorter windows but 
are positive for longer windows and significant for 
windows [-60, +2]; the coefficients on       are 

positive and are only significant for windows [-30, 
+2]. 

 

The coefficients on       are 

positive and significant for 
windows [-1, +2] and [-60, +2]. 

ACARs only increased for 
longer accumulation windows, 
i.e., weak evidence of increase 
in information gap 

HO-share 

The       coefficients are 

positive and are significant 
for longer windows [-30, +2] 
and [-60, +2]. 

 

The coefficients on       are negative but are 

not significant for all six windows; the coefficients 
on       are generally positive but not 

significant for all six windows; the signs of       

coefficient are mixed and are not significant for all 
six windows. 

 

The coefficients on       are 

generally positive and significant 
for windows [-30, +2] and [-60, 
+2]. 

ACARs only increased for 
longer accumulation windows, 
i.e., weak evidence of increase 
in information gap 

AHH-share  

The       coefficients are 

positive and are significant 
for windows [-5, +2] and [-
60, +2]. 

 

The coefficients on       are generally positive 

but are not significant for all six windows; the 
coefficients on       are positive but only 

significant for windows [-5, +2] and [-60, +2]; the 
      coefficients are positive and are significant 

for windows [-5, +2], [-10, +2], and [-60, +2]. 

 

The coefficients on       are 

positive but not significant for all 
six windows. 

ACARs only increased for 
longer accumulation windows, 
i.e., weak evidence of increase 
in information gap 
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Chapter Seven: The “Fair Disclosure” Requirement in the 2007 reforms: 

The informed trading viewpoint 

7.1 Introduction 

This chapter tests an explanation for the key findings in Chapters 5 and 6 that the level of 

the information environment of local financial analysts and investors in the Chinese stock market 

decreased in the post-reform period. This result is contrary to our expectations that the 2007 

reforms would improve the information environment in the Chinese stock market and the 

findings in Chapter 4 that there was an increase in the amount of information. This unexpected 

decrease in the information environment for financial analysts and investors is consistent with 

proposals on disclosure regulation, which was motivated by concerns other than market failures 

(Leftwich, 1980). For example, regulators might have been concerned about the welfare of 

financially unsophisticated investors and attempted to reduce the information advantage of 

informed investors by creating “fair disclosure” requirements. 

This explanation implies that the objective of disclosure regulation is to redistribute 

wealth, rather than to improve economic efficiency (Healy & Palepu, 2001). For instance, the “fair 

disclosure” rule, which was promoted by the AMID, prohibited the selective disclosure of private 

information. However, while prohibition on selective disclosure can improve the fairness of the 

market, it may also reduce the total amount of information available to the market. 

Therefore, due to the reduction in the overall level of information provided to the market, 

the information asymmetry increased and the information environment of the Chinese stock 

market deteriorated in the post-reform period. Previous research shows that the bid-ask spread 

is negatively related to the level of information asymmetry between managers and investors. 

Thus, I examine the bid-ask spread in the Chinese stock market and expect to find evidence that 

the bid-ask spread increased in the post-reform period. 
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I also examine the effects of the “fair disclosure” rule in the AMID by studying the level of 

informed trading in the post-reform period. I use the level of informed trading as a proxy for the 

presence of selective disclosure, which is forbidden under the AMID reform as selective 

disclosure involves communicating private information to a select group of investors. Andersen 

(1996) notes that “each private information arrival tends to generate trading by informed agents 

over the information assimilation phase.” Thus, I posit the level of informed trading to be lower 

in the post-reform period. 

The remainder of this chapter is divided into five sections. Section 7.2 reviews the prior 

literature on the stock transaction costs and the level of informed trading, and then develops the 

hypotheses. Section 7.3 presents the methodologies for measuring the transaction costs and 

estimating the possibility of informed trading. Section 7.4 presents the univariate test results and 

Section 7.5 reports the multivariate test results. Section 7.6 concludes the chapter. 

7.2 Hypothesis development 

I posit that the decline in the supply of private information led to a deterioration in the 

overall information environment of the Chinese stock market. The information that investors, 

analysts and other market participants have at their disposal comprises both public and private 

information. Public information is available to all market participants. Private information is not 

common knowledge but it is price-relevant (Ito, Lyons, & Melvin, 1998). The existence of private 

information will increase the total amount of information in the market and reduce the 

information asymmetry between companies and investors, but it can also increase the 

information asymmetry between informed and uninformed investors. 

In terms of financial analysts, although both domestic and foreign financial analysts could 

have access to the same public information, they could also have different levels of access to 

private information. Generally, domestic financial analysts can access more private information 
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than their foreign counterparts. Therefore, the loss of access to private information could explain 

why domestic financial analysts’ forecast accuracy dropped significantly after the 2007 reforms, 

while that of foreign analysts did not. The relatively smaller amount of information available to 

them, as a consequence of the prohibition on selective disclosure, can help explain the higher 

information gap between companies and investors in the Chinese A-share market in the post-

reform period. 

The prior literature on the effects of Reg FD in US, which prohibited selective disclosure, 

suggests several findings that are in line with the findings in this thesis. Cook and Tang (2010) find 

that both financial analysts’ forecast accuracy and investors’ access to private information 

declined post-Reg FD. Findlay and Mathew (2006) and Agrawal, Chadha, and Chen (2006) also 

find that financial analysts’ forecast accuracy decreased in the post-Reg FD period, which is 

indicative of the reduced availability of private information. Štraser (2002) finds that, despite an 

increase in the quantity of available public information, the quality of that information, as 

measured by the probability of informed trading and the adverse selection component of the 

ask-bid spread, declined in the post-Reg FD era. 

Prior theoretical models suggest that the bid-ask spread arises because of asymmetric 

information between management and investors (Copeland & Galai, 1983; Glosten & Milgrom, 

1985). Empirically, the bid-ask spread is highly related to the information asymmetry between 

companies and investors (Kim & Verrecchia, 1994). Thus, based on the empirical results in 

Chapter 5 on financial analysts’ forecast error and dispersion, and the impact of the 2007 reforms 

on the information gap between the companies and market participants in Chapter 6, it is 

expected that the bid-ask spread in the Chinese A-share market increased after the reforms. 

Therefore, I hypothesize: 



191 
 

H1: The bid-ask spread in the Chinese A-share market increased after the implementation 

of the 2007 reforms. 

If the prohibition on selective disclosure can explain the deterioration in the information 

environment for domestic financial analysts and investors, then informed trading will significantly 

decline in the post-reform period. Therefore, I should expect to see the adverse selection 

component of bid-ask spread decrease in the post-reform period. Thus, I hypothesize: 

H2: The proportion of the adverse selection component of the effective bid-ask spread 

decreased in the post-reform period. 

7.3 Sample and data 

7.3.1 Sample 

To investigate the impact of the 2007 reforms on bid-ask spread and its adverse selection 

component, I use a sample period that comprises the two-year period immediately preceding the 

reform and the two-year period immediately following enactment of the reform. The pre-reform 

period is from 1 January, 2005 to 31 December, 2006, and the post-reform period is from 1 

January, 2007 to 31 December, 2008.    

This study focuses on the level of informed trading around the quarterly earnings 

announcements. I estimate the daily adverse selection component of the effective bid-ask spread 

during the window period [-20, +20], where day 0 is the date of the earnings announcement. 

I focus primarily on the A-share sample. The A-share sample is restricted to shares listed 

continuously on the Chinese A-share market over the period from January 2004 to December 

2008. The number of A-shares on the Chinese A-share market was 1,176 at the end of 2003. 

Following Firth et al. (2007), I exclude 20 companies in the financial sector because of their 

special regulatory environment. Then I eliminate 80 companies with high delisting risks (classified 

as *ST shares by the CSRC) during the period 2004-2008,. Finally, 84 companies are removed 
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from the sample because of missing data. The final size of the A-share sample is 992 companies. 

The BO-share, ABB-share, HO-share, and AHH-share samples are also used as control samples. 

 I use intraday transactions and quote data to estimate the Lin, Sanger and Booth model 

(Lin, Sanger, & Booth, 1995), hereafter called the LSB model. These data are obtained from SIRCA 

and are originally sourced from Reuters. The data includes transaction prices, transaction 

volumes and the best bid and best ask at the time of each transaction.  

7.3.2 The effective bid-ask spread and its adverse-selective component 

I measure the quoted bid-ask spread as the absolute difference between the bid and ask 

quotes, and the percentage quoted bid-ask spread as the quoted bid-ask spread divided by the 

stock price. I measure the effective bid-ask spread as the absolute difference between the trade 

price and the mid-point of bid and ask quotes, and measure the percentage effective bid-ask 

spread as the effective bid-ask spread divided by the mid-point of the bid and ask quotes. 

I employ the LSB model to estimate the adverse selection component of the bid-ask 

spread. I use this as my proxy for the level of informed trading. The LSB model is estimated using 

the following method: 

                

               

          

             

where    is the share price at time t,    is the ask price at time t, and    is the bid price at 

time t. 

In the LSB model, private information in a transaction at time t is revealed by quote 

revisions of     to both bid and ask quotes at time t+1 where   is the proportion of the dealer’s 
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spread due to private information (       and    is the signed effective half-spread 

measured as the transaction price at time t (    less the spread midpoint (  ).112 The variables    

and    are measured in logarithm form. 

Table 7.1 presents a summary description of key variables in each year during the sample 

period 2005-2008 for the A-share sample. These variables include the adverse selection 

component of bid-ask spread, different measures of the bid-ask spread and average prices, 

trading volume, and number of trades. The data in Table 7.1 show that, in general, the adverse 

selection component decreased from 2005 to 2007 but increased in 2008; the quoted bid-ask 

spread decreased from 2005 to 2006 but increased from then to 2008; the effective bid-ask 

spread increased from 2005 through to 2008; the percentage quoted bid-ask spread and the 

percentage effective bid-ask spread both decreased from 2005 to 2007 but increased in 2008. 

The average price increased from 2005 through to 2007 and then dropped in 2008; and the 

trading volume and number of trades peaked in 2007 and then fell in 2008.  

7.4 Univariate test results 

7.4.1 Univariate tests on A-shares 

Under the LSB model the value of the adverse selection component of bid-ask spread 

should be between 0 and 1. However, some of my empirical estimates of the adverse selection 

component are negative or greater than 1. As these estimates are outside the theoretical bounds 

and are difficult to interpret, I do not use them in the analyses. The results presented include 

only estimates that lie between 0 and 1.113

                                                           
112

 The reason I examine the effective bid-ask spread instead of quoted bid-ask spread is that it is generally accepted 
that the effective bid-ask spread is a better measure of transaction costs. It is the effective spread at which investors 
conduct trades.  
113

 Van Ness et al. (2001) note that many models of the spread component, such as the Madhavan, Richardson, and 
Roomans (1997) model, Huang and Stoll (1997) model, and Lin, Sanger and Booth model (1995), provide 
theoretically implausible component estimates (i.e., lower than 0 or higher than 1). In contrast to the former two 
models, the Lin, Sanger and Booth model only gives 0.5% theoretically implausible estimates.  
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Table 7.1 
Summary of Daily Transaction for the A-share Sample during 2005-2008*

 

 n 
λ 

(100%) 
QS 

(RMB) 
QS 
(%) 

ES 
(RMB) 

ES 
(%) 

Price 
(RMB) 

VWAP 
(RMB) 

TRDVOL 
(Million) 

NUMTRD 

Mean 

2005 150,726 0.232 0.017 0.35 0.008 0.17 5.250 5.251 2074.26 413.71 

2006 127,575 0.206 0.014 0.28 0.008 0.15 5.860 5.861 5283.6 878.2 

2007 136,226 0.155 0.024 0.16 0.013 0.08 15.818 15.820 11594.95 5644.14 

2008 138,274 0.197 0.025 0.25 0.013 0.16 11.240 11.240 5776.95 3550.76 

Median 

2005 150,726 0.223 0.013 0.32 0.007 0.16 4.345 4.345 1024.71 329 

2006 127,575 0.198 0.012 0.26 0.006 0.14 4.680 4.682 2741.6 638 

2007 136,226 0.143 0.016 0.15 0.009 0.08 12.112 12.113 6757.86 2602 

2008 138,274 0.187 0.017 0.23 0.008 0.14 8.095 8.096 3149.54 1754 

Standard Deviation 

2005 150,726 0.101 0.013 0.16 0.006 0.08 3.408 3.408 4671.11 302.68 

2006 127,575 0.089 0.011 0.10 0.008 0.10 4.326 4.327 10770.93 1256.16 

2007 136,226 0.081 0.027 0.06 0.014 0.03 13.196 13.195 19778.75 9760.04 

2008 138,274 0.093 0.031 0.12 0.016 0.08 11.689 11.688 10313.28 6389.3 

* n is the number of observations; λ is the ratio of adverse selection component to the effective bid-ask spread; QS (in RMB): Quoted Bid-Ask Spread, average of the total 
bid-ask spread, which is the difference between ask and bid quotes; QS (%): Percentage Quoted Bid-Ask Spread, the quoted bid-ask spread divided by the spread midpoint; 
ES (in RMB): Effective Bid-Ask Spread, absolute value of difference between price and the midpoint of bid and ask quotes;  ES (%): Percentage Effective Bid-Ask Spread, the 
effective bid-ask spread divided by the spread midpoint; Price: the average of transaction prices during the day; VWAP: Volume Weighted Average Price, the volume 
weighted average of transaction prices during the day; TRDVOL: Trading Volume, the number of shares traded during the day for the share; NUMTRD: Number of 
Transactions, the average of number of transactions per day. 
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Figure 7.1 shows the mean and median pre- and post-reform percentage effective bid-ask 

spread on each day during the event window [-20, +20]. The mean and median post-reform 

percentage effective spreads are both higher than their pre-reform counterparts. These findings 

do not support hypothesis H1 that the bid-ask spread would increase in the post-reform period. 

Figure 7.2 shows the mean and median pre- and post-reform adverse selection 

component of bid-ask spread () on each day during the event window [-20, +20], which is 20 

working days before and after the earnings announcement. It indicates that the mean and 

median pre-reform  is higher than both their post-reform counterparts on each day in the event 

window [-20, +20], supporting hypothesis H2 that the adverse selection component decreased in 

the post-reform period. 

Table 7.2 presents the mean and median pro- and post-reform  and percentage effective 

spreads in four different event windows. The percentage effective spread decreased in the post-

reform period for the four event windows. The mean (median) percentage effective spread over 

the event window [-20, +20] is 0.16% (15%) and 0.10% (9%) in the pre- and post-reform periods, 

respectively. The decrease in percentage effective spread is significant at the 1% level for the four 

event windows. The results also show that in the event window [-20, +20], the pre- and post-

reform mean (median)  is 0.220 (0.0211) and 0.176 (0.163) respectively. Overall the decrease in 

 is significant at the 1% level in each of the four event windows. The data also show that a 

significant majority of companies witnessed a decrease in  and a decrease in the percentage 

effective spread in the post-reform period. These results are consistent for the four event 

windows.
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Figure 7.1 
The Daily Percentage Effective Bid-ask Spread for the A-share 
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Table 7.2 
The Adverse Selection Component and Effective Bid-ask Spread for the A-share Samplea 

 Window [-3, +3]  Window [-5, +5]  Window [-10, +10]  Window [-20, +20] 

   ES (%)    ES (%)    ES (%)    ES (%) 

Number of Observation 

Pre-reforma 47,383 47,383  74,723 74,723  142,778 142,778  278,301 278,301 

Post-reform 46,015 46,015  73,239 73,239  141,499 141,499  274,500 274,500 

Mean 

Pre-reform 0.221 0.16  0.221 0.16  0.221 0.16  0.220 0.16 

Post-reform 0.174 0.11  0.175 0.11  0.176 0.11  0.176 0.10 

Difference -0.047 -0.06  -0.046 -0.06  -0.045 -0.06  -0.044 -0.06 

p-valueb 0.000*** 0.000***  0.000*** 0.000***  0.000*** 0.000***  0.000*** 0.000*** 

Median 

Pre-reform 0.212 0.15  0.212 0.15  0.212 0.15  0.211 0.15 

Post-reform 0.162 0.09  0.163 0.09  0.163 0.09  0.163 0.09 

Difference -0.05 -0.06  -0.05 -0.06  -0.05 -0.06  -0.05 -0.06 

p-value 0.000*** 0.000***  0.000*** 0.000***  0.000*** 0.000***  0.000*** 0.000*** 

Percentage of Companies with Higher or Lower Post-reform   or Effective BAS 

% of Companies with Lower Post-

reform   or Effective BAS 
92.1 8.1  92.4 7.6  93.2 6.8  93.8 5.65 

% of Companies with Higher 

Post-reform   or Effective BAS 
7.7 91.7  7.4 92.2  6.7 93.2  6.3 9.44 

p-value 0.000*** 0.000***  0.000*** 0.000***  0.000*** 0.000***  0.000*** 0.000*** 
a 
  is the mean adverse selection component during the event window; ES (%) is the percentage effective bid-ask spread during the event window, measured as the 

effective bid-ask spread divided by the spread midpoint; Event windows are relative business days before and after earnings announcements; the pre-reform period is 

from 01/01/2005 through to 31/12/2006, and the post-reform period is from 01/01/2007 through to 31/12/2008. 
b 

P-values are two-sided. P-values for means are from t-tests of the difference between the pre- and post-reform means. For medians, p-values are from Wilcoxon two-sample 
tests; p-values for differences in percentage of lower/higher post-reform   or Effective BAS are from binomial tests. ***, ** and * indicate significant at or better than the 1%, 
5% and 10% two-sided levels, respectively. 
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In summary, the univariate test results suggest that the percentage effective spread 

decreased significantly in the post-reform period, not supporting hypothesis H1. The adverse 

selection component for A-shares also decreased significantly in the post-reform period, 

supporting hypothesis H2. 

7.4.2 Robustness tests 

Robustness tests are conducted by examining the B-share and H-share samples. The 

univariate tests results can be found in appendix 7.1-7.6. In summary, the adverse selection 

components for shares issued by Chinese listed companies (i.e. BO-shares, ABB-shares, HO-

shares, and AHH-shares) declined significantly. The percentage effective spreads for these 

samples also decreased significantly. In contrast, the univariate tests results on the HM-share and 

AHM-share samples show no significant changes in the percentage effective bid-ask spread and 

the adverse selection component after the reform. 

These results indicate that only China-based shares experienced significant changes in the 

percentage effective bid-ask spread and its adverse selection component in the post-reform 

period. This suggests that the 2007 reforms could have caused these changes. 

In conclusion, the test results for these samples suggest that only China-based shares 

experienced a significant decrease in the adverse selection component and a decrease in the bid-

ask spread. The results are consistent with hypothesis H2 that the 2007 reforms were effective in 

prohibiting selective disclosure. But the decrease in percentage effective bid-ask spreads in the 

post-reform period is contrary to hypothesis H1. 

7.5 Multivariate test results 

7.5.1 Ordinary least square (OLS) regression models 

Factors other than the 2007 reforms could have impacted on the bid-ask spread, including the 

trading volume of the share, the price and the price volatility of the share. Following Madhavan et al. 
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(2005), the following OLS regression model is employed to control for these other influences on the bid-

ask spread: 

                                                                  (7.1) 

where          is the mean percentage effective bid-ask spread of company  i on day t, 

calculated as the mean of daily observed effective bid-ask spreads divided by mid-point of bid-ask quotes.  

        is the indicator variable for the 2007 reforms. I expect the coefficient of         to 

be positive as prior results in this thesis indicate that information asymmetry in the Chinese stock market 

increased in the post-reform period.114 

        is the inverse of mean price of share i on day t. The price is predicted to be negatively 

related to the percentage effective bid-ask spread (Demsetz, 1968). Thus, the inverse of price will be 

positive function of effective spread i.e., the coefficient on         is predicted to be positive. 

            is the natural logarithm of trading volume on share i on day t. The trading volume is 

predicted to be negatively correlated with bid-ask spread (Copeland & Galai, 1983; Demsetz, 1968). 

Therefore, an increase in trading volume should lead to a narrower bid-ask spread i.e. the coefficient on 

        should be negative. 

       is the price volatility of share i on day t. In the presence of high volatility and informed 

trading, a risk-averse specialist will widen the spread. Thus, volatility and the percentage effective bid-ask 

spread should be positively correlated. This predicted positive relationship between effective bid-ask 

spread and price volatility is documented empirically in prior studies (Chordia, Roll, & Subrahmanyam, 

2001; Chordia, Shivakumar, & Subrahmanyam, 2004; Stoll, 2000). 

The following OLS regression model is employed to control for factors that may affect the level of 

adverse selection component of bid-ask spread. Following Van Ness et al. (2001), the regression model is: 

                                                                               (7.2) 

                                                           
114

 The relation between information asymmetry and the bid-ask spread was first discussed in Bagehot (1971). 
Bagehot’s intuition subsequently was modelled by Copeland and Galai (1983) and Glosten and Milgrom (1985). 
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where      is the adverse selection component of share i on day t.         is a dummy variable 

that is equal to 0 when observations of share i are from the pre-reform period and 1 when observations 

are from the post-reform period.  

       is the volatility of price of share i on day t, and it is measured by a simple high-low 

estimator as follows: 

       [
           

             
]

 

 

where      is the highest price of share i on day t, and      is the lowest price of share i on day t. 

High volatility is indicative of market uncertainty and a possible increased presence of informed traders. 

        is predicted to be positively correlated with      as greater asymmetry of information can cause 

greater price volatility (Van Ness et al., 2001). Thus the coefficient on        should be positive.  

            is the natural logarithm of trading volume of share i on day t, and           is the 

natural logarithm of market capitalization of tradable shares of share i on day t.115 Prior literature suggests 

that the adverse selection component increases with decreasing trading volume (Foster & Viswanathan, 

1990). Thus, the coefficient on             should be negative.           is a proxy for company size, 

as larger companies should have better information disclosure. Thus the coefficient on           is 

predicted to be negative. 

7.5.2 The Two-stage least squares model for percentage effective bid-ask spread 

Previous research has established that volume is endogenous to volatility and bid-ask 

spreads (Farag & Cressy, 2011; Wang & Yau, 2000; Wang, Yau, & Baptiste, 1997). To address this 

simultaneity bias, a two-stage least squares (2SLS) framework is used. 

First I conduct a Hausman (1978) test to investigate whether percentage effective bid–ask 

spreads and volume are endogenous variables. The results of the Hausman test (not tabulated) 

confirm that that bid–ask spreads and volume are endogenously determined. Thus, estimates 

                                                           
115

 I also use the natural logarithm of market value of total shares as the proxy for company size. The results (not 
tabulated) are qualitatively the same. 
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from an OLS model that includes trading volume as an additional regressor may lead to 

inconsistent and biased estimators. 2SLS model is therefore employed to estimate the impact of 

the 2007 reforms on effective spreads.  

In the first stage the natural logarithm of trading volume is regressed on the first lag of 

percentage effective bid-ask spreads and the natural log of market capitalization. In the second 

stage, the predicted level of trading volume is included in place of actual trading volume, thus 

solving the endogeneity problem and eliminating the potential bias from OLS estimates. The 

regression equations are: 

                                                                                          (7.3) 

                                                               (7.4) 

where                is the predicted             estimated from equation 7.3. 

7.5.3 The descriptive statistics on the key variables 

Panel A of Table 7.3 reports descriptive statistics on the key variables in multivariate 

models. The results show that these variables changed significantly during the sample period 

2005-2008. The mean   significantly decreased from 0.22 in the pre-reform period to 0.18 in the 

post-reform period. The ES(%) decreased from 0.16 to 0.10. The mean VAR increased from 0.002 

to 0.004. The mean LN(TVOL) increased from 14.31 to 15.35. The mean LN (MC) increased from 

21.16 to 22.14, and the INVP decreased from 0.23 to 0.12. These changes are all significant at the 

1% level. Thus, they may cause significant changes in the adverse selection component and the 

percentage effective bid-ask spread. Panel B of Table 7.3 shows the correlation coefficients 

among these variables. The ES(%) and INVP have a correlation coefficient of 0.70, indicating a 

strong positive relationship. Variance inflation factors (not tabulated) are less than 2, indicating 

that multicollinearity is not likely to be a problem. 
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Table 7.3 
Distributional Statistics and Correlation Coefficients of Variables for the A-share Sample

a
 

Panel A: Descriptive Summary 
   ES (%) VAR LN(TVOL) LN(MC) LN(TMV) INVP 

Mean 

Pro-reform 0.22 0.16 0.002 14.31 21.16 20.22 0.23 
Post-reform 0.18 0.10 0.004 15.35 22.14 21.50 0.12 
Difference -0.04 -0.05 0.002 1.03 0.98 1.28 -0.12 
p-value

c 
0.00*** 0.00*** 0.00*** 0.00*** 0.00*** 0.00*** 0.00*** 

Median 

Pro-reform 0.21 0.15 0.001 14.32 21.02 20.12 0.22 
Post-reform 0.17 0.09 0.003 15.36 22.02 21.42 0.10 
Difference -0.05 -0.06 0.002 1.04 1.00 1.30 -0.12 
p-value 0.00*** 0.00*** 0.00*** 0.00*** 0.00*** 0.00*** 0.00*** 
Panel B: Correlation Coefficient 

   ES (%) VAR LN(TVOL) LN(MC) LN(TMV) INVP 
  1.00 0.21 -0.10 -0.42 -0.29 -0.32 0.12 

ES (%)  1.00 -0.01 -0.56 -0.59 -0.61 0.70 
VAR   1.00 0.30 0.10 0.01 -0.16 
LN(TVOL)    1.00 0.53 0.60 -0.23 
LN(MC)     1.00 0.93 -0.60 
LN(TMV)      1.00 -0.60 
INVP       1.00 
a
 Variable definitions:   is the adverse selection component of bid-ask spread during the event window [-20, +20], which is 

20 working days before and after the earnings announcement; ES (%) is the percentage effective bid-ask spread, the 
effective bid-ask spread during the event window [-20, +20]; VAR is the measurement of daily price volatility during the 
window [-20, +20]; LN(TVOL) is the natural logarithm of daily trading volume during the window [-20, +20]; LN(MC) is the 
natural logarithm of the market capitalization of tradable shares; LN(TMV) is the natural logarithm of the market value of 
total shares; INVP is the inverse of stock price. 
b
 pre-reform period is from 01/01/2005 through 31/12/2006, and post-reform period is from 01/01/2007 through 

31/12/2008. There are 270,317 observations in the pre-reform period and 267,870 observations in the post-reform period. 
c 
P-values are two-sided. P-values for means are from t-tests of the difference between the pre- and post-reform means. For 

medians, p-values are from Wilcoxon two-sample tests. ***, ** and * indicate significant at or better than the 1%, 5% and 
10% two-sided levels, respectively. 

 

7.5.4 Results of multivariate analysis on percentage effective bid-ask spread  

Panel A of Table 7.4 reports the estimation results for the OLS regression equation 7.1 for 

different event windows. The coefficients of         are significantly positive at the 1% level 

for all four event window periods [-3, +3], [-5, +5], [-10, +10], and [-20, +20], supporting 

hypothesis H1 that after controlling for other factors, the percentage effective spread increased 

significantly in the post-reform period. 

The coefficients of        are all positive, consistent with prior expectations, suggesting 

that higher price volatility causes a higher bid-ask spread (Karpoff, 1987). The coefficients of  

            are all negative, consistent with prior empirical evidence of a negative relationship 
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between trading volume and bid-ask spread (Copeland & Galai, 1983). The coefficients of         

are positive, indicating that the percentage bid-ask spread is decreasing in the price (Heflin, Shaw, 

& Wild, 2007). 

Panel B of Table 7.4 reports the estimation results for the 2SLS model. The results are 

qualitatively similar to the earlier OLS model estimation results. For all four event window 

periods, the coefficients of         are positive and significant at the 1% level, suggesting that 

the percentage effective bid-ask spread increased significantly after the 2007 reforms. This 

supports hypothesis H1. The signs of control variables are all consistent with expectations for all 

four event window periods: the coefficients of             are negative and the coefficients of 

        and        are both positive. 

Table 7.4 
Estimation Results for Equation 7.2 and Equations 7.3-7.4 for the A-share Sample

a 

 Intercept REFORM INVP LN(TVOL) VAR Adj. R
2 

n F-test 

Panel A: OLS (Equation 7.2) 
                                                       

Predicted Sign  +ve +ve -ve +ve    

[-3, +3]
b 0.428*** 

(296.38)
 

0.010*** 
(36.27) 

0.393*** 
(328.15) 

-0.026*** 
(262.57) 

3.603*** 
(119.05) 

0.73 90,927 62,121 

[-5, +5] 
0.428*** 
(374.36) 

0.009*** 
(43.00) 

0.393*** 
(410.37) 

-0.026*** 
(-331.52) 

3.836*** 
(152.09) 

0.73 144,087 97,547 

[-10, +10] 
0.424*** 
(519.53) 

0.009*** 
(55.30) 

0.391*** 
(565.07) 

-0.025*** 
(-457.96) 

3.958*** 
(208.72) 

0.73 276,887 183,783 

[-20, +20] 
0.415*** 
(716.37) 

0.008*** 
(65.09) 

0.386*** 
(763.96) 

-0.025*** 
(-624.71) 

3.991*** 
(291.14) 

0.72 538,187 343,808 

Panel B: 2SLS (Equation 7.4) 
                                                       

Predicted Sign  +ve +ve -ve +ve    

[-3, +3] 
1.047*** 
(141.63) 

0.002*** 
(3.34) 

0.130*** 
(40.21) 

-0.064*** 
(-135.00) 

2.959*** 
(39.22) 

0.49 65,704 15,526 

[-5, +5] 
1.043*** 
(184.90) 

0.002*** 
(5.75) 

0.129*** 
(51.91) 

-0.064*** 
(-176.09) 

2.883*** 
(48.52) 

0.48 111,074 25,840 

[-10, +10] 
1.025*** 
(263.05) 

0.003*** 
(10.35) 

0.131*** 
(75.34) 

-0.063*** 
(-249.91) 

2.836*** 
(68.22) 

0.48 226,984 51,658 

[-20, +20] 
0.979*** 
(374.15) 

0.003*** 
(12.51) 

0.136*** 
(114.12) 

-0.060*** 
(-353.42) 

2.969*** 
(104.46) 

0.48 450,561 104,873 

a
 Variables definition:          is the percentage effective bid-ask spread of share i on day t;         is the indicator of 

the 2007 reforms, equal to 0 if observations are from pro-reform period, and 1 if observation is from post-reform period; 
       is the measurement of daily price volatility of share i on day t;               is the natural logarithm of daily 

trading volume of share i on day t;         is the inverse of price of share i on day t. 
b
 Event windows are days before and after the earnings announcement. 

c
 Numbers in parentheses are t statistic values. ***, ** and * indicate significant at or better than the 1%, 5% and 10% 

two-sided levels, respectively. 
d
 n is the number of observations. 
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7.5.5 Results of multivariate analysis on the adverse selection component of bid-ask spread  

Table 7.5 shows the estimation results for equation 7.2. The coefficients of         are 

all negative, significant at the 1% level over all four event window periods. These results suggest 

that after controlling for other factors, the adverse selection component decreased significantly 

in the post-reform period. This result supports hypothesis H2 that the 2007 reforms effectively 

reduced the frequency of informed trading. 

Table 7.5 
Estimation Results for Equation 7.1 for the A-share Sample

a
 

                                                     

 [-3, +3]
b 

[-5, +5] [-10, +10] [-20, +20] 

Intercept 
0.734*** 
(115.56)

c 
0.744*** 
(147.61) 

0.745*** 
(204.56) 

0.733*** 
(279.13) 

REFORM 
-0.016*** 
(-23.78) 

-0.015*** 
(-28.35) 

-0.013*** 
(-34.03) 

-0.011*** 
(-41.73) 

VAR 
0.869*** 
(11.24) 

0.927*** 
(14.47) 

0.886*** 
(18.27) 

0.894*** 
(25.43) 

LN(TVOL) 
-0.027*** 
(-95.63) 

-0.027*** 
(-122.19) 

-0.027*** 
(-171.91) 

-0.027*** 
(-240.04) 

LN(MC) 
-0.006*** 
(-18.97) 

-0.007*** 
(-25.34) 

-0.007*** 
(-34.70) 

-0.006*** 
(-45.25) 

Adj. R
2
 0.186 0.189 0.188 0.185 

number of observations 90,927 144,087 276,887 538,187 
F-test 5,194.6 8,404.33 16,035.1 30,438.5 

a
 Variables definition:      is the adverse selection component of share i on day t;         is the indicator of 

reform, equal to 0 if observations are from pro-reform period, and 1 if observation is from post-reform period; 
       is the measurement of daily price volatility of share i on day t;               is the natural logarithm of 

daily trading volume of share i on day t;           is the natural logarithm of market capitalization of share i on 

day t. 
b
 Event windows are days before and after the earnings announcement. 

c
 Numbers in parentheses are t statistic values. ***, ** and * indicate significant at or better than the 1%, 5% and 

10% two-sided levels, respectively. 
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The coefficients on the other variables are consistent with my prior expectations. The 

coefficients on        are positive and significant at the 1% level; the coefficients on 

            are negative and significant at the 1% level, suggesting that             and the 

adverse selection component are inversely related; the coefficients on           are negative 

and significant at the 1% level, indicating a negative relationship between company size and 

information disclosure. 

7.6 Conclusion 

This study examines the bid-ask spread in the Chinese stock market for evidence of 

increased information asymmetry between managers and investors in the post-reform period. I 

also compare the level of informed trading in the pre- and post-reform periods. The purpose is to 

investigate whether there is any evidence that listed companies reduced their level of selective 

disclosure to the market in the post-reform period. A reduction in selective disclosure in the post-

reform period is a possible explanation for the empirical results in Chapter 5 and Chapter 6, 

which show that local financial analysts’ forecast error and dispersion, as well as the information 

gap, significantly increased after the enactment of the 2007 reforms. 

First, I examine the bid-ask spread in the pre- and post-reform periods. The univariate 

results show that the percentage effective bid-ask spread decreased in the post-reform period. 

However, multivariate test results show that after controlling for other influences on bid-ask 

spreads, the percentage effective bid-ask spread increased significantly in the post-reform period. 

Next I use the LSB model to estimate the adverse selection component of the bid-ask 

spread. The univariate test results show that the percentage adverse selection component 

decreased significantly in the post-reform period. This suggests that the probability or frequency 

of informed trading declined after the enactment of the 2007 reforms. After controlling for other 
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factors that could affect the adverse selection component, the empirical results still show an 

decrease in the adverse selection component of the bid-ask spread in the post-reform period.  

The post-reform increase in the effective bid-ask spread is consistent with an increase in 

the information gap in the post-reform period. Empirical results also show that the 2007 reforms 

reduced the adverse selection component of the bid-ask spread, which is consistent with a 

reduced level of information asymmetry between informed and uninformed investors. Thus, this 

evidence is consistent with the argument that the 2007 reforms’ prohibition on selective 

disclosure led to a significant reduction in the amount of private information, prompting a 

decrease in domestic financial analysts’ earnings forecast accuracy and an increase in the 

information gap between companies and investors.



207 
 

Chapter Eight: Summary 

8.1 Introduction 

This study examines the impact of the 2007 reforms on the information environment 

in the Chinese stock market. The 2007 reforms introduced the AMID, a more stringent 

information disclosure regulation regime, and the 2006 Accounting Standards, a set of 

accounting standards based largely on IFRS. It is posited that the 2007 reforms improved the 

information environment in the Chinese stock market. To test this hypothesis, I examine the 

quantity of information disclosed by Chinese A-shares, the earnings forecast errors and 

forecast dispersion of financial analysts in the Chinese A-share market, and the price 

reaction to the earnings announcements of Chinese A-shares in the pre- and post-reform 

periods. In addition, I examine Chinese A-shares’ bid-ask spread and the adverse-selection 

component of bid-ask spread before and after the 2007 reforms.  

This study contributes to the existing literature in two ways. As far as I am aware, 

this is the first study to examine the impact of the 2007 reforms on the information 

environment of the Chinese stock market. The Chinese government, investors, analysts, and 

the public considered that the reforms would improve the information environment in the 

Chinese stock market (CSRC, 2007; Renqing, 2006; Zhou, 2007) .The results of this study 

should assist Chinese regulators to better understand the impact of the 2007 reforms, and 

how the information environment might be further improved. Secondly, this study 

contributes to the existing literature on accounting and information disclosure reforms by 

providing evidence of the effect of disclosure and accounting reforms on the information 

environment of a developing country, namely China. As pointed out by Healy and Palepu 

(2001), there are important issues that have not yet been explored in the disclosure 
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literature. For example, it is not clear whether increased disclosure has the same effect on 

the reduction of information asymmetry levels in the US compared to other countries with 

different legal, cultural, environmental, and accounting regulations. Third, this study 

provides further insights into the effect of changes in disclosure legislation on the 

information environment for publicly listed securities. 

The rest of this chapter is structured as follows. Section 8.2 summaries the key 

findings and results from each chapter. Section 8.3 discusses the key limitations of the study. 

8.2 Summary of findings 

Chapter 1 outlines the aim of this research, defines the term ‘information 

environment in the stock market’, and discusses in detail the motivations and importance of 

this research. 

Chapter 2 provides a description of the Chinese stock market, the types of shares 

issued by Chinese companies, and the history of disclosure regulation in the Chinese market. 

This chapter also describes the 2007 reforms, including the AMID and 2006 Accounting 

Standards, and how these reforms were expected to improve the information environment 

in the Chinese stock market. The reforms sought to enforce timely information disclosure by 

listed companies, prohibit selective disclosure, and improve the quality of financial 

information. An overview of the regulatory background in the Hong Kong stock market is 

also provided. 

Chapter 3 describes the data sets used in this research. It includes the sample period, 

the size of each sample examined in this research, and the distribution of sample companies 

across industries. The main data sources, including RESSET, CSMAR, I/B/E/S, SICRA, and 
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Thomson Datastream are discussed. RESSET and CSMAR are both Chinese commercial 

databases, supplying high quality data on Chinese securities markets. 

Chapters 4 to 7 provide the results of the empirical tests of the information 

environment in the Chinese stock markets in the pre-reform and post-reform periods. The 

pre-reform and post-reform periods are defined as the two-year period immediately 

preceding and after the implementation of the 2007 reforms. The pre-reform period is from 

1 January 2005 to 31 December 2006, and the post-reform period is from 1 January 2007 to 

31 December 2008.  

Chapter 4 examines the level of information disclosure made by companies, and 

focuses on non-periodic PSA. The results of univariate and multivariate tests show that 

Chinese A-shares significantly increased the level of information disclosure in the post-

reform period. Specifically, the amount of non-periodic PSA increased by more than 63% 

after the 2007 reforms, from a mean 16.46 announcements per share in the pre-reform 

period to a mean 26.91 announcements per share in the post-reform period.  

A series of robustness tests are also conducted. First, the number of forward-looking 

earnings-related announcements released by Chinese A-shares is found to be higher in the 

post-reform period. Second, the results are similar when I re-estimate the multivariate 

regression models with quarterly data. Overall, the robustness tests support the finding that 

Chinese A-shares significantly improved their level of information disclosure in the post-

reform period.  

In addition, the impact of the reforms on the amount of non-periodic PSA for the BO- 

and H-shares is examined. The results show that the number of non-periodic PSA made by 

the BO- and H-shares did not change significantly after the reforms. These results provide 
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further evidence that the 2007 reforms changed the disclosure behavior of Chinese A-shares 

and led to an increase in the number of non-periodic PSA.  

Chapter 5 examines the error and dispersion of financial analysts’ earnings forecasts. 

Both local and foreign financial analysts’ forecasts are examined and compared. It is found 

that the forecast error of local financial analysts on the earnings of Chinese A-shares 

increased after the 2007 reforms, suggesting that the information environment for local 

analysts became poorer in the post-reform period. The forecast dispersion of local financial 

analysts on earnings of A-shares also increased after the reform, indicating higher 

disagreement among local analysts.  

In contrast, the forecast error and forecast dispersion of foreign financial analysts on 

the earnings of A-shares did not change significantly in the post-reform period, indicating 

that the forecast ability of foreign analysts and the disagreement among foreign analysts 

were not affected by the 2007 reforms. 

Overall the results suggest that the 2007 reforms had different impacts on the two 

groups of analysts. The reforms did not significantly change the earnings forecast ability of 

foreign analysts, but they significantly reduced the earnings forecast ability of local analysts. 

A potential explanation for this contradiction is that the local financial analysts had access to 

private information in the pre-reform period, which was selectively disclosed to local 

analysts by the management of the Chinese A-share companies.  The loss of access to 

private information in the post-reform period caused the decrease in the accuracy of 

information relevant to earnings, leading to higher local analysts’ forecast error and forecast 

dispersion. 
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Chapter 6 studies the information gap between investors and Chinese listed 

companies. The main finding is that the price reaction of A-shares around earnings 

announcements, measured by the ACAR, increased significantly in the post-reform period. 

The results suggest that there was a larger information gap after the 2007 reforms. The 

evidence is consistent with the results reported in Chapter 5, that the information 

environment for local financial analysts was worse after the reforms. 

A series of robustness tests were also undertaken to test if the larger information 

gap in the post-reform period could be attributed to the 2007 reforms. First, the regression 

model was re-estimated over a two-year period, one year before and after the reform, to 

reduce the effect of the global financial crisis beginning in late 2007. The results still showed 

that the increase in the information gap was significant after the reforms. The B-share and 

H-share samples were also examined, and the results show that in general the information 

gap for these shares did not change after the 2007 reforms. 

Chapter 7 seeks to explain the seemingly contradictory results between the 

increased quantity of public information disclosure and the increased information 

asymmetry between the market (i.e., financial analysts and investors) and companies in the 

post-reform period. I assume that the total information that the market can access is 

composed of public and private information. The increased information asymmetry found in 

Chapter 5 and 6 may suggest a decrease in the supply of private information, 

notwithstanding an increase in the level of public information disclosure. Thus, this chapter 

investigates changes in the level of informed trading in the pre- and post-reform periods.  

The empirical results show that for Chinese A-shares, the adverse selection 

component of bid-ask spread, which is a proxy for the level of informed trading, decreased 
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significantly in the post-reform period. This supports the hypothesis that relatively less 

informed trading occurred after the 2007 reforms. In addition, the bid-ask spread increased 

significantly in the post-reform period, indicating a larger information asymmetry between 

the market and the managers of the Chinese A-share companies in the post-reform period. 

Overall, these results are consistent with the findings in Chapter 5 and 6. 

The robustness tests show that shares listed on the Chinese B-share market also 

experienced a decrease in informed trading, whereas there was no change in the level of 

informed trading for shares listed on HKEx. Overall, these results further suggest that the 

level of informed trading in the Chinese stock market decreased in the post-reform period.  

In summary, the findings of this research are as follows. First, the 2007 reforms have 

significantly promoted the disclosure of public information, especially non-periodic PSA, 

made by companies in the Chinese stock market. Second, the information environment of 

local financial analysts and investors worsened after the reforms. However, there is 

evidence that the level of informed trading decreased significantly in the post-reform period. 

Overall, the evidence suggests that the 2007 reforms have reduced the level of selective 

disclosure of information by companies to outside parties, in particular to local financial 

analysts. Thus, the 2007 reforms have improved market fairness for all investors and should 

improve public confidence in the Chinese stock market. This improved public confidence in 

the market should help attract savings flows and further promote the development of the 

market. 

8.3 Limitations of the study 

There are several limitations of this study. First, only four years have elapsed since 

the 2007 reforms. The impact of the reforms will not be immediate if it takes time for 
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companies to fully comply with new accounting regimes and disclosure regulations, and 

investors and market intermediates require time to interpret accounting numbers based on 

these new regimes (Cuijpers & Buijink, 2005). Second, as the two components of the 2007 

reforms, the new disclosure regulations and the new accounting standards, were 

implemented at almost the same time, it is difficult to differentiate between the impact of 

the accounting changes and the impact of the new disclosure regulations on the information 

environment. Third, other factors such as the split share structure reform, better and faster 

information technology, and the 2007 financial crisis may also have impacted to some 

degree on the information environment in the post-reform period. Although robustness 

tests are conducted to reduce the effects of these factors, there could still be bias in the 

empirical test results. 

8.4 Areas for future research 

Although comprehensive research has been done to investigate the impact of the 

2007 reforms on the information environment in the Chinese stock market, there is still 

much more research to be done. In particular, the impact of the reforms on other areas in 

the Chinese stock market would be an interesting topic. For example, what impact might the 

reforms have on the pricing of IPOs and seasoned equity offerings? It would also be 

interesting to examine the ability of companies to manage earnings post the introduction of 

the 2006 Accounting Standards. These and other topics are left for future research.
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Appendix 

Appendix 2.1 
the number of companies or individuals fined in years 2005-2011 

Year Number of companies or individuals fined 

2005 12 

2006 16 

2007 22 

2008 28 

2009 33 

2010 28 

2011 34 

Source: China Securities Regulatory Commission 
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Appendix 4.1 
The number of Announcements made by the HM-share Sample in HKEx 

Announcement 
Overall Pre-reform Post-reform Change from Pre- 

to Post-reform Number Percent Number Percent Number Percent 

     Periodic Announcements 

Periodic Report/Audit Report 243 20.00% 117 21.79% 126 18.58% 9 

Sub-total 243 20.00% 117 21.79% 126 18.58% 9 

        Non-periodic NPSA 

Document/Corporate 
Governance 

2 0.16% 1 0.19% 1 0.15% 0 

Notice of Meetings 126 10.37% 31 5.77% 95 14.01% 64 

Notice/Circulars 219 18.02% 84 15.64% 135 19.91% 51 

Sub-total 347 28.56% 116 21.60% 231 34.07% 115 

             Non-periodic PSA 

Acquisition & Reorganization 24 1.98% 13 2.42% 11 1.62% -2 

Changes in Directionship 119 9.79% 52 9.68% 67 9.88% 15 

Changes in Majority 
Shareholders 

3 0.25% 0 0.00% 3 0.44% 3 

Clarification of News or 
Reports 

35 2.88% 24 4.47% 11 1.62% -13 

Investment and Fund-raising 71 5.84% 34 6.33% 37 5.46% 3 

Research and Market 
Development 

17 1.40% 13 2.42% 4 0.59% 9 

Results of Meeting 50 4.12% 16 2.98% 34 5.01% 18 

Share Trading and Risks 192 15.80% 104 19.37% 88 12.98% -16 

Transactions 114 9.38% 48 8.94% 66 9.73% 18 

Sub-total 625 51.44% 304 56.61% 321 47.35% 17 

                    Total 1,215 100.00% 537 100.00% 678 100.00% 141 
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Appendix 4.2 
The Number of Announcements made by the AHM-share Sample in HKEx 

Announcement 
Overall Pre-reform Post-reform Change from Pre- to 

Post-reform Number Percent Number Percent Number Percent 

             Periodic Announcements 

Periodic Report/Audit Report 589 27.07% 303 29.85% 286 24.63% -17 

Sub-total 589 27.07% 303 29.85% 286 24.63% -17 

                  Non-periodic NPSA 

Document/Corporate Governance 1 0.05% 0 0.00% 1 0.09% 1 

Notice of Meetings 264 12.13% 81 7.98% 183 15.76% 102 

Notice/Circulars 261 11.99% 99 9.75% 162 13.95% 63 

Sub-total 526 24.17% 180 17.73% 346 29.80% 166 

                  Non-periodic PSA 

Acquisition & Reorganization 53 2.44% 35 3.45% 18 1.55% -17 

Changes in Directionship 211 9.70% 103 10.15% 108 9.30% 5 

Changes in Majority Shareholders 8 0.37% 6 0.59% 2 0.17% -4 

Clarification of News or Reports 17 0.78% 11 1.08% 6 0.52% -5 

Investment and Fund-raising 59 2.71% 32 3.15% 27 2.33% -5 

Research and Market Development 30 1.38% 19 1.87% 11 0.95% -8 

Results of Meeting 81 3.72% 42 4.14% 39 3.36% -3 

Share Trading and Risks 271 12.45% 128 12.61% 143 12.32% 15 

Transactions 331 15.21% 156 15.37% 175 15.07% 19 

Sub-total 1,061 48.76% 532 52.41% 529 45.56% -3 

                           Total 2,176 102.74% 1,015 100.00% 1,161 100.00% 146 
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Appendix 4.3 
The Number of Announcements made by the AHA-share Sample to the Chinese A-share Market 

Announcement 
Overall Pre-reform Post-reform Change from Pre- to 

Post-reform 
Number Percent Number Percent Number Percent 

            Periodic Announcements 

Periodic Report/Audit Report 57 2.50% 28 3.02% 29 2.14% 1 

Sub-total 57 2.50% 28 3.02% 29 2.14% 1 

                Non-periodic NPSA 

Document/Corporate Governance 62 2.72% 51 5.50% 11 0.81% -40 

Notice of Extraordinary Meetings 19 0.83% 7 0.75% 12 0.89% 5 

Notice of Meetings 139 6.09% 55 5.93% 84 6.20% 29 

Notice/Circulars 161 7.05% 48 5.17% 113 8.34% 65 

Sub-total 381 16.69% 161 17.35% 220 16.24% 59 

                 Non-periodic PSA 

Accounting Policies & Estimates 23 1.01% 3 0.32% 20 1.48% 17 

Acquisition & Reorganization 27 1.18% 20 2.16% 27 1.99% 7 

Changes in Directionship 21 0.92% 11 1.19% 10 0.74% -1 

Changes in Majority Shareholders 101 4.42% 51 5.50% 50 3.69% -1 

Changes in Scheduled Disclosure 13 0.57% 2 0.22% 11 0.81% 9 

Clarification of News or Reports 38 1.66% 19 2.05% 19 1.40% 0 

Investment and Fund-raising 210 9.20% 45 4.85% 165 12.18% 120 

Potential Risks 15 0.66% 7 0.75% 8 0.59% 1 

Forward-looking Earnings-related 
Announcements 

89 3.90% 35 3.77% 54 3.99% 19 

Results of Meeting 731 32.02% 294 31.68% 437 32.25% 143 

Results of Extraordinary Meeting 82 3.59% 29 3.13% 53 3.91% 24 

Share Trading and Risks 109 4.77% 17 1.83% 92 6.79% 75 

Transactions 376 16.47% 200 21.55% 176 12.99% -24 

Voluntary Disclosures 10 0.44% 6 0.65% 4 0.30% -2 

Sub-total 1,845 80.81% 739 79.63% 1,106 81.62% 367 

                       Total 2,283 100% 928 100% 1,355 100% 427 
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Appendix 4.4 
The Average Number of Forward-looking Earnings-related Announcements made by the A-share Sample  

Forward-looking Earnings-related Announcements per Firm-year 

Year  
Whole sample

a
 

 
SSE sample 

 
SZSE sample 

 
Mean Median 

 
Mean Median 

 
Mean Median 

2005 
 

0.90 0.00 
 

0.72 0.00 
 

1.25 1.00 

2006 
 

0.90 0.00 
 

0.65 0.00 
 

1.36 1.00 

2007 
 

1.53 1.00 
 

1.18 1.00 
 

2.20 2.00 

2008 
 

1.50 1.00 
 

1.20 1.00 
 

2.01 2.00 

Difference between Pre- and Post-reform Periods
b
 

Magnitude 
 

1.22 2.00 
 

1.00 1.00 
 

1.65 2.00 

Increase Rate 
 

67.98% N/A 
 

72.98% 100.00% 
 

62.94% 100.00% 

p-value
c
 

 
0.00*** 0.00*** 

 
0.00*** 0.00*** 

 
0.00*** 0.00*** 

By Firm Differences: 

% of Firm-years with Fewer Disclosures post-
Reform  

22.59% 
 

22.80% 
 

22.19% 

% of Firm-years with More Disclosures post-
Reform  

59.07% 
 

57.16% 
 

62.72% 

a 
For the A-share sample, the whole sample includes A-shares listed on either SSE or SZSE; the SSE (SZSE) sample includes only A-shares listed on SSE (SZSE).  

b 
Pre-reform period refers to the period from 1 January 2005 to 31 December 2006; and post-reform period refers to the period from 1 January 2007 to 31 December 2008. 

c 
All p-values are two sided. P-values for means are from t-tests of the difference between the pre- and post-reform means. For medians, p-values are from Wilcoxon two-

sample tests. 0.00 means very small. ***,** and * indicate significant at or better than the 1%, 5% and 10% two-sided levels, respectively. 
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Appendix 4.5 
The Number of Non-periodic PSA made by each Sample BO-share per 

Year during the Period 2005-2008 

(1) (2) (3) (4) (5) 

Share Symbol 2005 2006 2007 2008 

200053 15 16 27 26 

200054 33 21 29 32 

200152 19 50 17 13 

200168 8 27 19 19 

200468 21 17 23 15 

200706 10 16 16 9 

200771 18 9 12 14 

200986 31 14 18 46 

900929 13 7 18 12 

900935 13 13 12 13 

900948 13 18 33 33 

900949 7 13 12 14 

900950 22 20 35 46 

900956 11 17 14 14 

900957 20 21 15 16 

Mean 16.93 18.60 20.00 21.47 

Median 15.00 17.00 18.00 15.00 
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Appendix  4.6 
The Number of Non-periodic PSA made by Each Sample HO- or HM-share per Year during the Period 

2005-2008 

(1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6) (7) (8) (9) (10) 

HO-share Sample HM-share Sample 

Share 
Symbol 

2005 2006 2007 2008 
Share 
Symbol 

2005 2006 2007 2008 

38 26 33 11 12 698 5 6 9 13 

74 16 12 30 23 334 19 16 8 8 

107 6 8 19 8 370 23 16 13 25 

161 12 36 30 52 532 8 10 13 4 

357 13 12 21 14 159 4 8 25 23 

576 3 9 7 3 737 4 1 7 8 

694 8 14 19 22 44 6 8 8 8 

696 5 9 19 20 92 16 4 3 18 

728 8 6 12 21 8 34 33 8 35 

1065 25 34 19 6 1083 2 8 15 3 

1122 20 11 6 13 118 8 4 14 6 

1133 8 5 7 9 25 13 11 12 12 

1202 14 13 13 7 1195 8 15 7 9 

1211 3 5 20 20 179 8 6 4 3 

Mean 11.93 14.79 16.64 16.43 Mean 11.29 10.43 10.43 12.50 

Median 10.00 11.50 19.00 13.50 Median 8.00 8.00 8.50 8.50 
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Appendix 4.7 
The Number of Non-periodic PSA made by Each Sample AHH-, AHA-, or AHM-share per Year during the Period 2005-2008 

AHH-share Sample AHA-share Sample AHM-share Sample 

(1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6) (7) (8) (9) (10) (11) (12) (13) (14) (15) 
Share 
Symbol 

2005 2006 2007 2008 
Share 
Symbol 

2005 2006 2007 2008 
Share 
Symbol 

2005 2006 2007 2008 

42 12 21 33 31 000585 19 13 30 29 1184 11 13 6 2 

168 5 9 14 16 600600 10 11 19 20 236 12 6 14 9 

177 14 5 11 8 600377 10 4 8 7 97 19 12 27 9 

187 1 9 19 10 600860 4 8 22 21 365 5 10 14 6 

300 16 20 23 13 600806 8 15 28 15 679 3 4 2 6 

317 25 25 10 19 600685 9 18 19 17 387 5 1 2 1 

323 18 35 12 13 600808 9 11 16 22 1001 6 6 12 9 

338 20 28 18 10 600688 16 22 24 27 148 29 19 17 5 

347 14 18 29 11 000898 23 14 17 18 24 12 11 18 18 

350 19 8 12 17 000666 13 7 27 18 1002 12 13 18 5 

358 14 13 16 24 600362 9 9 23 32 255 3 8 2 3 

386 9 17 14 9 600028 15 22 16 18 933 4 4 11 36 

548 20 16 15 23 600548 29 18 29 27 137 22 41 25 23 

553 13 34 22 14 600775 8 18 14 18 261 22 18 18 8 

670 22 17 25 45 600115 19 17 29 34 41 2 10 8 15 

719 3 6 9 20 000756 14 16 11 20 587 9 8 5 12 

874 6 12 17 3 600332 12 12 25 12 1177 12 10 9 10 

902 10 10 7 25 600011 32 48 42 44 2 11 4 8 7 

914 16 30 21 10 600585 13 17 19 13 659 17 9 14 7 

995 5 6 4 10 600012 13 10 9 13 2322 5 6 11 2 

1033 22 18 20 12 600871 15 6 32 25 769 5 10 6 6 

1055 20 22 23 34 600029 9 12 13 33 293 16 20 21 17 

1072 13 7 25 13 600875 12 5 23 19 57 2 0 2 3 

1138 18 35 29 14 600026 18 36 48 37 1098 11 22 21 6 

1171 18 13 7 15 600188 13 16 10 16 938 3 9 9 4 

Mean 14.12 17.36 17.40 16.76 Mean 14.08 15.40 22.12 22.20 Mean 10.32 10.96 12.00 9.16 

Median 14.00 17.00 17.00 14.00 Median 13.00 14.00 22.00 20.00 Median 11.00 10.00 11.00 7.00 
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Appendix 4.8 
 Distributional Statistics and Correlation Coefficients of Variables in Equation 4.1 for Forward-looking Earnings-related Announcements (A-share Sample)a 

Panel A: Distributional Statistics 

 
FF POST ABSCAR TA (Billions) IIS LOSS NEEDCAP SSSR SZSE 

Mean 

Overall 1.26 0.50 0.44 4.73 0.40 0.09 -0.04 0.31 0.33 

Pre-reform
b
 0.94 0.00 0.36 3.80 0.31 0.10 -0.04 0.56 0.33 

Post-reform 1.58 1.00 0.52 5.67 0.49 0.09 -0.04 0.06 0.33 

p-value
c
 0.00*** 0.00*** 0.00*** 0.00*** 0.00*** 0.34 0.95 0.00*** N.A. 

Median 

Overall 1.00 0.50 0.31 1.95 0.44 0.00 -0.03 0.00 0.00 

Pre-reform 0.00 0.00 0.26 1.73 0.24 0.00 -0.03 1.00 0.00 

Post-reform 1.00 1.00 0.37 2.22 0.51 0.00 -0.04 0.00 0.00 

p-value
c
 0.00*** 0.00*** 0.00*** 0.00*** 0.00*** 0.34 0.51 0.00*** 1.00 

Standard Deviation 

Overall 1.48 0.50 0.72 21.87 0.27 0.29 0.52 0.46 0.47 

Pre-reform 1.26 0.00 0.49 17.61 0.29 0.30 0.49 0.50 0.47 

Post-reform 1.60 0.00 0.89 25.40 0.20 0.29 0.55 0.24 0.47 

Panel B: Pearson Correlation 

 
FF POST ABSCAR TA (Billions) IIS LOSS NEEDCAP SSSR SZSE 

FF 1 0.22 0.06 -0.01 0.05 0.17 0.00 -0.10 0.28 

POST 
 

1 0.11 0.04 0.35 -0.02 0.00 -0.54 0.00 

ABSCAR 
  

1 -0.02 0.01 -0.01 -0.00 -0.07 -0.02 

TA (Billions) 
   

1 0.09 -0.01 -0.01 -0.04 -0.03 

IIS 
    

1 -0.11 0.01 0.07 -0.03 

LOSS 
     

1 -0.07 -0.06 0.03 

NEEDCAP 
      

1 0.02 0.00 

SSSR 
       

1 0.03 

SZSE 
        

1 
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Appendix 4.8 (Continued) 
a
Variable definitions:       is the number of Forward-looking Earnings-related Announcements made by share i in year y;      =1 if the observation is from year 2007 or 

2008, and zero if the observation is from year 2005 or 2006;             is the absolute cumulative abnormal return of share i over year y-1;         is the total assets of 

share i at the end of year y-1;          is the proportion of share i held by institutional investors at the end of year y;         = 1 if share i has negative net profit in year y, and 

zero otherwise;             is share i’s need for capital in year y, calculated as operating cash flow minus capital expenditure and scaled by current assets;        =1 if 

share i was implementing the Share-split Structure Reform in year y, and zero otherwise;       = 1 if share i is listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, and zero if it is listed 
on the Shanghai Stock Exchange. 
b 

Pre-reform period refers to the period from 1 January 2005 to 31 December 2006; and post-reform period refers to the period from 1 January 2007 to 31 December 2008. 
c 
All p-values are two sided. P-values for means are from t-tests of the difference between the pre- and post-reform means. For medians, p-values are from Wilcoxon two-

sample tests. 0.00 means very small. ***, ** and * indicate significant at or better than the 1%, 5% and 10% two-sided levels, respectively. 
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Appendix 4.9 
 Regression of Number of  Forward-looking Earnings-related Announcements per Firm-year on Post-reform Indicator and Control Variables (A-share Sample)

a
 

OLS Regression Model: 
                                                                                                                     

Variable
 Expected 

sign 
(1) (2) (3) (4) (7) (8) (9) (10) 

Intercept 
 

0.939*** 
(28.342)

b 
1.898*** 
(3.752) 

1.850*** 
(3.645) 

1.710*** 
(3.339) 

1.433*** 
(2.942) 

1.653*** 
(3.357) 

1.452*** 
(2.986) 

1.373*** 
(2.798) 

POST +ve 
0.637*** 
(13.598) 

0.639*** 
(12.381) 

0.638*** 
(12.372) 

0.717*** 
(11.087) 

0.622*** 
(12.572) 

0.279*** 
(5.053) 

0.501*** 
(8.550) 

0.546*** 
(7.840) 

ABSCAR +ve 
 

0.172** 
(2.099) 

0.173** 
(2.112) 

0.180** 
(2.194) 

0.223*** 
(2.832) 

0.212*** 
(2.662) 

0.226*** 
(2.875) 

0.229*** 
(2.921) 

Ln(TA) +ve 
 

-0.053** 
(-2.259) 

-0.051** 
(-2.148) 

-0.047* 
(-1.951) 

-0.047** 
(-2.058) 

-0.043* 
(-1.877) 

-0.045** 
(-1.981) 

-0.042* 
(-1.860) 

IIS +ve 
 

0.001 
(0.107) 

0.001 
(0.103) 

-0.063 
(-0.638) 

0.053 
(0.600) 

0.040 
(0.445) 

0.054 
(0.616) 

0.012 
(0.132) 

LOSS +ve 
 

0.845*** 
(10.664) 

0.859*** 
(10.724) 

0.866*** 
(10.806) 

0.814*** 
(10.603) 

0.836*** 
(10.759) 

0.815*** 
(10.640) 

0.820*** 
(10.684) 

NEEDCAP -ve 
  

0.109 
(1.180) 

0.109 
(1.176) 

0.097 
(1.094) 

0.118 
(1.315) 

0.103 
(1.159) 

0.103 
(1.157) 

SSSR +ve 
   

0.129** 
(2.022)    

0.074 
(1.214) 

SZSE ? 
    

0.858*** 
(18.292)  

0.679*** 
(10.259) 

0.676*** 
(10.218) 

Post*SZSE ? 
     

1.037*** 
(15.450) 

0.359*** 
(3.536) 

0.358*** 
(3.830) 

Adj. R
2 

 
0.046 0.077 0.077 0.078 0.152 0.132 0.155 0.155 

F-test 
 

185 64 54 47 99 83 88 78 

No. of observations 3,784 3,784 3,784 3,784 3,784 3,784 3,784 3,784 
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Appendix 4.9 (continued) 
a
Variable definitions:       is the number of Forward-looking Earnings-related Announcements made by share i in year y;      =1 if the observation is from year 2007 

or 2008, and zero if the observation is from year 2005 or 2006;             is the absolute cumulative abnormal return of share i over year y-1;             is the 

natural logarithm of total assets of share i at the end of year y-1;          is the proportion of share i held by institutional investors at the end of year y;        =1 if 

share i has negative net profit in year y, and zero otherwise;             is share i’s need for capital in year y, calculated as operating cash flow minus capital 

expenditure and scaled by current assets;         = 1 if share i was implementing the Share-split Structure Reform in year y, and zero otherwise;       = 1 if share i is 

listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, and zero if it is listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange. 
b 

Numbers in parentheses are t statistic values. ***, ** and * indicate significant at or better than the 1%, 5% and 10% two-sided levels, respectively. 
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Appendix 4.10 
 Distributional Statistics and Correlation Coefficients of Variables in Equation 4.4 (A-share sample)a 

Panel A: Descriptive Summary 

 
DISC POST ABSCAR TA (Billions) LOSS NEEDCAP SSSR SZSE 

Mean 

Overall 5.39 0.50 0.18 4.98 0.15 -0.05 0.12 0.34 

Pre-reform
b
 4.09 0.00 0.13 4.05 0.14 -0.05 0.21 0.34 

Post-reform 6.69 1.00 0.23 5.91 0.15 -0.05 0.03 0.34 

p-value
c
 0.00*** 0.00*** 0.00*** 0.00*** 0.03** 1.00 0.00*** N.A. 

Median 

Overall 4.00 0.50 0.13 2.04 0.00 -0.03 0.00 0.00 

Pre-reform 3.00 0.00 0.10 1.80 0.00 -0.03 0.00 0.00 

Post-reform 6.00 1.00 0.18 2.31 0.00 -0.03 0.00 0.00 

p-value
c
 0.00*** 0.00*** 0.00*** 0.00*** 0.03** 0.78 0.00*** 1.00 

Standard Deviation 

Overall 4.33 0.50 0.23 22.42 0.35 0.56 0.32 0.47 

Pre-reform 3.43 0.00 0.13 18.39 0.35 0.32 0.40 0.47 

Post-reform 4.73 0.00 0.28 25.80 0.36 0.72 0.16 0.47 

Panel B: Pearson Correlation 

 
DISC POST ABSCAR TA (Billions) LOSS NEEDCAP SSSR SZSE 

DISC 1 0.30 0.13 0.03 0.05 0.00 -0.03 0.10 

POST 
 

1 0.22 0.04 0.02 0.00 -0.28 0.00 

ABSCAR 
  

1 -0.01 0.01 0.01 -0.07 0.00 

TA (Billions) 
   

1 -0.02 -0.02 -0.02 -0.03 

LOSS 
    

1 -0.03 -0.02 0.04 

NEEDCAP 
     

1 0.01 0.01 

SSSR 
      

1 0.02 

SZSE 
       

1 
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Appendix 4.10 (Continued) 
a 

Variable definitions:         is the number of Non-periodic PSA made by share i in quarter q;      =1 if the observation is from year 2007 or 2008, and zero if the 

observation is from year 2005 or 2006;             is the absolute cumulative abnormal return of share i in quarter q-1;         is the total assets of share i at the 

end of quarter q-1;        =1 if share i has negative net profit in quarter q, and zero otherwise;             is share i’s need for capital in quarter q, calculated as 

operating cash flow minus capital expenditure and scaled by current assets;        =1 if share i was implementing the Share-split Structure Reform in quarter q, 

and zero otherwise;       = 1 if share i is listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, and zero if it is listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange. 
b 

Pre-reform period refers to the period from 1 January 2005 to 31 December 2006; and post-reform period refers to the period from 1 January 2007 to 31 
December 2008. 
c 
All p-values are two sided. P-values for means are from t-tests of the difference between the pre- and post-reform means. For medians, p-values are from 

Wilcoxon two-sample tests. 0.00 means very small. ***, ** and * indicate significant at or better than the 1%, 5% and 10% two-sided levels, respectively. 
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Appendix 4.11 
Regression of Number of Non-periodic PSA per Firm-quarter on Post-reform Indicator and Control Variables (A-share Sample)

a 

OLS Regression Model: 

                                                                                                                    

Variable
 Expected 

sign 
(1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6) (7) (8) 

Intercept 
 

4.091*** 
(87.923)

b 
-2.311*** 

(3.279) 
-2.316*** 
(-3.271) 

-2.677*** 
(-3.781) 

-2.544*** 
(-3.610) 

-2.357*** 
(-3.343) 

-2.497*** 
(-3.544) 

-2.846*** 
(-4.042) 

POST +ve 
2.599*** 
(39.498) 

2.339*** 
(33.756) 

2.339*** 
(33.754) 

2.494*** 
(34.842) 

2.342*** 
(33.983) 

1.945*** 
(25.389) 

2.165*** 
(25.917) 

2.318*** 
(27.133) 

ABSCAR +ve 
 

1.733*** 
(8.971) 

1.733*** 
(8.968) 

1.751*** 
(9.078) 

1.713*** 
(8.910) 

1.758*** 
(9.135) 

1.730*** 
(8.999) 

1.747*** 
(9.107) 

Ln(TA) +ve 
 

0.269*** 
(8.293) 

0.270*** 
(8.249) 

0.278*** 
(8.505) 

0.267*** 
(8.194) 

0.271*** 
(8.334) 

0.268*** 
(8.247) 

0.276*** 
(8.498) 

LOSS +ve 
 

0.602*** 
(6.456) 

0.602*** 
(6.441) 

0.616*** 
(6.598) 

0.553*** 
(5.943) 

0.574*** 
(6.167) 

0.555*** 
(5.963) 

0.568*** 
(6.121) 

NEEDCAP -ve 
  

0.013 
(0.073) 

-0.015 
(-0.083) 

-0.091 
(-0.522) 

-0.041 
(-0.235) 

-0.085 
(-0.489) 

-0.110 
(-0.637) 

SSSR +ve 
   

0.887*** 
(8.372)    

0.864*** 
(8.201) 

SZSE ? 
    

0.897*** 
(13.019)  

0.639*** 
(6.565) 

0.633*** 
(6.514) 

Post*SZSE ? 
     

1.153*** 
(11.841) 

0.515*** 
(3.746) 

0.510*** 
(3.718) 

Adj. R
2 

 
0.090 0.099 0.099 0.103 0.109 0.107 0.110 0.113 

F-test 
 

1,560 437 349 304 323 317 279 253 

No. of observations 15,792 15,792 15,792 15,792 15,792 15,792 15,792 15,792 
a 

Variable definitions:         is the number of Non-periodic PSA made by share i in quarter q;      =1 if the observation is from year 2007 or 2008, and 

zero if the observation is from year 2005 or 2006;             is the absolute cumulative abnormal return of share i in quarter q-1;             is the 

natural logarithm of total assets of share i at the end of quarter q-1;        =1 if share i has negative net profit in quarter q, and zero otherwise;  

           is share i’s need for capital in quarter q, calculated as operating cash flow minus capital expenditure and scaled by current assets;        =1 

if share i was implementing the Share-split Structure Reform in quarter q, and zero otherwise;      =1 if share i is listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, 
and zero if it is listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange. 
b 

Numbers in parentheses are t statistic values. ***, ** and * indicate significant at or better than the 1%, 5% and 10% two-sided levels, respectively. 
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Appendix 4.12 

Distributional Statistics and Coefficients of Variables for the BO-share Sample 

Panel A: Descriptive Summarya 

 
DISC POST ABSCAR TA (Billions) LOSS NEEDCAP 

Mean 

Overall 19.25 0.50 0.43 3.24 0.12 0.14 

Pre-reformb 17.77 0.00 0.36 2.54 0.13 0.18 

Post-reform 20.73 1.00 0.49 3.94 0.10 0.09 

p-valuec 0.21 0.00*** 0.43 0.004*** 0.71 0.26 

Median 

Overall 16.50 0.50 0.26 2.12 0.00 0.09 

Pre-reform 16.50 0.00 0.25 1.92 0.00 0.09 

Post-reform 16.50 1.00 0.26 2.36 0.00 0.08 

p-value 0.14 0.00*** 0.98 0.00*** 1.00 0.33 

Standard Deviation 

Overall 9.49 0.50 0.60 3.66 0.32 0.42 

Pre-reform 8.80 0.00 0.32 2.42 0.35 0.36 

Post-reform 10.07 0.00 0.79 4.52 0.31 0.47 

Panel B: Pearson Correlation 

 
DISC POST ABSCAR TA LOSS NEEDCAP 

DISC 1 0.16 0.24 0.16 -0.03 -0.12 

POST 
 

1 0.11 0.19 -0.05 -0.11 

ABSCAR 
  

1 0.27 -0.03 0.05 

TA 
   

1 0.12 -0.04 

LOSS 
    

1 -0.23 

NEEDCAP 
     

1 
a Variable definitions:         is the number of Non-periodic PSA made by share i in year y;      =1 if 

the observation is from year 2007 or 2008, and zero if the observation is from year 2005 or 2006; 

            is the absolute cumulative abnormal return of share i over year y-1;         is the total 

assets of share i at the end of year y-1;         = 1 if share i has negative net profit in year y, and zero 

otherwise;             is share i’s need for capital in year y, calculated as operating cash flow minus 

capital expenditure and scaled by current assets. 
b Pre-reform period refers to the period from 1 January 2005 to 31 December 2006; and post-reform 

period refers to the period from 1 January 2007 to 31 December 2008. 
c All p-values are two sided. P-values for means are from t-tests of the difference between the pre- and 

post-reform means. For medians, p-values are from Wilcoxon two-sample tests. 0.00 means very small. 

***, ** and * indicate significant at or better than the 1%, 5% and 10% two-sided levels, respectively. 
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Appendix 4.13 

Distributional Statistics and Coefficients of Variables for the HO-share Sample 

Panel A: Descriptive Summarya 

 
DISC POST ABSCAR TA (Billions) LOSS NEEDCAP 

Mean 

Overall 14.95 0.50 0.57 38.49 0.04 0.32 

Pre-reformb 13.36 0.00 0.46 38.83 0.04 0.35 

Post-reform 16.54 1.00 0.69 38.15 0.04 0.30 

p-valuec 0.17 0.00*** 0.47 0.75 1.00 0.49 

Median 

Overall 12.5 0.50 0.39 7.99 0.00 0.14 

Pre-reform 11.5 0.00 0.46 8.46 0.00 0.16 

Post-reform 16.5 1.00 0.31 7.82 0.00 0.10 

p-value 0.11 0.00*** 0.39 0.03** 1.00 0.11 

Standard Deviation 

Overall 9.74 0.50 1.20 103.74 0.19 0.57 

Pre-reform 9.37 0.00 0.37 109.41 0.19 0.53 

Post-reform 10.01 0.00 1.66 99.77 0.19 0.62 

Panel B: Pearson Correlation 

 
DISC POST ABSCAR TA LOSS NEEDCAP 

DISC 1 0.16 0.50 -0.13 0.48 -0.26 

POST 
 

1 0.10 -0.00 0.00 -0.04 

ABSCAR 
  

1 -0.07 0.70 -0.23 

TA 
   

1 -0.06 0.73 

LOSS 
    

1 -0.14 

NEEDCAP 
     

1 
a Variable definitions:         is the number of Non-periodic PSA made by share i in year y;      =1 if 

the observation is from year 2007 or 2008, and zero if the observation is from year 2005 or 2006; 

            is the absolute cumulative abnormal return of share i over year y-1;         is the total 

assets of share i at the end of year y-1;         = 1 if share i has negative net profit in year y, and zero 

otherwise;             is share i’s need for capital in year y, calculated as operating cash flow minus 

capital expenditure and scaled by current assets. 
b Pre-reform period refers to the period from 1 January 2005 to 31 December 2006; and post-reform 

period refers to the period from 1 January 2007 to 31 December 2008. 
c All p-values are two sided. P-values for means are from t-tests of the difference between the pre- and 

post-reform means. For medians, p-values are from Wilcoxon two-sample tests. 0.00 means very small. 

***, ** and * indicate significant at or better than the 1%, 5% and 10% two-sided levels, respectively. 
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Appendix 4.14 

Distributional Statistics and Coefficients of Variables for the HM-share Sample 

Panel A: Descriptive Summarya 

 
DISC POST ABSCAR TA (Billions) LOSS NEEDCAP 

Mean 

Overall 11.16 0.50 0.52 8.50 0.13 0.21 

Pre-reformb 10.86 0.00 0.49 8.24 0.11 0.19 

Post-reform 11.46 1.00 0.54 8.76 0.14 0.23 

p-valuec 0.74 0.00*** 0.83 0.21 0.66 0.65 

Median 

Overall 8.00 0.50 0.35 5.17 0.00 0.15 

Pre-reform 8.00 0.00 0.41 4.88 0.00 0.20 

Post-reform 8.50 1.00 0.24 5.94 0.00 0.11 

p-value 0.63 0.00*** 0.09* 0.00*** 1.00 0.45 

Standard Deviation 

Overall 7.95 0.50 0.83 12.70 0.33 0.48 

Pre-reform 8.32 0.00 0.37 13.20 0.31 0.53 

Post-reform 7.71 0.00 1.12 12.40 0.36 0.44 

Panel B: Pearson Correlation 

 
DISC POST ABSCAR TA LOSS NEEDCAP 

DISC 1 0.04 0.25 0.42 0.26 -0.11 

POST 
 

1 0.03 0.02 0.05 0.04 

ABSCAR 
  

1 -0.16 0.38 -0.02 

TA 
   

1 -0.20 0.10 

LOSS 
    

1 -0.23 

NEEDCAP 
     

1 
a Variable definitions:         is the number of Non-periodic PSA made by share i in year y;      =1 if 

the observation is from year 2007 or 2008, and zero if the observation is from year 2005 or 2006; 

            is the absolute cumulative abnormal return of share i over year y-1;         is the total 

assets of share i at the end of year y-1;         = 1 if share i has negative net profit in year y, and zero 

otherwise;             is share i’s need for capital in year y, calculated as operating cash flow minus 

capital expenditure and scaled by current assets. 
b Pre-reform period refers to the period from 1 January 2005 to 31 December 2006; and post-reform 

period refers to the period from 1 January 2007 to 31 December 2008. 
c All p-values are two sided. P-values for means are from t-tests of the difference between the pre- and 

post-reform means. For medians, p-values are from Wilcoxon two-sample tests. 0.00 means very small. 

***, ** and * indicate significant at or better than the 1%, 5% and 10% two-sided levels, respectively. 
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Appendix 4.15 

Distributional Statistics and Coefficients of Variables for the AHH-share Sample 

Panel A: Descriptive Summarya 

 
DISC POST ABSCAR TA (Billions) LOSS NEEDCAP 

Mean 

Overall 16.41 0.50 0.48 44.90 0.18 0.24 

Pre-reformb 15.74 0.00 0.45 39.25 0.16 0.30 

Post-reform 17.08 1.00 0.52 50.55 0.20 0.18 

p-valuec 0.41 0.00*** 0.60 0.00*** 0.49 0.18 

Median 

Overall 15.50 0.50 0.39 11.94 0.00 0.13 

Pre-reform 16.00 0.00 0.40 11.21 0.00 0.17 

Post-reform 15.00 1.00 0.36 15.76 0.00 0.12 

p-value 0.30 0.00*** 0.43 0.00*** 0.72 0.57 

Standard Deviation 

Overall 8.29 0.50 0.65 114.38 0.39 0.50 

Pre-reform 8.17 0.00 0.29 103.04 0.37 0.48 

Post-reform 8.44 0.00 0.87 125.50 0.40 0.51 

Panel B: Pearson Correlation 

 
DISC POST ABSCAR TA LOSS NEEDCAP 

DISC 1 0.08 0.13 -0.06 0.31 0.07 

POST 
 

1 0.05 0.049 0.05 -0.12 

ABSCAR 
  

1 -0.07 0.03 -0.06 

TA 
   

1 -0.07 0.06 

LOSS 
    

1 -0.22 

NEEDCAP 
     

1 
a Variable definitions:         is the number of Non-periodic PSA made by share i in year y; 

     =1 if the observation is from year 2007 or 2008, and zero if the observation is from year 

2005 or 2006;             is the absolute cumulative abnormal return of share i over year y-1; 

        is the total assets of share i at the end of year y-1;         = 1 if share i has negative net 

profit in year y, and zero otherwise;             is share i’s need for capital in year y, calculated 

as operating cash flow minus capital expenditure and scaled by current assets. 
b Pre-reform period refers to the period from 1 January 2005 to 31 December 2006; and post-

reform period refers to the period from 1 January 2007 to 31 December 2008. 
c All p-values are two sided. P-values for means are from t-tests of the difference between the pre- 

and post-reform means. For medians, p-values are from Wilcoxon two-sample tests. 0.00 means 

very small. ***, ** and * indicate significant at or better than the 1%, 5% and 10% two-sided 

levels, respectively. 
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Appendix 4.16 

Distributional Statistics and Coefficients of Variables for the AHA-share Sample 

Panel A: Descriptive Summarya 

 
DISC POST ABSCAR TA (Billions) LOSS NEEDCAP 

Mean 

Overall 17.98 0.50 0.40 44.80 0.12 -0.06 

Pre-reformb 14.4 0.00 0.29 36.80 0.08 -0.03 

Post-reform 21.56 1.00 0.51 52.80 0.16 -0.09 

p-valuec 0.00*** 0.00*** 0.03** 0.00*** 0.16 0.40 

Median 

Overall 16.00 0.50 0.29 11.50 0.00 -0.03 

Pre-reform 13.00 0.00 0.29 10.70 0.00 0.00 

Post-reform 19.00 1.00 0.38 18.80 0.00 -0.05 

p-value 0.00*** 0.00*** 0.09* 0.00*** 0.29 0.43 

Standard Deviation 

Overall 9.41 0.50 0.53 114.00 0.33 0.44 

Pre-reform 8.22 0.00 0.20 96.00 0.27 0.49 

Post-reform 9.23 0.00 0.71 131.00 0.37 0.37 

Panel B: Pearson Correlation 

 
DISC POST ABSCAR TA LOSS NEEDCAP 

DISC 1 0.38 0.19 0.10 0.15 0.04 

POST 
 

1 0.20 0.07 0.12 -0.07 

ABSCAR 
  

1 -0.03 0.34 -0.29 

TA 
   

1 -0.02 -0.08 

LOSS 
    

1 -0.34 

NEEDCAP 
     

1 
a Variable definitions:         is the number of Non-periodic PSA made by share i in year y;      =1 if 

the observation is from year 2007 or 2008, and zero if the observation is from year 2005 or 2006; 

            is the absolute cumulative abnormal return of share i over year y-1;         is the total 

assets of share i at the end of year y-1;         = 1 if share i has negative net profit in year y, and zero 

otherwise;             is share i’s need for capital in year y, calculated as operating cash flow minus 

capital expenditure and scaled by current assets. 
b Pre-reform period refers to the period from 1 January 2005 to 31 December 2006; and post-reform 

period refers to the period from 1 January 2007 to 31 December 2008. 
c All p-values are two sided. P-values for means are from t-tests of the difference between the pre- and 

post-reform means. For medians, p-values are from Wilcoxon two-sample tests. 0.00 means very small. 

***, ** and * indicate significant at or better than the 1%, 5% and 10% two-sided levels, respectively. 
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Appendix 4.17 

Distributional Statistics and Coefficients of Variables for the AHM-share Sample 

Panel A: Descriptive Summary
a 

 
DISC POST ABSCAR TA (Billions) LOSS NEEDCAP 

Mean 

Overall 10.61 0.50 0.72 14.50 0.13 0.16 

Pre-reform
b 

10.64 0.00 0.63 13.00 0.10 0.17 

Post-reform 10.58 1.00 0.81 16.00 0.16 0.14 

p-value
c 

0.96 0.00*** 0.67 0.02** 0.32 0.47 

Median 

Overall 9.00 0.50 0.34 2.23 0.00 0.11 

Pre-reform 10.00 0.00 0.31 2.18 0.00 0.11 

Post-reform 9.00 1.00 0.37 2.43 0.00 0.11 

p-value 0.96 0.00*** 0.84 0.009*** 0.51 0.55 

Standard Deviation 

Overall 7.65 0.50 2.09 28.60 0.34 0.30 

Pre-reform 7.77 0.00 1.32 24.90 0.30 0.35 

Post-reform 7.59 0.00 2.66 32.00 0.37 0.24 

Panel B: Pearson Correlation 

 
DISC POST ABSCAR TA LOSS NEEDCAP 

DISC 1 -0.004 -0.11 0.13 -0.05 -0.04 

POST 
 

1 0.04 0.05 0.09 -0.05 

ABSCAR 
  

1 -0.12 -0.097 -0.12 

TA 
   

1 -0.03 0.53 

LOSS 
    

1 -0.10 

NEEDCAP 
     

1 
a Variable definitions:         is the number of Non-periodic PSA made by share i in year y;      =1 if 

the observation is from year 2007 or 2008, and zero if the observation is from year 2005 or 2006; 

            is the absolute cumulative abnormal return of share i over year y-1;         is the total 

assets of share i at the end of year y-1;         = 1 if share i has negative net profit in year y, and zero 

otherwise;             is share i’s need for capital in year y, calculated as operating cash flow minus 

capital expenditure and scaled by current assets. 
b Pre-reform period refers to the period from 1 January 2005 to 31 December 2006; and post-reform 

period refers to the period from 1 January 2007 to 31 December 2008. 
c All p-values are two sided. P-values for means are from t-tests of the difference between the pre- and 

post-reform means. For medians, p-values are from Wilcoxon two-sample tests. 0.00 means very small. 

***, ** and * indicate significant at or better than the 1%, 5% and 10% two-sided levels, respectively. 
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Appendix 4.18 

Table 4.13 reports the results of multivariate regression model of the following form: 

                                                                    

               ∑          
 
 ∑                       

In this model, I use interactive variables to capture how sensitive each type of share 

was to the 2007 reforms. 

The model (2) in Table 4.13 is: 

                                                                    

                                    

The main variables of interest are the two categorical variables and their interactive 

terms.  

In the pooled sample, I have two types of shares, HO and HM, HO is Chinese 

companies listed on Hong Kong and HM is Hong Kong companies listed on Hong 

Kong. In this sample, I want to examine the difference in information disclosure 

between HO and HM. Therefore, I use dummy variable HO and interactive variable 

POST*HO. 

In this model, I test whether the disclosure differ across four groups: (1) HO, pre-

reform, (2) HM, pre-reform, (3) HO, post-reform, (4) HM, post-reform. 

The following Table demonstrates the coefficient composition for each of the four 

groups, where “X” indicates that the coefficient is an additive component of the 

dependent variable, and the dependent variable is the number of announcement. A 

significant additive component means a shift of the baseline intercept upward 

(positive) or downward (negative). 

For example, the intercept   , which is the baseline of the regression model, 

measures the level of information disclosure for HM during the pre-reform period. 

The level of disclosure for HO during the pre-reform period is      . Therefore,   

represents the difference in the information disclosure between HM and HO in the 

pre-reform period (i.e.,   measures the effect of HO on the dependent variable, 

when POST take the value of 0). Similarly,     represent the impact of the reform on 

HM firms, while   measures the impact of reform on the difference in the level of 

disclosure between HO and HM samples. 
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Similarly, the differential impact on HO and HM firms in the post-reform period is 

measured by: 

HO in post-reform – HM in post-reform = (           -         =     

 

Group           

HM, pre-reform X    

HO, pre-reform X  X  

HM, post-reform X X   

HO, post-reform X X X X 
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Appendix 5.1 
Median Consensus Forecast Error for the A-share Samplea,b 

Panel A: Median Consensus Forecast Error in Each Year Over Period 2005-2008a
 

 
CSMAR data 

 
I/B/E/S data 

Year 2005 2006 2007 2008 
 

2005 2006 2007 2008 

Mean 0.018 0.012 0.015 0.033 
 

0.016 0.015 0.018 0.029 

Median 0.006 0.005 0.007 0.013 
 

0.010 0.010 0.011 0.013 

Standard Deviation 0.045 0.021 0.060 0.058 
 

0.024 0.021 0.021 0.051 

Number of Observations 455 531 616 678 
 

147 308 384 444 

Panel B: Pre- and Post-reform Median Consensus Forecast Error for the A-share Sample
 

 
Mean 

 
Median 

 
CSMAR data 
(n = 2,196) 

 
I/B/E/S data 
(n = 1,242) 

 
CSMAR data 
(n = 2,196) 

 
I/B/E/S data 
(n = 1,242) 

Overall 0.020 
 

0.021 
 

0.007 
 

0.011 

Pre-reform
c 

0.015 
 

0.016 
 

0.006 
 

0.010 

Post-reform 0.024 
 

0.024 
 

0.009 
 

0.012 

Difference 0.009 
 

0.008 
 

0.003 
 

0.002 

p-value
d
 0.000*** 

 
0.000*** 

 
0.000*** 

 
0.000*** 

a 
A-share sample comprises of the AO-share, ABA-share, and AHA-share samples. Median Consensus Forecast 

Error is the absolute difference between median consensus EPS forecasts and actual EPS. 
b 

Forecast data for A-share sample are obtained from CSMAR and I/B/E/S. CSMAR data are forecast data 
obtained from CSMAR, these forecasts are made by local financial analysts; I/B/E/S data are forecast data 
obtained from I/B/E/S, these forecast generally are made by foreign financial analysts. 
c 
Pre-reform period is from 01/01/2005 to 31/12/2006, and post-reform period is from 01/01/2007 to 

31/12/2008. 
d 

P-values are two-sided. P-values for means are from t-tests of the difference between the pre- and post-
reform means. For medians, p-values are from Wilcoxon two-sample tests. ***, ** and * indicate significant 
at or better than the 1%, 5% and 10% two-sided levels, respectively. 
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Appendix 5.2 
Pre- and Post-reform Median Consensus Forecast Error for the A-share, B-share, and H-share 

Samples
a 

 
A-share sample 

 B-share sample  H-share sample 

 
CSMAR data

b 
I/B/E/S data 

  
Mean 

Overall 0.020 0.021  0.028  0.004 

Pre-reform 0.015 0.016  0.028  0.002 

Post-reform 0.024 0.024  0.028  0.005 

Difference 0.009 0.008  0.000  0.002 

p-value
c 

0.000*** 0.000***  0.999  0.085* 

Median 

Overall 0.007 0.011  0.009  0.001 

Pre-reform 0.006 0.010  0.009  0.001 

Post-reform 0.009 0.012  0.011  0.002 

Difference 0.003 0.002  0.002  0.000 

p-value 0.000*** 0.000***  0.592  0.329 

No. of 
observations 

2,196 1,242  119  124 

a 
Pre-reform period is from 01/01/2005 to 31/12/2006, and post-reform period is from 01/01/2007 to 

31/12/2008; median consensus forecast error is the absolute difference between median consensus 
EPS forecasts and actual EPS. A-share sample comprises of the AO-share, ABA-share, and AHA-share 
samples. B-share sample comprises of BO-share and ABB-share samples; H-share sample comprises of 
HO-share and AHH-share samples. 
b 

Forecast data for the A-share sample are obtained from CSMAR and I/B/E/S. CSMAR data are forecast 
data obtained from CSMAR, these forecasts are made by local financial analysts; I/B/E/S data are 
forecast data obtained from I/B/E/S, these forecast are generally made by foreign financial analysts. 
Forecast data for the B-share and the H-share samples are solely obtained from I/B/E/S. 
c 
P-values are two-sided. P-values for means are from t-tests of the difference between the pre- and 

post-reform means. For medians, p-values are from Wilcoxon two-sample tests. ***, ** and * indicate 
significant at or better than the 1%, 5% and 10% two-sided levels, respectively. 
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Appendix 5.3 
Regression Results for Median Consensus Forecast Error of the A-share Sample (CSMAR data)

a
 

Panel A: Regression on dummy POST (equation 5.1) 
                                                                                                                         

          ∑                            

Variable Intercept POST TD NAF Ln(TA) LEVG BM LOSS ABSUE 

Expected Sign 
 

? +ve -ve -ve +ve -ve +ve +ve 

Coefficient 
-0.065*** 

(-4.41)
b 

0.004*** 
(3.29) 

0.012*** 
(11.53) 

-0.000 
(-0.26) 

0.000 
(0.18) 

0.010 
(1.56) 

0.001 
(1.01) 

0.010*** 
(6.06) 

0.392*** 
(33.72) 

Variable NEGUE DUAL FSCHG INDUSTRY 
DUMMIES 

Adj. R
2 

F-test 
No. of 

observations 
  

Expected Sign +ve -ve +ve 
  

Coefficient 
0.005*** 

(3.57) 
-0.001 
(-0.54) 

-0.001 
(-0.49) 

Not reported 0.47 59.55 2,195 
  

Panel B: Regression on year dummies (equation 5.2) 
                                                                                                                                 

                    ∑                          

Variable Intercept 2006 2007 2008 TD NAF Ln(TA) LEVG BM 

Expected Sign 
 

? ? ? +ve -ve -ve +ve -ve 

Coefficient 
-0.057*** 

(-3.78) 
-0.001 
(-0.66) 

0.003* 
(1.79) 

0.006*** 
(3.23) 

0.011*** 
(10.95) 

-0.000 
(-0.43) 

-0.000 
(-0.10) 

0.011* 
(1.67) 

0.002* 
(1.87) 

Variable LOSS ABSUE NEGUE DUAL FSCHG INDUSTRY 
DUMMIES 

Adj. R
2 

F-test 
No. of 

observations Expected Sign +ve +ve +ve -ve +ve 

Coefficient 
0.010*** 

(5.78) 
0.390*** 
(33.43) 

0.005*** 
(3.34) 

-0.001 
(-0.44) 

-0.000 
(-0.35) 

Not reported 0.47 56.19 2,195 

a 
Variable definitions:             =median consensus forecast error, the absolute difference between median consensus EPS forecasts for share i and actual EPS of 

share i;      =the indicator of the 2007 reforms, equal 1 if the observation is from period 1/1/2007-31/12/2008 and zero if the observation is from period 1/1/2005-
31/12/2006;      ,      , and       = year dummies, equal to 1 if the observation is from year 2006, 2007, or 2008, respectively.       = time horizon of forecast; 

       = the number of analysts following share i in year y;             = natural logarithm of total assets of share i at the end of year y-1;           = the leverage ratio 

of share i at the end of year y-1, calculated as (long-term debt + debt within one year)/total assets;         = the book-to-market ratio of share i at the end of year y-1; 

        = 1 if share i reported losses in year y, and zero otherwise;          = the absolute difference in share i’s EPS between year y and previous year, scaled by its 

2006 year-end share price;           = 1 if share i’s EPS in year y is higher than in previous year, and zero otherwise;       = 1 if the company issuing share i is cross-

listed, and zero otherwise.        = the indicator of new GAAP effects, equal to 1 if the accounting numbers of share i were highly affected by the 2006 Accounting 
Standards, and zero otherwise. 
b 

Numbers in parentheses are t statistic values. ***, ** and * indicate significant at or better than the 1%, 5% and 10% two-sided levels, respectively. 
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Appendix 5.4 
Regression Results for Median Consensus Forecast Error of the A-share Sample (I/B/E/S data)

a
 

Panel A: Regression on dummy POST (equation 5.1) 
                                                                                                                        

           ∑                          

Variable Intercept POST TD NAF Ln(TA) LEVG BM LOSS ABSUE 

Expected Sign 
 

? +ve -ve -ve +ve -ve +ve +ve 

Coefficient 
-0.009 
(-0.51)

b 
-0.001 
(-0.46) 

0.004*** 
(4.66) 

0.001 
(1.28) 

-0.000 
(-0.37) 

0.017** 
(2.18) 

-0.001 
(-0.94) 

0.006*** 
(2.98) 

0.372*** 
(20.87) 

Variable NEGUE DUAL FSCHG INDUSTRY 
DUMMIES 

Adj. R
2 

F-test 
No. of 

observations 
  

Expected Sign +ve -ve +ve 
  

Coefficient 
-0.003* 
(-1.79) 

-0.004 
(-1.51) 

-0.000 
(-0.16) 

Not reported 0.36 21.47 1,241 
  

Panel B: Regression on year dummies (equation 5.2) 
                                                                                                                                 

                    ∑                          

Variable Intercept 2006 2007 2008 TD NAF Ln(TA) LEVG BM 

Expected Sign 
 

? ? ? +ve -ve -ve +ve -ve 

Coefficient 
-0.004 
(-0.20) 

-0.001 
(-0.48) 

-0.002 
(-0.90) 

0.001 
(0.38) 

0.005*** 
(4.79) 

0.001 
(1.08) 

-0.000 
(-0.62) 

0.018** 
(2.26) 

0.000 
(0.06) 

Variable LOSS ABSUE NEGUE DUAL FSCHG 
INDUSTRY 
DUMMIES 

Not reported 

Adj. R
2 

F-test 
No. of 

observations Expected Sign +ve +ve +ve -ve +ve 

Coefficient 
0.006*** 

(2.75) 
0.369*** 
(20.51) 

-0.004** 
(-1.99) 

-0.004 
(-1.43) 

-0.000 
(-0.05) 

0.36 20.27 1,241 

a 
Variable definitions:             =median consensus forecast error, the absolute difference between median consensus EPS forecasts for share i and actual EPS of 

share i;      =the indicator of the 2007 reforms, equal 1 if the observation is from period 1/1/2007-31/12/2008 and zero if the observation is from period 1/1/2005-
31/12/2006;      ,      , and       = year dummies, equal to 1 if the observation is from year 2006, 2007, or 2008, respectively.       = time horizon of forecast; 

       = the number of analysts following share i in year y;             = natural logarithm of total assets of share i at the end of year y-1;           = the leverage ratio 

of share i at the end of year y-1, calculated as (long-term debt + debt within one year)/total assets;         = the book-to-market ratio of share i at the end of year y-1; 

        = 1 if share i reported losses in year y, and zero otherwise;          = the absolute difference in share i’s EPS between year y and previous year, scaled by its 

2006 year-end share price;           = 1 if share i’s EPS in year y is higher than in previous year, and zero otherwise;       = 1 if the company issuing share i is cross-

listed, and zero otherwise.        = the indicator of new GAAP effects, equal to 1 if the accounting numbers of share i were highly affected by the 2006 Accounting 
Standards, and zero otherwise. 
b 

Numbers in parentheses are t statistic values. ***, ** and * indicate significant at or better than the 1%, 5% and 10% two-sided levels, respectively. 
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Appendix 5.5 
Regression Results for Median Consensus Forecast Error of the A-share Sample (Match Samples of CSMAR and I/B/E/S data)

a,b
 

                                                                                                                                   

 ∑                         

 
Intercept POST TD NAF Ln(TA) LEVG BM LOSS ABSUE NEGUE DUAL FSCHG 

INDUSTRY 
DUMMIES 

Adj. 
R

2
 

CSMAR data 
(n = 1,177) 

-0.092*** 
(-5.35)

c 
0.003* 
(1.93) 

0.013*** 
(8.68) 

0.001 
(1.19) 

0.001 
(1.47) 

0.014** 
(2.00) 

-0.002*** 
(-2.67) 

0.008*** 
(4.61) 

0.394*** 
(24.44) 

0.005*** 
(2.92) 

-0.001 
(-0.62) 

-0.000 
(-0.28) 

Not 
reported 

0.53 

I/B/E/S data 
(n = 1,177) 

-0.027 
(-1.55) 

-0.002 
(-1.01) 

0.005*** 
(4.81) 

0.002* 
(1.88) 

0.000 
(0.43) 

0.017** 
(2.18) 

-0.002* 
(-1.92) 

0.005*** 
(2.75) 

0.394*** 
(22.84) 

-0.004* 
(-1.96) 

-0.004* 
(-1.70) 

-0.001 
(-0.52) 

Not 
reported 

0.42 

a 
The sample shares are contained in both CSMAR sample and I/B/E/S sample. That is, for certain year y, I have forecasts for share i in CSMAR sample and I/B/E/S sample.  

b 
Variable definitions:             =median consensus forecast error, the absolute difference between median consensus EPS forecasts for share i and actual EPS of share i; 

     =the indicator of the 2007 reforms, equal 1 if the observation is from period 1/1/2007-31/12/2008 and zero if the observation is from period 1/1/2005-31/12/2006;       

= time horizon of forecast;        = the number of analysts following share i in year y;             = natural logarithm of total assets of share i at the end of year y-1;           

= the leverage ratio of share i at the end of year y-1, calculated as (long-term debt + debt within one year)/total assets;         = the book-to-market ratio of share i at the end 

of year y-1;         = 1 if share i reported losses in year y, and zero otherwise;          = the absolute difference in share i’s EPS between year y and previous year, scaled by 

its 2006 year-end share price;           = 1 if share i’s EPS in year y is higher than in previous year, and zero otherwise;       = 1 if the company issuing share i is cross-listed, 

and zero otherwise.        = the indicator of new GAAP effects, equal to 1 if the accounting numbers of share i were highly affected by the 2006 Accounting Standards, and 
zero otherwise. 
c 
Numbers in parentheses are t statistic values. ***, ** and * indicate significant at or better than the 1%, 5% and 10% two-sided levels, respectively. 
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Appendix 5.6 
Regression Results for Median Consensus Forecast Error of the A-share Sample for Period 2006-2007

a,b
 

                                                                                                                                   

 ∑                         

 
Intercept 2007 TD NAF Ln(TA) LEVG BM LOSS ABSUE NEGUE DUAL FSCHG 

INDUSTRY 
DUMMIES 

Adj. 
R

2
 

CSMAR data 
(n = 1,104) 

-0.003 
(-0.15)

 
0.003** 

(2.54) 
0.005*** 

(4.32) 
0.001 
(1.45) 

-0.001 
(-1.23) 

0.002 
(0.32) 

0.005*** 
(4.37) 

0.010*** 
(4.59) 

0.270*** 
(17.09) 

0.004* 
(1.90) 

-0.001 
(-0.77) 

0.001 
(0.71) 

Not 
reported 

0.30 

I/B/E/S data 
(n=672) 

0.002 
(0.94) 

0.001 
(0.41) 

0.001 
(0.99) 

0.001 
(1.03) 

-0.001 
(-0.79) 

0.010 
(1.16) 

0.001 
(0.94) 

0.004 
(1.37) 

0.330*** 
(12.68) 

-0.003 
(-1.43) 

-0.004 
(-1.31) 

-0.001 
(-0.52) 

Not 
reported 

0.30 

a 
The sample period is narrowed down to year 2006-2007, one year immediately preceding and after the 2007 reforms.  

b 
Variable definitions:             =median consensus forecast error, the absolute difference between median consensus EPS forecasts for share i and actual EPS of share i; 

     =the indicator of the 2007 reforms, equal 1 if the observation is from period 1/1/2007-31/12/2007 and zero if the observation is from period 1/1/2006-31/12/2006;       = time 

horizon of forecast;        = the number of analysts following share i in year y;             = natural logarithm of total assets of share i at the end of year y-1;           = the 

leverage ratio of share i at the end of year y-1, calculated as (long-term debt + debt within one year)/total assets;         = the book-to-market ratio of share i at the end of year y-1; 

        = 1 if share i reported losses in year y, and zero otherwise;          = the absolute difference in share i’s EPS between year y and previous year, scaled by its 2006 year-end 

share price;           = 1 if share i’s EPS in year y is higher than in previous year, and zero otherwise;       = 1 if the company issuing share i is cross-listed, and zero otherwise. 

       = the indicator of new GAAP effects, equal to 1 if the accounting numbers of share i were highly affected by the 2006 Accounting Standards, and zero otherwise. 
c 
Numbers in parentheses are t statistic values. ***, ** and * indicate significant at or better than the 1%, 5% and 10% two-sided levels, respectively. 
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Appendix 5.7 

Regression Results for Median Consensus Forecast Error Made within Various Days before Earnings Announcements for the A-share Sample
a,b 

                                                                                                                         

          ∑                               

  CSMAR data  I/B/E/S data 

Column  (1) (2) (3) (4) (5)  (6) (7) (8) (9) (10) 

 
Expected 

Sign 

<=30 days <=60 days <=90 days <=120 days <=150 days  <=30 days <=60 days <=90 days <=120 days <=150 days 

Intercept 
-0.000 
(-0.02)

c 
-0.001 
(-0.11) 

-0.003 
(-0.21) 

-0.010 
(-0.84) 

-0.025** 
(-2.23) 

 
0.020 
(0.90) 

0.023 
(1.15) 

0.010 
(0.49) 

-0.002 
(-0.13) 

-0.004 
(-0.22) 

POST ? 
0.003** 

(2.37) 
0.002** 

(1.68) 
0.003** 

(2.14) 
0.003*** 

(2.70) 
0.002* 
(1.84) 

 
-0.002 
(-0.66) 

-0.000 
(-0.20) 

-0.001 
(-0.43) 

-0.001 
(-0.50) 

-0.001 
(-0.72) 

TD +ve 
0.001** 

(2.23) 
0.001** 

(2.40) 
0.002*** 

(2.98) 
0.002*** 

(3.54) 
0.002*** 

(3.21) 
 

-0.001 
(-0.70) 

0.001 
(0.62) 

0.001 
(0.97) 

0.001 
(1.63) 

0.001 
(1.62) 

NAF -ve 
0.000 
(0.32) 

0.002** 
(2.35) 

-0.001 
(-1.23) 

-0.001 
(-1.46) 

0.000 
(0.56) 

 
0.005** 
(2.04) 

0.003 
(1.53) 

-0.001 
(-0.84) 

-0.002 
(-1.33) 

0.000 
(0.42) 

Ln(TA) -ve 
-0.000 
(-0.24) 

0.000 
(0.05) 

0.000 
(0.27) 

0.000 
(0.51) 

0.001 
(1.51) 

 
0.000 
(0.02) 

-0.001 
(-0.65) 

-0.000 
(-0.14) 

0.000 
(0.45) 

0.000 
(0.39) 

LEVG +ve 
0.006 
(1.00) 

0.009 
(1.45) 

0.002 
(0.35) 

0.001 
(0.17) 

0.004 
(0.70) 

 
-0.001 
(-0.04) 

0.011 
(1.18) 

0.013 
(1.43) 

0.007 
(0.78) 

0.010 
(1.18) 

BM -ve 
0.001 
(1.04) 

0.001* 
(1.93) 

0.002** 
(2.16) 

0.001 
(1.58) 

0.001 
(1.59) 

 
0.001 
(0.98) 

0.001 
(1.05) 

0.001 
(1.09) 

0.001 
(0.81) 

0.001 
(0.62) 

LOSS +ve 
0.001 
(0.74) 

0.003* 
(1.78) 

0.003* 
(1.75) 

0.004** 
(2.33) 

0.004*** 
(3.20) 

 
-0.000 
(-0.11) 

-0.000 
(-0.13) 

-0.002 
(-0.65) 

-0.000 
(-0.07) 

0.001 
(0.25) 

ABSUE +ve 
0.065*** 

(5.88) 
0.127*** 
(11.64) 

0.135*** 
(12.19) 

0.150*** 
(13.35) 

0.175*** 
(17.35) 

 
0.197*** 

(6.99) 
0.206*** 

(8.51) 
0.228*** 
(10.44) 

0.255*** 
(13.23) 

0.271*** 
(14.72) 

NEGUE +ve 
-0.00 

(-0.00) 
0.000 
(0.06) 

0.001 
(0.53) 

0.001 
(0.55) 

0.001 
(0.98) 

 
-0.004* 
(-1.79) 

-0.004* 
(-1.57) 

-0.003* 
(-1.17) 

-0.003 
(-1.60) 

-0.003* 
(-1.71) 

DUAL -ve 
-0.001 
(-0.68) 

-0.001 
(-0.87) 

-0.002 
(-1.30) 

-0.002 
(-1.29) 

-0.002 
(-1.49) 

 
0.003 
(0.11) 

-0.004 
(-1.49) 

-0.001 
(-0.34) 

-0.004 
(-1.55) 

-0.004 
(-1.53) 

FSCHG +ve 
0.000 
(0.08) 

-0.001 
(-0.79) 

-0.000 
(-0.04) 

0.001 
(0.55) 

-0.000 
(-0.55) 

 
-0.004** 
(-2.02) 

-0.004 
(-0.29) 

-0.000 
(-0.07) 

-0.000 
(-0.27) 

0.000 
(0.25) 

INDUSTRY 
DUMMIES 

 
Not 

reported 
Not 

reported 
Not 

reported 
Not 

reported 
Not 

reported 
 

Not 
reported 

Not 
reported 

Not 
reported 

Not 
 reported 

Not 
reported 

No. of 
Observations 

 456 777 989 1,215 1,462  326 569 731 862 946 

Adj. R
2 

 0.17 0.22 0.21 0.21 0.26  0.25 0.19 0.19 0.24 0.27 

F-test  2.82 7.20 8.47 10.43 15.88  3.29 4.00 5.35 8.39 10.48 
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Appendix 5.7 (continued) 
a 

The dependent variable is median consensus forecast error made within certain days before the earnings announcement. For instance, “<=30 days” means the forecasts are 
made within 30 days before the earnings announcement.  
b 

Variable definitions:             =median consensus forecast error, the absolute difference between median consensus EPS forecasts for share i and actual EPS of share i; 

     =the indicator of the 2007 reforms, equal 1 if the observation is from period 1/1/2007-31/12/2008 and zero if the observation is from period 1/1/2005-31/12/2006; 
      = time horizon of forecast;        = the number of analysts following share i in year y;             = natural logarithm of total assets of share i at the end of year y-1; 

          = the leverage ratio of share i at the end of year y-1, calculated as (long-term debt + debt within one year)/total assets;         = the book-to-market ratio of share 

i at the end of year y-1;         = 1 if share i reported losses in year y, and zero otherwise;          = the absolute difference in share i’s EPS between year y and previous 

year, scaled by its 2006 year-end share price;           = 1 if share i’s EPS in year y is higher than in previous year, and zero otherwise;       = 1 if the company issuing 

share i is cross-listed, and zero otherwise.        = the indicator of new GAAP effects, equal to 1 if the accounting numbers of share i were highly affected by the 2006 
Accounting Standards, and zero otherwise. 
c 
Numbers in parentheses are t statistic values. ***, ** and * indicate significant at or better than the 1%, 5% and 10% two-sided levels, respectively. 
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Appendix 6.1 
The Announcement Period of Periodic Reports in the Chinese Stock Market 

 
Q1 

Q2 
(Semi-annual) 

Q3 
Q4 

(Annual) 

2004 
   

01/01/2005-30/04/2005 

2005 01/04/2005-30/04/2005 1/07/2005-31/08/3005 1/10/2005-31/10/2005 01/01/2006-30/04/2006 

2006 01/04/2006-30/04/2006 1/07/2006-31/08/3006 1/10/2006-31/10/2006 01/01/2007-30/04/2007 

2007 01/04/2007-30/04/2007 1/07/2007-31/08/3007 1/10/2007-31/10/2007 01/01/2008-30/04/2008 

2008 01/04/2008-30/04/2008 1/07/2008-31/08/3008 1/10/2008-31/10/2008 
 

 

Appendix 6.2 
Time Gap between Annual and Q1 Earnings Announcements in the Chinese Stock Marketa 

Time Gap 0 day 1-5 days 6-10 days 11-30 days 31-50 days 51-100 days over 100 days Total 

Number of 

Observations 
633 168 331 1,153 915 566 6 3,772 

% of total 16.78% 4.45% 8.78% 30.57% 24.26% 15.01% 0.16% 100.00% 

a
The time gap is the interval between the annual earnings announcements of year t and the first-quarter earnings announcements of year t+1. 
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Appendix 6.3 
ACARs in Different Accumulation Windows over Period 2005-2008 for the A-share Sample 

 
Market Model 

 
Maynes & Rumsey Model 

 
2005 2006 2007 2008 

 
2005 2006 2007 2008 

Mean 

[-1,2] 0.04 0.05 0.06 0.06 
 

0.04 0.04 0.06 0.05 

[-2,+2] 0.05 0.05 0.06 0.06 
 

0.05 0.05 0.06 0.06 

[-5, +2] 0.06 0.06 0.08 0.07 
 

0.05 0.06 0.07 0.07 

[-10, +2] 0.07 0.08 0.10 0.09 
 

0.06 0.07 0.09 0.09 

[-30, +2] 0.10 0.12 0.16 0.15 
 

0.09 0.12 0.15 0.14 

[-60, +2] 0.14 0.17 0.27 0.22 
 

0.14 0.16 0.24 0.21 

Median 

[-1,2] 0.03 0.03 0.05 0.04 
 

0.03 0.03 0.05 0.04 

[-2,+2] 0.04 0.04 0.05 0.05 
 

0.04 0.04 0.05 0.04 

[-5, +2] 0.04 0.05 0.06 0.06 
 

0.04 0.04 0.06 0.05 

[-10, +2] 0.05 0.06 0.08 0.07 
 

0.05 0.05 0.07 0.06 

[-30, +2] 0.08 0.10 0.13 0.11 
 

0.07 0.09 0.12 0.10 

[-60, +2] 0.12 0.14 0.23 0.17 
 

0.11 0.13 0.21 0.16 

Standard Deviation 

[-1,2] 0.04 0.04 0.05 0.05 
 

0.04 0.04 0.05 0.05 

[-2,+2] 0.04 0.05 0.05 0.06 
 

0.04 0.04 0.05 0.05 

[-5, +2] 0.05 0.06 0.06 0.07 
 

0.05 0.05 0.06 0.07 

[-10, +2] 0.06 0.07 0.08 0.09 
 

0.06 0.07 0.08 0.09 

[-30, +2] 0.08 0.11 0.13 0.16 
 

0.08 0.10 0.12 0.15 

[-60, +2] 0.12 0.14 0.21 0.27 
 

0.12 0.13 0.18 0.24 

Number of Observations 

[-1,2] 3,565 3,232 3,402 3,488 
 

3,565 3,232 3,402 3,488 

[-2,+2] 3,601 3,224 3,415 3,513 
 

3,601 3,224 3,415 3,513 

[-5, +2] 3,631 3,203 3,494 3,575 
 

3,631 3,203 3,494 3,575 

[-10, +2] 3,626 3,111 3,468 3,564 
 

3,626 3,111 3,468 3,564 

[-30, +2] 3,664 2,965 3,453 3,524 
 

3,664 2,965 3,453 3,524 

[-60, +2] 3,654 2,885 3,408 3,499 
 

3,654 2,885 3,408 3,499 
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Appendix 6.4 
Quarterly ACARs over period 2005-2008 for the A-share Samplea 

Accumulation 
Window 

[-1, +2] [-2, +2] [-5, +2] 

 
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

Mean 

Pre-reform 0.058 0.034 0.040 0.046 0.064 0.037 0.044 0.048 0.081 0.045 0.054 0.058 

Post-reform 0.056 0.050 0.056 0.059 0.062 0.054 0.063 0.064 0.078 0.067 0.075 0.075 

Difference -0.002 0.016 0.016 0.014 -0.002 0.016 0.019 0.016 -0.003 0.023 0.021 0.016 

p-value
b 

0.403 0.000*** 0.000*** 0.000*** 0.481 0.000*** 0.000*** 0.000*** 0.327 0.000*** 0.000*** 0.000*** 

Median 

Pre-reform 0.046 0.024 0.032 0.034 0.052 0.027 0.035 0.036 0.068 0.033 0.045 0.044 

Post-reform 0.045 0.042 0.043 0.046 0.049 0.042 0.050 0.051 0.066 0.053 0.061 0.059 

Difference -0.002 0.013 0.009 0.011 -0.001 0.011 0.010 0.011 -0.004 0.016 0.015 0.011 

p-value 0.675 0.000*** 0.000*** 0.000*** 0.418 0.000*** 0.000*** 0.000*** 0.357 0.000*** 0.000*** 0.000*** 

% of Firms with Higher or Lower Post-reform ACARs 

% of Firms with 
Higher Post-
reform ACAR 

48.29% 64.65% 57.61% 59.19% 49.81% 60.42% 59.73% 58.02% 47.58% 64.29% 60.06% 57.35% 

% of Firms with 
Lower Post-
reform ACAR 

51.71% 35.35% 42.39% 40.81% 50.19% 39.58% 40.27% 41.98% 52.42% 35.71% 39.94% 42.65% 

p-value 0.295 0.000*** 0.000*** 0.000*** 0.927 0.000*** 0.000*** 0.000*** 0.106 0.000*** 0.000*** 0.000*** 
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Appendix 6.4 (continued) 

Accumulation Window [-10, +2] [-30, +2] [-60, +2] 

 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

Mean 

Pre-reform 0.095 0.056 0.065 0.069 0.139 0.097 0.097 0.101 0.179 0.146 0.156 0.142 

Post-reform 0.096 0.084 0.096 0.093 0.151 0.128 0.155 0.161 0.249 0.210 0.232 0.252 

Difference 0.001 0.028 0.031 0.024 0.012 0.032 0.058 0.060 0.070 0.064 0.076 0.109 

p-value
b 

0.709 0.000*** 0.000*** 0.000*** 0.017** 0.000*** 0.000*** 0.000*** 0.000*** 0.000*** 0.000*** 0.000*** 

Median 

Pre-reform 0.077 0.042 0.052 0.053 0.116 0.072 0.074 0.082 0.154 0.111 0.123 0.118 

Post-reform 0.077 0.065 0.079 0.070 0.122 0.099 0.126 0.136 0.210 0.175 0.182 0.210 

Difference -0.003 0.021 0.023 0.013 0.004 0.023 0.043 0.044 0.048 0.057 0.054 0.084 

p-value 0.934 0.000*** 0.000*** 0.000*** 0.249 0.000*** 0.000*** 0.000*** 0.000*** 0.000*** 0.000*** 0.000*** 

 % of Firms with Higher or Lower Post-reform ACARs 

% of Firms with Higher 
Post-reform ACAR 

48.48% 63.29% 61.61% 58.72% 51.33% 58.32% 65.62% 64.43% 60.06% 62.13% 62.30% 66.70% 

% of Firms with Lower 
Post-reform ACAR 

51.52% 36.71% 38.39% 41.28% 48.67% 41.68% 34.38% 35.57% 39.94% 37.87% 37.70% 33.30% 

p-value 0.324 0.000*** 0.000*** 0.000*** 0.405 0.000*** 0.000*** 0.000*** 0.000*** 0.000*** 0.000*** 0.000*** 
a 

Over the period 2005-2008, pre-reform period is from 01/01/2005 to 31/12/2006, and post-reform period is from 01/01/2007 to 31/12/2008. ACAR is the absolute cumulative 
abnormal return from x days before to 2 days after the earnings announcement. Abnormal returns are prediction errors from the market model. 
b 

P-values are two-sided. P-values for means are from t-tests of the difference between the pre- and post-reform means. For medians, p-values are from Wilcoxon two-sample tests; p-
values for differences in percentage of lower/higher post-reform ACARs are from binomial tests. ***, ** and * indicate significant at or better than the 1%, 5% and 10% two-sided 
levels, respectively. 
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Appendix 6.5 

The Maynes and Rumsey model 

 

The Maynes and Rumsey (1993) model is also employed to estimate the abnormal return as 

trading suspensions can result stocks not trading each day in the Chinese stock market. 

These are a variety of factors that can trigger a trading suspension, such as holding general 

meetings and trading halts around material information disclosures to the market. There 

were numerous trading suspensions in the period 2005-2007 when the Split Stock Structure 

Reform was implemented.116 Maynes and Rumsey (1993) model argue that a trading 

suspension may cause bias in estimating the abnormal return. Thus, in robustness tests, I 

employ the “trade-to-trade returns” approach introduced in Maynes and Rumsey (1993) to 

control for trading suspension bias. Under this approach, the single-factor market model is 

adjusted as: 

     

√  
    √     

     

√  
                                      

where n is the length of the return interval ending on day t (i.e. the number of days 

between observed or traded prices).117      
 is the buy-and-hold return for share i over n 

days,      
 is the buy-and-hold return for market index over n days, and      is the error 

term. The estimation window and event window periods are the same as the traditional 

model. 

Appendix 6.2-6.6 show the statistical summaries of ACAR for samples studied in the study. 

The left half of each table shows the ACARs estimated by using the classical market model 

and the right half shows the ACARs estimated by employing the Maynes and Rumsey model. 

The results are reported for the ACARs in six different event windows, namely [-1, +2], [-2, 

+2], [-5, +2], [-10, +2], [-30, +2], and [-60, +2], where the earnings announcement day is set 

as day 0. 

                                                           
116

 In this reform, the non-tradable shareholders were forced to pay compensation to tradable shareholders to enable the 
exchange for the right to transfer their non-tradable shares into tradable shares. Normally it took four weeks for a 
company to finish this reform and the shares were often under trading suspension for much of this period because of 
general meetings, voting and other announcements. See Li et al. (Li, Wang, Cheung, & Jiang, Forthcoming). 
117

 For instance, if a stock is traded on two consecutive trading days, then n equals to 1. If for m consecutive trading days 
(days [1, m]) the stock is only traded on day 1 and day m, then n equals to m-1. 
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Appendix 6.6 
ACARs in Different Accumulation Windows over Period 2005-2008 for the BO-share Sample 

 
Market Model 

 

Maynes & Rumsey Model 

 
2005 2006 2007 2008 

 
2005 2006 2007 2008 

Mean 

[-1,2] 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.04 
 

0.05 0.05 0.06 0.04 

[-2,+2] 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05 
 

0.05 0.06 0.05 0.05 

[-5, +2] 0.06 0.05 0.06 0.06 
 

0.05 0.06 0.06 0.06 

[-10, +2] 0.07 0.06 0.07 0.06 
 

0.06 0.06 0.08 0.07 

[-30, +2] 0.12 0.12 0.12 0.11 
 

0.12 0.11 0.14 0.12 

[-60, +2] 0.18 0.16 0.18 0.16 
 

0.17 0.14 0.19 0.15 

Median 

[-1,2] 0.04 0.03 0.05 0.04 
 

0.03 0.03 0.05 0.03 

[-2,+2] 0.04 0.04 0.04 0.04 
 

0.04 0.03 0.04 0.03 

[-5, +2] 0.04 0.03 0.05 0.04 
 

0.05 0.03 0.04 0.04 

[-10, +2] 0.04 0.03 0.05 0.05 
 

0.05 0.03 0.06 0.06 

[-30, +2] 0.06 0.07 0.08 0.08 
 

0.09 0.07 0.10 0.09 

[-60, +2] 0.13 0.12 0.16 0.15 
 

0.12 0.10 0.16 0.14 

Standard Deviation 

[-1,2] 0.05 0.05 0.04 0.04 
 

0.04 0.06 0.04 0.04 

[-2,+2] 0.05 0.06 0.05 0.04 
 

0.04 0.06 0.05 0.04 

[-5, +2] 0.06 0.05 0.05 0.05 
 

0.05 0.06 0.05 0.05 

[-10, +2] 0.06 0.06 0.07 0.05 
 

0.05 0.06 0.07 0.05 

[-30, +2] 0.14 0.13 0.10 0.09 
 

0.11 0.09 0.12 0.10 

[-60, +2] 0.19 0.14 0.14 0.11 
 

0.14 0.12 0.17 0.12 

Number of Observations 

[-1,2] 55 53 53 52 
 

55 53 53 52 

[-2,+2] 55 55 55 52 
 

55 55 55 52 

[-5, +2] 56 56 56 52 
 

56 56 56 52 

[-10, +2] 56 55 56 53 
 

56 55 56 53 

[-30, +2] 56 55 56 55 
 

56 55 56 55 

[-60, +2] 55 56 56 55 
 

55 56 56 55 
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Appendix 6.7 
ACAR in Different Accumulation Windows over Period 2005-2008 for the ABB-share Sample 

 
Market Model 

 

Maynes & Rumsey Model 

 
2005 2006 2007 2008 

 
2005 2006 2007 2008 

Mean 

[-1,2] 0.04 0.04 0.05 0.04 
 

0.04 0.04 0.05 0.04 

[-2,+2] 0.05 0.04 0.05 0.05 
 

0.05 0.04 0.05 0.05 

[-5, +2] 0.06 0.05 0.06 0.05 
 

0.06 0.04 0.06 0.06 

[-10, +2] 0.06 0.06 0.07 0.06 
 

0.07 0.06 0.07 0.07 

[-30, +2] 0.10 0.10 0.11 0.12 
 

0.10 0.10 0.11 0.12 

[-60, +2] 0.16 0.14 0.19 0.16 
 

0.15 0.14 0.17 0.15 

Median 

[-1,2] 0.03 0.02 0.04 0.03 
 

0.03 0.03 0.04 0.03 

[-2,+2] 0.03 0.03 0.04 0.03 
 

0.04 0.03 0.04 0.04 

[-5, +2] 0.04 0.04 0.05 0.04 
 

0.04 0.03 0.05 0.04 

[-10, +2] 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05 
 

0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05 

[-30, +2] 0.07 0.08 0.10 0.09 
 

0.08 0.08 0.08 0.10 

[-60, +2] 0.12 0.11 0.15 0.12 
 

0.12 0.10 0.13 0.11 

Standard Deviation 

[-1,2] 0.04 0.03 0.04 0.04 
 

0.04 0.03 0.04 0.04 

[-2,+2] 0.05 0.04 0.05 0.04 
 

0.05 0.03 0.05 0.04 

[-5, +2] 0.06 0.04 0.06 0.05 
 

0.06 0.04 0.06 0.05 

[-10, +2] 0.07 0.06 0.06 0.06 
 

0.07 0.06 0.06 0.06 

[-30, +2] 0.09 0.09 0.10 0.09 
 

0.09 0.09 0.10 0.09 

[-60, +2] 0.13 0.12 0.14 0.13 
 

0.12 0.13 0.12 0.13 

Number of Observations 

[-1,2] 280 284 276 276 
 

280 284 276 276 

[-2,+2] 284 289 281 275 
 

284 289 281 275 

[-5, +2] 283 289 279 280 
 

283 289 279 280 

[-10, +2] 285 286 272 282 
 

285 286 272 282 

[-30, +2] 285 287 281 275 
 

285 287 281 275 

[-60, +2] 287 288 279 270 
 

287 288 279 270 
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Appendix 6.8 
Quarterly ACARs over Period 2005-2008 for the BO-share Samplea 

Accumulation 
Window 

[-1, +2] [-2, +2] [-5, +2] 

 
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

Mean 

Pre-reform 0.056 0.045 0.034 0.065 0.061 0.031 0.038 0.068 0.076 0.045 0.040 0.065 

Post-reform 0.040 0.037 0.046 0.066 0.059 0.033 0.046 0.065 0.066 0.048 0.052 0.073 

Difference -0.016 -0.007 0.012 0.001 -0.001 0.003 0.008 -0.003 -0.009 0.002 0.012 0.008 

p-value
b 

0.307 0.590 0.176 0.931 0.928 0.813 0.360 0.828 0.509 0.880 0.223 0.589 

Median 

Pre-reform 0.039 0.032 0.033 0.054 0.040 0.021 0.041 0.054 0.060 0.023 0.038 0.053 

Post-reform 0.032 0.030 0.039 0.053 0.043 0.019 0.043 0.054 0.068 0.040 0.042 0.070 

Difference -0.003 -0.003 0.006 0.007 -0.001 -0.010 0.007 0.004 0.004 0.005 0.013 0.016 

p-value 0.496 0.926 0.307 0.664 0.848 0.797 0.405 0.889 0.664 0.212 0.381 0.399 

% of Firms with Higher or Lower Post-reform ACARs 

% of Firms with 
Higher Post-
reform ACAR 

50.00% 50.00% 58.33% 57.14% 46.15% 41.67% 63.64% 53.57% 50.00% 58.33% 62.50% 67.86% 

% of Firms with 
Lower Post-
reform ACAR 

50.00% 50.00% 41.67% 42.86% 53.85% 58.33% 36.36% 46.43% 50.00% 41.67% 37.50% 32.14% 

p-value 1.000 1.000 0.541 0.572 0.845 0.541 0.286 0.851 1.000 0.541 0.308 0.087* 
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Appendix 6.8 (Continued) 

Accumulation Window [-10, +2] [-30, +2] [-60, +2] 

 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

Mean 

Pre-reform 0.086 0.050 0.030 0.071 0.107 0.071 0.168 0.119 0.184 0.097 0.224 0.170 

Post-reform 0.068 0.048 0.055 0.097 0.111 0.089 0.127 0.119 0.145 0.186 0.167 0.183 

Difference -0.018 -0.002 0.025 0.027 0.005 0.018 -0.041 0.000 -0.039 0.089 -0.057 0.013 

p-value
b 0.337 0.877 0.024** 0.172 0.878 0.458 0.252 0.999 0.351 0.026** 0.180 0.721 

Median 

Pre-reform 0.056 0.028 0.027 0.045 0.065 0.031 0.136 0.083 0.130 0.049 0.210 0.145 

Post-reform 0.051 0.041 0.046 0.081 0.069 0.069 0.105 0.077 0.114 0.173 0.160 0.162 

Difference -0.008 -0.008 0.018 0.036 0.009 0.011 -0.004 0.026 -0.007 0.038 0.011 0.012 

p-value 0.417 0.949 0.062* 0.093* 0.516 0.136 0.517 0.496 0.863 0.018** 0.276 0.606 

  % of Firms with Higher or Lower Post-reform ACARs 

% of Firms with Higher 
Post-reform ACAR 

42.86% 42.31% 68.18% 67.86% 57.69% 57.69% 50.00% 53.57% 50.00% 75.00% 53.57% 53.57% 

% of Firms with Lower 
Post-reform ACAR 

57.14% 57.69% 31.82% 32.14% 42.31% 42.31% 50.00% 46.43% 50.00% 25.00% 46.43% 46.43% 

p-value 0.572 0.557 0.134 0.087* 0.557 0.557 1.000 0.851 1.000 0.023** 0.851 0.851 
a 

Over the period 2005-2008, pre-reform period is from 01/01/2005 to 31/12/2006, and post-reform period is from 01/01/2007 to 31/12/2008. ACAR is the absolute cumulative abnormal 
return from x days before to 2 days after the earnings announcement. Abnormal returns are prediction errors from the market model. 
b 

P-values are two-sided. P-values for means are from t-tests of the difference between the pre- and post-reform means. For medians, p-values are from Wilcoxon two-sample tests; p-values 
for differences in percentage of lower/higher post-reform ACARs are from binomial tests. ***, ** and * indicate significant at or better than the 1%, 5% and 10% two-sided levels, 
respectively. 
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Appendix 6.9 
Quarterly ACARs over Period 2005-2008 for the ABB-share Samplea 

Accumulation 
Window 

[-1, +2] [-2, +2] [-5, +2] 

 
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

Mean 

Pre-reform 0.050 0.028 0.033 0.044 0.057 0.031 0.034 0.047 0.071 0.039 0.045 0.060 

Post-reform 0.047 0.034 0.043 0.047 0.060 0.038 0.043 0.050 0.070 0.049 0.056 0.057 

Difference -0.003 0.006 0.010 0.003 0.003 0.006 0.009 0.004 -0.001 0.010 0.011 -0.003 

P-value
b 

0.640 0.093* 0.008*** 0.585 0.679 0.097* 0.027** 0.528 0.912 0.065* 0.050* 0.668 

Median 

Pre-reform 0.035 0.020 0.028 0.033 0.044 0.022 0.031 0.035 0.062 0.028 0.039 0.043 

Post-reform 0.032 0.029 0.036 0.035 0.050 0.031 0.033 0.036 0.055 0.037 0.043 0.037 

Difference 0.000 0.006 0.009 0.000 -0.003 0.005 0.008 0.001 -0.001 0.011 0.005 -0.002 

P-value 0.658 0.022** 0.027** 0.874 0.960 0.041** 0.204 0.588 0.691 0.029** 0.435 0.716 

% of Firms with Higher or Lower Post-reform ACARs 

% of Firms with 
Higher Post-
reform ACAR 

50.00% 58.21% 56.25% 50.00% 48.08% 57.46% 57.46% 51.59% 50.00% 60.16% 53.03% 48.46% 

% of Firms with 
Lower Post-
reform ACAR 

50.00% 41.79% 43.75% 50.00% 51.92% 42.54% 42.54% 48.41% 50.00% 39.84% 46.97% 51.54% 

P-value 1.000 0.069* 0.185 1.000 0.769 0.100 0.100 0.789 1.000 0.027** 0.543 0.793 
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Appendix 6.9 (Continued) 

Accumulation 
Window 

[-10, +2] [-30, +2] [-60, +2] 

 
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

Mean 

Pre-reform 0.077 0.051 0.047 0.067 0.114 0.093 0.085 0.102 0.172 0.130 0.143 0.154 

Post-reform 0.074 0.055 0.070 0.063 0.127 0.096 0.122 0.115 0.160 0.156 0.166 0.176 

Difference -0.003 0.004 0.023 -0.005 0.013 0.003 0.037 0.013 -0.012 0.025 0.023 0.023 

P-value 0.720 0.539 0.001*** 0.556 0.339 0.734 0.001*** 0.264 0.461 0.078* 0.169 0.176 

Median 

Pre-reform 0.059 0.033 0.042 0.047 0.102 0.074 0.058 0.079 0.138 0.107 0.111 0.123 

Post-reform 0.051 0.040 0.055 0.051 0.100 0.067 0.102 0.107 0.134 0.145 0.137 0.134 

Difference -0.003 0.007 0.010 0.001 0.006 0.005 0.030 0.012 0.007 0.034 0.014 0.010 

P-value 0.679 0.261 0.005*** 0.809 0.509 0.877 0.000*** 0.113 0.477 0.046** 0.189 0.196 

% of Firms with Higher or Lower Post-reform ACARs 

% of Firms with 
Higher Post-
reform ACAR 

49.11% 53.91% 62.10% 52.42% 52.59% 53.17% 59.38% 56.35% 52.59% 55.93% 56.35% 53.08% 

% of Firms with 
Lower Post-
reform ACAR 

50.89% 46.09% 37.90% 47.58% 47.41% 46.83% 40.63% 43.65% 47.41% 44.07% 43.65% 46.92% 

p-value 0.925 0.426 0.009*** 0.654 0.643 0.533 0.042** 0.181 0.643 0.231 0.181 0.539 
a 

Over the period 2005-2008, pre-reform period is from 01/01/2005 to 31/12/2006, and post-reform period is from 01/01/2007 to 31/12/2008; over the period 2006-2007, pre-
reform period is from 01/01/2006 to 31/12/2006, and post-reform period is from 01/01/2007 to 31/12/2007. ACAR is the absolute cumulative abnormal return from x days 
before to 2 days after the earnings announcement. Abnormal returns are prediction errors from the market model. 
b 

P-values are two-sided. P-values for means are from t-tests of the difference between the pre- and post-reform means. For medians, p-values are from Wilcoxon two-sample 
tests; p-values for differences in percentage of lower/higher post-reform ACARs are from binomial tests. ***, ** and * indicate significant at or better than the 1%, 5% and 10% 
two-sided levels, respectively.   
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Appendix 6.10 
ACARs in Different Accumulation Windows over Period 2005-2008 for the HO-share Sample 

 
Market Model 

 

Maynes & Rumsey Model 

 
2005 2006 2007 2008 

 
2005 2006 2007 2008 

Mean 

[-1,2] 0.06 0.04 0.10 0.06 
 

0.06 0.04 0.10 0.06 

[-2,+2] 0.06 0.04 0.11 0.07 
 

0.06 0.04 0.11 0.07 

[-5, +2] 0.07 0.05 0.12 0.07 
 

0.07 0.05 0.12 0.07 

[-10, +2] 0.07 0.06 0.11 0.08 
 

0.07 0.04 0.11 0.09 

[-30, +2] 0.11 0.08 0.20 0.20 
 

0.11 0.07 0.19 0.20 

[-60, +2] 0.17 0.12 0.28 0.25 
 

0.17 0.11 0.29 0.25 

Median 

[-1,2] 0.04 0.03 0.04 0.04 
 

0.04 0.03 0.04 0.04 

[-2,+2] 0.04 0.02 0.05 0.06 
 

0.04 0.03 0.05 0.06 

[-5, +2] 0.05 0.03 0.06 0.04 
 

0.05 0.03 0.06 0.05 

[-10, +2] 0.04 0.04 0.05 0.06 
 

0.04 0.03 0.05 0.06 

[-30, +2] 0.08 0.06 0.12 0.14 
 

0.08 0.06 0.13 0.15 

[-60, +2] 0.11 0.10 0.17 0.14 
 

0.11 0.08 0.18 0.14 

Standard Deviation 

[-1,2] 0.05 0.04 0.20 0.05 
 

0.05 0.04 0.20 0.05 

[-2,+2] 0.05 0.04 0.21 0.05 
 

0.05 0.04 0.21 0.05 

[-5, +2] 0.07 0.04 0.20 0.06 
 

0.07 0.05 0.20 0.06 

[-10, +2] 0.08 0.05 0.19 0.08 
 

0.08 0.05 0.19 0.08 

[-30, +2] 0.09 0.07 0.21 0.17 
 

0.09 0.07 0.21 0.18 

[-60, +2] 0.12 0.10 0.29 0.24 
 

0.12 0.10 0.30 0.22 

Number of Observations 

[-1,2] 28.00 27.00 27.00 28.00 
 

28.00 27.00 27.00 28.00 

[-2,+2] 28.00 27.00 27.00 28.00 
 

28.00 27.00 27.00 28.00 

[-5, +2] 28.00 28.00 27.00 28.00 
 

28.00 28.00 27.00 28.00 

[-10, +2] 28.00 28.00 27.00 27.00 
 

28.00 28.00 27.00 27.00 

[-30, +2] 28.00 27.00 28.00 28.00 
 

28.00 27.00 28.00 28.00 

[-60, +2] 28.00 28.00 27.00 27.00 
 

28.00 28.00 27.00 27.00 
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Appendix 6.11 
ACARs in Different Accumulation Windows over Period 2005-2008 for the AHH-share Sample 

 
Market Model 

 
Maynes & Rumsey Model 

 
2005 2006 2007 2008 

 
2005 2006 2007 2008 

Mean 

[-1,2] 0.06 0.05 0.08 0.07 
 

0.06 0.06 0.08 0.07 

[-2,+2] 0.06 0.05 0.08 0.06 
 

0.06 0.06 0.08 0.07 

[-5, +2] 0.06 0.05 0.07 0.09 
 

0.07 0.07 0.07 0.10 

[-10, +2] 0.07 0.08 0.11 0.11 
 

0.07 0.08 0.10 0.11 

[-30, +2] 0.09 0.13 0.15 0.16 
 

0.09 0.13 0.15 0.17 

[-60, +2] 0.15 0.19 0.26 0.25 
 

0.14 0.19 0.25 0.24 

Median 

[-1,2] 0.04 0.03 0.06 0.06 
 

0.04 0.03 0.06 0.06 

[-2,+2] 0.04 0.03 0.06 0.04 
 

0.04 0.03 0.06 0.04 

[-5, +2] 0.03 0.05 0.05 0.07 
 

0.04 0.05 0.05 0.08 

[-10, +2] 0.03 0.06 0.09 0.08 
 

0.03 0.06 0.09 0.09 

[-30, +2] 0.07 0.09 0.12 0.12 
 

0.07 0.11 0.12 0.12 

[-60, +2] 0.12 0.13 0.23 0.16 
 

0.11 0.13 0.20 0.16 

Standard Deviation 

[-1,2] 0.10 0.05 0.10 0.05 
 

0.10 0.06 0.10 0.05 

[-2,+2] 0.10 0.06 0.10 0.05 
 

0.10 0.07 0.10 0.05 

[-5, +2] 0.10 0.04 0.07 0.07 
 

0.10 0.07 0.07 0.07 

[-10, +2] 0.10 0.07 0.08 0.09 
 

0.10 0.08 0.08 0.09 

[-30, +2] 0.09 0.15 0.12 0.17 
 

0.09 0.14 0.11 0.16 

[-60, +2] 0.13 0.21 0.22 0.25 
 

0.12 0.21 0.20 0.23 

Number of Observations 

[-1,2] 47.00 47.00 47.00 48.00 
 

47.00 47.00 47.00 48.00 

[-2,+2] 47.00 48.00 48.00 50.00 
 

47.00 48.00 48.00 50.00 

[-5, +2] 46.00 47.00 48.00 50.00 
 

46.00 47.00 48.00 50.00 

[-10, +2] 46.00 48.00 48.00 50.00 
 

46.00 48.00 48.00 50.00 

[-30, +2] 47.00 48.00 49.00 50.00 
 

47.00 48.00 49.00 50.00 

[-60, +2] 47.00 47.00 47.00 50.00 
 

47.00 47.00 47.00 50.00 
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Appendix 6.12 
Semi-annual and Annual ACARs in Different Accumulation Windows over Period 2005-2008 for the HO-share Sample

a 

Accumulation 
Window 

[-1, +2] [-2, +2] [-5, +2] [-10, +2] [-30, +2] [-60, +2] 

 
Semi-annual Annual Semi-annual Annual Semi-annual Annual Semi-annual Annual Semi-annual Annual Semi-annual Annual 

Mean 

Pre-reform 0.055 0.054 0.054 0.053 0.059 0.062 0.068 0.067 0.099 0.093 0.158 0.158 

Post-reform 0.062 0.126 0.067 0.074 0.083 0.112 0.080 0.122 0.214 0.203 0.268 0.242 

Difference 0.007 0.072 0.013 0.021 0.024 0.051 0.012 0.055 0.114 0.110 0.110 0.085 

p-value
b 

0.672 0.226 0.356 0.246 0.267 0.336 0.540 0.302 0.002*** 0.033** 0.052* 0.215 

Median 

Pre-reform 0.038 0.038 0.037 0.038 0.027 0.054 0.043 0.037 0.065 0.084 0.125 0.112 

Post-reform 0.041 0.050 0.056 0.058 0.062 0.034 0.056 0.058 0.181 0.118 0.157 0.123 

Difference 0.005 0.015 0.013 0.013 0.021 -0.022 0.010 0.026 0.078 0.057 0.016 -0.009 

p-value 0.829 0.669 0.262 0.211 0.024** 0.250 0.540 0.262 0.003*** 0.041** 0.156 0.959 

% of Firms with Higher or Lower Post-reform ACARs 

% of Firms with 
Higher Post-
reform ACAR 

62.50% 61.11% 67.86% 55.56% 72.73% 35.00% 57.69% 55.00% 76.92% 76.92% 54.55% 50.00% 

% of Firms with 
Higher Post-
reform ACAR 

37.50% 38.89% 32.14% 44.44% 27.27% 65.00% 42.31% 45.00% 23.08% 23.08% 45.45% 50.00% 

p-value 0.308 0.481 0.087* 0.815 0.053* 0.263 0.557 0.824 0.009*** 0.009*** 0.832 1.000 

No. of 
Observations 

48 36 56 36 44 40 52 40 52 52 44 48 

a 
Over the period 2005-2008, pre-reform period is from 01/01/2005 to 31/12/2006, and post-reform period is from 01/01/2007 to 31/12/2008. Shares listed on HKEx are only 

required to disclose semi-annual and annual earnings. ACAR is the absolute cumulative abnormal return from x days before to 2 days after the earnings announcement. 
Abnormal returns are prediction errors from the market model. 
b 

P-values are two-sided. P-values for means are from t-tests of the difference between the pre- and post-reform means. For medians, p-values are from Wilcoxon two-sample 
tests; p-values for differences in percentage of lower/higher post-reform ACARs are from binomial tests. ***, ** and * indicate significant at or better than the 1%, 5% and 10% 
two-sided levels, respectively.  
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Appendix 6.13 
Semi-annual and Annual ACARs in Different Accumulation Windows over Period 2005-2008 for the AHH-share Sample

a 

Accumulation 
Window 

[-1, +2] [-2, +2] [-5, +2] [-10, +2] [-30, +2] [-60, +2] 

 
Semi-annual Annual Semi-annual Annual Semi-annual Annual Semi-annual Annual Semi-annual Annual Semi-annual Annual 

Mean 

Pre-reform 0.034 0.083 0.032 0.082 0.040 0.053 0.053 0.087 0.082 0.112 0.126 0.173 

Post-reform 0.072 0.066 0.062 0.067 0.076 0.097 0.101 0.110 0.142 0.172 0.192 0.293 

Difference 0.038 -0.018 0.030 -0.014 0.036 0.044 0.049 0.023 0.061 0.060 0.066 0.120 

p-value
b 

0.000*** 0.472 0.003*** 0.635 0.006*** 0.030** 0.001*** 0.437 0.002*** 0.121 0.018** 0.058* 

Median 

Pre-reform 0.029 0.053 0.025 0.049 0.032 0.048 0.034 0.064 0.071 0.080 0.111 0.122 

Post-reform 0.063 0.050 0.044 0.052 0.055 0.073 0.078 0.092 0.114 0.135 0.163 0.221 

Difference 0.040 -0.005 0.015 -0.005 0.021 0.021 0.028 0.030 0.047 0.032 0.042 0.067 

p-value 0.001*** 0.900 0.002*** 0.749 0.010** 0.062* 0.002*** 0.074* 0.001*** 0.115 0.040** 0.099* 

% of Firms with Higher or Lower Post-reform ACARs 

% of Firms with 
Higher Post-
reform ACAR 

75.00% 43.33% 67.50% 50.00% 63.16% 70.83% 71.43% 73.08% 66.67% 60.00% 52.78% 56.67% 

% of Firms with 
Higher Post-
reform ACAR 

25.00% 56.67% 32.50% 50.00% 36.84% 29.17% 28.57% 26.92% 33.33% 40.00% 47.22% 43.33% 

p-value 0.007*** 0.585 0.039** 1.000 0.143 0.064* 0.008*** 0.029** 0.044** 0.362 0.868 0.585 

No. of 
Observations 

64 60 80 48 76 48 84 52 84 60 72 60 

a 
Over the period 2005-2008, pre-reform period is from 01/01/2005 to 31/12/2006, and post-reform period is from 01/01/2007 to 31/12/2008. Shares listed on HKEx are only 

required to disclose semi-annual and annual earnings. ACAR is the absolute cumulative abnormal return from x days before to 2 days after the earnings announcement. 
Abnormal returns are prediction errors from the market model. 
b 

P-values are two-sided. P-values for means are from t-tests of the difference between the pre- and post-reform means. For medians, p-values are from Wilcoxon two-sample 
tests; p-values for differences in percentage of lower/higher post-reform ACARs are from binomial tests. ***, ** and * indicate significant at or better than the 1%, 5% and 10% 
two-sided levels, respectively.  
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Appendix 6.14 
Regression Result for the BO-share Sample for Period 2005-2008 with Year Dummies (excludes Q1)

a 

                                                                                 

                                                                             

        

Variable 
Expected 

Sign 

Accumulation Windows 

[-1, +2] [-2, +2] [-5, +2] [-10, +2] [-30, +2] [-60, +2] 

Intercept 
 

0.089 
(0.672) 

0.023 
(0.181) 

0.076 
(0.604) 

0.074 
(0.436) 

-0.621*** 
(-2.952) 

-0.479 
(-1.399) 

2006 ? 
0.007 

(0.502) 
0.006 

(0.390) 
0.009 

(0.614) 
0.003 

(0.173) 
0.061*** 
(2.654) 

0.014 
(0.368) 

2007 ? 
0.008 

(0.557) 
-0.002 

(-0.124) 
0.011 

(0.709) 
0.023 

(1.094) 
-0.000 

(-0.011) 
0.001 

(0.017) 

2008 ? 
0.015 

(0.994) 
0.005 

(0.302) 
0.026* 
(1.694) 

0.027 
(1.283) 

0.005 
(0.189) 

-0.010 
(-0.242) 

ABSCAR +ve 
0.024 

(0.810) 
0.024 

(0.749) 
0.051 

(1.659) 
0.076* 
(1.798) 

0.467*** 
(8.975)  

NEGCAR +ve 
-0.005 

(-0.584) 
-0.010 

(-0.975) 
0.000 

(0.023) 
-0.000 

(-0.026) 
-0.018 

(-1.046) 
-0.022 

(-0.805) 

RETVAR +ve 
-0.360 

(-0.291) 
-0.022 

(-0.016) 
-1.580 

(-1.225) 
-0.350 

(-0.202) 
6.123*** 
(2.767) 

8.857** 
(2.508) 

Ln(TA) -ve 
-0.003 

(-0.446) 
0.001 

(0.134) 
-0.001 

(-0.220) 
-0.003 

(-0.315) 
0.023** 
(2.308) 

0.025 
(1.500) 

LEVG +ve 
0.021 

(0.958) 
0.018 

(0.748) 
0.001 

(0.050) 
0.019 

(0.582) 
-0.048 

(-1.220) 
0.095 

(1.498) 

LOSS +ve 
0.000 

(-0.001) 
0.017 

(1.043) 
0.023 

(1.495) 
0.030 

(1.314) 
0.043* 
(1.666) 

0.058 
(1.379) 

ABSUE +ve 
0.114** 
(2.330) 

0.054 
(1.013) 

0.088* 
(1.683) 

-0.001 
(-0.016) 

-0.058 
(-0.660) 

-0.006 
(-0.041) 

NEGUE +ve 
-0.017* 
(-1.694) 

-0.014 
(-1.312) 

-0.013 
(-1.260) 

-0.004 
(-0.300) 

-0.012 
(-0.660) 

-0.005 
(-0.166) 

PE +ve 
0.000 

(0.152) 
0.000 

(0.032) 
-0.000 

(-1.307) 
-0.000 
(0.166) 

0.000 
(-0.548) 

-0.001* 
(-1.849) 

No. of 
Observations

 
 

96 92 96 92 104 104 

Adj. R
2
 

 
0.017 -0.055 0.046 -0.014 0.548 0.098 

F-test 
 

1.14 0.60 1.38 0.90 11.42 2.01 
a
 Variable definitions:           is the absolute cumulative abnormal return from x days before to 2 days after the 

earnings announcement. Abnormal returns are prediction errors from the market model.       = 1 if the 

observation is from year 2006 and zero otherwise;       = 1 if the observation is from year 2007 and zero 

otherwise;       = 1 if the observation is from year 2008 and zero otherwise;             is the absolute value of 

the cumulative abnormal return from 60 working days before to two days after the earnings announcement; 
            = 1 if the cumulative abnormal return from 60 working days before to two days after the earnings 

announcement is negative, and zero otherwise;             is the standard deviation of the abnormal returns 

during the market model estimation period for the pre-reform quarter;              is the logarithm of total assets of 

share i at the end of quarter q;           is the leverage ratio of share i at the end of quarter q, calculated as (long-

term debt + debt within one year)/total assets;           = 1 if share i reported losses in quarter q, and zero 

otherwise;            is the absolute value of share i’s EPS in quarter q in year y minus its EPS in quarter q in year y-

1, and then scaled by its 2006 year-end share price;            = 1 if share i’s EPS in quarter q in year y is higher than 

its EPS in quarter q in year y-1, and zero otherwise;         is the price/earnings ratio of share i in quarter q. 

Observations from the first-quarter in each year are excluded from the sample because it is hard to isolate the effects 
of information other than the first-quarter earnings.  
b
 Numbers in parentheses are t statistic values. ***, ** and * indicate significant at or better than the 1%, 5% and 

10% two-sided levels, respectively. 
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Appendix 6.15 
Regression Results for the BO-share Sample for period 2006-2007 (excludes Q1)

a 

                                                                             

                                                                     

Variable 
Expected 

Sign 

Accumulation Windows 

[-1, +2] [-2, +2] [-5, +2] [-10, +2] [-30, +2] [-60, +2] 

Intercept 
 

0.151 
(0.774) 

0.025 
(0.134) 

0.046 
(0.272) 

0.076 
(0.290) 

-0.661** 
(-2.269) 

0.027 
(0.051) 

2007 ? 
0.012 

(0.674) 
0.000 

(0.018) 
0.013 

(0.732) 
0.028 

(1.101) 
-0.064** 
(-2.366) 

-0.002 
(-0.049) 

ABSCAR +ve 
0.004 

(0.088) 
-0.003 

(-0.062) 
0.014 

(0.320) 
0.015 

(0.224) 
0.442*** 
(6.349)  

NEGCAR +ve 
-0.011 

(-0.744) 
-0.017 

(-1.011) 
-0.012 

(-0.789) 
-0.004 

(-0.165) 
-0.015 

(-0.650) 
-0.031 

(-0.740) 

RETVAR +ve 
-0.503 

(-0.267) 
-0.915 

(-0.401) 
-1.838 

(-0.974) 
0.363 

(0.124) 
10.018*** 

(3.311) 
9.675* 
(1.803) 

Ln(TA) -ve 
-0.005 

(-0.487) 
0.003 

(0.276) 
0.002 

(0.238) 
-0.001 

(-0.113) 
0.026* 
(1.854) 

-0.002 
(-0.089) 

LEVG +ve 
0.005 

(0.153) 
0.002 

(0.047) 
-0.028 

(-0.796) 
-0.001 

(-0.011) 
-0.014 

(-0.241) 
0.171* 
(1.730) 

LOSS +ve 
0.014 

(0.457) 
0.066* 
(1.750) 

0.085** 
(2.839) 

0.089 
(1.403) 

0.072 
(1.500) 

0.073 
(0.850) 

ABSUE +ve 
0.113 

(1.647) 
0.064 

(0.828) 
0.067 

(0.978) 
-0.006 

(-0.050) 
-0.225** 
(-2.105) 

0.019 
(0.098) 

NEGUE +ve 
-0.016 

(-1.009) 
-0.019 

(-1.055) 
-0.013 

(-0.812) 
-0.017 

(-0.673) 
-0.030 

(-1.206) 
-0.010 

(-0.216) 

PE +ve 
0.000 

(-1.038) 
0.000 

(-0.536) 
0.000 

(-1.027) 
0.000 

(-0.353) 
0.000 

(0.005) 
0.000 

(-0.145) 

No. of 
Observations

 
 

48 46 48 46 52 52 

Adj. R
2
 

 
-0.021 -0.060 0.081 -0.164 0.579 0.034 

F-test 
 

0.90 0.75 1.42 0.37 8.02 1.20 
a
 Variable definitions:           is the absolute cumulative abnormal return from x days before to 2 days 

after the earnings announcement. Abnormal returns are prediction errors from the market model.       = 1 

if the observation is from year 2007 and zero if the observation is from year 2006;             is the 

absolute value of the cumulative abnormal return from 60 working days before to two days after the 
earnings announcement;             = 1 if the cumulative abnormal return from 60 working days before to 

two days after the earnings announcement is negative, and zero otherwise;             is the standard 

deviation of the abnormal returns during the market model estimation period for the pre-reform quarter; 
             is the logarithm of total assets of share i at the end of quarter q;           is the leverage ratio of 

share i at the end of quarter q, calculated as (long-term debt + debt within one year)/total assets;           = 

1 if share i reported losses in quarter q, and zero otherwise;            is the absolute value of share i’s EPS 

in quarter q in year y minus its EPS in quarter q in year y-1, and then scaled by its 2006 year-end share price; 
           = 1 if share i’s EPS in quarter q in year y is higher than its EPS in quarter q in year y-1, and zero 

otherwise;         is the price/earnings ratio of share i in quarter q. Observations from the first-quarter in 

each year are excluded from the sample because it is hard to isolate the effects of information other than the 
first-quarter earnings.  
b
 Numbers in parentheses are t statistic values. ***, ** and * indicate significant at or better than the 1%, 5% 

and 10% two-sided levels, respectively. 
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Appendix 6.16 
Regression Results for the ABB-share Sample for period 2005-2008 (excludes Q1)

a 

                                                                                 

                                                                             

        

Variable 
Expected 

Sign 

Accumulation Windows 

[-1, +2] [-2, +2] [-5, +2] [-10, +2] [-30, +2] [-60, +2] 

Intercept 
 

-0.018 
(-0.582) 

-0.024 
(-0.765) 

-0.034 
(-0.877) 

-0.018 
(-0.395) 

-0.064 
(-1.067) 

0.161 
(1.499) 

2006 ? 
-0.007* 
(-1.828) 

-0.008** 
(-2.156) 

-0.005 
(-1.149) 

-0.003 
(-0.589) 

0.004 
(0.503) 

-0.009 
(-0.693) 

2007 +ve 
-0.002 

(-0.515) 
-0.005 

(-1.287) 
-0.007 

(-1.372) 
-0.004 

(-0.671) 
0.009 

(1.113) 
0.033** 
(2.338) 

2008 +ve 
0.002 

(0.666) 
0.002 

(0.568) 
0.001 

(0.282) 
0.005 

(0.935) 
0.023*** 
(3.068) 

0.014 
(1.065) 

ABSCAR +ve 
0.023*** 
(2.710) 

0.026*** 
(2.891) 

0.066*** 
(6.009) 

0.081*** 
(6.292) 

0.302*** 
(17.888)  

NEGCAR +ve 
0.003 

(1.302) 
0.003 

(1.074) 
0.004 

(1.228) 
0.007* 
(1.801) 

0.005 
(0.941) 

-0.002 
(-0.238) 

RETVAR +ve 
0.717** 
(2.142) 

0.951*** 
(2.728) 

1.417*** 
(3.270) 

1.698*** 
(3.328) 

1.245* 
(1.862) 

5.378*** 
(4.457) 

Ln(TA) -ve 
0.002 

(1.176) 
0.002 

(1.251) 
0.002 

(0.911) 
0.000 

(0.214) 
0.001 

(0.424) 
-0.007 

(-1.482) 

LEVG +ve 
-0.014** 
(-2.029) 

-0.013* 
(-1.860) 

-0.008 
(-0.953) 

-0.005 
(-0.487) 

-0.023* 
(-1.660) 

0.044* 
(1.802) 

LOSS +ve 
0.016*** 
(4.120) 

0.010** 
(2.464) 

0.008 
(1.587) 

-0.001 
(-0.170) 

0.008 
(0.971) 

-0.007 
(-0.513) 

ABSUE +ve 
0.019* 
(1.655) 

0.028** 
(2.051) 

0.017 
(1.105) 

0.036** 
(2.056) 

0.049* 
(1.858) 

0.194*** 
(4.801) 

NEGUE +ve 
-0.007** 
(-2.341) 

-0.005* 
(-1.732) 

-0.001 
(-0.383) 

-0.002 
(-0.447) 

-0.013** 
(-2.294) 

0.000 
(-0.028) 

PE +ve 
-0.000 

(-1.043) 
-0.000 

(-0.836) 
-0.000 

(-1.344) 
-0.000 

(-0.398) 
0.000 

(1.069) 
0.000** 
(2.154) 

No. of 
Observations

 
 

628 632 628 612 628 656 

Adj. R
2
 

 
0.076 0.064 0.096 0.105 0.391 0.096 

F-test 
 

5.31 4.57 6.52 6.97 34.56 7.31 
a
 Variable definitions:           is the absolute cumulative abnormal return from x days before to 2 days after the 

earnings announcement. Abnormal returns are prediction errors from the market model.       = 1 if the 

observation is from year 2006 and zero otherwise;       = 1 if the observation is from year 2007 and zero 

otherwise;       = 1 if the observation is from year 2008 and zero otherwise;             is the absolute value 

of the cumulative abnormal return from 60 working days before to two days after the earnings announcement; 
            = 1 if the cumulative abnormal return from 60 working days before to two days after the earnings 

announcement is negative, and zero otherwise;             is the standard deviation of the abnormal returns 

during the market model estimation period for the pre-reform quarter;              is the logarithm of total assets 

of share i at the end of quarter q;           is the leverage ratio of share i at the end of quarter q, calculated as 

(long-term debt + debt within one year)/total assets;           = 1 if share i reported losses in quarter q, and zero 

otherwise;            is the absolute value of share i’s EPS in quarter q in year y minus its EPS in quarter q in year 

y-1, and then scaled by its 2006 year-end share price;            = 1 if share i’s EPS in quarter q in year y is higher 

than its EPS in quarter q in year y-1, and zero otherwise;         is the price/earnings ratio of share i in quarter q. 

Observations from the first-quarter in each year are excluded from the sample because it is hard to isolate the 
effects of information other than the first-quarter earnings.  
b
 Numbers in parentheses are t statistic values. ***, ** and * indicate significant at or better than the 1%, 5% and 

10% two-sided levels, respectively. 
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Appendix 6.17 
Regression Results for the ABB-share Sample for period 2006-2007 (excludes Q1)

a 

                                                                             

                                                                     

Variable 
Expected 

Sign 

Accumulation Windows 

[-1, +2] [-2, +2] [-5, +2] [-10, +2] [-30, +2] [-60, +2] 

Intercept 
 

0.017 
(0.445) 

0.027 
(0.757) 

0.000 
(-0.010) 

-0.011 
(-0.185) 

-0.058 
(-0.695) 

-0.018 
(-0.115) 

2007 +ve 
0.007* 
(1.839) 

0.005 
(1.534) 

0.001 
(0.199) 

0.001 
(0.099) 

0.003 
(0.316) 

0.033** 
(2.264) 

ABSCAR +ve 
0.024** 
(2.233) 

0.027** 
(2.569) 

0.062*** 
(4.587) 

0.066*** 
(3.992) 

0.307*** 
(12.767)  

NEGCAR +ve 
0.001 

(0.279) 
0.001 

(0.375) 
0.003 

(0.652) 
0.004 

(0.844) 
0.002 

(0.325) 
0.001 

(0.042) 

RETVAR +ve 
0.239 

(0.568) 
0.296 

(0.744) 
0.438 

(0.825) 
1.268** 
(1.985) 

0.539 
(0.579) 

4.193** 
(2.432) 

Ln(TA) -ve 
0.000 

(-0.040) 
-0.001 

(-0.361) 
0.000 

(0.110) 
0.000 

(0.159) 
0.001 

(0.363) 
0.002 

(0.206) 

LEVG +ve 
-0.006 

(-0.699) 
-0.003 

(-0.339) 
-0.001 

(-0.121) 
0.004 

(0.295) 
-0.031 

(-1.601) 
0.051 

(1.450) 

LOSS +ve 
0.016*** 
(2.948) 

0.004 
(0.884) 

0.006 
(0.956) 

-0.008 
(-1.042) 

0.017 
(1.413) 

0.045** 
(2.102) 

ABSUE +ve 
0.015 

(0.921) 
0.009 

(0.578) 
0.044** 
(2.104) 

0.049* 
(1.948) 

0.106*** 
(2.868) 

0.148*** 
(2.612) 

NEGUE +ve 
-0.001 

(-0.361) 
0.002 

(0.607) 
0.007 

(1.481) 
0.002 

(0.354) 
-0.022*** 
(-2.644) 

0.002 
(0.111) 

PE +ve 
-0.000 

(-0.217) 
-0.000 

(-0.024) 
-0.000 

(-0.288) 
-0.000 

(-0.455) 
0.000** 
(2.084) 

0.000*** 
(3.802) 

No. of 
Observations

 
 

314 316 314 306 314 328 

Adj. R
2
 

 
0.065 0.025 0.107 0.070 0.429 0.125 

F-test 
 

3.16 1.81 4.76 3.28 24.50 6.21 
a
 Variable definitions:           is the absolute cumulative abnormal return from x days before to 2 days after 

the earnings announcement. Abnormal returns are prediction errors from the market model.       = 1 if the 

observation is from year 2007 and zero if the observation is from year 2006;             is the absolute value 

of the cumulative abnormal return from 60 working days before to two days after the earnings announcement; 
            = 1 if the cumulative abnormal return from 60 working days before to two days after the earnings 

announcement is negative, and zero otherwise;             is the standard deviation of the abnormal returns 

during the market model estimation period for the pre-reform quarter;              is the logarithm of total 

assets of share i at the end of quarter q;           is the leverage ratio of share i at the end of quarter q, 

calculated as (long-term debt + debt within one year)/total assets;           = 1 if share i reported losses in 

quarter q, and zero otherwise;            is the absolute value of share i’s EPS in quarter q in year y minus its 

EPS in quarter q in year y-1, and then scaled by its 2006 year-end share price;            = 1 if share i’s EPS in 

quarter q in year y is higher than its EPS in quarter q in year y-1, and zero otherwise;         is the price/earnings 

ratio of share i in quarter q. Observations from the first-quarter in each year are excluded from the sample 
because it is hard to isolate the effects of information other than the first-quarter earnings.  
b
 Numbers in parentheses are t statistic values. ***, ** and * indicate significant at or better than the 1%, 5% 

and 10% two-sided levels, respectively. 
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Appendix 6.18 
Regression Results for the HO-share Sample for period 2005-2008 with Year Dummies

a 

                                                                                 

                                                                          

Variable 
Expected 

Sign 

Accumulation Windows 

[-1, +2] [-2, +2] [-5, +2] [-10, +2] [-30, +2] [-60, +2] 

Intercept 
 

-0.337** 
(-2.284)

b 
-0.088 

(-0.825) 
0.160 

(0.838) 
-0.249 

(-1.507) 
-0.654*** 
(-2.833) 

0.128 
(0.304) 

2006 ? 
-0.008 

(-0.441) 
-0.019 

(-1.330) 
-0.016 

(-0.774) 
-0.012 

(-0.587) 
-0.018 

(-0.625) 
-0.058 

(-1.059) 

2007 ? 
0.015 

(0.746) 
0.003 

(0.237) 
0.010 

(0.501) 
-0.003 

(-0.137) 
0.049 

(1.633) 
0.094 

(1.662) 

2008 ? 
-0.016 

(-0.782) 
0.005 

(0.328) 
-0.016 

(-0.744) 
-0.007 

(-0.317) 
0.036 

(1.150) 
0.004 

(0.064) 

ABSCAR +ve 
0.161*** 
(4.079) 

0.057* 
(1.906) 

0.156*** 
(3.860) 

0.195*** 
(4.665) 

0.457*** 
(7.726) 

 
 

NEGCAR +ve 
-0.010 

(-0.641) 
0.006 

(0.501) 
0.015 

(0.947) 
-0.005 

(-0.283) 
0.048** 
(2.138) 

0.049 
(1.148) 

RETVAR +ve 
5.334*** 
(3.441) 

3.813*** 
(3.344) 

1.306 
(0.887) 

1.395 
(0.864) 

2.169 
(0.982) 

11.870*** 
(3.025) 

Ln(TA) -ve 
0.011* 
(1.754) 

0.002 
(0.401) 

-0.008 
(-0.931) 

0.010 
(1.417) 

0.025** 
(2.614) 

-0.012 
(-0.685) 

LEVG +ve 
-0.015 

(-0.463) 
0.038 

(1.454) 
-0.024 

(-0.653) 
-0.019 

(-0.535) 
-0.070 

(-1.353) 
0.036 

(0.359) 

LOSS +ve 
-0.024 

(-0.724) 
0.048* 
(1.688) 

0.011 
(0.320) 

0.007 
(0.161) 

0.030 
(0.597) 

-0.127 
(-1.306) 

ABSUE +ve 
0.031 

(0.539) 
-0.052 

(-0.974) 
-0.046 

(-0.702) 
-0.040 

(-0.525) 
-0.172* 
(-1.798) 

0.252 
(1.385) 

NEGUE +ve 
0.002 

(0.120) 
-0.009 

(-0.803) 
0.010 

(0.643) 
0.015 

(0.874) 
-0.009 

(-0.393) 
0.078* 
(1.835) 

No. of 
Observations

 
 

72 80 76 84 88 92 

Adj. R
2
 

 
0.374 0.230 0.215 0.248 0.533 0.153 

F-test 
 

4.86 3.14 2.87 3.49 10.03 2.65 
a
 Variable definitions:           is the absolute cumulative abnormal return from x days before to 2 days after the earnings 

announcement. Abnormal returns are prediction errors from the market model.       = 1 if the observation is from year 

2006 and zero otherwise;       = 1 if the observation is from year 2007 and zero otherwise;       = 1 if the observation 

is from year 2008 and zero otherwise;             is the absolute value of the cumulative abnormal return from 60 

working days before to two days after the earnings announcement;             = 1 if the cumulative abnormal return 

from 60 working days before to two days after the earnings announcement is negative, and zero otherwise;             is 

the standard deviation of the abnormal returns during the market model estimation period for the pre-reform quarter; 
             is the logarithm of total assets of share i at the end of quarter q;           is the leverage ratio of share i at the 

end of quarter q, calculated as (long-term debt + debt within one year)/total assets;           = 1 if share i reported losses 

in quarter q, and zero otherwise;            is the absolute value of share i’s EPS in quarter q in year y minus its EPS in 

quarter q in year y-1, and then scaled by its 2006 year-end share price;            = 1 if share i’s EPS in quarter q in year y 

is higher than its EPS in quarter q in year y-1, and zero otherwise;         is the price/earnings ratio of share i in quarter q. 

Observations from the first-quarter in each year are excluded from the sample because it is hard to isolate the effects of 
information other than the first-quarter earnings.  
b
 Numbers in parentheses are t statistic values. ***, ** and * indicate significant at or better than the 1%, 5% and 10% two-

sided levels, respectively. 
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Appendix 6.19 
Regression Results when the Dependent Variable is ACAR for the HO-share Sample for Period 2006-2007

a 

                                                                                         

                                              

Variable 
Expected 

Sign 

Accumulation Windows 

[-1, +2] [-2, +2] [-5, +2] [-10, +2] [-30, +2] [-60, +2] 

Intercept 
 

-0.403 
(-0.769)

b 
0.027 

(0.137) 
0.469 

(0.765) 
-0.279 

(-0.614) 
-0.495 

(-1.251) 
0.488 

(0.646) 

2007 ? 
-0.009 

(-0.161) 
0.026 

(1.315) 
0.027 

(0.628) 
0.013 

(0.311) 
0.068* 
(1.895) 

0.153** 
(2.145) 

ABSCAR +ve 
0.496*** 
(4.237) 

0.043 
(0.784) 

0.539*** 
(5.305) 

0.461*** 
(4.598) 

0.642*** 
(7.382)  

NEGCAR +ve 
-0.083 

(-1.554) 
0.005 

(0.237) 
-0.003 

(-0.055) 
-0.052 

(-1.226) 
0.024 

(0.639) 
0.027 

(0.358) 

RETVAR +ve 
5.153 

(0.933) 
3.107 

(1.642) 
-4.286 

(-0.971) 
-2.827 

(-0.692) 
0.301 

(0.085) 
3.008 

(0.420) 

Ln(TA) -ve 
0.014 

(0.634) 
-0.003 

(-0.391) 
-0.017 

(-0.646) 
0.015 

(0.802) 
0.020 

(1.227) 
-0.022 

(-0.682) 

LEVG +ve 
-0.209* 
(-1.779) 

0.063 
(1.319) 

-0.258** 
(-2.567) 

-0.216** 
(-2.241) 

-0.251*** 
(-2.997) 

-0.077 
(-0.445) 

LOSS +ve 
-0.025 

(-0.230) 
0.045 

(0.981) 
-0.099 

(-0.724) 
0.013 

(0.120) 
0.027 

(0.320) 
-0.218 

(-1.238) 

ABSUE +ve 
-0.207 

(-1.089) 
-0.057 

(-0.614) 
-0.301 

(-1.408) 
-0.329 

(-1.662) 
-0.354** 
(-2.338) 

0.507* 
(1.719) 

NEGUE +ve 
0.053 

(1.002) 
-0.022 

(-1.026) 
0.048 

(0.909) 
0.053 

(1.055) 
0.020 

(0.487) 
0.097 

(1.178) 

No. of 
Observations

 
 

36 40 38 42 44 46 

Adj. R
2
 

 
0.383 0.023 0.469 0.380 0.632 0.098 

F-test 
 

3.41 1.10 4.63 3.80 9.20 1.61 
a
 Variable definitions:           is the absolute cumulative abnormal return from x days before to 2 days after the earnings 

announcement. Abnormal returns are prediction errors from the market model.       = 1 if the observation is from year 

2007 and zero if the observation is from year 2006;             is the absolute value of the cumulative abnormal return 

from 60 working days before to two days after the earnings announcement;             = 1 if the cumulative abnormal 

return from 60 working days before to two days after the earnings announcement is negative, and zero otherwise; 
            is the standard deviation of the abnormal returns during the market model estimation period for the pre-

reform quarter;              is the logarithm of total assets of share i at the end of quarter q;           is the leverage ratio 

of share i at the end of quarter q, calculated as (long-term debt + debt within one year)/total assets;           = 1 if share i 

reported losses in quarter q, and zero otherwise;            is the absolute value of share i’s EPS in quarter q in year y 

minus its EPS in quarter q in year y-1, and then scaled by its 2006 year-end share price;            = 1 if share i’s EPS in 

quarter q in year y is higher than its EPS in quarter q in year y-1, and zero otherwise;         is the price/earnings ratio of 

share i in quarter q. Observations from the first-quarter in each year are excluded from the sample because it is hard to 
isolate the effects of information other than the first-quarter earnings.  
b
 Numbers in parentheses are t statistic values. ***, ** and * indicate significant at or better than the 1%, 5% and 10% two-

sided levels, respectively. 
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Appendix 6.20 
Regression Results when the Dependent Variable is ACAR for the AHH-share Sample for period 2005-2008 with Year 

Dummies
a 

                                                                                               

                                                            

Variable 
Expected 

Sign 

Accumulation Windows 

[-1, +2] [-2, +2] [-5, +2] [-10, +2] [-30, +2] [-60, +2] 

Intercept 
 

0.134 
(1.040)

b 
0.182* 
(1.669) 

0.072 
(0.620) 

0.186 
(1.419) 

-0.179 
(-1.214) 

0.137 
(0.495) 

2006 ? 
0.002 

(0.127) 
-0.007 

(-0.460) 
0.012 

(0.803) 
0.017 

(0.960) 
0.008 

(0.399) 
0.025 

(0.696) 

2007 +ve 
0.007 

(0.448) 
0.000 

(0.019) 
0.028* 
(1.769) 

0.026 
(1.438) 

0.002 
(0.116) 

0.062* 
(1.688) 

2008 +ve 
0.017 

(1.104) 
0.005 

(0.292) 
0.041** 
(2.546) 

0.033* 
(1.800) 

0.025 
(1.243) 

0.074** 
(1.990) 

ABSCAR +ve 
0.068** 
(2.147) 

0.072** 
(2.268) 

0.046 
(1.391) 

0.165*** 
(4.380) 

0.291*** 
(7.098)  

NEGCAR +ve 
-0.016 

(-1.425) 
-0.021* 
(-1.857) 

0.005 
(0.437) 

0.004 
(0.334) 

-0.003 
(-0.231) 

-0.039 
(-1.455) 

RETVAR +ve 
0.816 

(0.604) 
0.730 

(0.618) 
2.321* 
(1.862) 

2.689* 
(1.929) 

2.942* 
(1.883) 

-4.011 
(-1.384) 

Ln(TA) -ve 
-0.004 

(-0.794) 
-0.007 

(-1.402) 
-0.006 

(-1.309) 
-0.013** 
(-2.253) 

0.003 
(0.472) 

0.005 
(0.394) 

LEVG +ve 
-0.029 

(-0.752) 
-0.042 

(-1.027) 
0.063 

(1.627) 
0.071 

(1.598) 
0.043 

(0.873) 
-0.133 

(-1.468) 

LOSS +ve 
-0.001 

(-0.035) 
0.003 

(0.133) 
-0.015 

(-0.730) 
-0.048* 
(-1.807) 

-0.053* 
(-1.905) 

-0.082 
(-1.576) 

ABSUE +ve 
0.041 

(0.678) 
0.140** 
(2.211) 

0.142** 
(2.307) 

0.187** 
(2.553) 

0.251*** 
(3.092) 

0.651*** 
(4.565) 

NEGUE +ve 
-0.012 

(-0.956) 
-0.014 

(-1.176) 
-0.008 

(-0.610) 
-0.019 

(-1.289) 
-0.028* 
(-1.790) 

-0.057* 
(-1.940) 

No. of 
Observations

 
 

112 112 112 124 132 132 

Adj. R
2
 

 
0.060 0.140 0.152 0.265 0.431 0.165 

F-test 
 

1.64 2.64 2.81 5.04 10.01 3.58 
a
 Variable definitions:           is the absolute cumulative abnormal return from x days before to 2 days after the earnings 

announcement. Abnormal returns are prediction errors from the market model.       = 1 if the observation is from year 

2006 and zero otherwise;       = 1 if the observation is from year 2007 and zero otherwise;       = 1 if the observation is 

from year 2008 and zero otherwise;             is the absolute value of the cumulative abnormal return from 60 working 

days before to two days after the earnings announcement;             = 1 if the cumulative abnormal return from 60 

working days before to two days after the earnings announcement is negative, and zero otherwise;             is the 

standard deviation of the abnormal returns during the market model estimation period for the pre-reform quarter; 
             is the logarithm of total assets of share i at the end of quarter q;           is the leverage ratio of share i at the 

end of quarter q, calculated as (long-term debt + debt within one year)/total assets;           = 1 if share i reported losses in 

quarter q, and zero otherwise;            is the absolute value of share i’s EPS in quarter q in year y minus its EPS in quarter 

q in year y-1, and then scaled by its 2006 year-end share price;            = 1 if share i’s EPS in quarter q in year y is higher 

than its EPS in quarter q in year y-1, and zero otherwise;         is the price/earnings ratio of share i in quarter q. 

Observations from the first-quarter in each year are excluded from the sample because it is hard to isolate the effects of 
information other than the first-quarter earnings.  
b
 Numbers in parentheses are t statistic values. ***, ** and * indicate significant at or better than the 1%, 5% and 10% two-

sided levels, respectively. 
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Appendix 6.21 
Regression Results when the Dependent Variable is ACAR for the AHH-share Sample for Period 2006-2007

a 

                                                                                         

                                              

Variable 
Expected 

Sign 

Accumulation Windows 

[-1, +2] [-2, +2] [-5, +2] [-10, +2] [-30, +2] [-60, +2] 

Intercept 
 

0.179 
(0.971)

b 
0.346** 
(2.103) 

0.257 
(1.344) 

0.451** 
(2.312) 

-0.113 
(-0.563) 

0.590 
(1.549) 

2007 ? 
0.015 

(0.986) 
0.023 

(1.350) 
0.023 

(1.302) 
0.014 

(0.744) 
0.009 

(0.455) 
0.039 

(1.080) 

ABSCAR +ve 
0.035 

(0.772) 
0.047 

(0.914) 
-0.010 

(-0.174) 
0.106* 
(1.803) 

0.186*** 
(3.223)  

NEGCAR +ve 
-0.012 

(-0.794) 
-0.017 

(-1.052) 
-0.016 

(-0.863) 
-0.016 

(-0.892) 
-0.023 

(-1.246) 
-0.044 

(-1.222) 

RETVAR +ve 
1.437 

(0.783) 
-0.148 

(-0.088) 
1.704 

(0.904) 
1.671 

(0.855) 
2.906 

(1.438) 
-3.399 

(-0.873) 

Ln(TA) -ve 
-0.007 

(-0.829) 
-0.013* 
(-1.867) 

-0.011 
(-1.404) 

-0.021** 
(-2.564) 

0.003 
(0.308) 

-0.014 
(-0.856) 

LEVG +ve 
0.000 

(-0.004) 
-0.023 

(-0.386) 
0.042 

(0.682) 
0.095 

(1.468) 
0.060 

(0.910) 
-0.111 

(-0.885) 

LOSS +ve 
0.038 

(1.119) 
0.054 

(1.428) 
0.033 

(0.842) 
0.000 

(-0.008) 
-0.038 

(-0.858) 
-0.023 

(-0.266) 

ABSUE +ve 
-0.082 

(-0.919) 
-0.003 

(-0.033) 
0.072 

(0.709) 
0.098 

(0.831) 
0.166 

(1.429) 
0.601*** 
(2.829) 

NEGUE +ve 
-0.010 

(-0.546) 
0.003 

(0.139) 
-0.005 

(-0.250) 
-0.017 

(-0.835) 
-0.029 

(-1.362) 
-0.076* 
(-1.893) 

No. of 
observations

 
 

56 56 56 62 66 66 

Adj. R
2
 

 
-0.051 0.099 0.010 0.142 0.229 0.151 

F-test 
 

0.70 1.67 1.06 2.12 3.14 2.44 
a
 Variable definitions:           is the absolute cumulative abnormal return from x days before to 2 days after the earnings 

announcement. Abnormal returns are prediction errors from the market model.       = 1 if the observation is from year 

2007 and zero if the observation is from year 2006;             is the absolute value of the cumulative abnormal return 

from 60 working days before to two days after the earnings announcement;             = 1 if the cumulative abnormal 

return from 60 working days before to two days after the earnings announcement is negative, and zero otherwise; 
            is the standard deviation of the abnormal returns during the market model estimation period for the pre-

reform quarter;              is the logarithm of total assets of share i at the end of quarter q;           is the leverage ratio 

of share i at the end of quarter q, calculated as (long-term debt + debt within one year)/total assets;           = 1 if share i 

reported losses in quarter q, and zero otherwise;            is the absolute value of share i’s EPS in quarter q in year y 

minus its EPS in quarter q in year y-1, and then scaled by its 2006 year-end share price;            = 1 if share i’s EPS in 

quarter q in year y is higher than its EPS in quarter q in year y-1, and zero otherwise;         is the price/earnings ratio of 

share i in quarter q. Observations from the first-quarter in each year are excluded from the sample because it is hard to 
isolate the effects of information other than the first-quarter earnings.  
b
 Numbers in parentheses are t statistic values. ***, ** and * indicate significant at or better than the 1%, 5% and 10% 

two-sided levels, respectively. 
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Appendix 7.1 
The Adverse-selection Component and Effective Bid-ask Spread for the BO-share Sample

a 

Accumulation Window [-3, +3] 
 

[-5, +5] 
 

[-10, +10] 
 

[-20, +20] 

 
  ES (%) 

 
  ES (%) 

 
  ES (%) 

 
  ES (%) 

Number of Observations 

Pre-reform
a 

742 742  1,164 1,164  2,225 2,225  4,317 4,317 

Post-reform 712 712  1,128 1,128  2,148 2,148  4,200 4,200 

Mean 

Pre-reform 0.268 0.282  0.267 0.283  0.265 0.276  0.267 0.274 

Post-reform 0.214 0.252  0.216 0.252  0.214 0.256  0.216 0.253 

Difference -0.054 -0.031  -0.052 -0.031  -0.051 -0.019  -0.051 -0.021 

p-value
b 

0.000*** 0.002*** 
 

0.000*** 0.000*** 
 

0.000*** 0.000*** 
 

0.000*** 0.000*** 

Median 

Pre-reform 0.256 0.243  0.256 0.246  0.254 0.244  0.254 0.247 

Post-reform 0.203 0.180  0.202 0.180  0.200 0.183  0.200 0.183 

Difference -0.053 -0.064  -0.054 -0.067  -0.054 -0.061  -0.054 -0.064 

p-value 0.000*** 0.000*** 
 

0.000*** 0.000*** 
 

0.000*** 0.000*** 
 

0.000*** 0.000*** 

Percentage of Firm with Higher or Lower Post-reform   or Effective BAS 

% of Firms with Lower Post-
reform   or Effective BAS 100 71.43  100 71.43  100 57.14  100 71.43 
% of Firms with Higher Post-
reform   or Effective BAS 0.00 28.57  0.00 28.57  0.00 42.86  0.00 28.57 

p-value 0.000*** 0.180 
 

0.000*** 0.180 
 

0.000*** 0.791 
 

0.000*** 0.180 
a 
  is the mean adverse-selection component during the event window; ES (%) is the Percentage Effective Bid-Ask Spread, calculated as the effective bid-ask spread 

divided by the spread midpoint; Event windows are relative business days before and after earnings announcements; Pre-reform period is from 01/01/2005 to 
31/12/2006, and post-reform period is from 01/01/2007 to 31/12/2008. 
b 

P-values are two-sided. P-values for means are from t-tests of the difference between the pre- and post-reform means. For medians, p-values are from Wilcoxon two-
sample tests; p-values for differences in percentage of lower/higher post-reform   or ES (%) are from binomial tests. ***, ** and * indicate significant at or better than 
the 1%, 5% and 10% two-sided levels, respectively. 



269 
 

Appendix 7.2 
The Adverse-selection Component and Effective Bid-ask Spread for the ABB-share Sample

a 

Accumulation Window [-3, +3] 
 

[-5, +5] 
 

[-10, +10] 
 

[-20, +20] 

 
  ES (%) 

 
  ES (%) 

 
  ES (%) 

 
  ES (%) 

Number of Observations 

Pre-reform
a 3,803 3,803  5,966 5,966  11,390 11,390  22,204 22,204 

Post-reform 3,630 3,630  5,681 5,681  10,880 10,880  21,098 21,098 

Mean 

Pre-reform 0.268 0.297  0.268 0.294  0.268 0.287  0.266 0.286 

Post-reform 0.220 0.240  0.218 0.241  0.217 0.242  0.217 0.236 

Difference -0.048 -0.057  -0.050 -0.053  -0.050 -0.046  -0.049 -0.050 

p-value
b 

0.000*** 0.000*** 
 

0.000*** 0.000*** 
 

0.000*** 0.000*** 
 

0.000*** 0.000*** 

Median 

Pre-reform 0.251 0.248  0.252 0.247  0.250 0.242  0.248 0.240 

Post-reform 0.203 0.179  0.200 0.180  0.198 0.180  0.200 0.180 

Difference -0.048 -0.070  -0.052 -0.068  -0.052 -0.063  -0.048 -0.061 

p-value 0.000*** 0.000*** 
 

0.000*** 0.000*** 
 

0.000*** 0.000*** 
 

0.000*** 0.000*** 

Percentage of Firm with Higher or Lower Post-reform   or Effective BAS 

% of Firms with Lower Post-
reform   or Effective BAS 

91.78 73.97  95.89 76.71  95.89 76.71  95.89 79.45 

% of Firms with Higher Post-
reform   or Effective BAS 

8.22 26.03  4.11 23.29  4.11 23.29  4.11 20.55 

p-value 0.000*** 0.000*** 
 

0.000*** 0.000*** 
 

0.000*** 0.000*** 
 

0.000*** 0.000*** 
a 
  is the mean adverse-selection component during the event window; ES (%) is the Percentage Effective Bid-Ask Spread, calculated as the effective bid-ask spread 

divided by the spread midpoint; Event windows are relative business days before and after earnings announcements; Pre-reform period is from 01/01/2005 to 
31/12/2006, and post-reform period is from 01/01/2007 to 31/12/2008. 
b 

P-values are two-sided. P-values for means are from t-tests of the difference between the pre- and post-reform means. For medians, p-values are from Wilcoxon two-
sample tests; p-values for differences in percentage of lower/higher post-reform   or ES (%) are from binomial tests. ***, ** and * indicate significant at or better than 
the 1%, 5% and 10% two-sided levels, respectively. 
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Appendix 7.3 
The Adverse-selection Component and Effective Bid-ask Spread for the HO-share Sample

a 

Accumulation Window [-3, +3] 
 

[-5, +5] 
 

[-10, +10] 
 

[-20, +20] 

 
  ES (%) 

 
  ES (%) 

 
  ES (%) 

 
  ES (%) 

Number of Observations 

Pre-reform
a 

300 300  478 478  917 917  1,784 1,784 

Post-reform 296 296  466 466  902 902  1,754 1,754 

Mean 

Pre-reform 0.248 0.413  0.256 0.415  0.258 0.430  0.260 0.429 

Post-reform 0.225 0.426  0.224 0.394  0.223 0.386  0.227 0.390 

Difference -0.023 0.013  -0.032 -0.021  -0.035 -0.044  -0.033 -0.039 

p-value
b 

0.139 0.746 
 

0.009*** 0.453 
 

0.000*** 0.028** 
 

0.000*** 0.007*** 

Median 

Pre-reform 0.215 0.385  0.212 0.387  0.213 0.388  0.219 0.389 

Post-reform 0.169 0.239  0.168 0.227  0.171 0.232  0.173 0.227 

Difference -0.046 -0.416  -0.044 -0.161  -0.043 -0.156  -0.046 -0.162 

p-value 0.037** 0.000*** 
 

0.002*** 0.000*** 
 

0.000*** 0.000*** 
 

0.000*** 0.000*** 

Percentage of Firm with Higher or Lower Post-reform   or Effective BAS 

% of Firms with Lower Post-
reform   or Effective BAS 

53.85 69.23  69.23 69.23  76.92 69.23  69.23 69.23 

% of Firms with Higher Post-
reform   or Effective BAS 

46.15 30.77  30.77 30.77  23.08 30.77  30.77 30.77 

p-value 1.000 0.267 
 

0.267 0.267 
 

0.092 0.267 
 

0.267 0.267 
a 
  is the mean adverse-selection component during the event window; ES (%) is the Percentage Effective Bid-Ask Spread, calculated as the effective bid-ask spread 

divided by the spread midpoint; Event windows are relative business days before and after earnings announcements; Pre-reform period is from 01/01/2005 to 
31/12/2006, and post-reform period is from 01/01/2007 to 31/12/2008. 
b 

P-values are two-sided. P-values for means are from t-tests of the difference between the pre- and post-reform means. For medians, p-values are from Wilcoxon two-
sample tests; p-values for differences in percentage of lower/higher post-reform   or ES (%) are from binomial tests. ***, ** and * indicate significant at or better than 
the 1%, 5% and 10% two-sided levels, respectively. 
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Appendix 7.4 
The Adverse-selection Component and Effective Bid-ask Spread for the AHH-share Sample

a 

Accumulation Window [-3, +3] 
 

[-5, +5] 
 

[-10, +10] 
 

[-20, +20] 

 
  ES (%) 

 
  ES (%) 

 
  ES (%) 

 
  ES (%) 

Number of Observations 

Pre-reform
a 

550 550  866 866  1,630 1,630  3,207 3,207 

Post-reform 534 534  837 837  1,625 1,625  3,227 3,227 

Mean 

Pre-reform 0.242 0.385  0.238 0.399  0.235 0.396  0.230 0.391 

Post-reform 0.215 0.332  0.215 0.329  0.216 0.326  0.218 0.323 

Difference -0.028 -0.053  -0.023 -0.070  -0.019 -0.071  -0.012 -0.069 

p-value
b 

0.021** 0.021** 
 

0.015** 0.000*** 
 

0.005*** 0.000*** 
 

0.010** 0.000*** 

Median 

Pre-reform 0.181 0.354  0.174 0.357  0.175 0.350  0.174 0.351 

Post-reform 0.167 0.174  0.167 0.179  0.164 0.179  0.164 0.181 

Difference -0.014 -0.180  -0.007 -0.178  -0.011 -0.171  -0.010 -0.170 

p-value 0.151 0.000*** 
 

0.114 0.000** 
 

0.053* 0.000*** 
 

0.068* 0.010** 

Percentage of Firm with Higher or Lower Post-reform   or Effective BAS 

% of Firms with Lower Post-
reform   or Effective BAS 

54.17 79.17  54.17 79.17  62.50 83.33  62.50 83.33 

% of Firms with Higher Post-
reform   or Effective BAS 

45.83 20.73  45.83 20.83  37.50 16.67  37.50 16.67 

p-value 0.839 0.007*** 
 

0.839 0.007*** 
 

0.307 0.002*** 
 

0.307 0.002*** 
a 
  is the mean adverse-selection component during the event window; ES (%) is the Percentage Effective Bid-Ask Spread, calculated as the effective bid-ask spread 

divided by the spread midpoint; Event windows are relative business days before and after earnings announcements; Pre-reform period is from 01/01/2005 to 
31/12/2006, and post-reform period is from 01/01/2007 to 31/12/2008. 
b 

P-values are two-sided. P-values for means are from t-tests of the difference between the pre- and post-reform means. For medians, p-values are from Wilcoxon two-
sample tests; p-values for differences in percentage of lower/higher post-reform   or ES (%) are from binomial tests. ***, ** and * indicate significant at or better than 
the 1%, 5% and 10% two-sided levels, respectively. 
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Appendix 7.5 
The Adverse-selection Component and Effective Bid-ask Spread for the HM-share Sample

a 

Accumulation Window [-3, +3] 
 

[-5, +5] 
 

[-10, +10] 
 

[-20, +20] 

 
  ES (%) 

 
  ES (%) 

 
  ES (%) 

 
  ES (%) 

Number of Observations 

Pre-reform
a 271 271  421 421  787 787  1,512 1,512 

Post-reform 261 261  417 417  794 794  1,541 1,541 

Mean 

Pre-reform 0.272 0.608  0.268 0.585  0.274 0.693  0.273 0.692 

Post-reform 0.272 0.645  0.266 0.633  0.262 0.649  0.259 0.683 

Difference 0.000 0.037  -0.002 0.048  -0.012 -0.044  -0.014 -0.010 

p-value
b 

0.986 0.456  0.897 0.223  0.303 0.547  0.105 0.841 

Median 

Pre-reform 0.237 0.458  0.226 0.452  0.226 0.450  0.223 0.458 

Post-reform 0.193 0.470  0.198 0.463  0.200 0.465  0.192 0.466 

Difference -0.044 0.012  -0.028 0.011  -0.026 0.015  -0.031 0.007 

p-value 0.984 0.779  0.822 0.743  0.249 0.580  0.093* 0.370 

Percentage of Firm with Higher or Lower Post-reform   or Effective BAS 

% of Firms with Lower Post-
reform   or Effective BAS 

46.15 61.54  38.46 69.23  38.46 53.85  46.15 53.85 

% of Firms with Higher Post-
reform   or Effective BAS 

53.85 38.46  61.54 30.77  61.54 46.15  53.85 46.15 

p-value 1.000 0.581  0.581 0.267  0.581 1.000  1.000 1.000 
a 
  is the mean adverse-selection component during the event window; ES (%) is the Percentage Effective Bid-Ask Spread, calculated as the effective bid-ask spread 

divided by the spread midpoint; Event windows are relative business days before and after earnings announcements; Pre-reform period is from 01/01/2005 to 
31/12/2006, and post-reform period is from 01/01/2007 to 31/12/2008. 
b 

P-values are two-sided. P-values for means are from t-tests of the difference between the pre- and post-reform means. For medians, p-values are from Wilcoxon two-
sample tests; p-values for differences in percentage of lower/higher post-reform   or ES (%) are from binomial tests. ***, ** and * indicate significant at or better than 
the 1%, 5% and 10% two-sided levels, respectively. 
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Appendix 7.6 
The Adverse-selection Component and Effective Bid-ask Spread for the AHM-share Sample

a 

Accumulation Window [-3, +3] 
 

[-5, +5] 
 

[-10, +10] 
 

[-20, +20] 

 
  ES (%) 

 
  ES (%) 

 
  ES (%) 

 
  ES (%) 

Number of Observations 

Pre-reform
a 

482 482  750 750  1,392 1,392  2,690 2,690 

Post-reform 443 443  679 679  1,284 1,284  2,530 2,530 

Mean 

Pre-reform 0.297 0.662  0.300 0.663  0.308 0.654  0.304 0.660 

Post-reform 0.273 1.006  0.282 0.933  0.272 0.828  0.272 1.064 

Difference -0.024 0.344  -0.018 0.270  -0.036 0.175  -0.032 0.403 

p-value
b 

0.122 0.002***  0.171 0.002***  0.000*** 0.000***  0.000*** 0.083* 

Median 

Pre-reform 0.246 0.415  0.249 0.395  0.260 0.377  0.252 0.363 

Post-reform 0.201 0.406  0.209 0.390  0.205 0.379  0.206 0.398 

Difference -0.045 -0.009  -0.040 -0.005  -0.055 0.001  -0.046 0.035 

p-value 0.138 0.205  0.165 0.287  0.000*** 0.263  0.000*** 0.029** 

Percentage of Firm with Higher or Lower Post-reform   or Effective BAS 

% of Firms with Lower Post-
reform   or Effective BAS 

58.33 41.67  54.17 41.67  66.67 45.83  66.67 41.67 

% of Firms with Higher Post-
reform   or Effective BAS 

41.67 58.33  45.83 58.33  33.33 54.17  33.33 58.33 

p-value 0.541 0.541  0.839 0.541  0.152 0.839  0.152 0.541 
a 
  is the mean adverse-selection component during the event window; ES (%) is the Percentage Effective Bid-Ask Spread, calculated as the effective bid-ask spread 

divided by the spread midpoint; Event windows are relative business days before and after earnings announcements; Pre-reform period is from 01/01/2005 to 
31/12/2006, and post-reform period is from 01/01/2007 to 31/12/2008. 
b 

P-values are two-sided. P-values for means are from t-tests of the difference between the pre- and post-reform means. For medians, p-values are from Wilcoxon two-
sample tests; p-values for differences in percentage of lower/higher post-reform   or ES (%) are from binomial tests. ***, ** and * indicate significant at or better than 
the 1%, 5% and 10% two-sided levels, respectively. 
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